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The wise man neglects not bis duty towards
his master: but, taking bis seat in the ball of
obedience, rentembers that bumility and faith-
fulness bring exaltation. Falsebond brings a
i to shame, and lying lips dishonour their
possessor, Be then comtented with the fortune
that bas been poured on your bead; be faithful,
honest and true, and wankind will praise you,
and my faveur will follow you; think of vour
end, and oppress not the poor; so shall your
name remain when all else of you is gone.

Maharajsh Ranjit Singh’s
Message to an Officer
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INTRODUCTION
o9

AcarriGraprst who had spent many years making a copy
of the Koran and had failed to get any n? the Muslim princes
of Hindustan to give him an adequite price for his labours
rurned up ar Lahore to try and sell it ro the Foreign Minister,
Fakeer Azizuddin, The Fakeer praised the work but expressed
his inability to pay for it. The argument wus overheard by
Ranjit Singh who summoned the cn]liErn hist to his presence.
The Maharajsh respectfully pressed the holy book against his
forchead and then scrutinized the writing with his single eye.
He was impressed with the excellence of the work and boughe
the Karan for his private collection. Some time later Fakeer
Azizuddin asked him why he had F.ud such a high price for a
book for which he, as a Sikh, would have no use. Ranjit Singh
replied: ‘God intended me to lbok upon all religions with one
eye; that is why he took away the light from the other.'

The story is apocryphal. But it continues to be told by the
Punjabis to this day because it has the answer to the question
why Ranjit Singh was able to unite Punjabi Mussulmans,
Hindus and Sikhs and create the one and only independent
kingdom in the history of the Punjab. Another anecdore,
equally apocryphal and even more popular, illustrates the
second reason why Ranjit Singh succeeded in the face of
heavy odds: his single-minded pursuir of power, It is said
that unce his Muslim wife, Mohran, remarked on his ugliness
—he was dark, pitted with small-pox and blind of one eye
(‘exactly like an old mouse with grey whiskers and one eye’—
Emily Eden), "Where ‘E:E your Highness when God was dis-

i beaury?' 'l gone to find myself a kingdom,'
i B 40 ELTEE

/EEitSi h has been poorly served by his bi hers.
Hirjdlui and Sikh admirers Fodc?ﬁe}:i him s I:ymmmm and
a seifless parrior. This academic apotheosis reduced a full-
blooded man and an asture politician to an anaemic saint and
a simple-minded nationalist. Muslim historians were und

harsh in describing him as an avaricious free-booter. Engli

writers, who took their material largely from Muslim sources,
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portrayed him as a cunning man (the cliché often used is
‘wily oriental’), devoid of moral considerations, whose only
redeeming feature was his friendship with the English, They
were not only not averse to picking up any gossip they could
(every oriental court has always a whispering gallery
of rumours), but also gave them currency by incorporating
them in works of history. In recent years mon hs on
different aspects of Ranjit Singh's government have pro-
duced under the ices of scpmmmu of history m some
Indian universitics. are mostly catalogues of known
facrs put in chronological order without any arempe to
explain them in terms of historical movements. This method
of treatment makes the metcoric rise of Ranjit Singh and the
equally meteoric collapse of his kingdom appear as freaks of
history instead of as the culmination of an important historical
movement. Just as a tide scems deceprively still to those who
watch it from the shore, so did the swift undercurrent of
Punjabi nationahism pass unnoticed by people who did not
fathom the depths beneath the swell on which the Sikhs led
by Ranjit Singh rode to power. In the same way, the fall of
I’.IL Sikh kingdom was not simply due to misfortune in the
ficld af battle bur, 25 2 wave sp:mg itself on the sands when its
driving force is gone, it was the peteting out of a movem
whose life force was spent and which had last its lukllg;m
Ranijit Singh was neither a selfless patriot nor an avaricious
freebonter. He was neither a model of virtue nor a lascivious
sensualist. Above all, he was too warm and lively a character
to have his life-story told in 1 lifeless catalogue of facts, figures
and footnotes. As a political figure Ranjit g'mgh was in every
way us remarksble a man as his two famous cont rarics,
Napoleon Bonaparte of France and Mohammed Ali of Egypt.
He rose from the status of petty chieftain to become the most
powerful Indian ruler of his time. He was the first Indian in
a thousand years to stem the tides of invasions from whence
they had come across the North-West frontiers of Hindustan,
Although he dispossessed hundreds of feudal landholders to
consolidace his kingdom, he succeeded in winning their affec-
tions and converting them into faithful courtiers. In the
history of the world, it would be hard to find another despot
who never took life in cold blood, yet builr as large an cmpire
as Ranjit’s. He persuaded the turbulent Sikhs and Mussul-
mans of the Punjab to become the willing instruments of an
expansionist policy which brought the Kashmiris and the
Pathans of the North-West Fronter under his subjection and
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extended his sphere of influence from the borders of China
and Afghanistan in the north to the deserts of Sindh in the
south. His success was undoubtedly due to his ability to arouse
the nascent sense of nationalism amongst his people and make
them conscious that more important than being Muslim,
Hindu or Sikh was the fact of being Punjabi. His Sikh and
Hindu troops subdued the Sikh and Hindu Rajahs of the
Punjab. His Mussulman Najibs rejected the appeals of their
Hindustani, Afghan and Pathan co-religionists to crusade
aguinst the ‘infidel’ and instead helped o liquidate the
erusaders. The Ranjit Singh died, it was his Muslim
troops led by Colonel Sheikh Basawan that foreed the Khyber
Pass and carried Ranjit’s colours through the strects of Kabul
in the victory parade. And 2 couple of years later Zorawar
Singh, a Dogra Hindu, planted the Sikh flag in the heart of
Tiber. These events were the high water mark of Punjabi
imperialism which had carried Ranjic Singh to the heights
of power and which subsided soon after lis death.

life of Ranjic Singh was as colourful as his
political career. Although an ugly man himself, he loved to

surround himself wich some men and beautiful women.
He was small of stature and slight of bmld, but he was full of
daring. In many campai led his troops himself and

fought sword in hand, He lived the life of a soldier and like
a soldier drank hard. But after the bacchanalian feasts were
over, he sat up till the early hours dictating letters and
memorinda o a relay of writers. Although he calculated his
political moves, he was known to provoke hostilitics just to
scquire a horse thar had caught his fancy: for horses he
loved even more than human beings] Kipling's lines are ape
for Ranjit Singh:

Four things ter than all thi are
Women and m and Power and War.

This work is largely based on the following sources:

(a) The diary of Sohan Lal Suri which forms part of his larger
wark Umidat-uz-Tawarikh. Vidya Sagar Suri, Director of the
Punjab Government Archives, who has translated this work,
was kind enough to place the relevant volmmes at my disposal.
(b) Newsletters of agents of Indian princes accredited to the
Lahore Court.

() Correspondence between English agents and their govern-
ment in Calcutta.
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{d) Accounts of Eumpcm officers in the service of Ranjit
Singh; travellers and visitors to the Lahore Court. Their
works are listed in the phy.

Some of the material in this book is used in Volume 1 of
The Sikbs (1469-1839) published by Princeton University
Press.

I would like to express my gratitude to Miss Yvonne Le
Rougm:lwhuml with me in the research; to
Serbjeet Singh for making the rwo rn:ps. to Mr M. L.
Ahluwalia, Archivist, Nnnana.l Archives of India, New Delhi;
Susheila Lall, and Miss Janet Ward for reading the manu-
scri

I would also like to place on record my deep sense of
gratitude to the Rockefeller Foundation, which by its munifi-
cence made it possible t'ur me to devote myself to the study
of records of mmﬂy.

EHUSHWANT SINGH
Authars Club,
London, S.W'.1.
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PROLOGUE

THE SIKHS

G—d

1N the summer of A.0. 1499, 2 man who had spent the best part
of his life wandering over the Punjab countryside, decided to
proclaim a new creed. He did this after many years of ponder-
ing upon the plight of his countrymen. As far back as human
memory could go, the Punjab had been subjected to foreign
invasions. On many occasions the invaders had been invited
by the rulers of Hindustan to settle internal disputes. At other
times they had come because India was rich and, being dis-
united, easy to conquer. Since the Punjab was the ﬁmmﬁdmu
province in which the invaders set foor, it was the Punjab that
suffered most ar their hands. The land once lash with
tion had been flartened out to a u-::lm wind-blown desert
with dust-pillars spiralling across the waste, Its les had
been :insn‘cf:ycd in I:ht name of religion, its grmmmud to
feed foreign armics, irs villages pi and bumnt in sadistic
ies, its women ravished to appease the lust of violent men.
Bur Punjabis had not learnt therr lesson, They continued ro
be divided amongst themselves and when the invader gave
them respite they rurned their hands against each other,
Since A.p. 1000, all the invaders had Muslims and had
by the end of the fifreenth century converted half the popula-
tion of the Punjab to their faith; the other hulf continued to
subscribe to Hinduism. This not only led to constant friction
between them but also gave the Punjabi Muslim a dual loyalry,
the stronger one being rowards his foreign co-religionists,
The problem was to give the Punjsb a new faith and a new
pattern of loyalties. After spending three days and nights in
the wilderness, praying for guidance, he came back, and made
nsimpkmmumx: ere is no Hindu, there is noe Mussul-
man,
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This man was Nanak, the founder of the Sikh fairh. He lived
from A.n. :{4&9*;1539. le:jak was born of Hindu parents bur
was strongly influenced by the teaching of Muslim mystics
called Suhs.yHis faith consequently was an eclectic one com-
prising of the teaching of the Hindu Bhaktas who had rebelled
agamnst the caste-system, ritualism and the intolerance of Brah-
manical Hinduism, and of the Muslim Sufis who believed in
converting infidels by persuasion not by violence and dis-
approved of the iconoclasm of the carly Muslim conquerors.
'Iqu: pronouncement : “There 1s no Hindu, there is no Mussul-
man' did not scem very startling ar first sight, but as Nanak
proceeded 1o elucidate it in his sermons and to ]:am it into
practice, its revolutionary implications became clearer, For
those secking religious guidance it meant thar the God of the
Hindus and the Muslims was one and the same God: what
really mattered was not the form but the spirir of worship. He
set un example by taking as companion a Mushm musician and
by ﬂﬁng to Hindu holy places as well as making a pilgri
to Meeea. He joined Hindus in cheir remples and chanred
hymns from the Vedas; he stood in Iincwir];thri'vlusl:imsin
their mosques and genuflected rowards the Kaaba. He thus
started a religious movement which ignored secrarian differ-
ences between the two communities by emphasizing what
they had in common. The secular implications of the starement
were more far-reaching, because he proclaimed more emphari-
cally than anyone before him that it was not necessary to look
upon one’s neighbours as either Hindu or Mussulman; that the
E::;plt who lived in the wide plains intersecred by rivers which

given the land its name, jab—land of the five nivers—
were one people because their interests were common.

Nanak, the Guru or the teacher, was both the founder of
the Sikh faith and the father of Punjabi nationalism. He was
succeeded by nine other Gurus. Although they, like the
founder, were chiefly concerned with spirfrual matters, they
also continued to enlarge on the secular le lefr by him.
When the fifth Guru, Arjun (1563-1606), decided to build the
temple ar Amritsar, he asked a hiuslim divine, Mian Mir, to
lay its foundation stone. And in the anthology of sacred
wr‘rﬁngs (The Granth Sahib), he included besides the composi-
tions of the Gurus, the works of both Muslim and Hindu sainrs:
and thos at one stroke created a non-denominational scripture
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and sanctified Punjabi by making it the language of prayer:
hitherto the Musﬁn!ts had used Arghic and the HE‘;&H gns}:m

Guru Arjun was execured by order of the Mughal Emperor,
Jehangir, in 1606, His son, the saixth Guru, Hargovind (1595-
1644) decided to raise an army to protece the infant com-
munity. He recruited his soldiers from both communities with-
out any distinction. The policy was continued by the last of
the Sikh Gurus, Gm’incfmﬁingh (1666-1708), Although his
father, the ninth Guru, was exccuted in 1675 by Emperor
Aurangzeb, he did not allow the movement to become anti-
Islamic. In the spring of A, 1699, he raised the milirant
fraternity—he called it the Khalsa or the pure—so fight
Mughal oppression. Despite the fact that two of the Guru's
sons were killed fighting the Mu and the remaining rwo
were exccuted by the order of the Muslim Governor of
Sirhind, he continued to have Muslim friends and retainers.
He paid the price with his life; in October 1708 he was
assassinated by two Muslims.

The Sikhs who were gradually becoming a separare com-
munity with their own script, seripture, places of worship and
trad.inuusMb:mne the spearhead of a re.sim:}c:l ﬂinﬂmnunt
agamst Mu . Large numbers of Hindu Jass
(gﬂ 15) jqﬁl;:ld 31: :ru’ﬁtu.ut Khalsa and so drew the Sikhs
c[mr to the Hindus—and estranged them from the Mussul-
mans. Alchough Nanak’s mission to unite the rwo communiries
in one common faith was frustrared, the spark of narionalism
that he had lit was not cxti:;:ﬁ:]ishcd by the storm of religious
hate thar blew across the Punjab for many years after the
death of Guru Govind.

The first success won by Sikh arms came in 1700, when
Banda led an army of untrained peasants and after defeating
the Mughal armies occupied a large portion of eastern Punjab.
Banda's success was, however, short-lived and in the winter of
1715, he was compelled ro surrender. He, with over 700
of his followers, was broughr to Delhi and beheaded. Despite
the face thar Banda’s mJJlu‘:r{ campaign was directed agamst
the Muslim ruoling class which virtually sacceeded in
destroy inguiﬁs dying words were not of hatred against the
Muslims but agamst the oppression of the Mughals. He said:
"Whenever men become so corrupr and wicked as to relingui
the path of equity and abandon themselves to all kinds of

B
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For 4 shore time the Sl disippeared as 2 political force
from the Punjab, The My hal Governors of the Punjab were
ruthless men who made S; -baiting into a pastime and ‘filled
the plain of the Punjab with blood as if jr hud‘ been a dish’*

In 1730 came the nvasion of the Persian, Nadir Shah. He
went through the Punjab laying waste the countryside. He
plundered Delhi and m Over 100,000 men, women
and children in cold bload. His retumn journey was slow

use his caravan of elephants, camels, horses and mules
Ioaded with plunder (estimated ar 30 crope of

Afghans
rurned back homeward, the Sikhs closed in on them and
harried them all the "y up to the Indus, mking away most of

their loot and free Indian caprives.: Abdali did much to pave
the way for a Pun:gg State, He disrupted Mughal udrminisera-

3 areui-Klesak Beriv, . .
'E’mw Khan, Taﬁnﬁﬁu'ﬂm Poa7ia
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organized resistance against the Afghans, they were able ro
seize power. Desperadoes whose only distinetion was to have
harassed foreign invaders became national heroes and were
weleomed as hberators wherever they went. Thus the Sikhs
who numbered a little over a hundred thousand became virrual
rulers of a country nearly the size of France.

During these years of struggle against the Mughals and
Afghans the Sikhs evolved a constitution peculiarly their own.
Since every Sikh looked upon himself as a Sardar (chief), the
only organization he was willing ro accepr was one in which
his independence and equality was guaranreed. They formed
bands called wmisls (from the Persian mrisal meaning ‘like" or
equal) under a misidir chosen by virtue of his courage and
daring. The misls grew larger as the area in which they
operated increased. They divided most of the Punjab berween
them and undertook ro defend the people in their zones on
payment of protection tax called rakbi. Twelve of these mili-
tary frarernities came into existence with a total fighting force
of about 70,000 horsemen. In doe course the misldars

barons and their misls private armies.

Five musls deserve notice. The most powerful were the
Bhangis who were in possession of Lahore, Amritsar and most
of Westen Punjab. The next in importance were the Kan-
hayas who held the Himalayan foothills. The Phulkias spread
themselves around Patiala and Sirhind. The Ahluwalias ook
the land between the Ravi and the Beas. The Sukerchakias
were amongst the lesser important misls and owned only the
town of Gujranwala (forty miles north-west of Lahore) and
the neighbouring vi

The system of musls, if it can be called a system, was
ahwnmlfy a makeshift arrangement suited to meet the chal-
lenge of foreign invasions. Twice a year, the Sardars used ro
meet at Amritsar to discuss problems of defence and when
there were no such problems; to deal with frictions thar had
begun o take place en them, In later years these meet-
ings of the Sarbar Khalsa (All Khalss Assembly) were little
mare than noisy sessions where the Sardars were with diffi-
culty resrraimed from coming to blows. It was obvious thar
if the Punjab was to be saved from being splintered into lirtle
kingdoms and to be unified and made strong, one of the misls
would have to absorb the others. The contest was really be-



20 RANJIT SINGH

fween the five mentioned in the previous paragraph; of these
the Sukerchakias graduall fan:mf their way to pre-eminence.

An English traveller, Villiam Forster, who witnessed the
misls squabbling for power, wrote in 1783 : ‘Should any furure
cause eall forch the combined efforts of the Sikhs to mainrain
the existence of empire and religion, we may see some ambi-
tious chief led on by his genius and suceess and absorbing the
power of his associates, di y from the ruins of their
commonwealth thh'::m stmdul.:-d o E:::amhy.“

The person abour whom nfhm‘: words were
written was then only three years n:mltEr ¢ was Ranjir Singh
of the Sukerchakia mis],

1Fm.m,'nl!1p~ i



CHAPTER I

RANJIT SINGH'S ANCESTORS, BIRTH
AND THE YEARS OF TUTELAGE

€%

RANJIT SINGH'S ancestors were humble peasant folk earning
a meagre living as farmers and misers of caccle in villages
around Gujranwala. The first in the family to rise o promi-
nence was one Budh Singh, who is said to have been bapuzed
as a Khalsa by Guru Govind Singh himself. Budh Singh wasa
freebooter whose feats of endurance and those of his picbald
mare, Desan, made them legendary. They rravelled the plaing
of the Punjab and swam its broad rivers in flood many times,
and being inseparable, came to be known jointly as Desan
Budh Singh. When Budh Singh died in 1718, his body yas
found to be riddled with scars of sabre and musker wounds.
He left his sons a few villages they could call their own and
many others in the neighbourhood which paid them protection
rax—rahhi.

Budh Singh's son, Naudh Singh, fortified the vil[agc Suker-
chak and raised a body of men who came thereafrer to be
ecalled Sukerchakias. The Sukerchakias joined forces with
other misls and foughr several engagements with Ahmed Shah
Abdali. As the Afghans rerreated, they took possession of parts
of the land between the Ravi and ':Ke Jhelum. Naudh Singh
was killed in a skirmish in 1752,

Charhar Singh, who was the eldest of Naudh Singh’s four
sons, moved his headquarters from the village, Sukerchak, to
Gujranwala and erected bartlements round the town. The
Afghan Governor of Lahore came with a small force to appre-
hend Mtsgfhbutmmm lled by the Sardar to fly
back to the eapital, leaving behind E guns and stocks of grain.
Emboldened by this success, Charhar Singh extended his
domuins by capturing the towns of Wazirabad, Ahmedabad
and Rohtas. Bur when Ahmed Shah Abdali came down from
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Afghanistan, Charhat Singh Hied ro the jungles, and suffered
the pillage of his estates. Abdali had Gujranwala’s fortifica-
tions razed ro the ground. Charhat Singh more than settled his
account with the Afghans by chasing them on their return
march and plundering their baggage train. He rebuile the
battlements round Gujranwala mgfrinccupicd the neighbour-
ing caum.?'. His last foray was into Jammu where most of the
wealthy families of the Punjab had sought shelrer when
Abdali began his invasions. The Bhangis disputed his right o
lunder Jammu and in one of the skirmishes, Charhar Sin
Fcll maortally wounded by the bursting of his own matchlock.

Charhat Singh's fourteen-year-old son, Maha Singh, in-
herited his father’s daring and ambition. He married a daughter
of Gajpat Singh, the Chief of Jind, and thereby strengthened
his own position amongse the misldars, Within the walled
town of Gujranwala be buile a fort which he numed after him-
self as ‘Garhi Maha Singh'’. He increased the number of his
horsemen to 6,000 and resumed the ancestral occupation of
acquring territory. He captured Rasoolnagar from a Mus-
lim tribe, the tthas; he rook Alipur, Pindi Bhattian,
Sahiwal, Isakhel and Sialkot. Then, like his father, he pro-
ceeded to Jamma. Irs Hindu Dogra ruler fled Icavinar;!'m rich
city to the mercies of the avaricions Sukerchakia. With the
loot of Jammu, Maha Singh raised the Sukerchakias from a
Euiﬁ:m of compararive obscurity to that of being one of the

ders of the misl confederacy, The Kanhayas, who had re-
ced the Bhangis as the most powerful misl, disFuml Maha
gh's right to plunder Jammu, and in one of the many
skirmishes between the two misls, Gurbaksh Singh, the only
son of the head of the was killed. Tgu: Kanhaya
Chicfs pride was humbled and he agreed to berrath his %-znd-
daughrer, Mehtab Kaur, vo Maha Singh's son, Ranjit Singh.
The Kanhaya Chief died shortly afrerwards leaving A.IS estates
10 his widowed danghter-in-law, Sada Kaur, the mother of
Mehtab Kaur.

Maha died in 1792, The | which Budh Singh,
Naudh Charhat Singh and Maha Singh lefr to young
Ranjit consisted of a sizéable estate in north-western Punjab, a
band of inmgiinham and matchlockmen, and an ambiton
that knew no ds.
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R:n]n: h was born on Tuesday, November 13, 1780," in
tgmmﬁ town of Budrukhan not far from Jind. Bud-
mktmnwasthchomeofhlsmher. Raj Kaur, the da uf
Rajah Gajpat Singh of Jind, known in her husband's
Mai Malwain, the lady of Malwa. She had, as was u:s:mm
in the Punjab, come to her tal house for her first cunﬁne—
ment, The child was Budh Singh, the Wise One. News
of the birth of a son was sent to Gujranwala. Bat Maha Singh
was out with his band of horsemen subduing rhe Charthas
living along the Jhelum. The dispatch rider mer Maha Singh
returning from his victories against the Charrhas and broke
news of the birth of Budh Singh. With prophetic insight Maha
Singh his son’s name from Budh Singh to Ranjit Singh,
Victor of Battles. (Ranjir remained unlettered to che last, bur
he won many bartles.)

Little is known of Ranjit’s childhood excepr that he had a
virnlent atrack of small pox which deprived him of his lefr eye
and decply pirted his face.! Maha Singh did not have time to
devore to his son’s upbringing, nor did the conventions of the
timie give opportunity to the mother, Raj Kaur, confined as she
was to seclusion in the zenind (a2 practice which the Sikh ruling
classes had taken from the M ), to see much of her son
after he was old enough ro be on his own. He was undoubtedly
made ro arrend religions services ar the gurdwara (Sikh temp]e‘,l

"ﬂ]ﬂtuld.lﬁcrmmnfupuunnnhnntdmphmmdd:t:nfnmptﬂnghi
hnhﬁnzgﬁnrninn;nmhMM bé::m;ukkm 5
fODIms Stal to sz place o end men e
date 53 November-2, 1760, TL‘U qﬂnﬂnnbuumqﬂdm?mm
evidetice by ouny historians incl mgM:G , Giriffin and Prem

It i quite clear thas the ﬂmputupm nfr.crth-:lm
aiﬂl.t?nnjnhhyrhtﬂ —Ihelq;mdhm Punjabi and
mdutthummofmm:mtmm:ﬂmdﬂmgumum&hm
evidence, Both Sohan Lal Suri pid Diwan Amur Nath refer to Ranjic's birch-
day celebranons which confirm the dare as the 13th-and poc the ¢ hnﬂm-
ber, Thcrnhmmumnﬁnuufmw#ﬂudmklun

* Sohan Lal Suri wrives:

“The glorious prince suffered indisposition. Two hundred horsemen undtr
the comutand of Serbulund Khan aloeg -wich the

Hukim Rai weee sent to the Grest Prince . . . the illnes ﬂumn:
ﬁmtmknhdmmmmumﬁnfﬂllhqlltpmmdhwrThﬂuwu:n
snch fermentation and ponring aut of forelgn matter from the body, parmi-
cularly the right eye, that it did not show signs ohh:mill-’mmmum
nf it became 3 winking eye.’ (The hirorian made o dlip of the He
runli;&dm:ﬂhkmm h and must have observed y every
k&)ﬂlnﬂﬁmwhwhhﬂm:m:qt was not the right one bue the
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and hear the recitation of the Granth. Alongside elementary
mstructions in the principles of the Sikh faith, he was in-
fluenced by the preaching of Brahmin priests who had insinu-
ated themselves i the homes of the SilI:h anstocracy. For the
rest it was 4 matter of games and hunring. In these carly vears,
Ranjit developed a love for horses; a love which in later life
tumned mto a ruling passion.

Ranjit Singh hm?has first experience of a military campaign
when he was ten. His father had demanded tribute from
Sahib Singh Bhangi of Gujerat, and on the latter’s refusal o
comply, ejected him from his principality. Sahils Singh took
refuge in the fort of Sodhran and appealed to his kinsmen in
Lahore 1o come to his help, Maha Singh took Ranjit Singh with
him ta Sodhran and luid siege o the forr.

The siege dmgged on through the winter mnnﬁ Mﬁ
Singh was suddenly raken ill, and fearing thar he might
not recover, invested R:nj:;cgngh as the hngg of the Suker-
chakia misl by daubing the boy's forchead with saffron paste,
and then returned to Gujranwala. When the Bhangi Sardars
of Lahore heard of Maha Singh's illness and of the predica-
ment of the Sukerchakias under the command of a lad of ren,
they hurried 1o the relief of Sodhran. Ranjit Singh ambushed
the Bhangi force coming from Lahore many miles from
Sodhran and routed it. Maha Smgh heard of his son’s victory
befare he died. Ranjit Singh was just able to ger back in time
fm‘a:it;] fﬂghcn;}s’ funeral. =

jit Singh was roo young and temperamental to bother
nhmthndnymdayuhm“;gmmnfﬂwmt:mdlﬂhis
father's manager, Lakhpar Rai, continue in charge. His mather
had confidence in Lakhpat Rai’s integrity but her brather,
Dl Singh, who wished to rake the administeation into his swn
hands, found an ally in Sada Kaur, Ranjit’s mother-in-law to
be. The intrigues and counter-intrigues that went on between
his mother, mother-in-law, uncle and other relations and
friends made Ranjic heartily sick of the armosphere at home
and he began to spend most of his time our hunting and in the
company of servants. These were impressionable years; the

ence made him for ever suspicious of people who pro-
fessed affection for him and he developed an acute aversion
to quarrelsome people; dungiwald (rowdy) and eakrari (argu-
mentative) became words of abuse in his vocabulary, As much
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1!;'1;15 mncwas;ﬁ in chase, he Imm;;n ride and shoot well,
d since a day's hunting was followed by a drinking party,
he was introduced to aleohol carly in m—y =

A murderous assanlt was made on Ranjit '.-h:ﬁh during one
of his hunting expeditions. He had ridden off alone in pursuit
of game when Hashmat Khan, a chief who had suffered many
humiliating defeats ar the hands of Maha Singh, attacked him,
Ranjit’s horse took fright and reared just as the Khan made a
cat with his sword. Before the assailane could make a second
move, Ranjit transfixed him with his lance. He cut off Hash-
mat Khan's head and rode back ro his companions with the
gory trophy impaled on his spear. He was then barely
rh,R:m Sin wild d

jit Si nt another two years hunting wild pig an

deer in the m around Gujranwala wi:hn%lr 5 any
interest in his estate. His mother became anxious for his future
and felr that marriage might bring him round to the respansi-
bilities of life. She approached Sada Kaur to fix the nuptial
date, Ranjit was just over fiftcen years of age when he lefr
Gujranwala for Batala, the chief town of Lﬁ‘: Kanhayas, to0
wed Mchtab Kaur, This alliance berween the rwo important
Sikh familics was a major event for the Punjab. All the r:adhlg
Sikh chicfs were present ar the wedding.

The marriage was not a very !ml:;py one. It is not unlikely
that Mehtabs Ig:ur felr somewhar inhibited in giving her affec-
tions to g man whose father had slain hers: and Ranjir Singh’s
reaction to her reserve was ro withdraw into l'u'mscff. It soon
became a marriage of convenience. Sada Kaur did noc scem
particularly disturbed ar the of her daughter occa-
sionally sharing a bed with a man for whom she had litele use:
that sort of thing was common enough; the important thing
was for her to produce sons who could be heirs to the Suker-
chakia domains. Meanwhile, she could urilize the alliance to
safeguard and even advance the interests of the Kanhayas. To
Ranjit Singh, who was undoubtedly conscious of his own

i -gncdisillw'uﬂnumwns t enough to change his
values. Instead of trying to win affection he began ro want to
command lﬂ?ﬂﬁﬁ—%fh he could only do by becoming
powerful. The Kanhayas thus became 3 means towards this
end. A curious love-hate relationship developed between Sada
Kaur and Ranjic Singh. Both of them were ambitious and re-
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spected the other’s ambition; they could be Eﬂ&t!r?m.‘otﬁ and
consequently willing to overlook the other's lack o mr[e: imn

short, being very much alike they began ro unde each
other perfectly.

Sada Kaur was the first to ask for help. In the summer of
1797, her ions were threatened by the Ramgarhias and
Ranjit had to besicge a Ramgarhia fortress o relieve the pres-
sure on the Kanhayas, On his way back to Gujranwala, RnnLit
Singh stayed ac Lahore for three days as the guest of the
B}uugi Sardars and acquired valuable information on the state
fo affairs in the city and its defences.

Ranjit Singh's mind was now completely obsessed with
visions of power, Experience of the previous campu%l had

roved to him thar the Kanhayas were not as strong as he had
lieved. His chances wonld be brighter if he could draw some
other misl on his side. He made overtures to the chief of the
Naklais and early in 1708 took 2 second wife who was the
sister of the Naklkai Sardar. This marriage proved to be mare
successful than the first. The new wife bore the same name
as his mother, Raj Kaur, and had the same maternal gentleness
and understanding in dealing with the wayward Ranjir.
Although many other women came into his life, for no one
did he have greater respect than for Raj Kaur (renamed Darar
Kaur), but affectionately known s Mai Nakkain.

The second marriage gave Mchtab Kaur an excuse to return
to Batala and thereafter she only made occasional appearances
ar her husband’s home. It also soured Sada Kaur; but she
reconciled herself ro Ranjit’s polygamous venture hecause
she bad set her heart on bigger things and was determined to
see that for her own sake and the sake of her only child (and
her progeny if she had any), Ranjit Singh carried out the plans
thar she had made for him. '

While Ranjit Singh was sorting our his matrimonial affairs,
the management of the Sukerchakia estates reached 2 eritical
stage due t friction berween Lakhpar Rai and Ranijit's
uncle, Dal Singh. Lakhpat Rai was murdered while our col-
lecting revenue. The assassins could not be found, bur ugg
rumours got round thar Dal Singh had had a hand in
killing.* Ranjit Singh felr thar the time had come to fres him-

'The murder of La Rai has been the subject of much _
mwmwwmwmnw'mm
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advisers and take the administration of his
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CHAPTER 11

THE PUNJAB AND THE
AFGHAN INVASIONS

€3

1n the 17905, the Punjab looked like a jig-saw puzzle consisting
of fourteen picces with five arrows piercing it from the sides,
Twelve of these fourteen pieces were the Stkh misls; the other
two, the Pathan-controlled disrrict of Kasur in the neighbour-
hood of Lahore, and Fansi in the south-east under the English
adventurer, George Thomas. The five arrows were: the
Afghans in the north-west, the Rajpurs of Kangra in the north;
the Gurkhas in the north-cast; the Brirish in the east; and the
Mararhias in the south-east,

"The misl organization had ceased to be the united frarernity
of the Khalsa that it had been fifty years before, When Ahmed
Shah Abdali had started his incursions into India, they had
fought as one under the leadership of Jussa Singh Ahluwalia.
The first to default were the Phulkias of Patiala. Ala Singh had
submitted to Abdali and later on the Phulkias had become
collaborators. Suhib Singh of Patials wis in communication
with Abdali’s grandson, Shah Zaman, who was planning to
re-establish Afghan dominion over Northern India. The other
misls that mattered were the Kanhayas; the Nalkkais, the
Ahlawalias and the Bhangis. Ranjit Singh had marrimonial ties
with the first rwo and they could be counted on to help him
whenever co-operation did nor hurr their own interests. The
Ahluwalias were led by Fateh Singh, who was an able leader,
and because he was Jassa Singh’s suceessar, held in great esteem
by the Sikhs. Ranjit Singh decided to befriend lg::h Singh
He could not, however, reconcile his interests with those of
the Bhangis who held Lahore, Amritsar, Gujerat and a lm['E:

ton of northern Punjab, Ranjit Singh decided to break
hangis and make the other misldars ient to his wishes.

A problem requiring solution almost as urgently as the dis-
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unity of the Sikhs was the of two alien elements in
the very heart of the I‘unjaE. Thirty miles from Lahore was
Kasur, whose Pathan ruling family’s loyalties were more to
the land of their forefachers than to the Punjab. The rise of
the Sikh misls had made them nervous. Each time Abdali had
come to the Punjab, they had joined him ro plunder their own
neighbours. When Abdali's grandson, Shah Zaman, expressed
the desire to establish an Afghan empire in India, among the
first to promisc him assistnce was Nizamuddin Khan of
Kasur.

The other alien element was the English advenrurer George
Thomas. Thomas descrred his shi took employment with
Indian chieftains. Later he medP a band of horsemen and ser
up a kingdom of his own with its headquarters at Hansi, where
he builr a fort named after him as 'George Garh'’, His depreda-
tions extended well into the territories of the chiefs of Patiala
and Jind. He saw the chaoric state to which the Sikh misls had
reduced themselves. In 1800 he rode up to the Sutlej with just
5,000 men and 6o cannon. He wrote to the Governor-General
nﬂcnng to plant the Union Jack on the banks of the river
Indus. “This nation (the Sikhs) is not so formidable as they have
been represented,’ he later told his biographer, ‘and in all
probabi lg never will be formidable when ﬂﬂzswd by regular
troops. He quoted instances when Marathas had marched
across the Punjab withour meeting any resistance and the
incapacity of the Sikh chiefs to fight the Afghans under Shah
Zaman. ‘I explored the country, formed alliances, and, in short,
was dictator in all the countries belonging to the Seiks, south
of the River Sutledge,” he boasted.

The biggest menace to a free and powerful Punjab were the
Afghans who, ever since Abdali’s conquests, had looked upon
most of northern India as a pare of their empire. Abdali’s
atrempts to treat ir as such had been frustrated largely by the
Sikhs. Although his son and successor, Taimur, kept up pre-
tensions o northern India, the best he could do was to rerain
his hold on Kashmir and eject the Bhangis from Multan.
Taimur’s son, Shah Zaman, was most ambitious and as soon as
he took his farher’s place, he announced his intention of re-
establishing the Afghan empire in India. Fortunately for the

m&m Abdali’s progeny had inherited from him were
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Shah Zaman's first attempt in 1793 brought him as far as
Hassan Abdal. Two years lter, in addition to retaking Hassan
Abdal, he caprured Rohras from the Sukerchakiss. Ranijit
Singh was thus the first Sikh chiefrain to suffer ar his hands,
The Shah had to return home to prevent an invasion of his
own country from the west. As soon as his back was marmned,
Ranjit expelled the Afghans from Rohtas. But the Punjab had
not yet heard the last of Zaman and his Afghans.

Amongst the elements upon which Zaman counted for co-
operation in the execation of his designs was the Rajput prince,
Sansar Chand of Kangra. Whether Sansar Chand would
ultimnrcl{ﬂhnvc t'um'argcd the Afghan’s plans is doubtful as
he too had visions of extending his kingdom from the
mountainous regions to the plains. He had already taken areas
adjacent to his domains from the Sikh chiefs and discovered
that their disunity made them an casy quarry. At abour the
tme when Ranjit came into his own, Sansar Chand was busy
planning a conquest of the Panjab.

Meanwhile a people hitherto only known as a warrior race
had become a I[:Onnidnhic power n the eastern Himalayas.
These were the Gurkhas under a very able leader, Amar Singh
Thapa. They had begun to move westward along the mountain
ranges until they came face to face with Sansar Chand. The
choice for the Gurkhas and Rajpurs lay berween fighting each
other, or joining hands to take ¢ Punjab and share the spoils.
Disunity amongst the Punjabis made the latter alternative more
feasible,

There remained the two castern powers, the greatest of all
in India at the rime, the Marathas and the English. The
Marathas had extended their arms right across the sub-conti-
nent, They had suffered a severe defeat ar the hands of the
Afghans on the field of Panipat in 1761, but ir did not take
them long to recover from the blow. Within 1 few years, they
again mtﬁc Agra, reduced the Mughal Emperor atr Delhi to
subservience and re-entered Southern Punjab, Their soldiers
were better dnc::rbed than the Sikhs and they were led by
more experienced commanders, In the north they had French
Generals Du Boigne, Perron and Bourquin to direct their
conquests. Meerut had become the centre of the Inde
Frangaise where Frenchmen in the service of the Marathas
congregated to drink absinthe and talk of the day when they



THE PUNJAB AND THE AFGHAN INVASIONS 31

would defeat the British and extend the Maratha Empire to
all corners of India, right across the Punjab to the Khyber
Pass. With the Maratha princes quurrclling amongst each
ather, it was not too mua:g to hope thar the whole country
would fall like a ripe apple into tg: lap of France.

The English were less conspicuous but potentially more
formidable than the Marathas. Ostensibly their only interest in
the region was to protect the Nawab Wazir of Oudh whose
territories mmdnﬂp to the river Ganges. (They often had
skirmishes with Sikh horsemen who were in l:l?u: habit of

the river in the winter months.) The English were
the most far-sighted of all the external forces threatening the
Punjab. They had agents in the big cities of India, Sindh,
Persia and Afghanistan, and were fully informed of whar was
going on. Many years earlier they had sensed the danger to
themselves of 2 Sikh-Maratha alliance. Even now it was they,
more than anyone else, who realized that Zaman's aggressive
designs :E:th danger to the whole of India and shrewdly
guessed that the people who could be counted on ro pur up an
effective resistance to the Afghans were nor the Marathas, or
the Ra}lams. or the Gurkhas, buc the Sikhs. They also con-
Jec that the one man who could nr%;n'mc the Sikhs was
the hitherto unknown lad in his reens, Ranjir Singh. They
planned which showed the political genius of their
race, Through their agents they urged the Sardars to unite
under Ranjit Singh. The English were willing, even eager, to
fight the Afghans to the last Sikh.

In the sutumn of 1796, Shah Zaman ‘moved from his native
land and spread his owl-like shadow over the Punjab’,’ This
was the third time that he had crossed the Indus with the
intention of proceeding o Delhi. Although the two earlier
attemprs had failed, ramours about the size of the force he
had assembled caused panic in India. Shah Zaman had a well-
mptd army of over 30,000 Afghans and expecred large
numbers of Indians to join him. There was Nizanmuddin Khan
of Kasur who, in return for his help, had bce;aﬁmused the
Subehdari of Lahore. Across the Sutlej was Sahib Singh of
keeping up the family rradition of loyalty ro eve
potential conqueror. And beyond the Punjab were the Rohills
Sohian Lal, Daftar 11, p. 33.
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Afghans, the Wazir of Oudh and, strangely enough, Ti
tan as far south as Mysore. All of them had ugr;‘td
Afghans to come to India. The Shah answered the inviration in
the following words: *We shall soon march with our conquer-
ing army to wage war with the infidels and polyrheists and free
those regions from the contamination of those shameless
eribes.”™ The two ‘infidel’ powers in India were the Marthas

and the Sikhs: first in geographical order were the Sikhs.

As the news of the invasion spread, pmptz I}ugnn to flee for
safety to the hills. Misldars, who had been collecting protection
tax from the people and were uently under an obligation
to defend them, were amongst the first to decamp. By Decem-
ber the Afghans had occupied the Punjab as far as the Jhelum,
‘Fwo Sikh chiefs whose territories lay across the Afghans’ route
to Lahore were Sahib Singh Bhangi at Gujerar and Ranjit
Singh. Sahib Singh made an attempe to halt the invaders, then
lost his nerve and fled eastwards.

Ranjir Singh could enly raise 5,000 undisciplined horsemen
ﬂ::}nnd witi;:uthing more than ﬁk{:t and to face rha;
Afghans who were equipped with heavy artillery and swive
guns mounted on u:';un»::l:ir.|i If the Af ghan? were mybc checked,
the Sikhs had to come together; otherwise they would be
swallowed picceineal. The obvious meeting place for the Sikhs
was Amritsar, Ranjir Singh collecred his family and his horse-
men and took the road ro the sacred ciry.

Many Sikh chieftains answered the sammons of the Sarbar
Khkilsa and came to Amritsar. The majoriry favoured aban-
doning the plains, allowing rhe Afghans to plunder their
deserted cities and towns and then harassing them with their
hit-and-run (dbai pbut) ractics. The spokesman for this point
of view was the elderly Sahib Singh i of Gujerar. Most
of those present agreed. They had -.alrug;v sent their wives
and children to the hills and were anxious to join them.

Sada Kaur persuaded Ranjit Singh to stay behind and fight.
Ranijit Singh's bold stand tumed the majority in his favour,
and they agreed to back him up. He rook command of the
Sikh forces and advanced rowards Lahore. He drove the
Af and their Indian reers out of rhe countryside

then surrounded the city. ;!- very night his Silchs would sud-

| Asiatic Anmual Regizeer, 1799 (No, 18],
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denly attack some quarter of the city and afrer killing a few
Mﬁ. ns disappear into the dark.

January 1797, the Shah got information that his brother,
Mahmud, was organizing a rebellion in Afghanistan. He left
General Shahanchi Khan with 12,000 soldiers in Lahore and
took the road back ro Kabul. The Sikhs who loved preying
on retreating armies followed the Shah all the way across the
Jhelum and deprived him of much of his baggage. Shahanchi
Khan thoughe this a good chance to take the returning Sikhs
by surprise and intercepted them near Ram Nagar, The Sikhs
rarned the tables on Shahanchi Khan, and Cﬂmpﬁt‘ﬂf defeared
his force. In that winter, Ranjit Singh's reputation rose from
that of an obscure Sikh chieftain to the hero of the Punjab.

The humilistion of defear rankled in the Afghan’s mind.
As soon as he had settled his domestic problem “Zaman raised
the dust of adversity ro the sky 2 mung time".! Once more the

le began to leave their homes and seek refuge in the hills.

October all the big cities of the Punjab were deserted.

swore to wrmE terrible vengeance on the Sikhs. In

order to induce his countrymen to join him, the Shuh issued 2

proclamation that all would be free to plunder Hindustan,! In

command of his troops were the sons ofpﬂhﬂmchi Khan eager
to avenge the defear of their father.

Once more panic spread in the Punjab. At Amritsar, even
the sacred shrine had only a handful of guards left to protect
it. “The rimidity of the Siihs.' wrote Colling, who was glish
Resident ar the Court of the Mughal Emperor ar Delhi, ‘is
undeserving of credit.” Sahib Singh Bhangi evacuared Gujerat,
the Af plundered the rown and massacred the inhabi-
tants, Hindus and Sikhs had fled earlier: the victims were
Pnnﬂki Mussulmans.* Gujranwala, which had been abandoned

njit, met the same fare.

At the meeting of the Sarbat Kbilsd ar Amritsar, the
rrmjuriry were again for fleing ro the hills. And again it was
Sada -lsnm': who mrﬁndcdmmun that ]:‘I;::}- owed a duty to ﬂ

from whom they had been raking protection tax.
mc'&rﬂm decided tﬁ flee, she wm:ldglmd those Sikhs who

*Sahan Lal, Daftar 11, p. 35

XPCiy of 13, 1795

80y of December 14, 1705

“SCry of December 19, 1798
C
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were willing to follow her.* Ranjit supported his mother-in-
law and made a passionate appeal that the holy city of Amritsar
should not be lefr to the mercies of le who made desecra-
tion of shrnes a point of honour. Ranjit’s uncle, Dal Singh,
who was present, told them of his success in looting an armed
caravan carrying fruic for the Shah. The Afghans, he re-
assured the assemblage, were vastly overrated as soldiers and
the Sikhs would have no difficulty in beating them. This
decided the other Sardars. ‘Victory is the gift of God,' they
said. ‘Let us make one effort to oppose Him.” Ranjir Singh was
again chosen to be the leader,

The Alghans started badly. Although Zaman proclaimed
publicly that he was going ro extirpare the Sikhs, the peaple
who suffered most were poor Mussulmans, who, believing thar
the Afghans would not touch their co-religionists, had re-
mained in their homes. The Afghan army took all the pro-
visions it needed from the Muslim peasantry.

Zaman wrore o his Hindu supporters, Sansar Chand of
liﬂ;ilr; and the Rajah of Jammu, not ro afford shelter to Sikh
families who had fled to the mountain regions under their
control.’ On November 27, 1708, the Shah entered Lahore.
This time he did not allow his troops to come into the city and
issued strict orders thar there was to be no plundering. The
war was only against the Sikhs, and if they could be isolared
from the P‘uniaﬁ' Mussulmans and the Punjabi Hindus, half
the battle would be won, If, in addition, the Sikhs could be
divided into Majhails (living between the Sutlej and the Ravi)
and Malwais (living east of the Sutlej) the Punjab would fall
without firing a shor. On paper, the Shah'’s plan seemed perfecr.

Nizamuddin Khan of Kasur prerended to be the leader of
the Punjabi Mussulmans and was more than eager to see

fghan power cstablished in the provinee with himself as
Subehdar of Lahore, Sansar Chand of Kangra likewise pre-
tended to be a spokesman of the Hindus. And there was
Sahib Singh of Paniala boasting of his family’s record of service
to Zaman's grandfather, to speak for the Malwai Sikhs. The
only thorn in Zaman's side was the eighteen-year-old Ranjit
Singh, at the head of the misls of the Majha and Jullundur-
Doab regions.

INew fr P o 1
Ipc;:nffnmhrmquﬁ. ¢ Dectimber 24 1708
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The Shah sent a derachment of Af, towards Amritsar.
Ranjit Singh came five miles out of the city and afrer an en-
counter lasting over three hours forced the Afghans to retire
to Lahore He followed them and encircled ¢ capital. He
cur off the Afghans” supply lines and bunt the standing erops
in the neighbouring countryside. The Afghans were forced to
take the offensive. Nizamuddin Khan led another detachment
of Afghans against the Sikhs at Shahdara just across the river
from Lahore. The Afghans were repulsed with heavy
slnnghlt:r. By the time hc]p came from Lahore, the Sikhs had
vanished. The Afghans wreaked vengeance for their defeat by
falling upon the unarmed local population.' Shahdara was
almost entirely inhabited by Mushms.

Ranjit became even more daring. He rode up to the
Musammum Burj (an octagonal tower of Lahore fort on the
side of the river Ravi) where Shah Zaman was holding court
and yelled our a challenge to the Afghan: ‘O gmniun of
Abdali, come down and measure swords with the grandson of
Charhat Singh.”

Days went by and there seemed no ibility of the
Afghans breaking through the Sikh barricade and proceeding
towards Delhi. i:mn taunted his Afghans, but so grear was
the terror thar Ranjir Singh and his Sikhs created in their
minds, thar they would not stir from their barracks afrer
nighrfall.

gShnh Zaman gave up ralk of a holy war and of exterminatin
the Sikhs. He sent his agent to Amritsar assuring the Sikh
chiefs thar their possessions would not be disturbed and usking
them what they wanted, The first reply was unanimous; they
wanted nothing but thar the Afghans should rerurn to their
own country and leave them in peace in theirs. Zaman instruc-
ted his agents to try and sow discord among the Sikhs. The
agents approached the Sardars separately and made generous
offers, This manoeuvre was more successful. Many Sardars
sent their agents to Lahore where they were received with
flatrering atrention by the Shah. ‘1 bestow this country on
you free from assessment. Continue to keep and cultivate it in
confidence,’ he said grandly, Ranjit Singh also sent his repre-
' PCryof December 14, 1798,

*PC21 of December 13- 1708,
*Sohan Lal, Daftar Il p. 39.
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sentative to Zaman to negotiate for the Subehdari of Lahore.
Just when it seemed thar Afghan diplomacy had succeeded in
breaking up Sikh unity, a saviour appeared in the person of
Sahib Bedi who, by virtue of his descent from Guru
Nanak and his enjoyed the status of farher of the Sikhs.
He pleaded wi:.ﬁc‘thc Sardars to stop negotiating with the
foreign invader. They agreed to abide by his decision and
when the Shah’s agents came again he told them on behalf
of the Sikhs: ‘We took the country by the sword and will

e it by the sword.! Zaman had o give up the plan to
win over the Sikhs and swore he would teach &cm a lesson
in war. This was an empty boast as the newswriter’s report of
the same day states: “The Shah’s camp 1s always in alarm an
account of the Sikhs who at night approach Lahore and keep
up a fire of musketry. None go our against them.”

Time was against Shah Zaman. His brother Mahmud was
again stirring up rrouble in Afghanistan. His soldiers had not
been paid for many months and were clamouring for permis-
sion to loot the city. When the Shah refused, I:Ell.'j' told him
bluntly that they would nor fight any more. The Shah was
compelled to give up his plans of conquest and ordered his
troops back to Kabul. Before leaving, he proclaimed thar as
soon as he had settled matters with his brother Mahmud, he
would return and conquer India.

Shah Zaman did indeed come back to the Punjab twelve
years later but not as a conqueror. His brother Mahmud
captured and blinded him and he turned his sightless eyes
towards the Punjab, tapping his way with his cane, to beg
for asylum from Rmiitpgingh.

Y PCiB of Jenuary 25, 1700
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wHEN news of Zaman's departare reached the Sikh chieftains
at Amritsar, they broke camp and hurried back to their estates;
the only one who did not think of his private interests was
Raniit Singh. He immediately set out in pursuit and caughr up
with the Afghan rear not far from Gujranwala. From there to
the banks of the Jhelum he kept up a running fight, raking
heavy toll of the invaders’ life and equipment.’ He even tried
to ger ashead of Zaman to annihilate his forces before they

d extricate themselves from the Punjab, Bur the Afghan’s
feet were fleeter and he escaped the intended cordon. This
pursuit took Ranjir Singh ro the banks of the Indus.

The people of India now heard of the new leader who had
risen in the Punjab. Ranjit’s popularity was well gauged by
Resident Collins, He wrote: ‘At present chis chief is regarded
throughour Hinduostan as the protector of the Sikh narion; it
being generally believed that were it not for the fortitude and
uc:ﬁt:nt conduct of Ranjit Singh the whole of the Punjab
would ere this have become 4 desert waste since it is the boast
of these northern savages (the Afghans) that the grass never
grows where their horses have once rrodden.™

On the retrear of the Afghan army, Lahore was ied
by three Sikh chicfrains: éhm: Sing{, Sahib Singh and Mohr
Singh.* Like peasants who suddenly come into money, these
mien spent their time in drink and fornication, or in squabbling
It & most likely that the Afghan csnnon which have become the subject
matter of ari scademic dispute were lost in the Jhelum in the course of this
retreat. See footnote on p, 41.
1&“&’:“:%.1'?&@““%@” V'in
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amongst themselves and so disturbing the peace of the city.
"The people of Lahore,” wrote Sohan Lal, ‘being extremely
oppressed, raised their voices of wailing to the skies” Niza-
muddin Khan's agents had approached the leading Muslims of
Lahore with the suggestion that their master be invited to take
over the city. But the Muslims rejecred his overrures and
joined the Hindu and Sikh citizens in sending a secrer invita-
tion to Ranjit Singh.

The citizens' envoys called an Ranjit Singh. He could not
determine whether the invitation was genuine or intended ro
embroil him with the triumvirate of the Lahore Sardars. He
sent his own trusted servant, Abdur Rahman, with the EnVOYS
to study the true state of affairs in the city and sdvise him on
a course of action. He himself wenr to Barala ro consulr with
his mother-in-law. Abdur Rahman spent some days in Lahore
talking to the leading citizens and tm rejoined his master at
Batala. He assured Ranjit Singh thar the invitation expressed
the genuine feelings of the people of Lahore and that very
lirtle resistance would be offered by the dissipated Sardars of
whom Sahib Singh, the only one with any ability, was then
away from the city.

Sada Kaur advised immediate action.

It was the worst time of the year for a military campaign.
The summer’s heat was scorching: the monsoons were ex-
pected to break at any moment and rarn the plains into a vast
marshland. It was probably juse this which induced Raniit
Singh to undertake the expedition and to take the Sardar
rriumvirate ar Lahore by surprise. He also chose an appropriate
day, the last of the month of Muharram. On this day Shia
Mustims commemorate the martyrdom of the two grandsons
of Propher Mohammed by going out in on through the
streets and beating their breasts to the chant of “Hlassan, Hus-
sain : Hussain', In the afternoon they rake u:rmrg
effigies of the tombs of their martyrs and bury them wi
ceremony, Although the Muharram obﬂmesm observed
only by the Shiss, the ceremonies are warched by others who
frequently participate in meetings where recounti
the heroic deeds of the martyrs are recired. As Ranjit SE
over the :"v_,a:whh:h was divided berween them and Sobha Singh of the

Kanhuya had belped in the capture. In 1705, the sons of these men were
in possession of the ciry,
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had , the Sardars spent the afternoon on their balconies
warching the mourners’ processions pass through the streets
and then fraternizing with their Shia friends. This had been
followed by the wsual carousals which went on later than on
other days. By rthe time silence descended on Lahore, Ranjir
Singh was only a few miles from the walls of the city.

From their flar roofs where they had slepr; the early risers
saw a silent host encircle the city, I{y the rime the sun came up,
every one of the 25,000 men was m his place and every gun
was in its position. Ranjir Singh lefr Sada Kaur ar the Delhi
(Gare on the eastern side, and went on to Anarkali in the sourh,
where he was handed a secrer message of weleome from the
citizens. He rode round the city walls and had it mined at
several places. As soon as the first breach was blown, Mehr
Maohkam Din, the leader of the Lahore Muslims, had it pro-
claimed by bear of drum that he had mken the administration
of the city in his own hands and ordered all the ciry gates to be
thrown open. Ranjit Singh entered with his derachment
through Lahore Gate in the south: Sada Kaur led in her horse-
men through Delhi Gate in the cast. Mohr Singh and Sahib
Singh’s families and retainers fled through the other gares. Chet
Singh shut himself up in the fort.

A proclamation was made assuring the citizens of peace and
frcedﬂm from maolestation; a warning was issued ro the soldiers
that looting would be punished with death.

njit Smgh's first public act was to pay homage at the big

Royal Mosque the Em]::hahi Masjid buile by the Mughal
Emperor Aurangzeb, and then at the most frequented one in
the city, the mosque of Wazir Khan. He picched his cam
alongside the Royal Mosque under the walls of the forr, and,
on the advice of his mother-in-law, let Cher Singh starve him-
self into submission. Cher Singh's envoys came our next da
;nd Eﬁesrlfd d;; fx to Ranjit if their Lni:;:cﬁ life were ’

anjit show magnanimity w was to
all his life and for which he tglrw'ny‘s gained well-deserved
returns, He not only agreed to spare his fallen adversary, bur
warmly embraced him and ma:!::r;m a generous grant for
:!tuulizrim:. Thus did he turn a bitrer enemy into a grareful
&

On July 7, 1799, the massive gares of the fore of Lahore
were thrown open to its eighteen-year-old conqueror: Ranjit

5
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Singh entered to the sound of the boom of guns firing a royal
salute. "Trampets of happiness were blown and kettledrums
of victory beaten in every direetion,” wrote Sohan Lal!

Lahore was one of the oldest and certainly the biggest city
of the Punjab. According to legend, it had been founded by
Lav, the elder son of the i}lindu avatar, Rama, ar the same time
as Kasur was founded by his younger brother Kus. (The name
Lahore being a derivation of Lavpura—the city of Lav.) Ir
had been in the hands of the Rajputs till 1002 Ap,, when the
Muslims defeated and ecjected them. Mahnud of Ghazni re-
named it afrer him as Mahmudpura but the old name, Lahore,
came back into circulation. The city was occupied in turn b
the different tribes of Muslim conquerors of the Punjab
Babar established Mughal rule in India. The Mughals built
most of the city’s forafications, palaces, mosques and gardens.
While Delhi or Agra were the scats of the fughal -
ment, Lahore was the chief city of the Punjab and a sort of
half-way house between the Indian capital and the territories
beyond the North-West Frontier of India from where the
Muslim rulers recruited their best fighters. For the Sikhs,
Lahore was only second in importance to Amritsar, Tt was the
birthplace of their fourth Guru, Ram Das, who founded the
city of Amritsar and it was the site of the martyrdom of their
fifth Guru Arjun, the compiler of their sacred book, the
Granth Sahib. € were temples to mark rhese events and
the visits of the other Gurus. The caprure of Lahore was con-
sequently of the greatest significance to Ranjit Singh. The
possession of the city made him much the most powerful chicf-
tain in Northern India, and since it was known to have always
been the capital of the province it gave him a vague sort of
title over the rest of the guniab.

Zaman was by now back in Kabul bur stll toying with the
idea of conquering Hindustan. He made several oyerrures to
Ranjit Singh because Ranjit Singh was the only person who
stood between him and the throne of Delhi, He sent presents
of horses and an sive dress (Kbillar). Ranjic Sineh took
the hand of Fﬁem proferred by his versary
and amongst the gifts he senr in return were some pieces of

4 Sohan Lal, Diftar I, p. g3,
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cannon that Zaman had lost in the rivers of the Punjab in his

to mng:.’

As Ranjir Singh's fame increased, the attitude of the Sikh
musldars rurned from secret envy to open hate. The caprure of
Lahore caused the poison ro erupr. His former colleagues
turned against him and made alliances with the Ehmgic:ﬁ?tf-
tains who had been so ignominiously ejected from the city.
Nizamuddin Khan, whose dream of being the Subehdar of
Lahore had been rudely sharrered, joined their ranks. The
dissidents mer at Amritsar, where a branch of the Bhangis was
in power, and resolved to eject Ranjit Singh from Lahore, In
the spring of 1800, the combined forces of the Bhangis, to-

her with those of Nizamuddin, advanced along the road to
ore. Ranjit Singh stopped their progress ren miles east of
the capital at the village of Bhasin.

Time and circumstances were on the side of Ranjir Singh.
He had the ciry behind him to keep him supplied with essen-
tials. The contederacy was a loose alliance based on nothin
more than a common emotion. Their leader, Gulab Sin
Bhangi, seemed ro be less anxious o force a decision than the
others; he found the country liquor and mautch girls betrer
suited than war to the s ris:El atmosphere of the countryside
of Bhasin. One of these Erin ing bouts brought on a haemor-
rhnge ‘which killed him. This dispirited the confederate army,
which quietly melted away. Ranjir Singh returned to Lahore
none the worse for the two months’ outing excepr for the

! There i lirele douht that this gesture wai made by Ranjir Singh after he had
tiken Lahore und not before ss has been erroncously sared mosT
historians (P Camningham, Wade, Griffin, Larii and Sinha), Two
lerrers from Resi Collins to the Earl of Momington written in April
thoo (S5Ces and 57} elanfy the position. One states: "My private L ot
thmummhhmhm:wm&?mmhmhh
Runject Singh the usurper of Lahore who has lately received o rich Kbillar
from the Wﬁ-ﬂ;ﬂutmldwmmm has by oo
ticans velinguished his” designs on Hindustan!” The other letrer soates:
‘Advices from Lahore mention char Rasjic lﬁh has laely delivered
Shah Zaman's Vakeel, 15 picces of artllery which the Dureani prince lost in
his retrear from the Punjab last year by the overflowing of the Chensh.

The affair of the rerum of cannon has asumed seme importance because
of the vicw mdhrthcm!mrﬁm:huuwﬂ\ilgmnuum&hlm
1o Larnan the Subchdari of Lahore to Ranjir, This is insccurste. The
cannon were los by Zaman {in which river we are not cormain), recovered by
E:niit:{nﬂ to Zaman st lemt six months after Ranjit had bocome
master ore.
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expenses of having had to keep his army inactive in the field.
Here again fm:lr?li favoured I'Em Just :s he was toying with
the idea of raising 2 compulsory loan from the city’s money-
lenders, a chest containing 26,000 gold moburs was unearthed
m an old ruin, Budbu-di-Ava, ourside the ciry walls. With the
enemy scartered and the replenished, the people were
finally convinced thar Ranjir gingh had come to stay as the
ruler of Lahore and perhaps the rest of the Punjab,

As sunflowers tumn ro the rising sun, people from all over the
country began to flock ro the court of the young Sukerchakia.
Sons of chiefs came to join his army: schalass and doctors
came for service; artisans and craftsmen came to obrain royal
Elm'm i troops of courtesans came to seek personal favours.

anjir Singh installed himself in the forr and be holding
regular durbars in the octagonal tower, the Mussummum
Burj, under which, only a year ago, he had stood in his stirrups
and hurled defiance ar Shih Zaman. Apart from Sada Kaur ar
Barala and his ageing uncle, Dal Singh, whose advice he sought
on important matters, he engaged Misr Ram Dial to look after
his day-to-day affairs, and young Fateh Singh Ahluwalia, who
had hitched his wagon to Ranjir’s rising star, o guide him on
military matrers. most notable addition, however, was the
Bolhari family. Even in his youth, Ranjic Singh had developed
4 sort of hypochondria nnd} was always consulting physicians
and trying out their prescriptions for his imaginary ai
Amongst the first native doctors to attend on him at Lahore
was Ghulam Mohyuddin, who had been summoned to treat
an eye ailment. doctor brought with him his clder son,
Azizuddin, whom he was training in Pundni (Greek) medi-
cine. Ranjir Singh was immediately arrracted to the
whose refined manners and florid speech made g pleasant con-
trast to the rustic uncouthness of his Sikh courtiers, ‘New
blossoms are bursting on the tree of your fortunes,” said the
_v;_mgd mnn;ﬂb mmp[lmmh ting Ranjir Sii;gh. When he was
omm:fm:nr ¢ accepted with more picruresque
speech: ‘On the tree of fidelity, the flowers of Ig)ra_]ty will
only give place to the fruit of perfecr devorion. . . . Precious
are the pearls of truth when on the bracelet of faithful
actions. Happy is the sovereign in the sunshine of whose favour
the flowers of uprightness blossom. Sweer is the fruir of
righteous dealing, though the husk be unpalatable’—and so on.
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Azizuddin soon took his father's place as royal physician; then

as chief confidant and later as Minister of Foreign Affairs. He

became, as he deseribed himself with undue modesty, ‘merely

i of sweet sound’. He introduced two of his brothers,
uruddin and Imamuddin, to Ranjit Singh's service.

Amdiﬁ: was of Si p-:m[ms-im: :ﬁl consequently wirhku;;
any prejudice against other religions, hen Ranjit Singh as
him wr:lmh religion he th{:ughrg:vﬂs reater, I'Iin,du urgMuslim,
Aziznddin replied ractfully: ‘1 am ike a man floating in the
midst of a mighty river; I turn my eyes toward the land but ean
distinguish no difference in either bank.’

Azizuddin or Fakeer Azizuddin as he, being a Sufi, liked ro
b called, was an extremely able diplomar’ possessed of a cool
head—a nn]ir)l:"vcry rare amongst hot-headed Punjabis. He
had a philosophic detachment to his job as adviser to Ranjit
Singh, ‘Gouneil is like a dice; fate like the mark upon the
board, Tr is within your hand and yet for all that it is not within
your hand’ ] '

Ranjit Singh was still far from being the ruler of the Punjab;
the capture of Lahore had won him more enemies than allies,
After the experience of Bhasin, he was determined not to give
them time to gang up against him. First he moved against the
Jammu Rajah who had collaborated with the Afghans, and in

htning marches came within four miles of the city. The
Rajah made his submission and paid a penalty in the form of an
elephant and Rs 20,000/~. In this campaign, Ranjit added the
towns of Vairowal, Narowal and Sarsowal to his domains.
Soon after his rerurn from the hills, he proceeded against
Sahib Singh Bhangi of Gujerat, who had plotred with the Chief
of Akalgarh ro attsck Gujranwala.

The open rift between two leading Sardars was an invitation
to foreign powers, Zaman sent envoys negotiare with the
rival factions. In the south, George Thomas prepared ro march
"Many Europeans who met the Fakeer have written fomably of Im

Liexe Col, Steinhach who was in Ranjit’s employ und sxw more of
dmﬂldﬁmumnfthmqunmhhhmﬂﬂnijlﬁﬁmfﬂh
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up to the Sutlej and the French General, Perron, ro whom the
Plfaqu Sardars had rurned for assistance, made it clear that his
price would be a large slice of the Punjab. The peril produced
the man. This was again Sehib Bedi, who had three years
carlier unified the Sikhs to fight the Afghans, _

The Bedi was trying ro get the Sikh Chiefs of the Cis-Sutle
(the Malwa region between the rivers Sutlej and the Jumna
to unite against George Thomas, when he heard of the con-
flict berween the Bhangis and Ranjir Singh. He hurried north
to Gujerar and in the name of the Gura ordered the parties to
lay down their arms. Such was the restige of this man that
the Sardars obeyed withour demur. &)han Lal gives a grarhic
account of the scene. “The Exalted One ( Ranjir) untied his
sword from his waist and placed it on the ground before Baba
Sahib Singh. All the Sardars did the same. For one hour the
swords lay on the ground and the Sardars did not do anything.
Afterwards, che said Baba Sahib tied the sword round the waist
of the Exalted One and said thar within a shorr time all his
opponents would be extirpated and his rule would be esrab-
Iisllaa:d throughour the country.’ Ranjit Singh was persuaded by
the Bedi to leave Gujerar alone. Bur he punished the Chicf of
Alalgarh who had sided with the Bhangis by capruring his
fart and, on his death, annexing his estares,

When Ranjit Singh remmcﬁ to Lahore, Shah Zaman’s mes-
sengers were impatiently waiting for him, He learnt thar some
Sardars who were hm‘:i{c to him had promised suppore to the
Afghans. It was clear that their only motive was to do down
Ranjit Singh even if it meant handing aver the country to the
forcigners. Ranjit Singh accepted the Shah’s gifts and compli-
ments and dismissed the emissaries with even richer gifts and
more flattering compliments. In this way be precluded their
dulinﬁr with any other Sardar. Though young in years, he
knew how to match wile with wile,

The news of this not-too-secrer alliance berween Ranjic
Singh and Shah Zaman dismayed the Sardars, who had looked
forward to the Afghan invasion as a means of getting rid of
Ranjit. It abso caused grave concern to the British, April
1800, the Governor-General decided to take steps to ‘coun-
reract the influence of Shah Zaman with Raniit Singh', and
issued instructions that ‘a native agent a priately qualified
should be immediately dispatched to the Court of Ranjit Singh
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with suitable instructions for impressing the Chief with the
just sense of the danger to which d his interests
and those of his nation by yielding to the insidious proposals of
Shah Zaman’.'

The English sent Meer Yusuf Ali as their agenr to persuade
the Sikhs to have nothing to do with the Afg?izsi Meer
started with the Cis-Sutlej chiefs, They did not need any
persuasion, but asked one of the chiefs, would the English make
a defensive alliance with them and would English mlsiiﬂrs fight
alongside the Sikhs? Yusuf Ali pleaded thnfllgm had no instruc-
tions on the subject: his brief was limired to giving advice.

The chiefs of Malwa treated Yusuf Ali with courteous cyni-
cism. He had come withour escort and withour gifts—envoys
normally had both—and had nothing to offer except good
counsel. This amounted to saying that if the Sikhs bear back
the Afghans, the English would appland them.

After getting no se from the Malwa Chiefs, Meer
Yusuf Ali called on Sada Kaur ar Amritsar. She sent for her
son-in-law. Ranjit Singh came to Amritsar ar cansiderable per-
sonal risk, as the city was in the hands of the Bhangi family.
He took the chance as he felt that he should apprise himself of
the feelings of other Indian powers on the subject,

The meeting took place on October 21, 1800, in Sada Kaur’s
a ents with only Ranjit's personal advisers, Fateh Sin
Ahlowalia and Misr Ram Dial, present. Yusuf Ali waxed elo-

uent on the perfidy of the Af - on Abdali’s massacres of

¢ Sikhs and his blowing-up of their temple in Amritsar and
of the treachery and faithlessness which were hereditary
characteristics of the Durrani family, Ranijit Singh heard him
in silence and remained lost in thoughe for some minures after
Yusuf Ali had finished. ‘After weighing his answer,’ reported
Yusuf Ali, Ranjir observed thar %t ple (the Afghans)
were not to be trusted as they do not ﬁr to their engage-
ments; that he himself had not the least dependence on the
Durranis’. Fateh Singh sounded a different note. Zaman had
presented them with robes of honour, and it would be dis-
courteous on their part nor to respond to overtures of friend-
ship. The first meeting was inconclusive. Ranjit Singh invited
Yusuf Ali to visit him in Lahore.

At Lahore, Meer Yusuf Ali repeated his government’s fears
15C74 of April 14, 1800,
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that Ranjit Singh meant to befriend the Afghans, and in evi-
dence mentioned the return of the guns last by Zaman on his
last invasion, Ranjit Singh thought it best ro write to Collins at

Delhi and, through him, inform the British Government of
the circumstances of the second Afghan occupation of Lahore.
He wrote' of his stroggle against the Afghans and how he had
ridden up to the walls of Lahore fort and chnlle?cd the Shah
ro-a duel; how the Afghans had been compelled to evacuate
Lahore and how Zaman had lost the cannons trying 1o cross
the Jhelum in 3 hurey; and finally how Ranjic Singh, who had
followed him up all the way, had salvaged them and restored
them to the Shah, ar the latter's request, in consideration of
friendship.

_ The winter of 1800 passed in apprehension of yer another
invasion from the North-West. In the spring came news of
civil strife in Kabul and the advance of the Persians rowards
Afghanistan. The Punjabis heaved 2 sigh of relief, and Ranjit
Singh's thoughts rurned to giving himself a legal title over his
Doscssions

Although Ranjit Singh was acclaimed as the leader of the
Punjab, he hesitated for some time to assume the formal title of
Maharajah, because he wished to avoid doing anything which
would give the other chiefs yer another reason to cuﬁm'
ﬁmmr' Eim: their combined strength was not inconsi le.

¢ was, however, conscious of the many advantages in invest-
ing himself with a legal title, The move would be weleomed
by the masses, who had not had a ruler and a government of
their own for muny centuries, It would induce the Punjabi
Muslims and Hindus to recognize the compulsions of language,

litical and economic interests, and way of life and throw
m their lot with the Sikhs who had been fighting for an
independent Punjab. The neighbouring powers would soon
become accustomed to the idea thar the Punjabis were a united
people and Ranjir Singh was their Maharajah. What pe
pessuaded Ranjit Singh to take the final step and risk
antagonism of the Sardars was the birth of 2 son to the Nak-
kaim, Rani Raj Kaur, his second and favourite wife, The desire
to make his infant son, Kharak Singh, the heir-apparent to a
' SCos of December 50, t8on. Although this letter does not indicate whether

this was before urlmh&npmrzu{hhnr:,irhqnludnﬂlmm
conmmmications that it was afrer July 795,
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kingdom proved irresistible, Although Sada Kaur was some-
what put out by the failurc of her own daughrer to Irnducc
the first son, bemng a far-sighted woman she reconciled herself
to the idea of her daughter taking second place in a royal
harem and encouraged Ranjir Singh in assuming the ritle of
Maharajah. She no doubr felr that if her daughter did have
sons, they would at least inhenit the Kanhaya estares, and if
possible also claim a part of their father’s kingdom.

Ranjit Singh agreed to a formal investiture. Prayers were
said in the mosques, temples and gurdwaras all over his
domains. On the 1st of Basdkh (Apnl 12, 1801), which was
New Year's Day by the Hindu calendar in use in northern
India, Sahib Singh Bedi daubed Ranjit’s forehead with saffron
paste and proclaimed him Maharajah of the Punjab. A royal
salute was fired from the fort. In the afrernoon the young
Maharajah rode on the back of an elephant through the jubilant
crowds of his subjects showering gold and silver coins, In the
evening the city was illumined with oil lamps and there was a
rich display of fireworks,

Neither the flartery nor the pageantry of the Court rurned
Ranjit’s mind from the real facts. His political acumen is well
illustrated in the compromise he made between becoming a
Maharajah and remaiming a peasant leader. Although crowned
King of the Punjab, he refused to wear an emblem of royalty
on his simple turban. (*My sword procures for me all the dis-
tinction I desire. I am quite indifferent to external pomp,” he
said.) He refused to sit on a throne and continued as before to
hold durbar seated cross-legged in his little bathrub-like chair
or, more often, received visitors in the orienral fashion reclin-
ing on cushions on a carpet. He ordered new coins to be struck.
ese did not bear his or his name but that of Guru
Nanak and were named the Nanak Shaki (of the Emperor
Nanak) coins. The seal of government likewise bore no refer-
ence to him. The government was not tubcaﬁn:rwnn]aﬁair.
but the Sarkar K?JE%:E;E of the people who brought it into being;
the Court for the same reason came to be known as the Drurbir
Khalsasi. And with all the flatterers about him, rhe ttle b
which he preferred ro be addressed was the plain and sim
Singh Sibib. These conventions were @ complete departure

from the accepted traditions of oriental courts, where protocal



48 RANJIT SINGH

was rigidly observed to keep the monarch as far away from
the masses as possible. Ranjit Singh did not wan to, nor ever
did, lose the common touch,

most im t consequence of taking on the title of
‘Maharajah of the Punjab’ was that thereby Ranjit Singh as-
sumed rights of sovercignty not only over all Sikhs (the
government itself being Sarkar Kbalsiji), bur also over the
pcngl: who lived within the ill-defined geographical limits of
the Punjab. The title gave Ranjir Singh a logal right to demand
that territories which had ar any time paid revenue to Lahore
—territories such as Jammu, Kashmir, the Rajpur hill Stares,
Multan, Bahawalpur, Dera Ismail Khan, Dera Ghazi Khan,
Mankera and athers—should pay tribute to him and owe alle-
giance to the Lahore Durbar.

Ranjit Singh did not derive his ritle from either the Maghals
or the Afghans: it was given o him by thar mystic entity the
Panth Kbalsaji. He acknowledged no earthly superior. He was
impelled by the weight of tradition thar had grown up over
the years, that it was the destiny of the Sikhs to rule (Rdj
Karey gi Kbils) and thar perhaps e had been chosen by the
gurus 1o be the mstrument of their inscrurable design. With
this assurance Ranjit Singh was able to harmess the dynamic
energics of his people and with a clear conscience launched
himself on a career of conquest and annexarion. )

Immediately after his coronation, Ranjit Singh reorganized
the administration of Lahare, He had the city walls an grares,
which had suffcred many sieges, repaired, and posted pickets at
all strategic points to check crime, which had increased enor-
mously under the Bhangi misrule. The city was divided into
different wards under a Chaudbri (headman), who was respon-
sible for the peace of his locality and could call out the police
when order was disturbed.! He also reorganized the administra-
tion of justice in the city; since the majority of the population
subscribed to the Muslim faith and wished affairs to be regu-
lated by the law of the Shariaz, he set up te courts for
Messulmans. Nizam Din was appointed Chief Kazi (Judge)
with Mohammed Shahpuri and Saidullah Chishei as the two
Muftis. For those Muslims who, like the Hindus and the Sikhs.
preferred to be governed by the customary law of their caste

' The fiest Headd of Police of Lahare was one lmam Baksh who always rode
4 donkoy and was therefore known a8 Kéur Sasir,
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or district, the M:lhmtg]ah ser up Tmtc courts under judicial
officers appointed by the Durbar. A chain of dispensaries were
opened in different parts of the city where Yunan: medicine
was dispensed free of charge. Hakim Nuruddin, the younger
br%th:r of Fakeer Azizuddin, was appointed Chief Medical
Officer.
Ranjit Singh did not make any changes in the agriculrural
em or land revenue that had prevailed since Mughal rule,
village had a revenue collector (yugaddam) and a circle
of villages (tappah or tilugak) was in the charge of a chaudbri.
In addition to these two, there was the keeper of fiscal records,
the ganungo. The officials were themselves proprictors of land
in their respective villages or circle and were compensared by
reduction in revenue,

Revenue was collected directly from the cultivator of the
land. The amount and manner of payment varied but care
was taken that all the regular and irregular charges (e.g. sttg:fllv
of grass, timber, fruit, eggs, chicken, etc) to touring o wals
which went under the title mudba (literally ‘rubbish’, or feadal
dues in the forms of gifts on marriages or festivals ro members
of the royal family or the Rajahs) never amounted to more
than half of the gross produce caleulated on the standing crop
or after harvest: if the revenue was paid in cash, the sum was
calculated on the value of half the produce. The rare was not
considered extortionare and allowed the agricultaral com-
munity to thrive.

As important as the right over land which was guaranteed
to the actual cultivator was the ownership of wells. As o
matter of facr, the most relisble evidence of the ownership of
land was the inscription on a well (sometimes placed on the
inside to save it from mutilation). The right o Irg a well was
exclusively that of the cultivator. The proprietor who did not
till the land himself or through hired servants had to be content
with 2 nominal title. The same applied to a jagirdar whose right
to the revenue did not in any way invest him with a title to the
land from which it was collected.’

__ Thesystem had worked well for many centuries and Ranjir
Singh saw no reason to change it.
*From 4 Report prepared by Sic A. Temple an the Jullundur Doab, PCi;

of December g, thsz. Also ‘Land Revenue Administration under the Sikhs',
by S R Kohli, i the Journal of the Punjafe Hiroricol Society, ignf.

D
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At the end of Ranjit Singh's forty years of rule, the income
of the State was as follows:

t- Revenue from the provinces of Lahore,

Multan, Kashmir and Peshawar 175:57:741

2, Nazaranas 6,03,657
3. Customs and Excise 15,31,634
4 Jagirs 91,96,000
2,88, 89,032

The figure of three crore rupecs sounds extremely modest
today. It should, however, be bome in mind that ar the time
the price of the staple food, wheat, was fourreen annas per
maund. In 1961 it fluctuaced between Rs 18 and s0 per maund,
1.e. more than rwenty times as much,

Within a shorr dme Ranjit Singh convineed the people of
Lahore and the neighbouring districts that he did not intend to
set up a Sikh Kingdom bur a Punjabi State in which the Mus-
lims, Hindus and Sikhs would be equal before the law and
enjoy the same privileges and duries, He invited ralented
Mu&i;ms and Hindus ro join his service and paid assiduous
respect to their religious instirutions by participaring in their
festivities, At Dussebra he went through the rirual of the
worship of arms like the Rajput warriors of old and arran
mock battles between his troops ro commemorate the bartle of
Rama against Ravana. At Dizwali all public buildings, including
the palace, were illuminated. During Holi, he went out among
the throngs and made merry, often in @ manner quite unbecom.
ing to @ monarch. On Basant he paid homage at the tomb of the

uslim divines, Madho Lal and Hussain! On Amavas and
Baisikh he joined his co-religionists in bathing ar Amrirsar or
Taran Taran.

With the affairs of Lahore settled, Ranjit Singh turned his
atrention 1o the Pathan colony in Kasur. He ordered one of
his officers, Fateh Singh Kalianwala, ro bring Nizamuddin o

' Hussain and Madho Lal were two Suff of Labore whose attachment
e i care Bl Sk e ey e e S

rote m vlaihi LSRRI, are i
tomb close to the Guﬂm‘sw!mnhdrdmhmhfcmhmnk_-
brased W&hmﬂ:&:ﬁhurmptmn 5. Muslims, Hindus and Sikhs pay
homige at this
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book. The Pathans met the advancing Lahore troops half-
waﬁs After a sharp engagement they withdrew behind the
walls of their town. In Sohan Lal’s picturesque language: ‘Like
a moth, Nizamuddin fell upon the lamp of the glory of the
armies, burne his wings and having failed to carry on the open
battle, became besieged.” Ir was a short sicge, as the Lahore
t succeeded in blowing up one of the gares and charging
m. Pathans laid down arms, paid a heavy indemnity and
agreed to recognize Ranjic Singh as their sovercign. Farch
Singh Kalianwala took three of Nizamuddin's brothers as
hostages to Lahore.

Next came the turn of Sansar Chand of Kangra. The Rajput
had arlti::i[;:m! trouble and ook the offensive by coming down
from the hills and occupying many villages in the estates of
Sada Kaur, When Ranjir Singh tarmed up at Batala, Sansar
Chand lost courage and withdrew his forces from the plains.
Ranjit Singh reoccupied the villages taken by the Rajputs and
in addition annexed some of Sansar Chand’s territory, includ-
mg two prnszmus towns, Nurpur and Naushera, which he
gave to Sada Kaur. He also wl;lcr territory round Sujanpur
which he captured during this campaign.

On his way back to Lahore, Ranjit Singh stopped at Taran
Taran to bathe in the sacred waters of tEc mnE surrounding
the temple. Fateh Singh Ahluwalia, who had been invited
earlier, joined him and in full view of the hundreds of
ff_'?'tmm;s of peasants and Sardars who had congregared, Ranjit
Singh and the Ahluwalia exchanged turbans as a symbolic
gesture of having become brothers in the faith (Dbaram bhai).
T}lf)‘.fvigmd a solemn pledge that thereafter their friends and
enemies would be commen; thar they would visit each other
as frequently as possible and in every conquest made by their

“T:hcsﬂi'uoru, Ranjit Singh would give ar least one district to
Y :

Fateh Singh Ahluwalia made his first formal call on Ranjit
Singh a few days later. He was received in full durbar like a
prince of royal blood with gun salutes. After the ceremonial
reception the rwo proceeded to the western regions and in-
duced Muslim landowners of Pindi Bhattain to ally themselves
with the new Punjab State. They submitted and paid tribute in
the form Ranjic liked best: by giving him four hundg
lﬂdfﬂrll.p £
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their best breed of horses. The allies crossed the River Jhelum,
mcorporated Dhanni-Pothohar (Rawalpindi and Campbellpur
districts) within the Punjab. Both these regions were given over
to Fareh Singh. The next to be subdued was Jassa Singh Doloo
of Chiniot, who had been an ally of the Bhangis and, in rhe
words of Sohan Lal, *had raised his head to the sky wirh pride
and strayed from the path of obedience'! Doloo kepr the
besiegers ar bay for two months and only submirted when he
was reduced ro dire straits. Ranjit Singh admired his tenacity
and rook him into his service.

While Ranjir Singh and Ahluwalia were occupied in the
north, Nizamuddin Khan took advantage of their absence and

lundered some villages near Lahore. Ranjit Singh hurried
k and made straight for Kasur. Nizamuddin withdrew his
troops into the town, which he had En:[nrtd for a long siege.
Heavy guns had to be broughr from Lahore to pound the walls
of the fort. Nizamuddin surrendered and was again pardoned
and allowed to hold his fief.

Ranjir Singh was far more considerate in dealing with his
Muslim adversaries than he was with the Sikh or the Hindu.
His rrearment of the family of the Nawab of Multan was yet
another example of his generosity in dealing with Punjabi
Muslims.

Since the Afghan incursions, Multan, a districr of the Pun-
jab, had begun 1o have closer administrative affiliations with
Kabul than with Lahore. It had been raken by the Bhangi
Sardars more than once, bur their indifference rowards the
welfare of the people had created a- cermain amount of ani-
mosity towards the Sikhs and an aloofness from the sense of
Punjabi nationalism that was gathering force in the rest of the

ince. This was particularly marked in the case of the
ruling class which, being Muslim, found the alliance with the
Afghans more convenient than with the Sikhs, and had suc-
cessfully ejected the Bhangis. Ranjit Singh was determined to
reclaim Mulean and early in (803 announced his intention of
bringing the city within the country to which it belonged.
Almost to a man his Sardars advised him against undertaking
the expedition, They felt that they were not equipped to invest
50 a fort, nor face a combination of hostile tribes that
the Nawab of Multan would inevirably bring into the field
" Dafrar 1L, p. 34. '




MAHARAJAH OF THE PUNJAB 53

against them. Nothing, however, restrained the impetuous
Ranjit and he marched out of Lahore at the head of his troops.

Nawab Muzaffar Khan had, as was anticipated, rovsed rll’::
Muslim peasantry of the neighbouring districts to come to his
aid. They were, however, unable to withstand the Lahore
rroops, which entered the suburbs of Mulran without difficulty
and trained their artillery on the mud fort which stood in the
heart of the city. Muzuffar Khan thoughe it discreet to make
his submission. He paid an indemnity and agreed 1o send his

of revenues to Lahore instead of ro Kabul.

Ranjir Singh returned home in triumph. The victory cele-
brations were followed by festivities to mark the engagement
of his three-year-old son and heir, Kharak Singh, to Chand
Kaur, the infant danghter of Jaimal Singh of the Kanhaya misl,
For Ranjir Singh the event had personal significance. At one
of the nautch parties his eye fell upon a young and artractive
Muslim courtesan, Mohran, and he fell violently in love with
her. A few days later the girl left the sordid armosphere of
brothel to go to live in the royal harem. Mohran enjoyed
Ranjic Singg'z confidence for many years, and the Maharajah
had a coin minted in her honour.' Since she did not veil herself
and was often seen in the Maharajah’s crmmy. ANy Storics
began to be circulated of her influence on him.

YTl Arrioals Sikkd (currency of the mirrored ring) is said to have been
issuied n imitsvion of the of the East India Company, which bore
th:guﬁk of Queen Vietoria. coim have the fgure of 4 pescock:
the Punjabi plural for the bird being Moran.



CHAPTER IV

THE TAKING OF AMRITSAR AND THE
REORGANIZATION OF THE ARMY

fo—op

Tur Punjab’s second ci?r, Amritsar, was commercially
more important than Lahore. {t was the chief trading centre
to Northern India, where caravans broughe from
Ceatral Asia and exchanged them for the products of India.
In its narrow, winding streets were business houses trading in
all ‘conceivable kinds of goods: silks, muslins, spices, tes,
hides, matchlocks and other kinds of armaments, use of
the rich merchants, subsidiary trades such as those of gold and
silver smiths had grown up. Besides its riches, Amrnitsar had
sanctity in the eyes of the Sikhs. It was founded by the fourth
Guru, Ram Das, and it was here that the fifth ur, Arjun,
had compiled their scriprure, the ‘Adi Granth', and builr the
temple in the centre of the sacred pool. Twice a year at least,
all gkha who could, came to Amritsar to bathe in the

and make their offerings at the shrine. As far as the Sikhs were
concerned, Amritsar was the most important city in the world.
Anﬂ:ﬂlewhuaspimi to be the leader of the Sikhs and the
Ma d jah of the Punjab had ro take Amritsar to make good
his title.

Amritsar was divided between nearly a dozen families own-
ing different parts of the city, In t&f.“ﬁ of the localities these
families had buile themselves tiny fortresses and they main-
rained retinues of armed tax collectors who muleted the traders
and shopkeepers as often as they could. There was constant
friction berween the tax collectors of the different Sardars
which often broke out into fighting in the streets. The citizens
were tho W of this state of affairs and secretly
a m&miir to take over the city. Ranjir Singh'’s
agents had already reported that there was little likelihood of
unity between the Amritsar Sardars. The only family of any
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real importance was that of the widow of the Bhangi Chief,
who had drunk himself to death ac Bhasin four years earlier,
and her son Gurdir Singh. This woman, Mai Sukhan, was in
oc ion of the fort of Govindgarh and was supported by

In the autumn of 1802 widow Sukhan’s rent collectors fell
out amongst themselves in squeezing the city’s wealthiest
banker, Aroor Mal, who was compelled to move his business
from her zone 1o another. Aroor PVE appealed ro Ranjir Singh
to resiore arder in the city.

The combined forees of Ranjit Singh, Sada Kaur and Fateh
Singh Ahluwalia encircled Amrisar. The Sadars mounted
cannon on their city fortresses and decided to fight it out. The
Bhangi widow also prepared to resist, hoping that the Ramgar-
hizs would come to her rescue. Ranjit Singh took the city

iccemeal, overwhelming the Sardars one after another. The
mgarhias did nor appear; Mai Sukhan was persuaded to
surrender and to accept a pension for herself and her son.

The forr of Govindgarh was a valuable acquisition. With it
Ranjit acquired five big cannon, including Abdali’s massive
Zam Zama, made of copper and brass, which had caused havoc
amongst the ranks of the Marathas in the battle of Panipat. The
Bhangis had taken it from the Afghans and since then it had
come to be known as the Bhangion ki rope.!

More important than the acquisition af the forr and the
cannon was the acquisition of the services of a remarkable
soldier, Akali Phula Singh. This man belonged to the militanr
order of the Nihangs® (also called Akalis), who had since the
days of Guru Govind Singh formed the suicide squads of the

It saw service in mmany of Ranjic’s campaigns, and sfter his death, Faced the
tish in the Anglo-Sikh wars. Thereafrer it was pemtioned’ and put on o
in Lahore's muin srreet. It has been immortalized by Kipling as

Cim'e gun,
lThtEml‘d Nihang is Persian meaning crocodile. The order became very
amgm%mh“nhlmﬂlmhomnhhﬁ,whlwnm
Hodicate their lives to the service of the community. The order has de-
gnm:wdm:mnlhwummmrw&mqmufhmlﬁshﬂw
tan consume. Neverthelass, they. are an extremely picturesque lae—the Sikh
mﬂ&rrﬂudbmﬂtﬁ:mwﬂh:mchhﬂnfhugpdmiu.
Wlﬁﬂﬂtﬂ 35 1 lskb (the eqpual of 1:5000) or 38 an 2oy
t,l’n:z:.' h:;uumurinu:h:luylhtugungm‘inucﬁmuhnﬂ';whm
le de + he snnounces that he s going to ‘conquer the fort of Chintor” or
'ﬁnrﬂwmaﬂﬂ.l}mhhﬂmﬂymudurpmmmufmm
gmh‘llmmh';mm‘pitﬂﬂf ver'; a chillic, ‘s quarrelsome dame”. A

b
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Khalsa armies. Phala Singh had dedicated his life to the care of
kh shrines and was an ardent protagonist of 3 Khalss king-
dom, He was largely responsible for Ranjic Singh’s suecess at
mritsar, He brought with him berween two to threc
thousand Nihangs 1o join the Stare army.

Ranjit Singh disliked fanaticism of any kind and never really
took to l’l‘ugu Singh or the Nihangs: Kuj fabaon wi kotah
ndesk—of crooked mind and shope sight—he pronounced
them. Nevertheless, he found them an extremely useful
counter-weapon against the Muslim crusaders (Ghazis) and
was full of praise of their daring in battle. Hle owed many of
!l';:tfhnmm c:rd:ramd victaries to the desperare valour of the

ihan

Rnnj; Singh was given a tumulrous reception in the holy
city. He rode through the narrow streets on his elephant to
the temple, bathed in the sacred pool and made a large grant
for it to be rebuilt in marble and gold leaf,

The capture of Amrirsar broughe additional lustre ro Ranijit
Singh’s name and Indians from the Brirish territories b
ta flock to his standard. Amongst them were deserters from the
forces of the East India Company, mainly Hindustani Muslims
and a few Eurasians. The Maharajah had already been im-
pressed with British prowess in the field of bartle and was most
anxious to know why they had m't:mphcd, often with inferior
ipment, over the armics of the princes of India. A plaroon
of deserters paraded before him and he saw for the first time
soldiers march in step and make battle formations on simple
words of command. He offered the deserters employment as
drill ts and also sent a barch of young Punjabis across
the border to enlist in the Company’s forces and learn what-
ever the English had to reach. S
Sikh soldiers were reluctant ro learn from Hindustani
i lion with a
ﬁﬁiw:tﬁ tm :ﬂ“; and E:riu:“ ?:‘“d Lllkh:lﬂ'l.: Sm;h—d; »
merrssr [hstrict) in oo, s
S e e
e (i erl 3
wéﬁﬂngmnnb# igges dmm.mﬁhy;hhwmmﬂ Phula
Wil wat 1 - :
i e o o, sy

The Multarajab humbly joined i hands and replicd Ir is the gifr your
honour guve me”
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The Sikhs were horsemen and considered fighting on
foot beneath their dignity. The business of marching in step
seemed to them sin y silly: rugsi-i-lulooan, the bloody
fool’s haller, sneered the Sardars. They claimed with some
justification thar it was the Khalsa cavalier with his matchlock
and spear, fighting as a onc-man army on his own, who had
won all the battles and justificd the sobriquet savd lakhb (equal
to a hundred and twenry-five thousand men). What could the
contemptible little Hindustanis drilled like automatons teach
the Khalsa? Ranjit Singh was nort impressed by the boasting.
He promised better terms to young Bun}:lhis who joined his
new infantry barralions and who agreed o be trained by
Hindustani and Eurasian drifl masters. He watched them being
put through rheir paces every morning and evening and gave
them and their menrors handsome rewards. At the end of nine
months’ rigorous training Ranjit’s new army was born. Ir was
the most prominent part of the parades and mock battles which
took place during the Dusschra celebrations in the autumn of
t8o3.

After Dussehira began the campaigning season.

Ranijit Singh sent emissaries to the independent principalities
of the provinee to invite them to declare their allegiance to the
ernment of the Punjab. (Some of them had continued o
attach themselves to Afghanistan, or pretended to do so in
order to avoid paying revenue to the Lahore Durbar,)
those who contemptuously turned down Ranjit's
invitation was Ahmed Khan E‘Jiial, who owned the territones
around Jhang. He was also the Punjab’s best breeder of horses.
Ranjit Singh led his new troops against Jhang. Ahmed Khan,
who had enlisted large numbers of mercenaries from the neigh-
bouri:}ﬁ:ibm. appeared in the field ar the head of a formidable
host. battle commenced with a cannonade from either
side. When their gunpowder was exhausted, the Sial horsemen
charged. Ranjit's mfantry battalions withstood the fierce on-
slaughts and once the enemy eavalry had spent itself moved to
the counter-attack. The Sials broke their mnks and galloped
to safery behind the walls of their fortress rown. Ranjit's
nts crashed throngh the gates and compelled the citadel

ele
to Fllgcgm_:mﬁ. Ahmed Khan slipped through the cordon
and to Multan. It took him some time to appreciate that



58 RANTIT siNGH

Ranjit Singh was not wanting to appropriate the Sial territory
for persanal gain bur to induce them and the other tribesmen
of t{: region to throw in their lot with their Punjabi kinsmen,
Some months later Ahmed Khan made his submission and was
reinstated ar Jhang as 3 vassal of Lahore. The Zemindars of
Ucch, near Jhang, cast their lot with Ranjir.

The short campnign proved thar the decision o adopt the
Britsh method o training and warfare had been correct.
Ranjit Singh decided to intensify the training and organize
his army. In the sprng of 1804 he called for a general muster

parde and finally sertle the divisions and commands. Afrer
extensive manoeuvres and inspections he called 4 grand durbar
of the chiefs and military commanders in the fort of Govind-
garh and announced that the army was to be divided into three
sections. One was to be directly under the Maharajah's com-
mand and ready for action ar shore notice, This section con-
sisted of cavalry, infantry and arrillery and the pick of his
Emis, such as Hari Singh Nalwa, Huli'rm Singh Chimini and

Singh Majithia. Heavy artillery was under the command
of Chaudhry Ghause Khan; nfantry, triined in Eur_:;m

service in licu of the #agirs. These were largely the Sardars of
the Bhangi family who had been remnstared in their possessions

after joining the Punjab State, They were obliged to furnish
fully-equipped soldiers in times of war, This section could
account for another 10,000 men in the field. The third section
consisted of the militias of the misls which, like the Kanhayas,
the Nakkais and some others, were allies of Ranijit Singh. The
total fighting force which Ranjic Singh could put into the field
W5 31,000 men.
The nization carried our at Amritsar gave a clearer
picture of :E: forces available and fixed the responsibility for
ing them into the field, Once rhe res onsibility had been
muﬁt Singh set most exacring stan of efficiency in
march, manoeuvre and marksmanship, If the Twoops were
slovenly in dress ur ill-trained, he a.f not hesirate to punish
the nﬁu responsible by reducing his rank and levying heavy
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fines. But his usual method was to encourage men by reward
rather than to threaten them with penalmes. He made it 3
point to spend three to four hours of his day wntchinf his
troops at parade and never did a day go by when he did nor
reward a gunner or a cavalier for good performance: And since
he invariably accompanied his armies to battle, he was always
on the lookour for acts of bravery which he rewarded with
handsome grants of land and pensions.



CHAPTER Vv

THE ENGLISH AND THE MARATHAS

o—ap

ix the five years following Ranjit Singh's caprure of Lahare
and his asumption of the title of Maharajah of the Punjab, the
sitwation on his eastern frontier changed completely, In 1800,
the powers to be reckoned with were George Thomas ar
Hansi, the Scindia who held Delhj with its pupper Mughal
Emperor, and beyond Delhi, the English, In 1801, Thomas

ame the most powerful man in Eastern Punjab. He ex-
ploited the gratitude of the Cis-Sutlej Sardars for ridding them
of Thomas and had many to exchange turbans with him, He
forestalled the English in their designs in this direction by
warning the Sikhs about them. Ina lerter to Bhag Singh of Jind
{ijjir s uncle) he wrore: ‘It is an invariable custom with the
English first to gain 2 footing by the excitement of avarice, by
the promise of assistance or other flattering terms, and then by
gradual to assume the governmenr of the country, viz,
Ch Si:sru.;‘ﬁ Tipu Sulran, P-glnwzh Kasun Ali Khan, Nawab
ﬁs:?:ddﬂwhh Nizam Ali Khan and others.” Thro
Smgh, Perron made overures 1o Ranjit Singh. Bhag Sin
did his best to persiade his nephew not to make any commit-
ments to the English when their agent, Meer Yusuf AlLi, called
on him ar Lahare. Ranjir Singh was shrewd enough ro know
that the overtures, whether made by the Afghans, the French
or the English, had for their object the extension of suzerainty
over the Punjab. Bur he also knew thar if he refused ro deal
with foreign agents, his enemies within the State would cer-
tainly make contacts with them with the objecr of brt:king
his insecure hold on the country. Ranjit Singh dealr wit
Perron and the English as he Had enrlier dealt with Shah
Zaman, In a letter’ to Collins, he explained his position with

1 f March 19, 1Bes.
’%:f Mrgm?si.lrm.
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unusual candour. ‘Bhag Singh accompanied by Vakeels on the

of Perron, Sahib Singh (of Patiala) and Louis (a sub-
ordinate of Perron—of whom more later), are arrived here
with presents for me. They have proposed to me to enter into
terms of amity and friendship wirﬁ Perron. .. . As Bhag Singh
15 under many obligations to Perron, he is ser to gain me by
every mode of persuasion, urging at the same rime the grear
desire of the general to have a2 meeting with me. In fine,
although my friendship for the Govemor-General and you
is great beyond the possibility of whar I can feel towards
anybody else, yer I must preserve appearances on this ncca-
smn] in consideration of wﬁat 15 due g}- me to the will of my
uncle.

The Frenchman’s dreams of creating a Perronistan in the
Punjab had a rude awakening. At first his subordinare, M.
Louss, muleted the chiefs of Malwa and behaved with dis-
courtesy rowards them, Perron had Louis arrested and repri-
manded. He had scarcely rehabilitated himself with the Mal-
wais when his master, the Scindia, recalled him from the Punjab
to help fight the British. Luck was against the Marathas and

suffered a series of defears. With the setting of the Scin-
dian sun, sct the hopes of Perron and he faded out of the Indian
scene. The English became masters of Delhi and Agra, as well
#s of the person of the Mughal Emperor. They also came 2
step closer ro Ranjit: all that separared them was the romain-
ing Mararha chief, Jaswant Rao Holkar, and the Sikh chiefs
of Malwa.

Within two of the defeat of Scindia, Holkar clashed
with the English. Holkar failed to follow up his early success
and let the initiative to the British commander, Lord Lake,
who inflicted a mg defear on him at Deeg. Hollar and
his Rohilla confederate, Amir Khan, fled for help ro the Sikhs
and spene several months ar Patiala trying ro get the chiefs of
Malwa to join them, Haolkar also im’itcg the Afghans to re-
invade India. When Lord Lake resumed his pursuit, Holkar
and Amir Khan crossed the Sutlej and arrived at Amrirsar.
Lake came up 1o the Beas. Both Holkar and Lake sent emis-
saries to Ranjir Si who was then ar Multan.

Ranjit Singh realized the gravity of the situation and sent
word to all his principal Sardars to join him ar Amritsar to give
him counsel.
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A meeting of the Serbat Khilsi consisting of the leading
Sikh chiefs and dignitaries was called. Both sides of the case
were presented. On the one side there were the refugees,
Hollar and Amir Khan, who had sought shelter and it was a
matter of honour for the Punjabis to protect them. Holkar
had, in addition, ingratiated himself with the Sikhs by pavin
homage at the Sikh remple and making a handsome donation.
He flattered Ranjic Singh as brother and the only hope of the
Hindus of India. (Forrunarely, Ranjit knew of Holkar's nego-
tiations with the Afghans) On the other side were the English
demanding thar Ranjir Singh expel Holkar from the Punjab
or suffer the consequences of the Anglo-Maratha conflice
being exrended to his domains The position that Lord Lake
rook up left no doubt in anyone's mind that the English demand
was no idle threat.' To urge his point of view, Lake had sent
Bhag S[ngg of Jind to Aﬂll‘itﬁi.a

Ranjit Singh inspected Holkar's Europeanized troops and
saw for humg;:’ how much better they were than the hirlh of
his own army. He could not, however, understand why they
had fied before Lake: instead of embarrasing Holkar with
awkward questions, he decided to see things for himself, He
disguised himself as 2 common soldicr and with a band of
trusted retainers visited Lake's encampment and spent the day
watching his Indian sepoys and English soldiers on parade. In
the evening he wenr to the English commander’s tent and
asked to sce Lord Lake. His one eye betrayed him and he was
recogmized. What between the Sikh and the English-
man ar this meeting’ is not known, bur Ranjir Singh returned
to Amritar convinced thar the British were too strong for
Holkar, and perhaps even stronger than Holkar and his own
farces combined.

Ranjir Singh's Ias; TESOTT Was “il hus G?Em. ‘H:h 'mu*f:m.-u:f to the
temiple and ed for guidance. He took two slips o per
::?llphzd th:I:ir:;rw of Lfl.cu:dwﬁnm on one, of Holkar nﬂn the

15Cro of December 14, t#os. In a disparch Lake wrore: T reswolved
: -mﬁhnm:hchmkn[thzkmuadhimdahmthin}-ﬁu

miiles gm Amritsar, and forty-five miles from Ludhisna, which, while

it secnred my lics, would Be likely to give Ranjie Singh confidence to

ﬁm]umchrﬁu&uwummmm&ufmmhﬁg
cause ief.

P Ranjlt meationed chiy o many friends withoue whar the

W discussed. Lord maket wo meemtion of this inc
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other, folded them and placed them before the Holy Granth,
After a short prayer, he picked up one of the slips and opened
it. It bore the name of Lake.

Ranjit Singh firmly refused to be drawn into the Anglo-
Maratha mnﬁict and began to mediate for a settlement. Fortu-
nately for him Lord Wellesley, the British Governor-General,
who had pursued an aggressive policy againse the Marathas,
was replaced by Cornwallis, who was given sru:iﬁc instrue-
tions not to engage in more wars or make any turther annexa-
tions. The orders from London were to allow Holkar 1o
resume his ssions. Ranjit's mediation was co ently
successful. The Marathas and Rohillas recrossed the Sutlej and
disappeared from the Punjab’s horizon for ever. The British
now the sole power of substance in the east and only
the loose conglomeration of the Malwa chiefs remained
berween them and Ranjir Singh.

Holkar and Ranjic sized up each other’s character in the
short period of their association. When Holkar discovered
that despite his sermons on patriotism and Hindu-Sikh unity,
Ranjit Singh had sent his uncle, and Fateh Singh Ahluwalia, to
treat with the English, he said tauntingly: ‘From the boun-
daries of the Deccan to the outskires nf the Punjab 1 have
searched for & man of courage and valour ro join me in my
battles . . . bur the more I searched, the more I found he was
elusive. There is nathing in the world except man, but the
real one is wanting." Ranjir Singh's comment on the double-
dealing of Halkar was as brief and blunt as one mighr ex
of a Punjabi peasant. Holkar, he said, was a pucea add,
an absolute bastard.

The Treaty of Lahore was signed on January 1, 1806, by
Ranjit Singh and Fateh Singh Ahlowalia with the British. The
Sikh signatories agreed ro ‘canse Jaswanr Rao Holkar to re-
move with his army to the distance of 30 kos from Amritsar
immediately, and will never hereafrer hold any further con-
nection with him or aid or assist him with [TOOpS, OF In any
other manner whatever’, In return, the Engli promised thar
their armies would not enter the id chiefs* terrirones

nor form any plans far seizing their possessions or property,

The strain of the ing months sffecred Rangit Singh'’s
hﬂhh.“’hilelmhmgitlhcump[cnf&ilﬁmiiin&wnh
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ar Khewra, where he had ¢ for rest, he caught a
chill which dcvdngcd into a fever. It was several weeks before
he could even stand on his feet. He was broughr back ro Lahore
ina uin and on the doctor's advice stayed in the Mughal
gzrd?::lhalumu. a few miles beyond the city walls to the
east. During this convalescence, he had the canal which sup-
plied witer to the garden reopencd and the fountins and
water-channels cleansed. New fruic trees and flower beds
were laid our. Ranjic Singh spent many days amongst flowers
and the playing fountains till his health was fully restored.

‘Why do they call this beauriful garden Shalamar? ' he asked
one of his courtiers,

‘Because, O Noble One, the Persian word Shalamar means
"pleasing 1o the heart"”’

‘But ﬁu’s is the Punjab, not Persia,’ exclaimed Ranjit. ‘In
Punjabi, the word Shilamir means rhe “killer-of-love™ and in
this garden love is kindled, nor killed. Let it hercafter be called
Shalabagh, the garden of the beloved.’

Shalamar, or Shalabagh as he liked ro eall it, became Ranjit’s
favourite resort outside the city. It was the scene of many
pleasant meetings and a place of enterrainment for distin-
guished visitors. He often repaired o it to escape the hot and
malodorous vapours of Lahore. Here wine flowed like the
water of the founrains and the rinkle of dancers' bells was
heard ll the late hours of the night.



CHAPTER VI
THE PROFESSION OF A SOLDIER

%

‘1t rorLow the profession of a soldier and do not indulge in
any pleasure or amusement bur that of endeavouring to extend
my conquests,’ wrote Ranjir Singh in 3 letter in July 1805’
introducing himself to Mr Seton, the new British Resident ar
Delhi. The next three years fully proved his contention for
rarely were his feet our of the sturrup,

Immediately after the danger of the Mararha-British con-
flict in the Punjab was over, the chiefs of Malwa resumed
their favourite pastime of bickering and intriguing. All ar once
a petty squabble developed into a major crisis which threatened
to con the whole of the South-Eastern Punjab. The bone
of contention was an insignificant hamlet called Daladi on the
border separating Nabha's territories from those of Patiala. In
the squabble for possession of this hamler an agent of Patiala
was murdered. Rioting flared up all over Malwa. Jind su
E:rmd Nabha; Thanesar and Kythal lined up behind l’atinﬂj

one of the skirmishes the Chief of Thanesar was killed:
Patiala avenged the death of his supporter by inflicting a
bloody defeat on Nabha. Then both parties approached Ranjit
Singh to arbitrate between them. Ranjiv decided thar this was
a good opportunity to extend his suzerainty over Malwa and
consolidate his hold on the estate-holders thar lay on the route.
He crossed the Sutlej with an army of 20,000 men, On the
way to Patiala he passed through the territories of the F
puria misl, the Sodhis of Karmarpur, the Dallewalia musl and
through the prosperous towns of Ludhiana and Ja ;
Evm'{whcrc the chiefs paid him tribute in cash, cannon, Eurm
and ¢ Is.

At Parala the chiefs of Malwa awaired Ranjit Smﬁ
Bur Sahib Singh of Patiala had second thoughts about
I, 266 Srl, 510 of Seprember 14, 1808,

E
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wisdom of having invited Ranjit and, not knowing what to do
in the situation, simply locked himself up in his forr. A couple
of rounds of cannon fire reminded him of his duty as a host
and he came our to welcome his guest, Thereafter Ranjit was
lavishly entertained and assured by the Malwa chiefs that they
looked upon him as the Maharajah of all the Punjab.’

Ranjit Singh's verdict on the incident in the vi of Daladi
was to exonerate Jaswant Singh of Nabha from ibility
for the murder of the Patiala agent. He r:ompcnsulz Patiala by

iving him three large-sized towns—Bassi, Talwandi and
mun with their neighbouning villages. The Rajah of Jind
was given Ludhiana and Fatch Singh Ahluwalia got many
1 The meeting broke up with further protestations of
ty to Ranjit Singh.

On his way back to Lahare, Ranjit spent some days in the
jungles near Jullundur hunting tiger and wild boar. While he
was engaged in the chase Fate %hnnd. brother uif his unc—ti:hn:
enemy, Chand, approached him for help against
Gurk}frms who had occupied the hill rract hcﬂf:mnn Jammu
and the Sutlej and had Ecsi ed the fort of Kangra. Ranjit
ingh had no love for Sansar Chand, who had once allied him-
self with the Afghans and twice invaded the plains of the
Punjab, Nevertheless he realized thar if the Gurkhas succeeded
in taking Kangra, their power in the north would become
formidable. Ranjic Singh agreed to help the Raj and
marched his army towards the Himalayas, The Gurkha Com-
mander, Amar Singh Thapa, heard of his approach and sent

LA newsletter from Patiala dated Novernber 4, 1806 (SC7 of November 27,
1Bod) describes the seene; "The neeting of the chicfs touk place on 3 bank
with autions on both sides. Grear ¢ was mid to Ranjic Singh.
Sahlhgft;cgh {Patiala) sid o him: “Jaswant Singh (Nabha) has 8 ronwnridi
mo in a3 very exemordinary mamer,” Ranjie Singh replied: “He b your
hrndm;iilu‘f}‘mlm:l:k:mmlhw:rm]p'mmmhymr i 5
Rajz Sahib Smgh observed: “If you had considered me in the same light

= Singh (Jind) and Jaswant Singh you would not have fired ar me so
Fatkouly” Ranji roplod: “Thi coo s s of your beothee
and uncle, otherwise I consider uugmurhmmm&hi Singh said:
“l am vours” Bhai Lal Singh lﬁdlll}uldmﬂmrlt's&'&gh- *You are the
chuef and the light of our tribe, Now that you are come o this

mmmmmwmyWﬁmmm‘”mw%
not get rid of his suspicions. The newslester goes on to say: ‘After this
Sahiby Singh fn converation with the Ranee sid Ranjic Singh is a great
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memfcs of goodwill with offers of money if Ranjit Sin

would stay neutral. Ranjiv Singh was anxious to sacprhnr rﬂ:

a‘.::crﬁd fort of Kangra did not fall into the hands of the
khas and spurned their overtures.

Ranjit Singh pitched his camp at Jwalamukhi—the town
celebrated for its voleanic mountin whose flame was an
object of veneration to millions of Hindus. His troops moved
on to the relief of Kangra.

The Gurkhas had been tired out by months of siege. With
the onset of summer, an epidemic of cholera had broken our in
their ranks. Fatigue and disease left them with no stomach to
fight s fresh adversary., Amar Singh Thapa abandoned the

iege and retired to Mandi Suket, swearing vengeance on

Ranjit Singh.

Sansar éha.nd came to Jwalamukhi to thank and pay tribute
to Ranjit Singh,

Ranjit Singh was still in the hills when he received news of
the birth of twin sons to his first wife, Mehtab Kaur. There was
rejoicing in the royal camp. When Ranjit Singh returned to
Lahore he gave away large sums in charity and the ciry was
illuminated for several nights. The young princes were given
the names of Sher Singh and Tara Singh.

Ranjit Singh had not been 1 long time in his capital when he
was called upon to take action against the Pathans of Kasur.
Nizamuddin, who had been defeared rwice by the Durbar

! Most English and Muslim historians have stated that these children were
not borne by Mehtsb Kaur but were taken from women of menis| clases
und ar the instance of her mother passed off as hers by Ranjic. They also
state that Ranjic Singh did not believe the sons to be his and had very linde
o do with them. Both these statements are inaccurate, What gave rise to the
mﬂum of Iﬂmnw Ranjit's strained relations with Mehtab Kaur

her mother, ur., Mchiab Kaur spent & lot of her titne ar her
mather’s home. Ranjit saw little of the rwo princes for some years and the
first born Kharak Singh remained the favourice. When Sada Kaur fell from
power and the princes camee to stay with their father, Kharak Singh and his
mather gave currency ro the gossip in order to countersct any possibility of
Rm]i:.rr{umg Sher Singh, who was fast becoming the hrfz:r': favnurite.
{Kharak Singh wrote 33 much in a personal

| letter he sent to the British
Governor-General.)

Bastardy is more easily insinuated than proved—or disproved. Bur if the
father's sttinyde can be taken @ any indication of the facts, it is quite clear
that Ranjir Singh believed the children were his and Mehtab Kaur's. Courr
historians have a lot to sy of Ranjit's joy at the birth of his sons snd the

jubilstions in the camp.
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troops, was dead. His brother, Kutubuddin Khan, had taken
his place and was ap[nrca:ltly eager to aim another blow ac
Ranjit. He enlisted a large number of Ghazis, fortified Kasur
and stocked the forr with provisions to outlast a prolon
siege. He persuaded Muzaffar Khan of Mulran o supply hi
with trained soldiers and marerial. Ranjir Singh sent hus trusted
adviser, Fakeer Azizuddin, to tell the Pathan thar the days of

igious crusades were over and he should continue faithful
to the Punjab Governmenr. Kurubuddin dismissed Azizuddin
with the raunt thar, since the Fakeer ate the salr of the infidel,
he was unworthy of attention,

Ranjit Singh led his army himself. To give the Ghazis a
taste of their own kind of religions fanaticism, he had Akali
Phula Singh bring along his band of desperado Nihangs.

The battle commenced on the morning of February 1o,
1807, with a clash between the Ghazis and the Nihangs—the
Muslim crosaders versus the Sikhs. The Nihangs drove the
Ghazis behind their stockades. The artillery took over. For
one month Sikh guns fired on the walls of the Kasur fort
withour making any impression. One night Sikh miners tun-
nelled their way to the base of the western bastion and placed
a heavy ¢ of gunpowder under it. It was fired in the
m.rH’ hours of the morning and tore a large gap in the walls.
Phula Sing’s Nihangs charged through the breach and caprured
the citadel. Kutubuddin was arrested while trying ro escape
and broughr before Ranjir Singh.

Ranjir Singh showed the magnanimiry which so much con-
tributed to his success as a leader of men. He forgor Kutu-
buddin's tirades against the Sikh infidels, his houschold's
treacherous conduct over the years and their repeated attempts
to overthrow the Lahore Durbar. Kurubuddin was not only
forgiven but given a handsome jagir across the Surle) ar
Mamdor.

Ranjit Singh did not want to leave Muzaffar Khan un-
anixhtd for his share in the Kasurians’ defiance of authority;

rom Kasur the army was ordered to proceed southwards to
Multan, Muzaffar Khan tried to interest his Muslim neighbours
in his plight but no one was willing ro give anything more than
advice. When the Durbar troops entered the city, he
submitted and paid Rs 20,000/~ as penalty for his indiscreet
assistance to Kutubuddin,
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Ranjit Singh returned from Multan to find an invitation to
visic Patiala awaiting him. This was from Sahib Singh’s wife,
Aas Kaur, asking for his offices to settle her dispute with
her husband. She wanted her son, Karam Singh, to take over
the administration of the State in the lifetime of the father—
which Sahib Singh had naturaily resented. Ranjit Singh pro-
ceeded ro Patiala ar the head n!nlnrg: army. The Chiefs of
Malwa once more acknowledged his suzerainty by paying him
rribute in cash and by giving expensive presents. Ranjit Singh's
verdict was a careful compromise: Samh Singh was ro con-
tinue as Maharajah as long as he lived; his son, Karam Singh,
was to receive 2 jagir of Rs 50,000 a year. Both parties accepted
the judgment and paid the ‘arbitration fee': the Rajah gave
Rs 70,000 in precious stones; the Maharanee, a brass cannon.
Amongst the others who waited on Ranjit Singh and paid
tribute were the chiefs of Kythal, Shahabad, Shnhpu: and

On his way back to Lahore, Ranjir Singh ordered the siege of
Naning:tri. & town in the domain of the Rajah of Sirmoor,
who had refused to acknowledge the Government of Lahore,
The Rajah put up a surprisingly stout resistance, Ranjit Singh's
favourite officer, Farch Singh Kalianwalia, who led 2 rach
frontal attack, and two senior officers were killed,
Naraingarh was raken after heavy loss bur withour the Rajah
of Sirmoor, who was able ro ger away 10 the hills.

Ranjit Singh continued on his homeward march through
Naushera, Morinda and Bahlolpur. On the way he heard of the
death of another of his companions, Tara Singh Gheba, head
of the Dallewalia misl, who had accompanied him to Pariala.
Ranjit retraced his footsteps ro offer his condolences. He fixed
3 pension for the widow and the deceased’s family and incor-
porated the Dallewalis’s forces in the State Army. The estares,
which were worth over 7 lakhs a year in revenue, extending
over the towns of Rahon, Nakodar and Naushera, were merged
with the Durbar.

The administration of the Dallewalia estates was entrusted
to Diwan Mohkam Chand, who had joincd Ranjit's service
earlier thar year. The Diwan had served with the Bhunghis,
twice fought against the Durbar troops and had impressed
Ranjit Singh with his knowledge of military strategy. Ranjic
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Singh offered him the rank of Commander of Cavalry and
Infantry and sent him against the Rajpur chiefrains of the
north-eastern Himalayas. Within a few months the Diwan
reduced Pathankote, Jasrota, Chamba and Basohli. He advised
the Maharajah to hold a durbar and formally invest the chief-
tains with robes of honour. This was a clever move, as refusal
to attend would indicate rejection of the Durbar's sovereignty.

Invitations were sent to princes and estate holders, and those
who responded were invested with robes of honour and con-
firmed in their possessions. After the ceremonial durbar was
over, Ranjir Singh and Fareh Singh Ahluwalia set out against
the few chiefs who had ignored the invitations, Sialkor was
captured after a three-day siege; Akhnur submitted withour 4
ﬁgglt; the Bhangi of Gujerar had to get Sahib Singh Bedi to
mtercede on his behalf before he was forgiven; theglinnhuyax
whose daughter was engaged to marry the heir-apparent, were
let off with a light tribute and the attachment of a pare of their
estate. The last canquest of the year was the fort of Sheik-
hupura, the only one of the three major forts of the Punjab
which was in hostile hands; its reduction was of the urmost
importance as it was only twenty miles from the capital,

wo years of ceascless campaigning added many new terri-
tories to the Durbar. Their administration had to be organized
and the finances of the State put in order. Till then, Ranijit’s
fimances had been managed by the banking house owned by
Rama Nand of Amritsar. Ranjic Singh rook into his employ-
ment Diwan Bhawani Duas, who had been an accounrant in the
service of Shah Zaman. Bhawani Das opened a chain of govern-
ment treasuries in the big cities and introduced a prcm

em of accounting. He was, however, more able th
honest, and had on several occasions to be reprimanded. ‘His
hunchback was full of mischief,” wrote Sohan Lal.

The size of the Maharajah’s household and visitors ro the
Court had also increased enormously and necessirated the
appointment of a Royal Chamberlain. The Maharajah's choice
fell on a handsome Brahmin youth from Meerur called Khushal
Chand, who had enlisted as a common soldier. Khushal Chand
was promaoted ro the rank of Jermidir in the palace bodyguard,
and then appointed deorbidir—keeper of the royal” palace.
This post was of considerable importance, since anyone who
wanted a personal interview with the Maharajah had first to
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approach the keeper of the deorbi. It gave the incumbent
Eﬂ itical power as well as a handsome income from presents,

hushal d accepred the Sikh faith and came thereafrer to
be known as Jemadar Khushal Singh. He introduced two rela-
tions of his to the Court; a nephew, Tej Singh (who, after
Ranjit Singh'’s death, played a treacherous réle as Commander
of the Sikh armies in the first Anglo-Sikh war), and 2 younger
brother, Ram Chand—renamed Singh after conversion to
Sikhism. This family of Brahmins exerted a balefu! influence
on the Court. It was one of the rare instances of Ranjit Singh
misjudging the quality of the men he emploved.



CHAPTER VII
FRIENDS AND RIVERS

Go—rnD

1N the decade thar Ranjit Singh had been Maharajah of the
Punjab the situation on the frontier had changed considerably
and some of the dangers thar had threatened his kingdom had
been resolved. The Afghans were busy quarrellin mﬁ
themselves, The Rajputs of the north and the Gur
cancelled each other our and were no longer in a position to
r:hnﬂct:ﬁ-: Ranjit’s supremacy in the Punjab hills. The Mara-
thas, who had accounred for George Thomas, had in their turn
been accounted for by the English. The anly external power of
consequence thar remained were the En lish, who were now
masters of the whole of India except Sindh and the Punjab.

Ranjit Singh had consolidared his hold over much of the
Punjab tmrtE of the river Sutlej. He had climinated the
Pathans of Kasur, taken tribute from the chiefs of Multan and
North-Western Punjab, and had merged the six misls oc -
ing territaries in this region in the State of Lahore: All that
remained to make an independent and unified Stare of the

jab a reality was ro incorporate the remaining six misls

holding lands Emm the Sutlej and the Jumna, The two
major problems at the end of the first ten years of his rule were
the need to define the frontiers with the Brirish and ro integrate
the Cis-Sutlej chiefs in the Punjabi State.

Ranjit Singh had already crossed the Sutlej on two ocea-
sions and been acclaimed as the sovereign of the Punjab; with

taneous enthusiasm by the po with some reluctance

by the rajahs. Even the larter had submitted to his orders and
paid him tributes as they would to an overlord. His suzerainty
over Malwa was an accomplished fact in all but title. The only
thing that remained was for the English on the castern side of
d:lel.’lg'u\"'-utlci States to give legal recognition to a srate of affairs
that in fact existed.



FRIENDS AND RIVERS 73

The only weak point in Ranjit's claim to sovercignty over
Malwa was that in 1805, when Lord Lake had chased Holkar
across the plains of Eastern Punjab, Ranjit, fearing thar the
English Commander would not only destroy the Marathas but
migh also invade his territory, had suggested the river Sutlej
as the boundary between the two kingdoms. Bur neither Lake
nor the Governor-General had wken any notice of this sug-
m{m Their sole object was the annihilation of the Marathas.
[ that was achieved the Board of Dirccrors of the East
India Company, which had been brough to the verge of bank-
ruptcy by the Maratha campaigns; gave strict instructions to
their officers nor ro involve themselves in any more wars and
to consider the river Jumna as the western extremity of
En];g]lish possessions in India,

the three years berween 1805 (when the Maratha cam-
paign ended) and 1808 much warer had flowed down the Sutlej
and the Jummna. Ranjit Singh had resumed his claim to be
sovereign of the Sikhs and the Punjab and twice substantiated
his ritle as far as the Malwa Srates were concerned withour a
word of protest from the English. But in the three years the
East India Company had refilled its coffers and was ready for
more adventures.

Ranjir Singh's action in taking over the territories of Tara
Singh Gheba, who had died in 1807, had caused alarm amongst
the Malwa Chiefs. It was taken as concrete proof, if proof were
needed, that he meant to reduce the chiefs to the position of
E;nsiuners. Soon after the expropriation of Gheba's estates,

ohkam Chand crossed the Sutlej and, with more zeal than
discretion, proceeded 1o take Anandpur-Makhowal and
Whadni (near Ferozepore), along with fifreen neighbouring
villages. Apprehension rurned ro panic and the Malwa Sardars
turned to the only power which could preserve them and
their families in their palaces and privilf.‘:fcﬁ—the English. The
situation took a sudden and unexpected turn in their favour,
The events that brought this abour occurred ncither on the
banks of the Sutlej nor the Jumna, bur on those of the Thames
and the Seine. Napoleon Bonaparte had risen 1o supreme

wer, One after another the Euro wers fell before

im: Auvstria ar Austerlitz, Prussia at ﬁ lgnm at Friedland.
Tsar Alexander and Bonaparre s:gncd the Treaty of Tilsic with
a not-too-secret understanding that if England continued hos-
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tilities against France, Russia would join the French in com-
bating her. Although the British Navy commanded the segs,
the land route to India through Persia, Afghanistan, Sindh and
the Punjab was open to the l"E ranco-Russian armies. The Brirish
Government decided to revise its licy of regarding the
Jumna as its western frontier, Lord M[i::m. who had taken over
as Governor-General in June 1807, ordered troops to be moved
up to Karnal to protecr Delhi from the north, Skinner’s Horse
Wwere sent to Fatml Hariana. Then the grand strategy of erects
ing a series of dams against the possible tide of Franco-Russian’ -
invasion was taken in hand, The dams were to be in Persity
Afghanistan, Sindh and the Punjab. Four missions were conse=
quently sent out: Maleolm o Persia, Elphinstone ro Kabul
Pottinger to Sindh, and Metcalfe was chosen to negotiate with
Ranjit Singh.

¢ idea of sending a British delegation ro Lahore was.
mooted early in 1808. When intclligence was received that
Rnngt Singh might come to Hardwar to bathe in the Ganges,
the British Government decided to exploit the situation by
acts of kindness and attention to render the circumstances of
Ranjit Singh’s visit to the Company’s dominions subservient to
the plan of pleasing and conciliating him, thereby rendering it
the basis of furure intercourse and friendly connection"!
Metcalfe was chosen to receive the Maharajah. His instruc-
tions on this occasion show clearly whar the British regarded
as their northern frontier. Metcalfe was ordered ‘to proceed to
the banks of the Jumna and wair for the arrival of Ranijit
Singh'. On the rerurn journey he was to escore the ruler ‘up
;o the British frontier'—which was again the banks of the

umna.

Ranjit Singh cancelled his Hardwar visit ac the lasemoment.
Metcalfe hac[g therefore 1o proceed to the Punjab.

Meanwhile the Malwais gor together in Samana to discuss
their future. The fecling which prevailed was thar the British,
who had already come up to the Jumna, would inevitably pro-
ceed further norch in due course; that they were stronger than
Ranijit Singh; thar whereas the British would st least guaranree
their personal rivileges and status and that of their descen-
dants, Ranjit h would most certainly take away their
power and merge their territories into the Durbar. A venerable
1 Setoa 1o Governor-General, February 18, 1808, Also SC8 of April 4, 1808,
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patriarch expressed their views in the following words: ‘We do
“mot have a long time to go since both the British and Ranjit
‘Smgh mean to swallow us. Bur whereas protection will be like
ption which takes a long time to kill, Ranjit Singh’s
~@dvent will be like a stroke of paralysis which will destroy us
“within a few hours.” The meeting decided ta send a delegation
to the British Resident in Delhi.
. The delegation consisted of the chiefs of Jind, Kythal,
dhari, and the agents of Patiala and Nabha, Ranjir Singh
it to know the plans of the Malwais and senr his agent to
Accompany their delegation. The delegates mer the E:élish
‘Resident three or four times but since Ranjit Singh's agent was
present, nor a word was said about the fronters. Then Ranjit’s
f agent, believing that his master's suspicions had been un-
founded, left Delhi to proceed on pilgrimage towards Gaya.
The delegates ar once went to Seron and presented a Imgt{;r
- memorandum asking for protection from Ranjir Singh. Seton
Z;gﬂr;u&e& the memorandum to the Governor-General. T}'::
r y’s policy still being no-farther-than-the-Jumna, ¢t
Govtp;-li::ir-G[:tl;chI dccidx:dg:hat the delegation should be
officially ignored. The delegates waited in Delhi for two
manths, then turned back to the Punjab withour the guarin-
tee they had sought. They awaited Ranjir Singh's reactions
with understandable trepidation. Ranjit Singh invited the
Malwa chiefs to Amritsar and gave them a solemn assurance
that he would nor annex their States and would rrear them as
equals. The chiefs agreed ro come into Ranjit's camp. ‘Between
the lion and the wolf they had to come to terms with the
deadlier of the beasrs.™
Metcalfe ser out for the Punjab in the last week of July,
1808.* The instructions of the Governor-General to Metcalfe
admirted clearly rthat he did not think his government had any

. Thompson. Lord Metcalfe, p. 75,

A month before Metealfe's visie, & Caprain Marthews bl visited the Chiefs
of Malwa and had seerct walis with Sada Kaur whom he reported 10 be
hostile 1o Ranjic Singh. Macthews senr detailed reporm of Ranjit Singh's

. administration and somed strength o his Fﬁum
tn him Ranjic h had foorteen batralions of matchlockmen of 1,000 each:
6000 cavaley t1 brass picces of smuall calibire. The soldiers were well
paid: between Rs 8-10 pm. and there were 900 deserters from the Com-
s service in the Msharsjah's army.
the adminiscration of {hﬂh;mm::mmurm
Punjab, ds well ar other parts where the Rajah's authority exists, is under 2
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rights aver the Malwa Srtates. He stated thar they were not to
interfere in Ranjit's ambition in thar direction 'because it
would involve the protection of States unconnected with us
by the obligation of defensive alliance’. Ar the same time, the
British Government wanted ‘to avoid a declared concurrence
in Ranjit's hostile designs against the States in question and
until it is known in what degree the security ml the British
Government may require a cordial union of its interests with
those of Ranjit Singh, it is not easy to determine what sacri-
fices it may be expedient to make for the arrainmenr of that
object’ . . ! In shorr, Malwa was ro be used as a pawn in the

gmiﬁu}it Singh did nor believe thar the object of the British
Government was only to safeguard itself against a French
invasion because there was no real evidence of a French
to invade India and in any case France was a long way off.
French Government had made no artempt to establish contact
with him, nor, to his knowledge, with the Sindhians or the
Afghans. The British on the other hand were sending an envoy
to Kabul with the object of making an alliance with the
Afghans who were the traditional enemy of the Punjabis,
E:;inu[:u-i}r of the Sikhs, and with whom Ranjit Singh had
in constant conflict. They were also sending an envoy to
the Amirs of Sindh and Ranjit Singh was toying with the idea
of expanding his kingdom in that direction to the sea. Besides
that, Ranjir Singh had information thar British agents were
active in Malwa encouraging the chiefs ro renew their request
for British protection. It was obvious thar even if the Brirish

good police and safe for rravellees, it seldom happening that capital crimes
ur ies are commitmed.”
Matthews was received by the Mabarsjsh oo June 13, 1808, He describes

Ranjir Si ﬂhmufn{dl:mundﬂmdqrmmdufumm
gencrous, friendly mind, untincrured with prejudices of sny kind . . .
The Rajah s nor only a most unaffected plesting man in his manners
but of a very good understanding, brave and liberal and secms to be quite the
soldicr and very fond of military excrcises, bur regrers that be can gee fo
Europoam into his service , . . e it hoth feared dnd belicved by his men
and frequently leads them on o the asanit of forrs; being » futslise he says
it is In vain for 4 man tw screen hinself and that whar & to be his end mus
inevitably be so. He is s most capital horseman and rides every mo ull
7 o'clock with enly few attendants on the fine level plam between the of
the vown sod the river, has beautiful horses some of which are frum Iran
and Kandaliaz, but the finest are bred in this counery.!
18C; of June 10, 1508, —
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did not mean o extend such protection, they were not averse
to fostering the demand and I:Em using it as a bargaining poine
‘with Ranijir.

Ranjir Singh sent Hakim Imamuddin, the brorher of Fakeer
hzizunjdin, to greet Metcalfe on the latrer’s arrival ar Pariala;
this was ro make the Englishman realize that he was thereafrer
to consider himself in Ranjit’s domains. Ranjit also summoned
some of the Malwa chiefs including his uncle, Bhag Singh of
Jind, and Lal Singh of Kyrhal, to Lahore, Metcalfe found
their absence from their States and their paying court to Ranijit
an unpleasant prelude to his mission and threatened to ‘wam
them of the natural consequences of incurring the displeasure
of the British Government’.' He received other chiefs who
came to call on him and heard all they wanted o say against
Ranjit Singh. Sahib Singh of Patiala made a dramatic gesture
by presenting the keys of his citadel to the Englishman and
begging him to return them to him to symbolize British profec-
tion over Patisla. “The ceremony was quite unnecessary,
reported Metcalfe. Nevertheless he ‘endeavoured to assure him
that the British Government entertained the mose friendly
senriments towards him'?

The Malwais resumed their efforts of playing the British
against Ranjir Singh, They told Ranjir Singh’ that the British
meant to annex his kingdom, They rold Metcalfe that Ranjit
was massing troops to fight the British. Even Imamuddin's
assurance that the troops had been called up long before and
were on their way to Bahawalpur and Mu{,mn did not calm
Metcalfe’s fears. The atmosphere was thoroughly vitiared
with saspicion on either side.

Ranjic Sinﬂncnllcd a meeting of his mimisters. Ir was
suggested to him thar the man who had most knnw;;»dF of
treating with the English was one Prabh Dial, an employee
of Fateh Singh Ahluwalia. Prabh Dial was asked to assisr
Fakeer Azizuddin and Mith Singh in the negoriations on be-
half of the Lahore Durbar’

! Metealfe, No. 7 of August 18, 1808,

* Metealfe, No, & of Aupust 23, 1808,

*The negoriatinns throw some light on rthe character of Ranjits mother-in-
luw, Sada Eaur, She alternated betwesn fierce loyulty and hatred for ber son-
in-law, She was a the firse to send word to the English thar if they
decided ro invade the ﬁn:i—ah they coubd count on her suppore. Her daogheer,
Mehrab Kaur, personally called on Caprain Marthews to convey this message,
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The first meeting between the youthful Sikh monarch
(twenty-seven) and the even more youthful English ambas-
sador (twenty-four) took place ar Khemkaran near Kasur on
September 12, 1808, Metcalfe was aggressive from the very
start. He had been put off by Imamuddin’s appearance at
Patialz; he did not like being received by Diwan Mohkam
Chand and Fateh Singh Ahluwalia before meeting Ranjit; he
did not like the fact that the meeting should have been
arranged to rake place without pomp and ceremonial ar Kasur
instead of in the capital; he did not like the dry bed of the
river for the location of his rents; an unseasonal thunderstorm
did not improve his temper. He insisted on form and protocel
and Imkﬂr upon any assumption of informality as a slight to
his status as a representative of His Britannic Majesty.

Ranjir Singh assuaged Metealfe’s temper by receiving him
most cordially. He came our of his private tent and embraced
the Englishman and members of his party. He conducted them
to the royal enclosure and made them sic on chairs alongside
his own, and presented Metcalfe with an elephant, a thorough-
bred horse, strings of pearls and expensive shawls from
Kashmir; other members of the party were also given presents.
No business was conducted at this meering, but Ranjit Singh
did ask his visitor what matters of moment had brought him
to the Punjab during the rainy season when the rivers were
flooded and rhe sun hot. Metcalfe evaded a direct reply. When
ane of the courtiers said that the Brirish were celebrared for
good faith, Ranjit made a cryptic remark: “We will now know
wherhh‘ er the word of the British Government includes every-
t *I

%gm at Kasur, Metcalfe was tactless enough to receive a
delegarion of the Malwa Sardars. This irritated Ranjir Si
and he sent a note to Metcalfe stating that he expected
Englishman ro rake his leave in three or four days. ‘Although
it is difficult to feel the satiety from interviews of friends
whose hearts are united,’ ran Ranijit’s letrer, ‘ver affairs of
State must be arrended to. Consequently, I am abour to march
immediately for the settlemenr of cermin districts. In my
nation it is considered very auspicious to march on the first
But w ] i
Che e whe e ehe Ry s s it hoom o R
unele, Bhag Singh of Jind,



FRIENDS AND RIVERS 79

day of the moon . . . therefore be to make friendly
communications on the part of the Governor-General . . . my
anxiety cannot admit of longer expectation.

Metcalfe ascribed Ranjit’s note to unwarrantable jealousy.
He reiterated the friendship between rheir States and came to
call on the Sikh ruler three days later. This meeting went well
and was full ‘of the greatest good humour’ and ‘much friendl
conversation on various subjects’. Three days later, Metcalfe
came down to the real business. To a full durbar he read out
a statement to the effect that his Government had information
thar the French, who were trying to establish themselves in
Persia, had designs on Kabul and the Punjab and ‘the incerests
of all the States in this quarter required that they should unite
in defence of their dominions and the destruction of the
enemy’s armies’.!

The Maharajah and his courtiers gave Metealfe’s oration an
enthusiastic applause, Then Ranjic to question him on
the details.

‘How far does the British army propose to advance to meet
deFByrmnh inﬁun?’ he asked.

‘Beyond Kabul, if necessary.’

‘Is the British army ready for action?’

“The British army is always ready for action.”

‘When are the French expected to invade these parts?’

“The moment in which the enemy might be expected can-
not be ar present ascertained.’

‘In thac case,! concluded Ranijir Singh, ‘there is time for us
to think things over.'

He thanked rthe Englishman for his illuminating address,
expressed his willingness to co-operate and said how much he
was looking forward to an alliance with the British ‘which has
long been i; wish of my heart'. Ranjit Singh rold his advisers
to ask any questions they wished.

‘Whar if%hnh Shuja joined the French?® asked one.

‘He will not be so blind ro his interest as the French in-
variably subjugate and oppress those who join them; they
overthrow LL ernments of their allies, plunder and lay
waste their countries,” replied Metcalfe,

‘Whar is Holkar’s atritude to these proposalss*

'"The information which the had collecred a5 to Freach designs
amounted to & handfol of misc’ | il
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‘He is at peace with the British,’

At this stage, Prabh Dial came, whispered some words in the
Maharajah’s ears and then told Metcalfe thar they would like
time to deliberate and would give him their reply nexe day.

The day following, Ranjit's advisers called on Metcalfe and
while agreeing to the British propasal for joint defence against
a French invasion, suggested that they go further and ‘estab-
lish the strictest union between the two States and put an end
to the reports thar were constantly circulating thronghout the
country, of agpmachin dispute with the British Government
and the Rajah’, To make their point clear they referred to
letzer written by Ranjit Singh to the Governor-General asking
for a clear statement of the British amitude to his status a¢
sovereign of all the Sikhs, Metcalfe was unwilling ro discuss
the question as it dealt with ‘a one-sided interest’, whereas his
m:m?lm: was to discuss only questions of murual interest.
Fakeer Azizuddin cotrected him. The settlement of a comman
frontier was as much a question of murtual interest as thae of
making an alliance, Metcalfe tried to evade the issue by
stating: “The boundary of the government's territories is
fixed; there is no design whatsoever ro exceed it.'

"Where has the government fixed its immurable boundary?'
asked the Fakeer. _

Mercalfe was in a tight fix. The British had established their
military camp ar Karnal, sixty-seven miles north-west of
Delhi, to defend Delli. Perhaps it would be safe to mention
the farchest point he could: ‘Enmu],' lied Metcalfe.

Prabh Dial informed Metcalfe that Karnal bcglnig\:d 0
Gurdir Singh, an old friend of the Maharajah. Merealfe side-
tracked the issue by launching on another harangue on the
villainy of Napoleon Bonaparte. When he finished his oration,
Diwan Mohkam Chand made a ion thar really put
Mertcalfe our of countenance. “The British,' he sugygested,
‘should sign an agreement with the Maharajah before sending
a mission to Kabul.'

Metcalfe had no. answer to these questions and sought
shelter behind diatribes against the French u.m’;‘ mmf
suspicion on the Ranjit Singh and his counsellors.
Nevertheless, Rﬂﬂﬁngh sought unujtgi:.l“:tmlfe next day and

asked him bluntly about his government’s poli mﬁ‘“’:;ﬁ
the Malwa States. Metcalfe nvg?;cd giving am reply
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only lauded British rule in Dellu and Britsh moderation in
not having extended their dominions up to the Sutlej. But,
warned Metcalfe, if Ranjic Singh insisted on gerting a formal
declaration of policy instead of uvi:g it-as vague as it was, he
would run the risk of the Governor-General declaring for the
j. To soften the blow Metcalfe threw a bait t:?ﬁuiit—
ich is a fair sample of the envoy’s method. He told him that
the alliance he was proposing was a purely defensive one; bur
if Ranjit wanted to prosecute his territorial designs on Afghani-
stan, the Brush Government would not interfere, This
double-faced dealing did not impress Ranjit because he knew
of the impending negotiations between the British and the
Afftmm. e recarned to his counsellors and in sheer disgust
ordered breaking up of the camp.

Metcalfe rose one morning to see the Maharajah’s entour-
age on the move. He sent his munshi to ask Ranjit, who was
superintending his army across the river, where he was
bound for.

‘Faridkot,” came the reply.

The choice of Faridkor was significant. The Rajah had
revolted against the authority of Patiala. Ranjit Singh, as an
overlord an%ml’hﬁa]a, was taking on the duty of bringing Farid-
kot back ro obedience.

Metcalfe arrived on the scene the day after Faridkor had
been taken. He cunsmmlnmi the Maharajah’s emissaries who
came to receive hum and asked when they could resume
negoriations. There was another exchange of sarcasm. Ranjit
Singh said that he would be in Faridkot for eighr days and
was at the envoy’s disposal: he hoped cighr days would be
long enough. Metcalfe replied that if the Raja was willing,
one day would be enough; if not, a hundred would not do.
Ranjit gmgh added thar Ep: was glad to hear thar only one day
was needed for the business. Would the Englishman send him

precise m?‘m!s?

The I:tm t pro which Metcalfe presented had three
clauses. Ir provided for joint action against the French in-
vasion, passage for British troops through the Punjab to the
frontier to meet the invaders, and the establishment of a
milis dwmdmmmlhgmpmmduhmpbﬂthc
:ﬂin:lr{nuk place beyond the Indus,
 Three days later, the Durbar presented Metcalfe with a

v
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dm&ofmmurprzpml;ﬁhahuhndd&m clauses: the
British should extend most favoured nation treatment to the
Darbar 2s it would to them (the Afghans were nor to be given
preference; nor should the British enter into any alliance with
the rulers of Bahawalpur and Multan) jit Singh's
suzerginty over the whole of the Sikh nation was 1o be recog-
nized; the British were not to entertain any disaffected Sikh
chiefs or meddle with the traditions of the Khalsaji; and the
alliance should be in perpetuity.

Metcalfe was willing to murz: the alliance perpetual but not
hgwi]hn' g to commit himself ;Euut r;t:rntlm* two clauses. Iﬁtd

expressed rise that the Durbar had said nothing about
the I.Elnmc a?::-rl;sr the French invasion. Fhing

After a fortnight, Ranjic Singh proceeded to Malerkotla,
where Metcalfe f%ﬂﬂWBd ll'u.m 'lflﬁ: IEathan ruler of Malerkotla
submitted to the Durbar and Metcalfe had to ignore his ﬂ::
to intercede on his behalf and have the levy imposed on hi
reduced,

At Malerkotla, Metcalfe was received by Ranjit S‘m%. a
another meeting where all the courtiers were present. They
pressed Metcalfe to concede their master's sovereignty over
the Sikh nation at once. Metcalfe replied thar this wonzl have
been done if there had been full confidence on both sides.
Then Ranjit Singh took up the discussion himself: ‘I rake it
that your despatches have satisfied your government that the
necessary state of confidence exists.”

‘No, they have not,’ replied Metcalfe frankly, ‘T have des-
cribed the artitude of the Lahore Durbar as one of jealousy
and suspicion.’

Ranjir Singh treated the envoy’s bold assertion with equal
candour. ‘It has been reported to me thar the British Govern-
ment entertains the design of taking the Punjab,’ he stated.

‘There have been rumours of esigns on the parr of the
Maharajah of advancing ro Delhi but the British have ignored
rhﬁ_ln..h're lied Metcalfe.

“The Brirish are enough to be able to ignore them,”
remarked one of ﬂsfmmmﬂngs.h v

'l have no Elunht ofrgliil:is-h sincerity,’ continued Ranjit
Singh, ‘except for their tance to recognize my suzerainty
over the Sikh nation. I do not ask for much b:::is:allﬁﬁm
acknowledge the supremacy of the Khalsa State.”
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“Then, why agitate about it?" asked Metcalfe. ‘In any case,
the matter has been referred to the Governor-General'

‘My people must wonder what we have gained in these six
weeks of negotiations,’ stated the Maharajah.

Metcalfe replied angrily that he might well ask that question
himself. The discussions went on desultorily withour any
result. Ranjit Singh informed Mercalfe that he was moving
to Ambala. If the Englishman cared to continue negotiations,
he should follow.

Metcalfe was indignant and ar first refused to go. Then he
was persuaded to follow Ranjir Singh up to his next hale,
Fatehgarh-Gongrana. There were more meetings, exchanges
of notes and orations by Metcalfe on the benefits thar the
Durbar would derive from its alliance with Britain. Just when
he felt his oratory had hir its mark, the shrewd Bhawani Das
asked the Englishman's ission to speak his mind, and on
being given it, said: '3‘;1‘ the advantages accrue to the Brirish
for the real object of a French invasion would be the British
and not the Sikhs.'

‘No," answered Metcalfe emphatically, ‘you do not know
the French as [ do. The Frmi will destroy your indepen-
dence.” When that happens, observed one of the athers, there
would be no question of the Durbar not aligning itself with
the Brirish, For the benefir of the lishman, the counsellors
came out with the choicest Punjabi a for the French, The
Maharajah and his courtiers proceeded ro Ambala.

Metcalfe remained ar Gongrana where he committed many
of his thoughts to paper. It is clear from what he wrore thar
he had come round to the view thar Ranjit’s suzerainry over
the Malwa Seates was an accomplished fact, and if his govern-
ment really desired his friendship, they should recognize that
sovereignty; tilemlig' tﬁ'ﬁf that g&mm him was the position
of the few chiefs who had not yet submitred to Ranjit's over-
lordship. If his government gave uncondirional recognirion, it
would be forcing some unwilling people into Ranjit’s arms.
If it made recognition conditional on l{aniir‘s ability to bring
them within his fold, it would be encouraging Ranjit to com-
mit 3 ion. Metcalfes chief concern was with the exact
wording of the recognition—nor with its substance.

Meanwhile Ranjit proceeded on his oiumphant march
through the region, welcomed by the people wherever he
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went. From Ambala he went to Shahabad, from Shahabad to
Patiala. There he met the perrified Sahib Singh who had
betrayed him more than once, Ranjit Singh embraced him
and in the presence of the venerable Sahib Singh Bedi, who
was always wont to appear when the Sikhs were threatened
with disruprion, exchanged turbans with the Parialz Rajah.
Ranjit Singh had given clear proof that the land between the
Jumna and the Surlej was unIm- his control and almost all the
chicftains of the arca acknowledged his suzerainty.

The British Governmenr now performed a complete volte
face. After whar had passed berween Metcalfe and lhniir. the
British could no longer rely on Ranjit for help against anyone,
Why not at least prevent Malwa from falling into the lap of
a potential enemy? Lord Minto decided 1o take the Malwa
States under Brirish protection. He ordered the Commander-
in-Chief to mobilize forces available near Delhi and march
them northwards to the Punjab frontier. Ar the same time
Metcalfe was instructed ro continue negotiations and play for
time rill Colonel Ochterlony was ready for battle.

Was the French invasion 2 complete bogey?' Were the
professions of friendship for Ranjit Singh only an excuse to
visit his territory, make contacts with subversive elements and
then overthrow him? Lord Minta belonged to the Imperialist
school; so did Metcalfe and most young Englishmen in India.
The liquidation of all native States and the establishment of
Pax Britannica was an article of faith with them.

Ranjir Singh was blissfully unaware of the stab in the back
that Minto had planned for him. He returned from the rour
of Malwa ro Amritsar where the populace gave him a hero’s
welcome, singing songs of joy and showering him with
flowers. For several nights the houses and the temple were
ii]umlinnt:d and Erl.*l:wa lit the skies. The monarch and his
people gave themselves up to the merry-making and carousals
which go with Diwali, :h!: festival n’?!f} - Mr;tga:a!fc Was now
like a hunter an a smachan with his bead drawn on the lion and
IQ:IE.:H Suri does not even mention France in his report on Mercalfe's
utisit]

The opinion of V. G. f , i
g Sl e Ml Midn o Fobr .
B e
ey Fi nrmp::j,{?“m*' g of being
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seemed to relish his quarry’s carefree approach to its doom. He
rted the Maharajah's rerurn to Amritsar to the Governor-
General in the following words: ‘Ranjit Singh in everything
he undertakes is impatient; but the cause of this extraordinary
impatience on this occasion was a desire to see his favourite
mistress, Mohran, from whom he has been separated for nearly
three months, In her arms he has been resting after the fatgues
of his march." _——— [Bog
Mercalfe arrived in Amritsar on November to, 180g, with
the Governor-General's ultimarum, He had, however, to 'spin
things out’. Ochterlony needed time to march up to the
frontier, Briush agents had ro make sure of the collaboration
of the Malwa Sardars, and Metcalfe's mllmgm:, Elpiﬁnstnne,
had yer to finish his mission in Kabul. Occasionally, Mercalfe
had a twinge of conscience. ‘[ could not forget that I had been
sent to establish an alliance and not bring on a war,” he wrote
in his diary. But this did nor last long. He was sure thar his
gnmtmnnnt could find something in the behaviour of Ranjit
ingh which would give it the excuse to go to war against the
Sikh. ‘His conduct would soon have given an opportunity to
get rid of any embarrassment which our engagement wirh him
m.ight have caused,’ he wrote. He confe to some confusion
which his government's new policy had produced in his mind.
‘There was certinly an impression in my mind that the
£ was not pre immediately o oppose Ranji
E‘E 's pretensions by arms, which was founded on the policy
in the last three years during which he had been
allowed ro make much progress in effecting his purposes, and
from your joint instructions I conceived that the government
wished to have the question left wirhour decision or discussion;

te had: given place w the easier position of being sble ta dictare,
also relaxed in the arms of & native mistress: Bue unlike the Sikh who

ﬁhﬁmﬂ' did not fare o badly himself. Once the tension of having
rir

[

Aamnted his passion for Maolisan in the face of everyone, Metcalfe %IEE

Habson a secrer il the end of his life. (Only in his will did he scknow
the progeay of his indiscrezions at Amrityar; no native blood could sally +
provd name of the Metcalfes) His pecrage with hin Ir &8 curfows
that hus vificial l;iof:phcr. Kave, makes no reference o Metcalfe's Indian
mistress—akthough he does, uhii';}qni + to the children she bore him. Kaye
hat 2 lor 1o say abour Ranjits and carousals bar carefully avoids
g anything about Metcalle's mode of relaxation. According o Edwsrd
Mercalic actually marricd a Sikh lady by ‘Indian mres. A mar-
riage by Sikh rites involves ‘conversion to Sikh religion,
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although I thoughe ir possible thar the government might be
indune%lhhy his ngg::ﬂnnhlc behaviour mgu;posc him, I was not
confident of thar.’

How far war with the English was from Ranjit’s mind at
the time the English were preparing to take the field againse
him is shown by the fact that E:r Diwali almost all his troops
were back across the Sutlej (only a few small detachments
remained 2t Ambala and in irs neighbourhoad),

Metcalfe handed over the Governor-General's letter
personmally ‘with the intention of observing its effect’. He was
rabbed of the pleasure, because Raniir &ngh calmly put it
aside without opening it and invited the envoy to join him in
the festivity, *T lu: evening was devoted o mirth and pleasure,’
uhr:}ntc Metcalfe, 'I entered into the spirit of the scene :11.;1 I
thought r. I took an early opportunity of retiring: bur
the l%n;a]fr::}::lc his friends ww:ywcr:apghm evidently incgpaci-
tated for business.”

Mercalfe waired eagerly all next day for the blast of his time-
bomb. Ranji Singh had forgorten all abour the missive in his
pocket. Mercalfe's ncn!:t:ri‘:nmc frayed waiting for the
agonizing moment. He sent a reminder through his clerk.
Ranjit had the clerk read out the note and discovered thar ‘the

rovernor-General had learned with surprise and concern that
the Maharajah aims ar the subjection of chiefs who have long
been considered under the protection of the power ruling in
the north of Hindustan'.! This contention was followed by a
reference to Ranjit’s note to Lake, suggesting the Sutlej as the
boundary between the two Srares,

‘The Maharajah heard the contents of the letter with com-

e calm, A man who had come 1o sign a pledge of friendship
ad handed him an ultimarum withmﬁ::: sanction of war, He
said he would ler the envoy have his re by soon.

Acmrdii:lgl- mfnn: account, he sent ér his horse and rode
away without informing anyone. He spent the morning ridin
ln.n:rand having gor aggm- out of humsy;:m summoned hi-%
counsellars, Before they arrived, Metcalfe handed him another
note rﬁﬁng the ‘irrevocable demand’ of the British Govern-
ment that all the territory east of the Sutlej that the Durbar
had taken under its control since the arnival of the mission

* Metcalfe, No. 43 of December 11, 1808,
'Hﬂullf:', Ni‘:j of wt“:. 1508,
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should be restored forthwith. Ranjic Singh decided ro rerurn
to his capital.!

Mctcaifc ¢d on in Amritsar ro make direet contacts with
tI'tt: 1d a visit to the remple, plncm! a generous
uf&nn b:furc tlmﬂmmh Sahib and gave expensive presents
to the pnm

Metealfe arrived in Lahore on December 17 and was re-
ceived at court. He described Ranjit as trying ro ‘maintain a
lively conversation on general topics. He frequently, however,
sunk into a reverie, and displayed in his countenance much
care and thoughtfulness."

'\Iczﬁmﬁnrrs were again taken up. Mercalfe was more than

to wait since he had not yet card thar Ochrerlony had
mmp cted his military preparations. ‘I continue to suspend the
communication of the proposed measures until I may have
information that the state of preparation of the mtcndul
detachment render it expedient,’ he wrote to his government.*

On the 21st, Ranjir Si Tﬁh again reccived Metcalfe; all the
ministers were present. Durbar’s case was presented by
Fakeer Amuﬂdm and Prabh Dial. The Mn!'mmph. they said,
had twice before gone across the Sutlej, both rimes ar the
invitation of a local chief, and Diwan Mohkam Chand had
made many annexations in thar region for the Durbar; the
British had said absolurely nuthmg about them. On the con-
trary, ever since they took possession of Delhi they had made

¥ Metcalfe gave another reason for Ranjit's hurried deparcure from Aniritsar.
In a letter of December 14, (8508, he wrote: ‘His favourte mastress, Mohran,
who it of the Moosulman Ffaich, lstely converted a Hindoo of the Khatree
caste to the Moosmlmmn religion, wheth:rbyfnmnrp:mnldnnﬂt
know, The town of Urnritsar has been in o state of ferment In consequence
for many days. . . . The population on one occasion cously plundered
the houses o ﬂmn\lomulmhndmdngpzllnfwhmnh!u T Wi

m:mdfurmddm‘h]uhmngmliurﬂmyﬂlwldhemﬂdfmmm

:Mntulftw:bltmpngcrhuhylhmnfkﬁﬂﬂﬁﬂdu'smdumtuf
a conflice and he reported on them to his government. Amongs: these whom
Metealfe reported s wounld-be eollaboratars was Runjits mother-in-law,

Sads Kaur,
iHe a total of Rs 2605/~ at the shrine ‘having resson to believe thar &

from him to the -nmhktnthtwhohn-l‘hn
of Mm!!n.Nﬁ,#:;ng:cmnhuu 1 It was not. News of
British the Punjal had got sound, Soon afrer Metealfe lefe

Amritsar, g:n ing and the money were thrown awsy. { Keirnan, p. 51.)
* Metcalfe, No. 48 of December 18, 1808, e %3
* Metcalfe, No. s6 of December 0, 1868
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it clear thar they would have nothing to do with the affairs of
the country north of the Jumna. Afrer defearing the Marathas,
Lord Lake had withdrawn every one of his soldiers from this
region. At that time the quarrefl berween the Rajah and Rani
of Patiala was ac its height and one word from Lake would
have sertled it. But he had refused to interfere. The British
Resident ar Dethi had refused ro meddle in the affairs of Malwa
when he had received their delegation and those very chiefs
had acknowledged Ranjic’s overlordship withour a word of
protest from rhe British,

It must have occurred ro Metcalfe that these arguments were
precisely the ones he had used a2 month earlier in erying to

de his government to acknowledge Ranjit's rights over
the Malwa Stares. Bur times had changed and now Metcalfe’s
brief was different. ‘No,' he maintained with more vigour
than truth, his fﬂ'ﬂ!n‘lmcnt was not aware thar Ranjit’s incur-
sions in the Malwa States amounted to ‘sertled conquests’
thar Seton had not assured the Malwa chiefs of protection
becanse at the time ir was not considered necessary, And as to
the Malwa chiefs acknowledging Ranjit's overlordship, Met-
calfe asserted thar ‘he had nntimrd of it; that the British
Government had not heard of it; thar if it had, it conld not
have agreed to jt, and could not now pay any attention to it’)

The Maharajah continued to keep calm bur ir was obvious
that his disappointment was acute. According to Metcalfe, he
remarked that ‘as I (Metcalfe) had been sent expressly to con-
firm and increase the friendship subsisting berween the two
States, he had expected the complete accomplishment of all
his views, that his disappointment was now very great; and
that he could not refrain from observing that it was an extra-
ordinary kind of friendship that T had established.” The last
sentence Ranjit spoke before closing the conference was: ‘Do
not ler the same iniltry' arise in friendship, which would be
the result of enmity.

That was not an end of British ‘friendship’. Next day Met-
calfe broke the news that a British force was moving up to the
Sutlej. Aod when later in the day he heard thar rh‘:i! 1ah
had sent for Mohkam Chand and was gerting ready to go to
Amritsar, Metcalfe became very angry. He accused Raniit

! Metealfe, No. 61 of December 31, 1508,
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Singh of wanting ro resist the British by force. ‘Cet animal est
tres méchant; quand on Fattaque, il se défend.

The Durbar was of two minds. Some counsellors were for
resisting, others for peace at any price. The leader of the fight-
the-British-group was Mohkam Chand. It was more honour-
able to dic fighting than to capirulare without firing a shor, he
said wirh some passion. At his instance orders were sent to all
the Sardars to bring their forces to face the British on the
Sutlej. The forts of Govindgarh, Phillaur and Lahore were
strengthened and stocked with provisions for long sieges.
Within a few days nearly 100,000 Punjabis answered the call
to arms. Bur even with this vast fighting force, Mohkam Chand
could not assure the Durbar of vicrory against the Company's
better trained and potentially more numerous army. Fakeer
Azizuddin was for appeasement and avoiding hostilities as far
as possible. The Fakeer was strongly backed ichind the scenes
by Sada Kaur.! Ranjit realized full well that if he lost now, all
would be lost. If he could ward off the danger for the moment,
he would live to fighr another day. He decided to swallow his

ride and to accept the Sutlej as his eastern boundary. Bur if
Ekhtﬂ]my crossed the river, he would fight the British to the
nish.

On January 2, 1809, Ochrerlony lefr Delhi for Kamal at
the head of three infantry bartalions, a regiment of cavalry
and some artillery. His instructions were to compel the Durbar
to give uR{iu recent conquests; on the way he was to call
upon the Malwa chiefs for assistance. If any of them showed
sympathy with Ranjic Singh they were to be rold plainly what
was in store :';;r th;'“n' He was also umru’h dhcf;td :dn: {n lose the

rrunity of making contacts wit ected elements in
the Lahore Durbar.

On Feb 9, 180p, Ochterlony made an official proclama-
tion on behalf of his government that the Chiefs of Malwa
were under Briush protection; the Durbar’s forts including
those ar Kharar and pur were to be raised and the Durbar
Vi il - L
n'ull?:. Acco t:;‘mmﬁ:téll; %F“u &n!f:ﬂ in the mz::m
tstener to avold hostilities with'the Brithh powes, which st coming from

d dissatisfaction

one who has so much canse of complaint will probably

an
have greater weight st this moment than he has been accustomed to pay to
h;;;pmumﬁmﬂ {Ochterlony on Febraary 2, 1809 hscmofh{nrp:fu.
1
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w»,sI to withdraw all its forces to the western banks of the
Satle;.

Ranjit Singh informed Mercalfe that he had ordered the
Durbar troops to evacuate Ambala. Metcalfe demanded the
evacuation of Farikdor and Saniwal and Oncgcl ;ﬂl‘ﬁ accused
Ranjir Singh of preparing for war. The Englishman's great
bughbear w%sh Diwl:.n ]ﬁ];hgmn Chand whose presence at Lud-
hiana was to him a elear proof of the Durbar's hostile inten-
tions. Metcalfe warned the British Commander-in-Chief that
war was inevitable. In rthat case, wrote back the Commander-
in-Chief, keep the Punjabis talking for some days so as to give
him time to plan his strategy. But he muse not prolong the
negotiations too long, bearing in mind that too much of the
cool campaigning weather must not be wasted ?

The ME?W:; Sardars were back to their old game of backin
the winner. They greeted Ochrerlony with professions o
loyalry. Sada Kaur was with them; so also was njit’s uncle,
Bﬁag Singh of Jind, (He did his best to convince the Brirish
Commander that Ranjit did not wanr war.) The agents of
these Sardars at Lahore continued to profess supporr for Ranjit

iL negotiations were resumed ar Amritsar. Ranjit Singh
agreed to all the conditions imposed by the British except
mving up Faridkot, Mercalfe agreed to refer the question of
Efnlridlmt to Calcurta chiefly because it gave him t;u: “ﬁ

postponing the signing of a treaty of friendship, for whic
the Durbar had become more insistent than mr.P-

Metcalfe kept up the injured rone of an aggrieved party and
used it to put off the signing of a treaty, Ranjit Singh fatrered
him. ‘You are the Aristotle of the age; be }:ulm ro say if a
treaty is delayed, and the establishment of the military post
takes place, how can I be ar ease?’ He had already given in all
along the line, were nor the British willing to make even a
gesture of compromise? ‘Even the oyster returns a pearl when
it receives a drop of rain,’ he pleaded.

Metealfe wnufd nor budge. For now he had decided thar
Ranjit Singh's kingdom across the Sutlej should also be sub-
verted and his rule put to an end. He recommended a full-scale
vasion of the Punjab and tried hard to find an excuse for
doing so. He objected to Ranjit’s counsellors; Mohkam Chand
* Mstcalfe, No. 58 of January 12, 160
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was ‘a fire-cating war-monger’! He incited Ranjit Sin
against the Diwan by telling him that the Diwan was i
ordinate, thar the real ruler of the Punjab was notr Ranjit
but Mohkam Chand. He also referred to Mith Singh sarcastic-
ally as Ranjit’s ‘favourite friend’.

anijit Singh refused to be provoked into giving Mezcalfe
the excuse he wanted. Then Metcalfe lost patience and refused
to wait for an excuse. On January 22, 1809, he advised the
Commander-in-Chief that ‘the Rajah has nominally taken the
field'. He also took ‘the responsibility of recommending to
His Excellency’s (the Commander-in-Chief’s) artention the
invasion of the Punjab, as a measure m;Ecnt!}' desirable with
reference to the state in this country in the event of inevitable
hostilities . . ."

Metcalfe’s exhortation to war took both the Commander-
in-Chief and Resident Seron by surprise. Nevertheless other
British units were alerted and a force under Major St Leger
was asked to be prepared to join at shorr norice. However,
the necessity for invading Jm Punjab saddenly vanished.
Nngulenn atracked Spain and with his armies bogged down
in Europe it was unlikely that he would now advance towards
India for some years to come. British policy rowards Ranjit
Singh underwent a corresponding c . On January 3o,
1809, Ochterlony received fresh instructnions. “The reduction
or subversion of the of that chieftain (Ranjit Singh)
which under other circumstances was considered an event
highly desirable and expecred to be 2 probable consequence,
though not settled purpose, of the approximation of our tropps
to the frontier of the Punjab is no longer of the same 1m-

rtance to our interests.” Ranjit Singh could be left alone. His
riendship was no longer nec and his chagrin could per-
ha[;lhc lessened if he was allowed to retain his ‘old conquests’
in Malwa and the military post was withdrawn further back
from his frontier.

Ochrerlony continued his march.! At Patiala, the dim-witted

! Ar one of their meedngs Mohkam Chand had darkly tineed: “You haven't
ﬂﬂ‘l_ﬂ:‘ﬁ Sikh soldiers in barle” Moclle reorted: You haven't seen the

British.

Mercaife, No. 63 of 6, 1805,
-@Ww]y:&mmmthmﬂma&
time. Two met Ochterlony at village Nathi and represented
lhtdiﬁcuhhﬁ?dmﬁuh‘hﬂ:ndﬂmwhmmumd
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Sahib Si:ﬁh received him in a state of ‘childish joy’. Nabha
was 2 little less jubilant: he had received many favours from
Ranjit Singh. So also had Bhag Singh of Jind who wanted to
exchange the city of Ludhiana (given to him by his nephew
but taken over by the British) for Hariana, Karnal and Panipar.
The Malerkorla Nawab was reinstared in his possessions.

Ranjit Singh's reputation amongst his own people was ar its
lowest, The enemy was nm.m'nggl'x.is armies on the frontiers;
an enemy ourpost had been set up on the Sutlej. And Ranjit
Singh, who was the chief of 2 face known for irs pugnaciry,
was giving in without a fight, The cold war that had gone on
during the preceding six months had produced such a stace of
rension thar a small incident almost ser light to the powder
magazine, February 25, 1809, was Muharram and the Shia
Muslims in Metcalfe's escort took out a procession in the streets
of Amritsar. It also happened to be the day of Holi and a
l.a.rse number of Sikhs, cﬁfeﬂ r Nihangs with their celebrated
leader Akali Phula Singh, IuJ foregathered in the city for the
celebration. The Shia processionists wended their way throu
the streets till they came to the opening in frone of the Golden
Temple where the Sikhs were at prayer. The Nihangs remon-
strated with the processionists 1o take another route. Argu-
ments led ro a scuffle and the Shia sepoys came to 2 head-on
collision with the Nihangs. It is not known who were the

Even Mercalfe was doubtful and conceded that the
shot had probably been fired by one of his escort.* There
were more casualtics on the side of the Nihangs than on that of

havghty Metcalfs who had refused to clarif the British artirude to Ranjic
Singh's old possessinns. Ochterlony ag tw convey the of these
ations o hiy and halr for two days 1o enable the agents
l::l?tu‘ TeEpore t;t:imjh. 1e dt{:]n not think th;:?::;d#h? Ivnuid m&mn&
erence, particn us the government it no longer wanted war.
Mercalfe ool umhd? at this interference with his functions The
Governur-Genenal re d Ochrerlony and ordered him to continoe his
march. Ochrerlony resigned his command and had to be persaaded later to
withdraw his resignation.

Ochiterlony found Metealfe's impression that Ranjit Singh had no follow-
ing in Malws to be far fram the truth. As he went through the region he
discovered to his surprise that Ranjit's influence beyond the Satlej was ‘far
mm;ﬁdquhhtMnhuhmmMundﬁkclymh ncrive of
future mischief. Some Sardars, notably Jodh Si Kalsia, decided to
nhndmdmrmumllcmmduvumkmji ingh 1o help )

' Metealfe, No. 72 of March 7, 1800,
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the Shias. This fact, in view of Metcalfe’s own admission that
‘marchlocks of our assailants carried further and with surer aim
than our musquers’, does not lend support to the theory of
Nihang agression.'

Metcalfe could not utilize this incident as an excuse for war.
His reporr blamed Alkali Phula Singh, but not the Maharajah,
who rurned up on the scene immediately and personally helped
to quell the riot. He also sent envoys to Metcalfe to apologize
for the lack of courtesy shown to his guests and promused
compensation. Seton in Delhi received a garbled version of
the incident and was sure that war was inevirable, being, as he
confessed, ‘in some measure influenced by the reflection that
the Sikhs are a wild and ferocious people’. Ochrerlony also
admitted thar if any more incidents had taken place (the
Nihangs were threatening vengeance) he had made up his mind
to crass the Sutle).

Fortunately, before the news of the incident could reach
Caleutts, the Governor-General had dispatched rwo drafts of
‘treaties” to be offered to the Durbar with orders to Ochterlony
and Mercalfe regarding the details. The catastrophe of war
was thus averred in the nick of time.

The two drafts consisted of three articles each and were
almost identical. They provided for perpetual friendship and
most-favoured narion trearment for the Lahore Durbar;
recoErﬁtinn of the Maharajah’s sovereignry over territories
north of the Sutlej; and permission ro keep troops south of the
Sutlej to police his estates south of the river. One of the drafrs
had a clause appended to the second article to the effect thar
Ranjit Singh renounced 2all claim to sovereignty over Sikh
chiefs o the south of the Sutlej and all right of interference
in their concerns. Ir was made clear that this was not to foree
Ranijit Singh to cede his ‘ancient conquests’ and if he did not
like it. it was not to be pressed.

The wrangling over Faridkor went on for some weeks maore.
Metcalfe again lost his patience and advised St Leger to take
the town by assaulr, assuring him thar by the time the Sikhs
assembled their forces the monsoons would make the Sutle

* Noe the legend crested by British historians that aith ournumbered
the sepoys worsted the Akalis and s impressed Raniit ¢ h with their
superior diseipline that he promptly decided t Europeanize army. His
srmy had begun to be ‘Europeanmed’ in 1603,



04 RANTIT SINGH

unfordable. On April 3 Faridkot was also evacuated. On the
25th the treaty was formally signed at Amritsar—without the
additional clause of the semngn draft. There was a week of
farewell parries. Metcalfe left the Punjab on May 2 well
pleased with himself,

Despite the treaty and the festivities thar followed, ill-will
continued on both sides for quite some time, On the Durbar’s
side there were people like Diwan Mohkam Chand and Akali
Phula Sinlﬁh of the do-or-die school who felt thar the Maha-
rajah should tear up the treaty and fight. Conracts were made
with the Marathas, Rohillas and Begum Samru and the air in
northern India was thick with rumours of 2 Sikh-Maratha
alliance to expel the English from India. The English were
perturbed by these ramours and moved a detachment of troops
1o Hansi to prevent Scindia or Halkar from joining up with
the Punjabis.

The A/Iahmjnh kept a cool head. He listened to Mohkam
Chand, for whom he had great and admiration, but
refused to take his assurance of Maratha collaboration
seriously. ‘Let the Marathas make the first move and I will
join them,” he said. As months wenr by these rumours died
down, the clouds of suspicion cleared and relations berween
him and the English became cordial. By the end of that year the
Governor-General was able to write ro the Maharajah express-
ing satisfaction at the relations existing berween them. Replied
Ranjir Singh wirh enthusiasm: ‘Judge by the state of your
own hearr, what is the state of mine.

The Treaty of Amritsar was a grievous blow ro Ranjit Singh's
dream of a unified Punjab, AE;:: for the rest of his life
he professed friendship for the English nation, this friendship
was strongly tinged with fear of their migh. It is strange that
despite the experience of dealing with Mercalfe, Ranjit Singh
sel distrusted the word of an Englishman.!

There was some heart-searching in London and Caleuria
about the ethics of the occupation of the Malwa States so soon
after the passing of the resolution that the Jumna would be
the final boundary—and without provocation from any
quarter. The Secret Committee of the Board of Directors in

lm“i{:&;‘h‘nuﬁﬂ&ﬂfﬂmﬂym%mm i
Metcalfe, Ochtedony, Wade, Jacqmemont, Sir Alezander Burnes. i
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London when reviewing the Treaty of Amritsar, was con-
strained to remark that there had been a departure from rthe
principles laid down on October 19, 1801, and February 27,
1806, fixing the western limits to the possessions in India.
Perhaps it was this sense of guilt which made the English
effusive in their protestations of friendship for Ranjit Singh
and helped him to overcome the animosity thar Metcalfe’s
visit had aroused in him.

It is true that with the passing of the Brirish menace, Ranjit
Singh was free to tum Essamminn to other areas of the
Punjab not within his jurisdiction. Bur even this freedom was
circumseribed by the Treaty of Amritsar, as the English
interpreted it later. Although they had agreed to have nothing
to do with the affairs of the country west of the Sutlej, to
them the Surlej did not mean the river down to the sea but
only as far as it joined the Indus; nor apparently were the
lSjluﬂlds' beyond the Indus construed as being lands west of the

ej.



CHAPTER VIII

THE CAPTURE OF KANGRA AND THE
INTEGRATION OF WESTERN PUNJAB

€o—rd

ArTER the loss of face which followed the debacle in Malwa,
Ranjit Singh had to achieve something spectacular to restore
his prestige amongst his people. As soon as the Treaty of
Amritsar was signed, troops were withdrawn from the Sutlej
and ordered rowards Kangra,

The Gurkhas under Ear Singh Thapa had once more
advanced westward along the Himalayan range, sweeping the
forces of the hill chieftains before them and were trying hard
to capture the forr of Kangra. Sansar Chand appealed both ro
the English and Ranjit Singh for help. To counteract Sansar
Chand’s move, the Gurlkhas also asked the British to help them
conquer Kangra and offered tribute to Ranjit if he would stay
away. The British turned down the Gurkha request and the
Rajput plea on the r%mumis that by the Treaty of Amritsar
they could not interfere in the affairs of peaple living to the
west of the Sutlej. The Durbar rejected the overtures of the
Gurkhas because it considered Kangra to be a part of the
Punjab and would feel obliged to defend it againse all out-
siders. Sansar Chund’s request was favourably received, but
it was considered necessary thar Kangra should first declare
itself a part of the Punjab and surrender the fort to the Dur-
bar’s troops. Sansar d, who had been fighting a losing
battle against the Gurkhas, agreed to the Durbar’s terms.

The Durbar ardered the hill chiefs of the Kangra region to
stop selling provisions to the Gurkhas, and its troops cur the
Gurkhas' supply lines with Nepal. Ranjir Singh arrived in
Kangra and demanded admission to the fort. r Chand
began to prevaricate. The fort, he promised, would be handed
over as soon as the Gurkhas withdrew. Ranjir was not the one
to be taken in by this ruse, particularly by Sansar Chand, who
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was known not to be a man of his word. Since there was no

time to . Ranjit promptly put Sansar Chand’s son,
Anirudha whom he held as hostage, under arrest. Sansar
Chand yielded and on August 14, 1809, a detachment of the
Durbar's troops took ion of the fort.

The Gurkhas held on stubbornly despite their limited
rations. Ranjir Singh let them run out of provisions and when
they started to retrear, artacked them in full force a couple of
miiles beyond the fort. Amar Singh Thapa turned back to face
the Punjabis and placed his troops in bartle formation along a
hillside known as Ganesh Ghati. The hill Rajputs who had
suffered at the hands of the Gurkhas opened the arrack. The
Gurkhas disposed of the Rajpurs without much difficulry.
Punjabi artillery also made ]iugc impression on the Gurkhas,
who had entrenched themselves behind an ent. Know-
ing that Thapa's men had been short of food tor many days
and would be unable o stand the scrain of hand-to-hand com-
bat, Ranjit Singh ordered the infantry to charge. The Sikhs
with their long curving kirpans, closed in on the Gurkhas with
their short kbukris. Ranjit Singh, who was warching the action
from a mound, mounted his horse and plunged into the fray.
The battle-worn and famished Gurkhas retreated from Ganesh
Ghati in disorder.

The stubborn fight put up by the Gurkhas impressed Ranjit
Singh. When the action was over, he not only allowed Amar
Singh Thapa time to retire without further molestarion, bur
also ordered his Sardars ro help the Gurlkhas in collecting their
equipment. Some of the hill Rajas, who utilized the oppor-
mm? to plunder their vanquished foe, were severely repri-
manded and made to restore the loor. The remnants of the
Gurkha rested at Mandi for a shorr rime and, bein
pressed 'IHH: rbar troops, resumed their weary hmntwnrg
march. Gurkha menace to the Punjab was ended for
ever.

On December 24, 1809, the Maharajah entered the forr of
Kangra. Amongst the chiefs who paid him homage were the

rulers of Kangra, Chamba, Noorpur, Kulu and Datarpur.
Ranjit Sin{\:fuuld face his people once more. The towns
and through which he passed on his way homewards

were decorated to welcome him. When he reached Amritsar
early in January, the guns of Govindgarh fort barked their
G
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g_rmingu and at night all the houses in the city and the Golden

emple were iJJumizm:]ed in his honour. The Mnmjn;\ rode
through the brightly lit streets on the back of his biggest
elephant and s!rfflwcrcd silver coins on the ulace. The
scenes of jubilation were repeated ar Lahore. Pariala and Jind
sent their agents to felicitare Ranjit Singh. The shorr eclipse of
the sun on his fortunes was over. _

The victory at Kangra was an important milestone in Ranjit
Singh’s life. Ten years earlier, when he had become Maharajah
of the Punjab, there was a cordon of hostile powers girdling
his kingdom. Now he had only one powerful neighbour (the
English), and they were friendly.

Ranijit Singh rurned his arrention once more to muEping up the
litle principalities which' pock-marked the whole of the
Punjab. Since the Mughals had ceased ro be effective and the
invasions from the north had destroyed administrative control,
every town and village had to fend for itself. Anyone who had
the means buile himself a small fort, enlisted as many ruffians
as he could to form his private army and levied tribute on the
neighbouring villages. T}l?m Sikhs had themselves risen to power
in this way. Bur no government worth the name could tolerate
private armies, private forrs and arsenals which could be used
ta defy the central authority.

The method adopred was simple. If a misldar died, the
government would allow his heir suceession only on condition
that he handed over his fortresses, disbanded his army and
became a jagirdar of the Stare. Similar consequences followed
when the members of a misldar’s family fell out amongst them-
selves. In this way the estate of the Fyzullapuria misl and those
of the Bhangi Sardar of Gujerat, who had fallen our with his
" Ranjic = ducted the h

Ranjit Sin con rations against the
Ihloc!i tribes gh mn{t campaign h:ﬂprfmk Khug;[:r and
Sahiwal. While Ranjit was busy taming the Baloch tribes, his
generals were fanning out in all directions, bringing scattered

incipalities under the authority of the Lahore Durbar,
g;wan Mohkam Chand annexed the possessions of the Fyzulla-

ia misl with their chief town, Jullundur; Mian Ghausa
ok Patti and other vil near Taran Taran; Huloma Si
Chimini took Jammu then joined the Maharajah on
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Salt Range to assist him in the capture of the fort of Kusk
which gave the Durbar conrrol of the salt mines of Khewra;
Desa Smgh Majithia annexed the hill Stares of Mandi and
Suker. Amongst the important places seized in these whirlwind
operations were Daska, Hallowal and Mangla on the Jhelum,
which opened up the northern Himalayan regions.

The Nakkais were virually wiped out. The Durbar was not
influenced by the Maharajah’s or the heir-apparent’s relation-
ship with the misl, nor by the fact thar tﬂc Nakkai Chief,
Kahan Singh, was in the employ of the Durbar. Kahan Singh
was given a jagir of Rs 20,000/- and the entire area which
included Chunian, Dipilﬁr. Shamk}mr and Kamalia was
artached to the State, en the Nakkai agent protested,
Ranjit Singh rold him naively thar he would give the territories
to be readministered by Kharak Singh for was not the prince
a grandson of the Nakkais? Sada Kaor's misl, the Kanhayas,
also suffered partial eclipse. Her territories were spared, but
those of her brothers-in-law in the hill regions along the Beas
were seized. These successive victories put the M:Ii.’u‘ﬂi:lh in
buoyant spirits. On July 2, 1810, when he saw the new moon,
he ordered a salute of guns in its honour.

While the Maharajah was in the region of Khushab he received
news of the arrival of Shah Shuja, brother of Shah Zaman in
the Punjab. A little disgression on affairs in Afghanistan may
be permurted.
frer the death nff:‘j.hmcd Shah A?idiELE and his son Taimur,
the real power in A nistan rom the roval family,
who wcrzonl' the Sadlf}‘z]zi clan, mhe hands of th::: Bnmkz:}irs
led by Wazir Farch Khan. Taimur’s sons, Zaman, Shuja and
Mahmud, mounted the throne and were unseated as if it were
a game of musical chairs. Zaman, who had made four artempts
o conquer India, was overthrown and in his place the Barakzais
installed Mahmud, Mahmud put our his brother Zaman's eyes,
haping thereby to put him permanently out of the picture. Bur
Zaman's place was taken by Shuja, who ousted Mahmud from
Kabul. When Lord Minto sent out his envoys to make alliances
inst a possible French invasion, Shuja seemed firmly in-
stalled. Bur hardly had Elphifistone rurned his back on Kabul
when the Barakzais expelled Shuja and pur back their nominee,
Mahmud, in power, At the time we are speaking of Shuja had
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come to the Punjab to explore the possibility of enlisting Ranjit
Singh’s help in getting back his throne.

e Maharajah received Shuja with t courtesy, but
what trnnspire:] at this meeting 1s not really known and can
only be guessed at by Ranjit Singh's subsequent actions. Ap-
p:ucnt[i,' Shah Shuja menuoned %us title to some rerritorics,
particularly Multan and Kashmir, and wondered if he could
get Ranjir Singh'’s help in reconquering them. The Maharajah’s
reply was not reassuring and the Shah left hurriedly for
Peshawar.

Ranjit Singh did not form a very favourable impression of
Shuja but he felr rhat the Afghan might very well try ro re-
establish himself ar Multan and use it as a base of aperations.
Ranjir Singh decided to forestall this possibility and ordered
his scartered forces to head for Mulean.

Muzaffar Khan np'gm.lcd to the English for help and even
offered to hand over the city and the forr to them. The English
would not violate the terms of the Amritsar treaty and pleaded
helplessness. Then Muzaffar Khan prepared himself to fight
Ranjit Singh single-handed.

Durbar troops occupied the city withour much trouble.
The massive forr, however, defied the Lahore arrillery. The
shore Punjab winter gave way to the hear and the dust storms
for which Multan is famous. The Maharajah became short-
tempered and in his impatience he took many risks, for which
officers and men paid with their lives. When Muzaffar Khan
discovered that the besiegers were in trouble, he came our of
the fort and attacked them. Durbar troops were put on
the defensive and had to dig themselves in. 'ﬁ'ﬂ: intense hear,
however, sertled the isue for both parties. Muzaffar Khan
paid a nominal rribute to the Durbar, bur the forr of Multan
remained unconquered in his hands.

1811 had been a stormy year. Hardly a week went by withour
the citizens of Lahore being awakened at midnight or disturbed
in their siestas by the clatter of the hooves of disparch riders
bringing news from distant fronts, followed by rhe deafening
report of cannon to announce a victory. The Maharajah was
back home by the aurumn. He moved our of the palace in the
forr to the garden of Shalamar for a well-deserved rest from
the heat and fatigue of many months of fighting.
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On Diwali, the Maharajah called 2 gathering of the States’
Sardars, Generals and Counsellors at itsar; the venerable
Sahib Singh Bedi presiding. They discussed the cmnﬁ:fns of
the past year and the opinion was that although they had done
well, their army was still not as efficient as that of the English.
(Ranjit’s uncle, Bhag Singh of Jind, who was presen, assured
them of it.) More deserters from the Company’s forces had
arrived in the Punjab. Fakeer Azizuddin and Bhawani Das
were instructed ‘to select well-built and good-looking young
men’ and enlist as many as possible. The question of Multan
was raised and it was unanimously agreed that it was not good
enough to receive rribure from Muzaffar Khan; Multan was an
integral pare of the Punjab. Thereafter the Maharajah and his
Ministers rode dlmugf'l the gaily decorated bazaars and
received the ovations of the citizens.

Before the end of the year the Afghan royal family was on the
Maharajah’s doorstep again. Shuja, who had bidden farewell
to Ranjit Singh ar Khushab, had been able to regain the M]Ehm
throne—but only for four shorr months; Wazir Fatch Khan
Barakzai had again put Mahmud back on the sear. Shuja found
his way to Attock where the Governor, Jahan Dad Khan, gave
him asylum. Then, suspecting Shuja of trying to win over
Wazir Fateh Khan, Jshan Dad (who was bitterly opposed to
the Wazir) had Shuja pur in chains and sent for safe custody
to his brother, Ara Mo ned, the Governor of Kashmir.!
The harems of Shuja and the blinded Zaman had been given
asylum and were living in Rawalpindi on 2 pension granted by
the Durbar, While the Maharajah was busy with his mili
operations, it was reported to him that Zaman had been
ing out envoys to foreign powers ro negotiate for the restora-
tion of his family to the throne of Kabul. Ranjit Singh found
this nmi_F'é government in his territories somewhat embar-
rassing. To pur an end to the intercourse with foreign powers,
he gently suggested that the families mighe live in greater
comfort and security in the capital. In the month of November
§ Sohan Lal's version is slightly diffierent. Acconding to him, Am Mohammed

hﬂﬁ Shuju from the of his brother, Jahan Dad, with an invitation
snd imprisoned him. The mvittion sccording to Sohsn Lal ran: ‘If you

decide 10 coms eur way at g, sl the objects and ends will be
mdﬂ'l:chid:ol‘pnpuzmﬁ' wamﬁtﬂhﬁtmwdﬁ



102 RANJIT SINGH

the one-time conqueror of Lahore and his concourse of wives
and relations came back to the city as beggars. The Shah was
treated with great honour. State troops escorred him to the
house set apart for him in the city, where the Maharajah,
dressed in ceremonial saffron, welcomed him with an embrace
and presented ro him a sum of 1,000 rupees.

Tﬁ:mt’tcn the one thing thar disturbed the peace of the
Afghan refugees was the arrival of the agent of Wazir Fatch
Khan to solicir the help of the Maharajah for the conquest of
Kashmir where Shuja was imprisoned.

The year ended on a happy note. Towards Christmas rime,
a British agent, Evaz Ali Khan, arrived ar Lahore with an
English stagecoach and other gifts from the Governor-
General. The gesture marked the end of the period of Anglo-
Sikh rension and suspicion. Early in 1812 Metcalfe, who was
now Resident in Delhi, reporred to his government that:

‘Ranjit Singh’s Aourishing and vigorous power farms a con-
trase with the distracted, weak and troubled state of the rival
kingdams of his neighbours. . . . He is irresistibly supreme in
the Panjab, Feared at home and respected abroad, he manages
his government with ability and free from all cares and
apprechensions.’

It is true thar in the first month of 1812, Ranjit Singh was able
to put aside cares and apprehensions and indulge himself in
arranging a spectacular wedding for his son, lﬁ::uk Singh.
Metcalfe was not far wrong when he surmised that: ‘Kharak
h's marriage promises to be one of the most splendid
exhibitions that have occurred in India for many years.

YPC18 of February s1, 1813,



CHAPTIER IX

A PUNJAB WEDDING

R

i January (812, invitations were sent to the Governor-
General and the princes and nobles of Hindustan ro attend the
wedding of Prince Kharak Singh. The Governor-General
nominated Colonel Ochrerlony to represent him. The Colonel
accompanied the Rajahs of Pariala, Nabha, Jind and Kythal
across the Sutlej. Friend and foe were equally welcome, Sansae
Chand of Kangra came himself; the nwa{s of Multan and
Bahawalpur sent members of their families to represent them.

The concourse of princes, courtiers and commoners which
formed the bridegroom’s party left Lahore on elephants,
camels and horses. They passed through Amritsar and arrived
at the bride’s home ar the village of Facehgarh in the district of
Gurdaspur. The wedding took place amid scenes of lavish
sﬁ!mduﬂur.‘ the like of which had not been seen in India since
the days of the Mughal emperors at the height of their power.
Juimal Singh Kanhaya loaded his daughter and the guests with
Eﬁmﬁ of brocades, jewellery, elephants, cows, etc. Even

jir Singh felt that he had been too extravagant, and on the
way back when the party stopped at Amritsar, he tried as
tely as he could ro ask his gmms to leave. Bur his nature
ing what it was, he also invite them to come to Lahore with
him. Ochterlony, Bhag Singh of Jind, Sansar Chand and the
Rajah of Kythal accepred the invitation.

At Amritsar, Ranjic Singh took Colonel Ochterlony inside
the Govindgarh fort where the State’s treasuries were kept and
to which none bur the most trusted officials were allowed
entry. Ranjit Singh brushed aside Diwan Mohkam Chand'’s

' The bride's father, Jaimal Singh Kanhays, had to spend Rs 14,000/~ a day
mfﬂdhﬁauaﬂfmduﬂnuthcyh&lﬂmh:%h:pn
it another s so.000/- towards the expenses of the bridegroom's party.
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protest that this was an unwise thing to do because he wished to
convince the Englishman that the Treaty of Amritsar was a
wreaty of friendship and friendship could only grow out of
complete confidence, At Lahore again, despite the protests of
some of the courtiers, he took Ochterlony by the hand and
showed him cvery portion of the fort; its gun emplacements,
its secret passages, even its most vulnerable points. Ochterlony
paid a glowing tribute to the Maharajah's generosity and utrer
candour. Ranjit Singh told Ocheerlony that he intended raking
Kashmir from the Afghans and admitted his failure at Multan
withour making any excuses. He spoke of English armed
strength with respect. ‘If Ranjit's opinions are decisively
formed on any one subject, they are on his urrer inability to
contend with the British arms,’ noted Ochterlony,

Ranjit Singh and Ochterlony let their imaginations run riot.
They decided that an Anglo-Punjabi military alliance would
be a good thing; together the two could conquer countries
like Afghanistan and Persia and for ever end the danger of 2
French invasion. Before going that far, they could jointly
conquer Multan and Kashmir. Ochterlony was so taken up by
the whole idea that he even wrote an official note ro his
Governor-General and, being a man with a practical bent of
mind, examined places in Lahore which could be converted to
a storehouse to assure a regular supply to British troops of their
tot of hooch.

‘It could not escape me that for mere tempo urposes the
tomb of Jehangir and its enclosure would cr:r?mrn grain and
liquors sufficient for a month's expenditure of a large army.”

H"ﬁm Gnvcmn;—'-g:;mm! was impressed with the Colonel's
effusive praise o jit's hospitality and a to consider
the Maharajah’s request for amgxpgl?rnf musE::d as a gift. The
mitskets were sent along with an English horse and a basket of
Ei:cs of the sort which were seat regularly to the Mughal

peror. Bur the Governor-General positively declined the
Eﬁrzl:nml of joining Ranjir Singh in an expedition agai.n:r

tan. or Kashmir. This was exactly what Ranjit Singh
desired. He was now sure that the English would nor interfere
if he undertook the campaigns hi -



CHAPTER X
KASHMIR AND THE KOH-I-NOOR

€—P

As soon as the wedding guests had deparred, the Afghan
problem came to the fore, Wazrir Fateh Khan's agent had been
waiting patiently to find our whether Ranjit Singh would join
the Banﬂyn.ais m invading Kashmir. There was also Zaman, and,
even more anxions than he, Shuja's senior wife, Wafa Begum,
and her sons, who were tr:rriﬁccl at the prospect of the Barak-
zais and Mahmud capruring Shuja, who was in detention in
Kashmir. They exhorted Ranjir Singh to invade Kashmir on
his own and keep Mahmud and the 5%41@35 out. The Afghan
agenr offered an equal division of the loot and g lakh miﬁ:
every year to the Durbar on behalf of the Baralazais.
refugee family made a counter-offer with the only thing they
had of any value—the precious gem, the Koh-i-noor
diamond.!

Early in the spring, the pick of the Durbar’s troops were
ordered to the Kashmir frontier under the command ot Diwan
Mohkam Chand; Prince Kharak Singh accompanied him as the
titular chief. Jammu and Akhnoor, which were already a part
of the Durbar’s domains, were g-in.rrisuucd; Bhimbar and
Rajauri were taken by sudden assaulr and their chiefs, Sultan
Khan and Agar Khan, were captured and broughr to Lahore.
By the summer, the eastern approaches to the valley of
Kgshmir were in the hands of the leuniabi:;. Wazir Faceh Izhﬂn
understood the ractics of Diwan Mohkam Chand and hastil
crossed the Arrock into the Punjab. As soon as the Maharajs
heard of the Afghan intrusion in his rerritory he set our from
Lahore and in quick marches arrived ar Rohras. The Wazir
cigrisrest o ol gdi o AP i i i
an % & i 3 Il
m%pm-mzﬁ?m' whmlh:hmmunhlej E:hmy;ml“‘;
to Lahore, an mvaludble picce of dismond would be offered in compensa-
tion far this service.'
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could no longer b him and enter Kashmir. Ranjit Singh

sent a note to the Wazir asking him to explain his presence in
the Punjab.

The Wazir asked for a personal meeting. It seems that the
report his agent had made of the negotiations had lefr the
Alghan uncertain whether or not the Durbar would collabar-
ate in the invasion of Kashmir and on what wrms; Wazir
Fatch Khan wanted to know for himself. He was so deter-
mined on the conquest of the valley that in the event of Ranjit
Singh’s refusal to ler him go ahead, he had arranged ro have
the Maharajah assassinated If, however, the Maharajah
agreed, he would repeat the offer of the equal division of the
loot and ¢ lakhs per year," The Wazir rurned up for the inter-
view with eighteen of his brothers fully armed and prepared to
commit the foul murder ar a signal given by him. The need ro
assassinate Ranjit Singh did not arise as he readily a o
join in the venture. There is little doubr that Iﬂnpr Singh
meant to stick by his word and that the Afghans had no inten-
tion of honouring theirs. Ranjit Singh proved his good faich by
suggesting that Iil! [WO armies shnul:r take the Rajauri route
which lay through territory already under his control rather
than the one thmnih Muzaffarabad, which might be under
snow that time of the year. He provided an army of 12,000
men under his ablest generals, Diwan Mohkam Chand and
Dal Singh, to accompany the Afghans. The rwo armies left
Jhelum i the first week of December 1812, |

On his return to Lahore the Maharajah was once more
;Fpmachtd by Wafa Begum through her agents with an offer

the Koh-1-noor if her husband was delivered safely to her.
Ranjit Singh again reassured her thar it would be done and
informed her thar he had given special instructions to Diwan
Mohkam Chand that his first concern was to be the rescue of
the Shah.

It did not take long for the shrewd Mohkam Chand to
realize that Wazir Fateh Khan meant to trick him. He warned
the Maharajah and told him that the Wazir had raken two big
forts with their treasuries withour giving anything to the

! Burnes, Travels, vol. T, p. 137,
PThe exact terms of the agreement are not known. ng to Britidh
1o

the
mrmnan"wnjgnnlmmpmmhﬂfdw. e to
Gﬂ'ﬁmol'-Gpl:lml. [

of Junuary 8, 1813)
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Durbar. Nevertheless, Ranjit Singh instrueted Mohkam Chand
‘not to betray the least dissatisfaction or doubr, and to conform
with the wishes of Fateh Khan with whom he would settle
accounts, should he violate the engagements ratified by oaths™.!
The Afghans pressed on through the Durbar’s territory at
frantic speed and were soon two marches ahead of Mohkam
Chand’s troops. The Diwan had no doubr that if the Afghans
reached Shergarh first, they would do violence to Shah Shuja
who was imprisoned there. He took a short cut and, havi
arrived at the fort before the Afghans, immediately assanlre
it. Wazir Fareh Khan reached in time to join in the assault and
force Shergarh to capirulate. While the Afghans were busy
looking for the treasury, Mohkam Chand's soldiers searched
the dungeons and brought away Shah Shuja to their mml!:.
Wazir Fateh Khan demanded custody of the Shah, On Moh-
kam Chand's refusal to comply, he tried to take Shuja by
force. When this failed, he accused the Diwan of breaking his
word and refused to share the boory.

Ranjit Singh was now convinced of Wazir Farch Khan's
dishonest and opened negotiation with Jahan Dad Khan, the
Governor of Atock (whose brother, Ata Mohammed, had
been ejected from Kashmir and who was inimical to the
Wazir). Jahan Dad Khan realized that he could not withstand
Woazir Farch Khan himself; he also knew the fate that awaited
him if he were defeated and fell into the Wazir's hands. He
accepted Ranijit's offer of a jagir and handed over the fort of
Attock to Fakeer Azizuddin.

The messenger bringing the news of the surrender of Attock
arrived in Lahore well after midnight. The Maharajah was
awakened and told the good ridings. He roused the entire
palace staff and ordered guns to be fired. The city rocked
with the crash of cannon and no one could get any sleep. In
the early hours of the morning, the Maharajah rode out on his
elephant showering gifts on his bleary-cyed bur happy
subjects.

LPCyr of March 6, 1813,
*lr is maintained by wome accoums that the Govemor of Shergarh hod
formally submitted o Shuja and ssked his forgiveness before the fort
capitulated and that Wazir Fareh Khan paid homage to Shujs. The Shah

that or <3 he was free to go where he
liked. He mpu::mhhmwhmm%ywhw i Sfemsuahsu
Lal suppors the former vession.
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Wazir Farch Khan discovered ro his grear chagrin that a fory
that was considered the gateway to India was in the hands of
the Punjabis.’ He was loud in his protestations of a breach of
faith. He lefr his brother, Azim Khan, in charge of Kashmir
and returnied to Peshawar. From there he wrote asking Ranjit
Singh to evacuate Artock or take the consequences.

Shah Shuja was received with the same pomp and ceremonial
as was his brother a year carlier and was delivered safely to
Wafa Begum ar Mubarak Haveli—a mansion placed at the

disposal of the Afghan refu The very next day a message
was sent asking for the delivery of the Koh-i-noor, Neither

Shuja nor his wife bothered to reply to the note. Reluctance to

re-with so precious an uhjﬂ.‘.lr was not surprising, but the

ar had paid heavily for the Kashmir venture: over 1,000

lives had been lost and the treasury was depleted. In addition,

Wazir Fateh Khan had raken possession of Kashmir without

sharing the loot, and had certainly no intention of giving him
9 lakhs of rupees a year as stipulared.

A reminder was sent to Wafa Begum. She denied having the
diamond with her and said that it had been pawned with a
moneylender in Kandahar. Ranjir knew this o be a lie and
offcred ro make a token payment of 3 lakhs of rupees and

! The British welcomed the passt of the fort from Afghan to Punjabi hands
Because it mude an Af P'f:nfn other forelgn lnvesion of India,
difficule. According ro Sohan Lal, ! fe sent a letrer of congratulations to
Ranjit Singh snd sdvised him never to gi ap the fort—and even obliquely
lhhtndl It, possibilicy of British help if necessary for the purpose, (Daftar
P 141

3 eKnh-Lnuorurme'MnmmhuILighf.tg.ﬂuprhmhrﬂﬂmrnf
all the dismands of the world, was taken from famous mines of Golconds
and catoe into the hands of the Mughal Emperors, The Persian, Nadir Shab,
ook ir slong with the Peacock Throne from the Moghal Mohammed Shah
m 1739 when he sacked Dethi and msssicred its inhabitants, On Nadir's
SEMEIRAton in 1747, it came into the hands of Ahmed Shah Abdali snd afeer
his death ino those of his son and successor, Taimur,
Tuumrhu&nhrg:mb:fofm.whu,inmﬂiﬂﬂymﬂﬂrﬁﬂu!'l
Mhlﬂl-hﬁqmﬁghmﬂlmudmﬂmm&cﬁfm
wott, happened to be in the capital ar the time and was ablé to take over the
pmnmmésﬂthtmﬁﬂmu—indudhgﬁ:WW.Hhm
years' rule which incl four to congquer Indls come to an eind
when he wai dispossessed and blinded by another brother, Mahmud. But the
dhmm!dddnmhnimhhhmd':hmhfmh_nmi:mmﬁl

wis from Shah Shiujs that the Koh--noor came to Ranjit in the mannes
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mﬁn a jagir of Rs 50,000 a year to the family in licu of the
Koh-i-Noor. Even this offer did not bring round the Begum or
her husband. Ranjit Singh's patience was exhausted; he made 2
E:n:mptm}r demand and placed a heavy guard round Mubarak

aveli. Shuja, who had till then been treared as a royal guest,
became a prisoner.

Many IEE}'S went by without any move from the Shah. The
rations supplied to his houschold were reduced and the Kotwal
was instructed to treat the Shah's family as being under arrest.
Shuja realized that there was no way out and at last agreed to
honour his wife's word. A date was fixed for the delivery of the
diamond.

On June 1, 1813, Ranjit Singh rode up to Mubarak Haveli
with 6oo horsemen to take over the Koh-i-noor. Shuja em-
braced Ranjir Singh and conducted him to the royal suice,
They inquircd about each other’s health, and then fell silent.
The prolonged silence got on Ranjit Singh's nerves and he
whispered ro one of his courtiers to remind the Shah of the
object of his visir. The Shah beckoned to a servant and ordered
him to bring the diamond from the Zenana. The servant came
back with a bundle which he presented to the Maharajah.
Ranijit Singh unwrapped the bundle and our came rhe diamond.
He turned rhe stone round under his single eye and ler Bhawani
Das, who was with him and had seen the diamond with Shuja’s
family before, satisfy himself that it was the Koh-i-Noor.
Then he rewrapped it in the same cloth and without a word of
thanks or farewell, hurried out of the room.’

'The Koh-d-nnor episode has been deliberately distorred by historians
inimical ta Raniir Sinoh. Fortunately Shah Shuja mentions the incident him-
self in some detall, The marrstive aftee his r:?lr.u: from Shergarh rans =
follows: ‘Mohkam Chand on the of Runjoct Singh informed us that his
master was anxious that we shoutd d to Lahore et soan x at liberry
and visit the residence of our seraglio in that ciry; he also mentioned thar
his master’s fame would incresse by our going.” The Shah arrived in Lahnre
escarted by Mobkan Chand. He continges: the morning of the second
dv:}'. Ram Singh waited on us and demanded the Koh-l-noor for his master,
£ con that it wus not in our inn, but afrer expericncing
hospitality and sssistance from Run gh, we shoold rake his wish into
consideration. Ram Singh strended the nest day and received the same roply.
We then experienced privation of the necessaries of life and sentinels wore
occasionally aver aur dwelling' Shujs mentions Ranjit's offer o
Ra go-g0,000 and help o mmcﬁtmhirryin the north whhh;hem
wﬂ_ willingness o accept. "He t an of
is 17 the Seilchy ol frieridship and we then
i the ml{nhﬂi-mur. Two H::&Et:m :I::r inmdl:ﬁmq‘w remmaved Fr::;
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Ranjit Singh was delighted with the possession of the famous
diamond. A week after he had acquired it he brought it out
for examination. The Maratha nc:'ﬁmcr of a8 week later says:

“Yesterday the noble Sarkar kept showing the Koh-i-noor,
which had been very kindly given to him by Hazrae Shah
Shuja-ul-Mulk, to the jewellers from whom he asked the

rice. It was found in weighr equal to three hundred and 4
?ew more “Sarakhs™ and in value it was declared priceless as no
other similar jewel existed anywhere else.’

Shaly Shujs was by no means reduced to penury by the loss
of the Koh-i-noor. He continued to receive an alldwance from
the Durbar and still owned, a5 was proved subsequently, con-
siderable wealth in gold and jewels.

Relations between Ranjit Singh and Shuja had been poisoned
for ever. A few days later Ranjir Singh had concrete evidence
of the ingratitude of the Afghan refugees, The newsletter of
June 23, 1813, narrates the incident :

Pir Barish, in charge of the police station, came in and stared
thar Mulla Hassan and Qazi gﬁcr Mohammed Khan, the com-
pansions of Huzrat Shuja-ul-Mulk, had written some letrers of
their own accord and under their own seal to Sardar Fareh
Khan Wazir; that as the messenger carrying those lerrers had
been brought to him as a captive, therefore, he submitted those
letters to rhe Noble Sarkar. It was written in them that the
Noble Sarkar was all alone ar thar time in Lahore, that he had
no troops with him, that if he (the Wazir) would send his
troops it would not be difficult to capture Lahore. . . !

Ranjir Singh was not 2 man of quick tunEer, bur once his
wrath was aroused, his moode could be very black indeed. He

our visits to the dwelling containing our family.' (Calcutta Montbly Jowrnal,
1834, Autoblographical sketch b h Shuja written by himself in Ludhiana
1h26-7 and translared by Licur. of the Amillery,)

The facts do not do any discredic to Ranjir Singh, If he had wanted to
rob the refugees, there was mn-hh'g 0 him doing so. He knew
that the mﬁ was with IHEI.'I'I-J ram Fehruary :n:;;ihm Wals .
came o om i tr Jime 1813 when he ved ir. Seeing 1
w:ythclluhmuurm'&mnkmmr from Indin, even a. forcible
Mmimhﬂbmﬁm.hthmm& followed
wus an honourable one.
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sent for Shahzada Haider, the son of the blind Shah Zaman and
nephew. of Shah Shuja, as well as Qazi Sher Mohammed Khan,
and questioned them. had norhing o say. Ranjit Singh
‘'sent them back to Shah Shuja demanding an explanation of
their conduct. The Shah wrote back that these persons had
written without his knowledge and that the Maharajah was at

to trear them as he desired. It was obvious that Shuja
was lying.” Ranjit Singh did not want to do more than was

1 Shuija himself wrote to Ochterlony sdmitting humu;;_llaxg ity in the plan o
hnm!vhu host in inviting his wnn}:hilcmaﬁ';.wmr steh Khan, o send
his brother to inyade the E‘tmiab, The letter {PCiz of November 12, 1813) ran
a1 follows: “Two months ago Mahmuod Hussain Khan arrived here from my
brother Mahmud with the mtention of proceeding o you. When he arrived
st Lahore, you will have hesrd the secrets were discovered by the inter-
eeption of Jerters und Mahmud Hussain Khan in consequence put in confine-
ment where he remained about two monthe! Shuja sent his own emisiary
Mohammed Amir, to Ochtetiony. saying thar he would personally explain
what the Shah had to ssy. The lettér wene on: "As we worship the same
God, it is our duty jointly to extirpate the wibe of infidels who are so many
in the garden of Runjeer. As soon as the flame of war shall have been lit and
troops under Wazir Fareh Khan put in motion against thmumu, God
willing, we shall soon put chem in confusion and disorder then divide
the Punjab between us” The plan apparently was that while the Lahore
mpl_mhuy:g:hqu:F Ehan his brother, Azim Khan the
Governor of Kashmir, should invade the Punjab and ‘scrtle the business of
infidels in this city'.

On her armival st Ludhiana, Wala Begum wrote several Jetters to the
Governor-General detailing the circumstances in which she came to Lahore
atid pleading for intercession far her husband's relesse. In the firse (vol. s8a
Persisn Letiers, December 0, 1814) she wrote: "We had no treaty sub-
mwhhﬂmiir%ﬁLMwhmwtwﬂku int his dopuins, he pro-

the delivery of the King from the sons of Mukhtar-ul-Dowlsh' (ie.
Wazir Farch Khan). Neither in this noc on the second where she
of the seizure of her agent Balak Bam and her nuidservancs did she male
ln{ reference 1o Ranjit h:vmwmngl wken the Koh-i-npor. And in the
third she openly admitred fact thar her hsbund had been '
Ranjit’s downfall while his guest in Lahore. ‘His Majesty wished to meer you
snd discass with you what was for the interese of both Seates, .. . Ir was the
El‘ugm of th;h:m HE: Power Im;-l this M:cihm uﬂm'd be discavered by
it Singh placed His er s Ec:ml.'
ﬁ{n cloar thae Shuja ]‘Iﬂlf;ﬂtd minim:ﬁdi with Wizir Farch Khan
{who had decided ro throw over Mahmud snd back Shuja insteaid) snd the
lish, The Wazir had pro on invasion of the jab from either
. In his lereer he has poetically eloquent.

I am prepared 1o dive to the bottom of the
e o tach o Bioe, e b s the asvemig
I‘h_l‘l_gr‘rﬂuhmun' is fixed and | will execute my design

crimson tide shall mantle my cheek with joy
Or frecec in my lifcless veins.!
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. I'he two men were taken in custody and handed
over to the Kotwal. Shuja was summoned to court. The news-
letter of August 21, 1813, records the Maharajah’s instruction
to Kharak Smgh, to bring Shuja ‘well guarded and in perfect
safety’ and a letter to Siuja asking him o accompany the
prince without delay as ‘the Noble Sarkar had ro t him
regarding certain matters’, What passed between the two is
not stated, but it is reasonably certain that Ranjit Singh asked
him to part with some more of his wealth and the Shah denied
having any lefr. Ranjit Singh knew Shuja was lying again; a
fortnighr larer Ranjit said in open court that Shuja had with
him ‘one saddle besct with jewels worth 28 lakhs of rupees and
one big bedstead of turquuise fixed upon four legs, each of
which was studded with a bi dimnnnﬂﬁu and said that he pro-
posed demunding these arr.itﬁcs from him for himself’. The
eourtiers advised him to be cautious as the Koh-i-noor episode
had already brought him 4 bad name. Ranjit ignored the advice
and sent a search party of women to the ghan harem. The
newsletter of March 4, 1814, narrates the sordid episode:

‘Ram Singh, the man in charge of the affairs of the Noble
Sarkar, came in and stared thar he had gone to the dera of
Shuja-ul-Mulk, had demanded the jcwcﬁry, had sent five
maidservants to the ladies’ side of the palace, thac they had
bmzﬁluu everything that cg'::ld be found in the interior Eu:ﬁ!kﬂ
jewellery, noise, small boxes, carpets and che like,
and the lemr?r Shah ma-ul-."-‘lulk had w::;l:cand eried aloud
that he did nor resist the will of God.'

The Afghan household was plunged in melancholy and for
some days the Shah refused to eat any food. The guard on
Mubarak Haveli was reduced and the royal entourage given
some freedom of movement. This relaxation of surveillanee
gave the Begum, and then the Shah himself, the opportunity to
escape from Lahore.

Wafa Begum disappeared in November 1814. ‘Can it be
possible that those caught in the trap of dejection and trouble
should not step outside?’ she said. Ranjic Singh was eager to
know how the escape had been effected and persuaded
Wafa Begum’s young son, Shahzada Saghir, to tell him. He
did not take any additional measures to prevent others of
the party leaving because abour five months later (on April
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:Igs;) 1815) ﬂiiup, his two sons, and others of the party

' The escape uqulte drasmazic. The Shab and his staff a subterranean
rom

tunnel from Mubarsk thlmthumdmuurm:::iﬂ ona nighe

m:{hnhh th.ranghﬂmd m:l. i thf.- Stm“u!rud
wa tEn m:rl:l was
hh?rﬂefm mnm well l"i;

-v-

dmmenﬂ.‘ ht, he wem through Sialkot
Kﬂlmir f""m mmﬂrﬁ{fmu %ﬁmﬂmmﬂﬁm&%ﬁ
wmr to the (]
ﬂ'lﬂ'l' = down plains oined Begum o
H



CHAFTER XI

VICTORY AT ATTOCK. FAILURE
IN KASHMIR

R

RANJIT SINGH'S pleasure at having become master of Artock
was tinged with apprehension because Wazir Farch Khan
threatened to rouse the tribes of the North-West Frontier
against the Punjabis and the garrison in the Attock fort was
roo small to withstand 2 determined assault. Consequently, he
thought it politic 1o keep up correspondence and exchange of
gifts wirth the Wazir, who had promised to help in the capture
of Multan if Ranjit gave him Attock. A relief Furce was in the
meantime hurriedly senr forward to Arrock, Then the tone of
Ranjit’s letters changed: he told the Afghans that he would
not discuss Arrock until after they had caprured Mulean for
him. To make Attock more secure, Durbar troops occupied a
forward post at Haripur. .

Wazir Fateh Khan addressed several rude notes ro Ranjie
Sing and then roused the tribes in the vicinity of Artock to
expel the infidels from their midst. Afghan troaps surrounded
the fort and cut off the supply route to Lahore.

The Maharajah asked Diwan Mohkam Chand to take charﬁ:
of the operations. The Diwan sent Hari Singh Nalwa, and «
battery commander, Mian Ghausa, ahead and followed with
the main Punjabi force. The Punjabis crossed the river Atrock
and came face to face with Farch Khan and his Afghan army,
E’In]ru th;? qmrrthtf {hc TT: armies faced each other u:ﬁ!cg:

ther offering bartle, winter gave way to spring a
short spring to the intense hear of mmi;m'sii'lwn Diwan
Mohkam d manoeuvred to place his forces berween rhe
Afghans and the river and wrote to the Maharajah for per-
mission to take the offensive. He did not have to wair for the
arder, as the Afghans, who had been cut off from their supply
of drinking warer, were forced to ke the initative. They
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made repeated charges on the Punjabis in order to break
through to the river. The doughty Diwan had the legs of his
elephant chained so thar it could not run back and fcp{ his
lines intact. Afghan assaults were repulsed by steady fire from
the Punjabi infantry. The Punjabis could slake their thirst and
return to battle; the Afghans had ro fight in the sweltering hear
of July withour a drop of water to drink. The bartle for the
fort of Attock changed into a running battle for the banks of
the river Arrock. The Punjabis held off the Afghans until the
Afghans were exhausted with thirst. Then Mohkam Chand
ordered his cavalry ro charge. The Afghans broke their ranks
and fled, leaving cheir heavy guns and equipment to the victors
and over 2,000 of their comrades dead on the field.!

This was the first victory of the Punjabis against the Pathans
Thar it should have been on the ficld of Atrock was of even
greater significance. The fort had been traditionally regarded
as the sentinel of India. Ir was wrested from the Hindu Raja
Juipal in 1000 A.p. by Mahmud Ghazni and since then had
remained in the hands of the invaders. Its recaprure meant the
liberation of Northern India from the Afghan menace.

When the news of the victory ar Atrock was received in
Lahore, the city went wild with joy. All business was stopped
and the people came out in the streets to sing and dance and
vell themselves hoarse. The cannon of the fort began to roar.
The Maharajsh rode our of the ce to join them and
scartered the usual largesse among the cheering crowds,

The success ar Artock did indeed go to Ranjit Singh's head,
In a full Durbar held in July to receive the felicitations of his
courticrs, the newswriter records same people having stared
that ‘the extirpation of the English who wear the mask of
friendship but hold us in deadly hate should be artempred’.
Ranjir Singh replied: ‘After Ll:l'; conquest of Kashmir and
Peshawar ir should be a subject of consideration.™

Hardly a month had passed after the victory at Attock when
Ranjit’s mind turned to the vale of Kashmir. And once an idea
entered his head, it conld not be dislodged. He announced his
plan ar the annual muster of forces at Dussehra. Diwan Moh-

‘Afmvﬂmdmmhm by Sir Olaf Caroc in The Pathans,
r'PGu:nI‘Annmﬁ.:_l_u.
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kam Chand ndvised him against it as it was not the campaigning
season for the mountains. But the impetuous Ranjit would not
listen to the ageing Mohkam Chand and ordered the Diwan’s
grandson, Ram Dyal, a strapping youth of twenty, to lead the
campaign against Kashmir.

The Muiharajah passed through Amritsar, Parhankor,
Adinanagar and halted art Siallcot in the foothills, which was to
be the base camp. By the time all the troops had assembled and
the derails of the arrack were finalized, aurumn had given way
to winter. Ranjit Singh moved on to Rohtas. He got word
from his advance columns that rhe of Pir Panjal was
blocked by a premature fall of snow. At the same time, infor-
manion was received thar Wazir Fareh Khan was keeping a
watch on the progress of the Durbar troops in the mountains
with a view to arracking the Punjab from PPHGU.imn in the south.
Ranjir Singh left a part of the forces with Ram Dyal with
mstructions to prepare the d for a campaign in the
spring, and hurried back to his capiral,

Ram Dyal spent the winter months setting up a chain of
food depots and collecting information on the strength of the
forts, the loyalry of the inhabirants and the possibility of sup-
plies between his advance post ar Rajauri and the valley of
Kashmir.

The troops were on the move as soon as they received news
of the spring thaw in the mountains. By June the entire cam-
paien force of nearly 50,000 men were encamped at Wazira-
bad. Diwan Mohkam Chand was lying ill in Phillaur and his
place was again taken by his brave but inexperienced grandson,
Ram Dyal. All the Punjab's famous generals were with the
army—Hari Singh Nalwa, Meeth Singh Bharania, Jodh Singh
Kalsia and the master er. Mian Ghausa. Ram Dyal with
30,000 men proceeded towards Baramgulla and Shupaivan.
The remainder of the force, under Ranjic Singh's g:rmnl
command, headed for Poonch. The pincer movement began in
Ll}luhhﬂ week of July. Just then the monsoons broke in the

ills.

The Maharajah was held up ar Rajauri by rhe torrential
rains. The force under Ram Dyal struggled on bravely until it
reached the narrow pass of Baramgulla. There the guns of 3
small forrress commanding the broughr it to an un-
expected halt. There seemed no way of getring ar the fort,
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which whafum the other side of the valley, divided by a fast-
moving hill torrent, or silencing its which were several
hde:gd feet above rhmmms iy

Agar Khan, chief of Rajauri, who only a couple of years
carlier had been mken captive to Lahore, came to the rescue.
He led Ram Dyal to a spot in the ravine where the stream
coursed over large slabs of rock and was fordable. Ram Dyal
chained the feet of his biggest clephants and stood them side
by side in the bed of the stream. The troops erossed over this
chhydcnnnm bridge and in the surprise artack which fol-
owed carried the mountain forrress of Baramgulla. This was
on July 20, 1814.

The column pressed forward through Adampur and
Haripur till it reached Shupaiyan. Azim Khan, brother of
Wazir Fareh Khan and the Governor of Kashmir, had stopped
further progress with his army of Afghans. The heavy down-
pour nddmu the difficulties of the Punjabis; the Afghans
were in well-covered entrenched positions. Ram Dyal decided
to fight a delaying action until additional forces should arrive.
Ranjir Singh sent Bhaia Ram Singh with 5,000 men towards
Shupaiyan. Azim Khan's ir harassed Ram Singh's
column all along the valley and forced it o a standsrill.

Ranjit Singh fared no better ar Poonch. As he began his
march forward, the entire population decamped after burning
the standing crops and removing their livestock and chatrels.
The problem of food supgies became acure and Poonchi
snipers would not allow the Durbar's reconnaissance parties to
venture very far. Then cholera broke our amongst the Punjabi

(Amongst the victims was the er, Mian Ghausa,
who died on the way to Lahore) The Afghans and the
Poonchis rook the offensive and pushed Ranjit Singh out of
ey di

1d stood his ground not far from the
capital, ;'y‘rn;gnr?ggﬂ:hn}rﬁhm did nnrg'-r:ﬂnr to have the Punjabis
in the valley for longer than he could help. Having failed ro
dislodge Ram Dyal, he opened negotiations with him. There
was an exchange of presents. Azim Khan professed friendship
for Ranjit Singh and promised not to sicﬂ with his enemies.
Ram Dyal extricated himself from an awkward position and
returned to Lahore.
! There scems no evidence for Prinsep's statement that Azim Khan let the
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This was Ranjit Singh’s second failure in Kashmir and a
sad blow to his pride. A bigger blow awaited him. After the
Dussehra celebrarions, when he had gone for a short rest to
the Shalamar Garden, he received the news of the death (at
Phillaur on October 29, 1814) of his comrade-in-arms, Diwan
Mohkam Chand. The Maharajah was stricken with grief. He
hid eome to rely on the Diwan for advice on mili matters
and also to respect him as if he were his own father. The
General was cremated with full mili honours and state-
wide moumning was ordered, His son, Moti Ram, was recog-
nized as successor to the Diwan's estates; the grandson, Ram

Dyal, was confirmed in his military post.

Ranjir Singh had to suspend military operations as his presence
was required in the capiral because of the hostilities that had
broken our between his eastern neighbours, the Gurkhas and
the English. An envoy from Nepal, Prithi Bilas, came to
Lahore to ask for Ranjit's help in expelling the English from
India. In addition to the usual flactery abour Ranjit Singh being
the defenider of the Hindus and the hope of Hindustan, the
Nepalese made tempting offers of money. Prithi Bilas rold
R.ungt Singh of the first few engagements in the hills, where
the Gurkhas had had the English on the run. The Gurkha tricd
to convince the Sikh that rhe English were not as invincible
as they were made out to be.

The Durbar had not forgotten that six years earlier Amar
Singh Thapa had pro to Ochterlony a joint Gurkha-
British invasion of tﬂ: njab,' and that it was Ochterlony who
had rejécted the Gurkha suggestion. It was fele thar it was the
turm of the Panjabis to show their good faith by offering to
help the British in their hour of trial. Fakeer Azizoddin was
sent to Colonel Ochterlony in Ludhiana to convey the offer of
assistance. The tide of battle had already turned in favour of
the English. The Governor-General sent the Maharajoh a
letter full of expressions of gratirude, but he declined to accepr

Labore troops go unmolested because of his personal regard for Ram
grandfather, DIF:'I!:I. Mohkam Chand. Apart fram there being no ' n:
u #, it is hardly likely that co tion of this sort would weigh
thote who looked upon the Sikhs who formed the bulk of Ranjic
Sinigh's army s ‘infidels’ gnid did not spare them even when they laid down

Ligiicon
YTk Labore Durbar, p. 13
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any help. It was well known that Ranjit Singh was not the
sort of n wha gave something for nothing.

Ranjit Singh watched the Anglo-Gurkha war with close
interest from Lahore. At the same rime he analysed the causes
of his own failure in Kashmir. His men were obviously not
suited for mountain warfare. He recalled the agility of the
Gurkhas in the bartle of Ganesh Ghari in 1809; and 2 number
of Gurkha deserters were now available for service. He
absorbed large numbers into his army and raised some bat-
talions composed purely of Gurkhas, He also felr that his army
was not properly administered; there was confusion in the
purchase of stores and equipment and in the payment of
salaries. A couple of years earlier Ganga Ram, a Kashmiri
Brahmin from Delhi, had joined his service as an accountant.
Ganga Ram was asked to rake charge of all military accounts
and, at his recommendation, another Kashmin, Pandit Dina
Nath,' was engaged to help him. More important than either
the men or the money was the hostility of the country rhrough
which the Lahore troops had to pass that had ultimately
caused the failure in mir. Even the chiefs of Bhimbar and
Rajauri, who were with the Punjabis, had wavered when they
saw the Lahore forces in trouble; they were now openly defy-
ing the Durbar's authority. After Dussehra the Maharajah him-
self accompanied a unit of his army ro Wazirabad and senr it
forward on a shorr campaign in which Bhimbar, Rajauri and
Kotli were raken. Early in January 1816, troops were moved
into Nurpur and Jaswan and the Kangra Valley. These troop
movements indicated another attempr to invade Kashmir. But
when the snows thawed and everyone was keyed up for a
campaign in the mountains, the unpredictable Ranjit ordered
the army sourhwards, where the six months following March
are like a blazing inferno,

The object of the southern campaign was to forestall Wazir
Fareh Khan's moves in that direction. Besides this, almosr all
the southern Nawabs had been rardy in paying the revenues
due to Lahore.

The bulk of the Durbar’s troops were placed under the
command of Misr Diwan Chand, a new officer who had rapidly

‘Dina Nath di ished himself as one of Ranjit’s ablest and most loyal
adminiserators. He was made Diwan und later invested with the title of Rajo.
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risen in the Maharajah's estimation; the remainder were led by
Ranjit Singh himself, Since the Muslim chiefs were prone to
declare any skirmish with the Sikhs a ‘Jihad’ and enlist large
numbers of fanatical Ghazis, Ranjir Singh asked Akali Phula
Sirg‘h to bring along his band of Nihan
iwan Chand's first objective was B:Ewn!pur The Nawab
made his submission, paid Rs 80,000 in cash and promised to
pay a further Rs 70,000 annually. Muzaffar Khan of Multan
was, as usual, obstructive. Some of his forts were oceupied and
rts of Multan plundered by the Nihangs before he paid up
arrears, Similar tactics had to be adopred against the new
Nawab of Mankera,

The heat of the desert became too much for Raniit Singh
and he returned to Lahore. His army, however, continued its
operations. The entire estate of Ahmed Khan Sial of Jhang,
who had been in arrears for three years, was attached and the
Nawab ﬁusiuncd with a jagir; Fateh Singh Ahluwalia incor-
porated Uceh within the Durbar’s territories.

Later that summer, Abdul Samad Khan of Din Panah, an
'lujlzumnt tributary of Muzaffar Khan of Multan, mrned up at

ore loudly protesting against the harsh trearment mered out
to him by his mrcrlnri WMahamiah received him with
marked courtesy and invited him to be a guest of the State.
Mubarak Harcl{ vacated by Shah Shuja’s family, was pur at
his dﬂnﬁ;l. It was obvious thar the Nawab of Din ' wias
treated with exaggerated attention in order to be used in the
campaign against Mulran,

Decks had now been cleared for action both against Kashmir
and Multan. But before Ranijit Singh could up his mind
berween going to the mountains or the deserr, a domestic
pm_ll_zi:em emanded tu; arrem.ion.f -

¢ upbringing and training of the heir-apparent, Kharak
Singh, hnpg bcgflnilmg the Maharajah ;TT: concern. 1 he
boy was -natured and well-meaning but of no great intel-
ligence. Ranjir Singh had entrusted responsible work to him so
that he could gain experience for his future duties as the head
of the State. He had been given lands to administer and was
El;i: command of many important campaigns. An able officer,
ia Ram Singh, was assigned to be his companion-tutor as
well as manager of his esrates.

Bhaia Ram Singh had disgraced himself in the Kashmir



VICTORY AT ATTOCK 131

campaign and had been severely reprimanded. The public
r:prm encouraged many courtiers who did not Iikfu Ram
Singh to spread rumours that he was corrupt and had made a
forrune for himself our of the Prince’s estate. The Maharajah
sent for his son and Ram Singh and asked them to show him
their account books. Kharak Singh pleaded ignorance. Ram
Singh was put our of countenance and was unable to explain
many of the figures. Ranjit Singh lost his termper and in full

ar ordered his son to get out of his sight. Ram Singh was
placed under arrest.

Investigation into Ram Singh’s affairs proved embezzlement
of large sums of money. Five lacs in cash and jewellery was
recovered from his banker in Amritsar and confiscated to the
State. Kharak avoided coming to the Durbar for many davs.

The Maharajah's counsellors advised him that he had been
too severe and thar, if he really intended Kharak Singh to
succeed him, it was importane that he should build up his son
and not disgrace him in the cyes of the people. Ranjit Singh
saw the wisdom of this advice and dccidcgin reinstare Kharak
Singh. In order to quash all ramours of differences with his son,
he called a grand Durbar on September 27, 1816, and, in the
presence of all the nobles, put the saffron mark of succession
on Kharak Singh’s fnn:hearﬂ

A month after the investiture of Kharak Singh, the Maha-
rajah went to Amritsar to celebrate Diwali. On the evening of
the festival che city was rocked by a severe earthquake fol-
lowed by a violent gale which mag;: it impossible for anyone
to light their oil lamps. Then the palace chamberlain, Jemadar
Khushal Singh, had a nervous breakdown and it was feared
that he mighr lose his mind altogether, All these were inter-
preted as portents of evil caused by the Maharajah’s harsh
treatment towards someone. Ranjir Singh was a superstitious
man and betook himself to Jwalamukhi to invoke the aid of the
goddess to ward off further calamity. Amongst the people
who cashed in on the Maharajah’s penirent mood was his son
Kharak Singh, who obrained pardon for his manager, Bhaia
Ram Singh. Ram Singh was brought out of prison and loaded
with gifts, He was given charge of the Durbar’s new acquisi-
tians—the estates of the Ramgarhias which had been attached
and included important towns like Qadian and Govindpur.

The prayess and the pardons did not, however, rid the
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mind of the superstitious Ranjir of his fears, and he almost
willed himself 1o sickness, He was out hunting when he was
caught in a squall. He was hot and let himself be drenched in
the rain to ger cool. When he got back to the camp he drank
copious dranghts of ice-cool water. He caughr a chill, which
was followed by a high fever, and had to be brought back to
Lahore in a pafnn . Ar Lahore his condition took a turn
for the worse and it was feared thar he would die.! Graduall
the fever subsided but he had to remain in bed for one mnnL{
before he was strong enough to stand on his feer. When the
doctors pronounced him fir, he was allowed to wash his lon
hair. The news was received with jubilation in the city an
as on other happy occasions, the people illuminated their roof-
tops with oil lamps.

Maharojah's case as_hopeless, Nihal went round



CHAPTER XU

THE FALL OF MULTAN

9

‘With four things rare Multan abounds
Hear, beggars, dust and burial grounds.’

rrEse four ‘gifts’, as the original Persian saying goes, explain
some of the historical importance of the city of Multan. It is
situated in the centre of a hor, dustry plain in the fork of
two of the Punjab’s importane rivers, the Sutlej and the Ravi,
which supply it with water for irrigation and carry merchan-
«dise berween the Punjab and the sea. Since it is a prosperous
iculrural and trading centre, beggars from poorer areas
ock to it, It is one of the oldest cities in the Punjab: many
generations of citizens lie buried in its sprawling graveyards.
Ranjit Singh had made four attempts to rake this ‘city of
the four gifts’, but had only suc:c:cdndp in capturing the town:
the enormous mud and brick fort which rose in the middle like
a mountain had defeared him every time. Without the fort,
ion of the city did not amount to very much: the guns
rom its walls could reach any part of Multan.
_ Early in 18:18, the Durbar resolved to !I::l“ whatever it had
into cnrgrtnring Mulran. The chain of small Muslim states round
about cl?r had already been broken: all that remained was
Multan irself. This decision was obviously influenced by the
preoceupation of the Afghans with the Persians on their wes-
tern front. An indecisive gement was reported ro have
been foughr ar Khorassan; Wazir Fateh Khan was reported to
have been injured and likely to remain our of action for some
time.
A force of 20,000 men under Misr Diwan Chand was
ordered to Multan. To avoid bickering berween the Sardars
who looked upon Diwan Chand as an upstart, Prince Kharak
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Singh was made nominal commander of the army. Artillery,
which had to play a major réle in reducing the fort, was under
the command of [lahi Baksh.

Preparations were made on an elaborate scale. All the boats.
on the Sutlej and the Ravi were commandeered to cn;urcha
regular supply of provisions. ots were opened along the
miut:. T]'IE: uz"tmﬂpchu:gt of r;.:ll;;miuin a fPr:: flow of war
material and food grains was given to Kharak Singh’s mother,
Mai Nakkain, who ser up her headquarters ar Kamalia. The
big Bhang Zam Zama was ordered down ro Multan. So
also were E:ﬂnns of Ni

The M jah stayed on at Lahore. A dispatch rider was
posted at every third mile between the capital and the Army
camp at Mulran so that the Maharajah could obrain the larest
information and be able to transmit orders.

Nawab Muzaffar Khan was aware of these large-scale pre-

rations and realized thar this time he would not be able ro

ribe or buy off the Durbar. He roused the populace of the
countryside to fight a holy war and prepared the city and the
fort for a long siege.

Nawab Muzaffar Khan had planned to defend himself in
three stages: in the countryside, in the ciry and in the fort.
The first engagement was in the open where he ler his Ghazis
do most of the fighting. This battle lasted only one day and
the Ghazis gzintf the martyrdom they sought: they were a
rabble armed with swords or and had to conrend with
a disciplined army equipped with muskers and field batteries.
Muzaffar Khan withdrew his regulars intact behind the city
walls as he had planned. The second round began by the
Lahore troops surrounding the city and bombarding its ‘walls,
The defenders held them at bay for a couple of weeks rill the
city wall was blown up ar several points, The defenders
retreated into the fort to fighe the third and last round.

The fort was surrounded by a large, deep moat. Althou
at thar time of the year (March) there was no water in the
maoat, it prevented cannon from being brought close enough
to do any serious damage to the walls and it seriously impeded
the laying of a mine under the battlements. For 2 whole manth
Hahi 's batteries pounded che mud and brick withour
making any impression. March turned to April and the hear
became unbearable. Ranjir Singh's messages became angrier.
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He told Diwan Chand how much money the State had pur
into the venture and what a disgrace it would be if they did
not succeed. Diwan Chand also knew that if he did not caprure
the fort before the monsoons, he would never do it for the
moat would be filled with water.

Ilahi Baksh redoubled his efforts and subjected the forr to
intensive bombardment. The Bhangi cannon arrived in April
and with cach shor it sent 8o Ib. of solid metal hurtling
into the wall and rore huge holes in it. A spy seat out by
Muzaffar Khan into the Durbar lines saw something of the
enthusiasm with which the Sikh gunners under [ahi Baksh
fought, When a cannon lost one of its wheels and could not
be properly fired without support, soldiers wrangled amongst
each other for the privilege of having ir rest on their shoulders,
Many were killed with the recoil of the gun.’ The defenders’
energies were concentrated on blocking rthe damage done by
the cannon, when a parry of Nihangs stole down the moat
under cover of darkness and laid a mine under another portion
of the wall. Next morning a huge segment of the battlement
was blown sky high.

Muzaffar Khan had had enough of fighting and sent his
envoy to discuss terms of surrender, He wnszg%rcd Shujabad,
Khangarh and a big jagir if he gave up rhe fort. Muozaffar
Khan accepted the terms and asked for a treaty to be drawn

uF.Thc news of Muzaffar Khan's acceptance of the rerms
offered made Ranjit delirious with joy. Cannons were
fired to celebrate the victory and Lahore was illuminated ar
mght. But when the draft treary was presented ro the Khan
in Multan, he was dissuaded from signing it. It is better to
die in honour than live in shame,” sad his soldiers. ‘We will
fighr the Sikhs o a finish.’

Ranjit was angered by this sudden tumn of events. He sent
Jemadar Khushal Singh from Lahore ro tell Diwan Chand
and the other generals thar if Multan did not capitulate in the
next few days he would want ro know the reason why. He
also wanted the generals to give him full details of individual
acts of valoar performed by his soldiers.

The Maharajah’s taunts stung the soldiers ro fury. The
battle recommenced. The cannon blew up the bags of earth

! Ghulam Jiland in Jang-i-Multan.
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which had been hurriedly placed to repair the breaches. The
Nihangs came to the fore again. Their leader, Sadhu Singh.
led his band in a desperate charge through one of the breaches
and closed in on the defenders.! r drove the Mulranis back
till they came to the steps of the Khan's palace. The old Nawab
and his sons donned the green garb of the Mohammedan faith,
perfumed their beards and with drawn swords ‘came out ro
answer the call of the angel of death’. Nawab Muzaffar Khan,
his two sons and 2 nephew were killed; his rwo younger sons
were captured alive,

The fort capitulated on June 3, 1818, The news reached
Lahore three days later. This time nothing could contain the
Maharajah's joy. He gave the messenger who brought the news
of the victory a pair of gold bracelets and rode our on the back
of his elephant to shower his people with gold and silver, Mist
Diwan d was hono with the ritle of Zafar lang
Bahadur—Brave Victor of Battles.

Some days later one of Muzaffar Khan's sons was brought
into court. The Maharajah had heard of the valour of the old
Nawab and since he admired bravery above all manly virrues,
he got up from his sear and took the young Nawab in his
arms. Five days later, Misc Diwan Chand arrived in Lahore
with the second of Nawab Muzaffar’s captive sons. The Maha-
rajah embraced the boy and made him sit beside him, While rhe
lad poured out his heart about the perfidy of the Durbar
troops to Ranjit, the palace guns roared their welcome to the
victor of Multan.

The conquest of Multan ended Afghan influence in the
Pm-u:h and broke the solid phalanx oP Muslim states in the
south. Ir subdued the chicfs o Bahawalpur, Dera Ghazi Khan,
Dera Ismail Khan and Mankera. And it opened up the road to
Sindh. In addition to all these military and polirical advan-
tages, Multan was a valusble acquisition. Ir yielded an annual

P Many secount, including that f Prem Singh, give the credit of the vic
torious sssault ro Phula EEngI:. Sul;'m Lal mm{rm:m rl-:!'hul-nﬁmg;ﬁ
time. '

in Anock at the 1
Ranjit Singh 101d the Enplish traveller William Moorcroft thae the lives of
five hundred of Mmﬁ:ﬁhm‘smwhnnrrmduud'm , Griffin,
Rniuh:{rfp.lﬂfi.dhbdlﬂnthhmdm{wﬁhnm his source)
thnﬂuumgmmnwmmth:md.litllmmtbuhtﬂmw
Wﬂyﬂddmnﬂﬂhw&gdwﬁhﬁﬁwh&wm
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revenue of nearly Rs 7 lakhs.'

Three weeks after the victory ar Multan came the Muslim
festival of Idul Fitr. The Maharajah thoughr it the best occa-
sion to pay homage ro the memory of his faithful servant, Mian
Ghausa, who was also the father of the Durbar artillery to
which Ranjit owed many of his victories including thar of
Multan. He went to the mauvsoleum of Shah Abfu! Maali
which had been built by the late commander and spent some
time in silent prayer amongst his Muslim subjects.

It was forrunate that Multan capirulated early in June because
a few days later the monsoon burst in all its fury and it con-
tinued to rain for several days. Ranjit Singh could never resist
the monsoon and loved to ride out in a down to see the
flooded countryside and the rivers in spate. E:rvimry of
Multan had already pur him in high spirits. He suspended
work and spent many days in the country with his companions
and watching the nautch girls perform. His favourite music
for the monsoon season was the flute; and when he was tired
of his boisterous parties, he dismissed the naurch girls and sat
alone for several hours to listen to the flautist, Artar Khan,
This carefree mood came 1o an abrupr end on Seprember 28
when he nearly killed himself. He had gone to see the Ravi
in flood and in 2 mood of exaltation plunged his horse in the
river. The erful current sweprt the horse and rider into
midstream. Ranjit Singh was just able to get his feer our of
the stirrups and swim ashore before :hc%furs: was sucked
under water by a whirlpool.

The news of the Maharajah's narrow escape spread in the
city. Prayers of thanksgiving were offered at che mosques
and temples. Nobles and commoners waved handfuls of gold
and silver round the Maharajah's heard (sir wirng) and gave

itaway ro beggars.

Ranjit Singh could not remain inactive for long. Since it was
100 early to start on another campaign, he rurned his attention
to prnhlenm of administration. e ministerial changes had
';\.umdhgmf;;hm Lal, P-Mnnwn:mlmuduntmmﬁwmmmﬁqh
of Peshawar & lakhs remaining i i
gnmdlupu::-n of dﬁnMﬁmmnfmgFm
in: the second: after i congues, according ro Sita Ram Kohli, wzs
Rs #8075 (M Ramijis Singh, p. 148)
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been long overdue. He had many inst Bhawani Das;
the mmrgscrimts being that in 18 mm& had taken
money from Nawab Muzaffar Khan to call off the siege of
the fort of Multan. At the time Ranjit Singh had di ed
these stories. It is not unlikely that with the caprare of Multan
and the two sons of Muzaffar Khan, Ranjit conerete
evidence of the Minister’s dishonesty. Bhawani Das was dis-
mussed withour ceremony. The other whose presence
in court had become too irksome was Jemadar Khushal Singh.
The Jemadar had suffered 2 nervous breakdown and had
developed an irascible remper which led to many unpleasant
exchanges in the Durbar, He had become in Ranjit’s own
words a dungawili, which was an absolute anathema to Raniit
Singh. Khushal Singh was removed from his post of Chamber-
lain and in his place was appointed Dhian Singh —a man
of great charm and courtesy. The Dogra introduced rwo other
brothers in the Court. The elder, Gulab Sri'n?, was a smooth-
spoken man, The younger, Suchet Singh, who was appointed
conveyor of petitions, was, in addition to his native COUrtesy,
strikingly handsome. The year marked the beginning of the
ascendancy of the Dogra family in the affairs of the Lahore



CHAPTER XIII

THE CAPTURE OF PESHAWAR
AND KASHMIR

€+—H

1% the summer of 1818, Ranjir Singh got the opportunity he
was wuir‘i’nmg for to extend his kingdom in the north-west. In
August, Wazir Farch Khan was murdered by Prince Kamran,
whose father Mahmud had been raised and kept on the throne
of Kabul for many years by the Wazir. The Wazir's numerous
brothers, who were sprendv out in different parts of Afghanis-
tan, Peshawar and Kashmir called for vengeance and Afghanis-
fan was plunged into civil war. The Marahajah sent for Akali
Phula Singh, who knew the north-west frontier well, and
uestioned him abour Artock and its environments. Phula
h rold him thar Artock was like 2 small isdand in the midst
of a sea of turbulent rribesmen. If the north-western bastion
was to be made secure against the Afghans and Pathans, the
frontier would have to be pushed further north to Peshawar,
or better, up ro the entrance of the Khyber Pass. The close
alliance between the Afghans and Pathan tribesmen would
then be broken and the most important gateway into India
be slammed in the face of the invaders. There was no time o
lose. The strife berween the Barakzai brothers of the late
Wazir and Mahmud’s branch of the Saddozais, had begun. In
their anxicty to occupy Kabul, the rival factions had lefr their
south-eastern frontier with the Punjab practically undefended.
On October 15, 1818, Ranjir Singh marched out of Lahore
at the head of his troops. Amongst the generals with him were
two who knew these lands and the people, and whose names
were becoming a terror amongst the tribes, Hari Singh Nalwa
o Thetar woss ot through  Roh !
r arm ohtas, Rawalpindi,
Hassan Abdal and nr}:'iv?:iﬂh:l the plams of Hazara. A rgnnn-
maissance party was sent across the river Attock by boar; the
1
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rest of the army halted on the eastern bank till scouts could
locate a suitable ford.

The reconnaissance party was ambushed by Khatrak tribes-
men and completely destroyed. The place where the ambush
took place was within the Durbar’s territories and the Khat-
taks paid tribute ro the Maharajah. Their dastardly atrack was
therefore not an act of war but one of treacherous rebellion.
The news of the disaster infuriated Ranjie Singh. He ordered
the troops to be lined up along the river bank and after hurling
a trayful of gold coins into the stream as an offering, he rode
his elephant into the whirling waters® The melodramatic
gesture had its effeer. The men plunged their horses in the
FIVET OF SWam 3CTOsS.

The Khatzaks did not put up much resistance. Their strong-
hold at Khairabad and Jahangiria were occupied and the
Durbar' troops were given permission to plunder Khattak
villages. Ranjic Singh pressed on to Naushera,

The defeat of the Khateaks disheartened Mohammed Khan,
the Afghan Governor of Peshawar; he fled the city leaving
fourteen big guns and other war equipment intact. On
November 19, 1818, Ranjit Singh entered the famous citadel
of the Pathans. Contrary to the traditions of most of the
Afghan and Pathan conquerors who had always plundered
the towns and cities of Northern India, Ranjic Singh forbade
his soldiers to lay their hands on any person or property. A
proclamation was made by bear of drum assuring the cinzens
that they would not be molested and advising them to carry on
their occupations as usual. The next mo the Maharajah
rode on his elephant through the bazaars of war. It was
the first time in 700 years that the city saw an Indian con-
queror ride chrough its streets,

Ranjit Singh stayed in Peshawar only for four days. He
appointed Jahan Dad Khan (who had five years carlicr given
him the fort of Atrock) as Governor of Peshawar and rerurned
to Lahare. Yer once again he was welcomed by the jubilant
crowds as the victor of battles. The cannon of dhe fore barked
out its welcame,

‘Dnrofrhqtrgmdrwﬁiehbnrmm:umindu?mjlhm&mmu North-

Wese Frontier was that 23 s00n s Ranji's elephant scepped into the river, the

flood sutmided, The legend had enormous chilogical value a5 it

mﬁ mmﬂﬁ amaonyg the tribesmen < ‘mﬁhmﬁbﬂuM'
on
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There was little respite for Ranjic Singh. He had hardly
time to unbuckle his sword when he heard of the expulsion
of his nominee Jahan Dad Khan from Peshawar by Dost
Mohammed, one of the Barakeai brothers who had now
become the chief actor on the Afghan stage. Before he could
take any steps to restore Jahan Dad, envoys from Dost
Mohammed arrived ar Lahore, offered to pay a revenue of Rs
1 lakh per year and accepted the Durbar’s title over the city.
The Maharajah ‘wanted to spare his troops another tronble-
some campaign and being more coneerned with the submission
of Peshawar than with its administration, accepted the offer.

No sooner had Ranjir Singh returned to his capiral than he
began to talk openly of an all-our campaign in the following
spring to wrest Kashmir from rthe Afghans. The information
was conveyed to Azim Khan, the Afghan Governor of Kash-
mir, who sent his agents 1o Delhi to solicit help from the
English. They were received by Colonel Ochrerlony and
asked ro stare their purpose. They landed the greamess of
Azim Khan and suggested that an alliance between him and
the English would be ro their murual advantage. Ochrterlony,
who had received advance instructions on the subject, told
them that his government could not consider it. Then, reports
the Colonel, *their tones lowered and terminated in an earnest
request that Kashmir be mken under our protection’. To
reconcile the two statements, the envoys explained thar power-
ful as their master was, he wanted to go ro Kabul to avenge
the murder of his brother, Wazir Fareh Khan, and feared that
in his absence Ranjit Singh might make an attempt on Kash-
mir.! Ochrerlony explained that the Brirish Government was
bound by treaty not to interfere in the affairs of the régions
west of the Sutlej and dismissed the Kashmirian envoys.

Despite the diplomatic failure at Ludhianz, Azim Khan
ok a chance in leaving Kashmir and going away to
Afghanistan. He lefr his younger brother, Jabbar Khan, with
a force he considered adequate 1o defend the valley. Jabbar
Khan thoughr that the best policy under the circumstances
was to rule with an iron hand and keep any likely collaborarors
of the Durbar in terror. His treatment of the non-Muslim
Kashmiris became very harsh and many Hindus were com-
' Ochterlony to the Govemnor-General (PCrs-16 of March 30, 18150,
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lled to leave the valley. Amongsr the refugees was Jabbar

han’s gwn Revenue Minister, Pandit Birbal Dhar. The Pandit
came to Lahore and advised the Durbar thar it was an oppor-
tune moment to invade Kashmir. Agar Khan, the chief of
Rajauri, who was in Lahore agreed thar it was the right time
for an invasion. He dipped his hand in saffron (a product of
his country), put its imprint on the holy Koran and swore to
help Ranjit Singh in every way he could. By his earlier
campaign in the north-west, Ranjit Singh had snapped the link
between Kashmir and the western hinterland of Afghanistan
and the Parhan tribal territory; there was now little gmg:r of
any sizeable force coming from those regions to oppose him.
Everything seemed propitious.

Ranjit Singh went ro Amritsar to pray for success. He was
back in the capital in time for the F-Inii' festival, which was
celebrated with greater zest than ever before. Sohan Lal waxes
lyrical in the description: ‘For one quarter of the day, the
assembly of merry-making was on and the market of pleasure
remained brisk. The moon-faced beauties with their melodious
songs and blandishments made stony hearrs melt like wax; the
music of joy and jollity reached the very top of the seventh
heaven,”

By April, the snows had melted, the passes ro the valley of
the _irhtlnm were clear and the forces had assembled ar Wazira-
bad, which had been selected as the main base of operarions
and the headquarters of the Maharajah, The army was divided
into three parts. One under the Maharajah’s command was to
stay at the base ro send assistance to the forward columns and
organize the supply of rations and war marerial. A column
under Misr Diwan' Chand and another under Prince Kharak
Singh were to march together as far as Rajauri and thereafrer
they were to divide and make a pincer movement on
Shupaiyan where they expected to meet the Afghan /rmy.

After the two columns left for Rajauri, the Maharajah
secret information thar Agar Khan was likely to defect, To
forestall the danger he ordered the release of Sulran Khan,
Chicf of Bhimbar (who had been in prison for seven years),
and offered to reinstate and reward him if he undertook to

ide the Durbar troops over the mountain roures. Ranijir

ingh was correct in his judgment of the rwo men. As soon as
* Dafrar 11, p. 14,
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advance columns of the Durbar had cheir first skirmish with
the Afghans, Agar Khan went over to the enemy and the
Durbar had to rely on Sultan Khan of Bhimbar.

Kharak Singh's column advanced withour much opposition
up to Baramgulla and, directed by Sultan Khan, was able o
sidetrack the Poonchis and reach Shupaiyan. From the other
end, after crossing the Pir Panjal range, Diwan Chand, despite
losses inflicted on him by Afghan snipers, pushed on and the
two columns came in view of each other and of Jabbar Khan
with 12,000 Afghans in banle formation on the plain of
SNpsyan, :

Diwan Chand let his troops rest for a few days. When the
men were refreshed, he quiedy surrounded the Afghan host.
In the early hours of the morning of July 3, Durbar barteries
opened up on the Afghans. Jabbar Khan, who did not have as
many guns as the Punjabis, ordered his cavalry to charge.
Af horsemen captured many Punjabi guns. Akali Phula
Singh flung his Nihangs against the Afghan horsemen and
infanrry. The Afghans rmﬁ?d from the shock of the Nihang

turned and fled into the hills. Jabbar Khan was severely
wounded and barely escaped with his life,

News of the victory reached the Maharajah the nexr day
whilst he was marching forward to the help of his troops.
inthnn Lal who was with Ranjit Singh ac the time describes

scene:

‘At noon an angel from the Unknown bronghr the news thar
the paradise-like Kashmir had come within the ion of
the well-wishers of the powerful state. From all sides arose
the voice of congratulations and Wah Guru Ji ki Fareh.”

Prince Kharuk Singh and Misr Diwan Chand entered Srina-

EI.!' the next day and received the victors with acclaim. The

rince issued strict orders against looting or molesting of
citizens.

The Maharajah returned ro the phins. He first went to
Amritsar for iving and the city abandoned irself to a
riotous celebration, On September 22 he was back in Lahore
where he rode through triumphal arches set up in his honour.

Fakeer Azizuddin was instructed ro make a detailed report
on the people, climate, produce and general condirions of
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Kashmir. Moti Ram, the son of the late Diwan Mohkam
Chand, was appointed Governor. T"IF were billeted in
diffierent towns to mop up pockets of ghan resistance and
to extend the control :Fthr: government to 1ts furthest borders.
Kashmir was an important acquisition for the Punjab. Apart
from the Rs 70 lakhs it fetched ey year in revenue, jt ex-
tended the frontiers of the State mﬂc borders of China and
Tibet,

In February 1820, Ranjit Singh toured his southern dominions.
His first long halt was at Multan and his first public act was
to pay homage at the tomb of Nawab Muzaffar Khan. He
celebrating I-Fu]i in Multan with his usaal zeal, riding our on
his elephant into the streets and spraying coloured warer and

wder on the crowds. The gaicty of Holi was prolonged

y the news of the birth of sons to rwo of his wives, Daya
Kaur and Ratan Kaur! He decided to name the boys
Peshaura Singh and Kashmira Singh in commemoration of his
Lutest victories.

From Multan Ranjit Singh senr Jemadar Khushal Singh
against Nawab Zaman Khan of Dera Ghazi Khan, The Nawab
was expelled from the city and the district was :5%1 ed ro
the Nawab of Bahawalpur ar an annual payment of Ks 3 lacs

per year,

Ranjit Singh had to cur short his stay in Multan on account
of reports of widespread disturbances in the narth-wese, Ever
since Kashmir had passed into Punjabi hands, Pathan tribesmen
in Hazara had been restive, Prince Sher Singh, who was be-
enming popular with the soldiers, was ordered to conduct the
operations z%ajnst the tribes, With him was his grandmother,
Sada Kaur, Fateh Singh Ahluwalis, Gunner Ilahi Balsh and
the youthful Ram Dyal, the dson of Diwan Mohlkun
Chand. The pacification of ra was in the nature of
mopping up opn scattered tribal concentrations, In one of these
operations, Ram Dyal, who was chasing a party of tribesmen,
was cnu%!;,t in a blinding dust storm and separated from his
troops. The tribesmen captured and murdered Ram Dyal. |
' These two yere widaws of Sahib Singh Bhangi of Gujersr who died in

1811; Ranji h took them under his muntle (Chaddar andii
:umnym the ]n'n‘ibunfﬂu-l’unhh; L d
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This news was a grear shock to the Maharajah who lad seen
signs of Mohkam Chand’s greamness as a military leader in his
young grandson. Moti Ram was prostrated with grief ar the
loss of his son and retired to Benares to pray and meditate. In
Moti Ram's absence, Hari Singh Nalwa was appainted
Governor of Kashmir.

The administration of Hazara was entrusted to Fareh Singh
Ahluwalia and Kirpa Ram. To keep the tribes in check, they
began to build a chain of forts and garrisaned them as police
pasts. Despite these measures, the tribes remained a major
problem for the Lahore Durbar.

In the summer of 1821 an English horse merchant, William
Mooreroft, arnived in Lahore with letrers from senior officials
of the East India Company and waited on Ranjit Singh. The
Maharajah received him with courtesy and gave lllim the permit
to travel to Kashmir and Ladakh thar he had asked for. At
Ladakh, Moorcroft instigated the chiefs to reiterate their
loyalty to the Mughal Emperor on the grounds thar they had
always owed allegiance to the Delhi Durbar (which was under
the control of the English). Moorcroft had the impudence to
address Ranjir Singh and tell him thar the people were ready
to revole if he tried to make his control more effective.’ The
Maharajoh passed this letter on to the British Government
which censured Moorcroft for his "act of singular indiscretion™
and clearly informed him rhat he had no diplomatic or repre-
sentative starus. Ranjic Singh was nor convinced' by the
explanarian as Mooreroft continued to operate in Central Asia
till he was murdered, presumably by the Afghans. It is not
unlikely that the Maharajah’s subsequent reserve in taking
Englishmen and Anglo-Indians into his service and his eager-
ness to employ men of nationalities inimical to the English
sprang from his experience of William Mooreroft.

Ranjit Singh caught a bad cold that summer. He tried to shake

¥ Moorcrofr, val. 6o of July 19, 18:1,
¥ PCoi of October 27, 1811, .

'Mhﬁhﬁﬂﬁlﬁthﬂlkﬁlﬂﬁﬂﬂmﬁﬁmﬂhhﬁmﬂbﬂ
against Mogreroft {leter dated February 2, 1832, vol. 70 Persian lerten) and
wrote that; ‘Friendship wes refreshed with 2 fra deop of dew . .. it
E'I“m. uﬂu.rm-pmlhthnhuk the bulbul on the dawn
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it off by hard exercise bur his cravinifnr ice-cold water after
a long ride prolonged the cold and brought on a cough and
fever. Owing to this illness, he starred raking opium, He
found it sooLEnd his nerves and continued taking it even when
It Wis not necessary, _

The Maharajah was not fully recovered from his illness
when a domestic issue which had been brewing for some years
came to the boil. His relations with his mother-in-law, Sada
Kaur, had been strained for many years. She had been hostile
to him during his negotiations with Metcalfe; she had lacer
refused to come to the wedding of Prince Kharak Singh and
forbidden her grandsons Sher Singh and Tars Singh to attend.
Since the investiture of Kharak Singh as heir-a parent she
had been complaining bitrerly thar while many jagirs had been
canferred on Ehamk Singh, nothing had been given to the sons
born to her danghrer, M%hmh Kaur, who had died some rime
earlier, The Maharajah lost patience with Sada Kaur's constant
bickering and decided to settle the matter once for all. Sada
Kaur was in her seventies and had no heirs apart from Sher
Singh and Tara Singh, He told her to ler Sher ggz[_h take over
the administration of her estates. Sada Kaur knew Ranjir Singh
well enough to guess that this was not an idle suggestion,
Could she persuade the English to save her from her son-in-
law? She had estates on both sides of the Sutlej (Whadni in
Ferozepur had been given to her by Ranjit Singh) and decided
to cross the river on the pretence of seeing how her lands were
being managed. When Ranijir Singh heard of her plans, he
invited her to Lahore to discuss the mateer of jagirs for the
two boys. Sada Kaur did nor suspect that 2 man whom she
had dominated for so many years would ever dare to treat
her with anything but deference, and aceepted Ranjit’s invita-
tion, Once she was in Lahore, the Maharaiah's tone changed.
He told her blundy that he had conferred her estates on her
grandsons and thar she was to retire. Sada Kaur raved and
ranted bur Ranjit Singh was unmoved. She realized that in
Lahore she would get no help, bur if she could get back to
Barala, she might be able to resist the Durbar’s rroops for some
time and, if compelled to do so, cross the Sutlej and appeal
to the English. She quitely sli out of the capital, but her
disappearance was noticed before she had gone very far, A
bod}rnfhumnmm.mufmhernndsluwnshmugh:hmk
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to the t:]ri as a prisoner. Misr Diwan Chand and Sham Singh
Artariwals were instructed to sequester Sada Kaur's estates,
Kanhaya forts were occupied and their militia incorporated
in the State army. Batala, which had been the ancestral home
of the Kanhaya Sardars, was given to Prince Sher Singh as a
jagir; the rest was joined on to the district of Kangra.

Sada Kaur was understandably bitrer against her ungrareful
son-in-law. The Lahore Akhbars of May 1822 describe 2
touching seene between two of her maidservants and Raniir
Singh. 'icv came to Ranjit’s tent and greeted him on behalf
of their mistress. Ranjir replied to their greeting with the
words: ‘Sada Kaur is not my mother nor I her son.” The maid-
servants asked the Maharajah if he had forgotten how their
mistress had helped him on rhe battlefield and made him
what he was. Their mistress had wanted it conveyed that in-
stead of imprisoning her and having her warched by women
of low caste, she wished to be pur to death. If Ranjir Singh
wanted Whadni back, she would be willing. (Since Whadni
was on the British side of the Sutlej, Ranjit could nor get it
without Sada Kaur giving it to him.) The maidservants broke
down and wept. There were also tears in Ranjit’s eyes. He
promised to call on Sada Kaur bur was noncommittal in his
reply to the other complaints. He dismissed the maidservants
with a sigh: ‘Such has been the will of God.’

Ranjir Singh never went to see Sada Kaur. She died in con-
finement full of angry recriminations against the Maharajah.

estates on behalf of the Durbar, Ranjit Singh wenrt southwards
towards Mankera. The estares of Nawab Hafiz Ahmed Khan
lay on both sides of the Indus and included important towns
like Leiah, Bhakkar and Dera Tsmail Khan. There was con-
siderable mercantile traffic on the river and the caravan route
from Persia and Baluchistan to India passed through his tern-
tary. Despite the barren nature of the land, Mankera was
worth Rs 10 lakhs a vear in revenue. It was also Pﬂlil:ic:[!y
mmportant, The Nawab, like other Muslim chieftains of the
region, had become independent. When forced by circum-
stances he preferred to pay tribute to the ruler of Afghanistun,
from whose ancestors his forefathers had acquired their tirle,
rather than to the Punjab to which the region belonged both

While Diwan Chand was engaged in :nkiiéi over Sada Kmur's
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historically and geographically,

In Umﬁber 1821 Ranjit Szn crossed the Jhelum into
Khushab and was joined by Ahmed Yar, the Chicf of the
Tiwanas. The fort of Bhakkar ca italared withour firing a
shot. Ranjit Singh stayed on ar Bhakkar and sent out Wo
forees in different directions. One division consist, of 15,000
‘under Jemadar Khushal Singh and Dal Sin caprured
Ismail Khan. The other force under Misr Diwan Chand
ho had come down after sequestering Sada Kaur's estares)
ook Leish and Khangarh and then the rﬁrﬂ: armies converged
and marched on to Mankera.

Mankera lay in the midst of a sandy: desert with no stream
or water tank for miles around. The Kf:twuhis only hope was
to hold our until the warer supply of the Durbar troops ran
out. Ranjit Singh had anticipated such a situation and in three
days enough wells were dug to provide drinking warer for
the soldiers, The si;:gl: only lasted a fortnight, The Nawab
accepted the offer of 2 jagir and safe residence ar Dera fsmail
Khan and handed over the forr with its arsenal intact, With
the fall of Mankera, the huge tract of land berween the Jhelum
and the Indus, the Sind Sagar Doab, was added to the Punjab.

On February 22, 1822, Ranjit Singh became a grandfather. A
son was barn to the wife of the heir-apparent, Kharak Sin
and given the name Nau Nihal Singh, [ic Muaharajah had a
ial rent with pales of solid gold erected to receive felicit-
mons from his nobles. They came ane by one and presented
nazars. Diwan Chand and Jemadar Khuslz'ul Singh took hand-
fuls of gold coins, waved them round Ranjit's head and gave

them away to charity.



CHAPTER X1V

RANJIT SINGH AND HIS FERINGHEES

e

A ¥EW days afrer the birth of Nan Nihal rwo Europeans'
arrived ar Lahore. The Maharajah received the feringhees
(foreigners) in his usual courteous manner and asked them
to be seated beside him on the carper. Through an interpreter
he inquired after their health, from where they had come,
what their plans were and whether they had any knowledge
of military matrers. They explained they were soldiers and
had travelled through Constantinople, Baghdad, Persia, Kanda-
har, Kabul, Peshawar and a.tmcE to come to Lahore. The
Maharajah then asked them about their views on the armies
of these countrics, the relative merits of French and English
as saldiers, rhe fighting qualiries of the Sikhs; er. He listened
to their answers and then asked them if it was their pleasure
to stay with him. They replied that they were not looking
for service but only meant to pass the hot season ar Lahore;
then added significantly—they would proceed where their
K’"’R:‘fi let them. The Maharajah knew precisely what they
wanted.
That afternoon he tried to rest their military skill by asking
them to pur one of his batralions through some movements.
used to submit to the trial. “Whar your batralions
have Jearnt they have learnt; we are nor able to reach them,
they replied, and added, ‘a shawl once woven, cannot be
woven in another fashion.” They asked the Maharajah to give
raw recruits, whom they could teach, and offered to
LFﬂlifﬁgﬁ had been kepe informed of their reis towards Lahore by
B agents in the neighbouring stetes. On March 12, 1823, he sent a note of
: to the newswriter at Peshawar for not sending word of the ingress
of these men across the frontier and demanded an cxplanation from the
WfMManm the arrival of the feringhees ar
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train a battalion free of charge, They had it ractfully conveved
to the Maharajah that they had béen colonels in Bonaparte's
army drawing fifty gold moburs per day, However, as 2
special concession, they would be willing to accept only ‘ten

ld mohurs each per diem, independent of the keep of their

orses and servants’. The Maharajah made no further observa-
tion bur decided ro find onr more abour the visitors. Their
manner of speech convinced him thar they were men of rank
and consequence. He asked them to address an application to
him i French and send it to Delhi for translation; he also
wished to be advised whether it was the sort of language a
real Frenchman would write under the circumstances. At
Lahore the negotiations were kepr up; the Maharajah started
with an offer of Rs 10/~ per day, tge Euro lw'omﬁng
that they had drawn fifty times as much !rum apoleon,
whose friendship they had also enjoyed. They showed the
Durbar's agent a tray full of gold coins to prove that they
were well off and did not mnﬁ:- need employment.

At the end of rwo months Ranjir Singh had satisfied him-
self that the rwo were gennine Frenchmen and not English
t?ssin]g for French; that they had in fact been officers in
Napoleon's army and knew a great deal about military matters.
Then with his usual generosity he gave chem the money they
wanted, and even more. Jean Francois Allard was required
to train the cavalry. Jean Baptiste Venrura was instructed to
raise battalions of infantry.

Allard and Ventura were not the first Furo to join
Ranjit Singh's service; the first foreigner on the records of
the Durbar army was an Englishman called Price, who
deserted from Ochrerlony's unit and joined up at Lahore in
tfog. Thercafter there was a steady stream of one or two
mun.nf up every other month. Most of them were half-
castes, heing rh:mrgitimnm offspring of Englishmen ¢ h
native women, Some bore famous names, e.e. Van Cortlandt,
son of Colonel Van Cortlandt of the rgth ragoons; Robert
Dick, son of Major General Sir Robert Dick of the gand
Highlanders; Jacob Thomas, son of the famous adventurer,
George Thomas; others of similar parentage bore unknown
names. The Maharajah was, however, anxious to keep the
number of English and Anglo-Indians in his service as low
as possible, because he could not rely on their loyalties in the
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event of a conflict with the Company's forces. He had also
reason to suspect that some of these men had been planted on
him so that the English might be kept informed of military
movements and the state of preparedness. The only foreigners
upon whom he could rely were the French, or those who at
one time or another had fought the English.

The employment of Allard and Ventura is significant as
thereafter it became the policy of the Durbar (largely Ranjit
Singh himself because most of the ministers were opposed to
i) to take in as many qualified foreigners as possible. Within
a few years there were over fifty of various narionalities—
French, English, Iralian, Spanish, Greek, American and
Eurasian—on the payrolls ufp the Durbar.

Ranjic Singh was liberal in the terms he offered the
foreigners. They were given higher wages than Indians of
similar rank and treated with greater consideration than other
subordinates. Bur he never really trusted any of them.

By the terms of contract the feringhees underrook for the
period of their service to ‘abstain from eating beef and smoking
or Sluﬁug’ (these practices being forbidden by the Sikh faich)
and promised that they ‘would domesticate lves in the
country by marriage, would never quit service without formal
permission from the Msharajah and would engage to fight
any nation against whom the Maharajah declared war, even
should it be tgir:;lr own’.

Rinjic Singh was only parrially successful in persuading
this flotsam and jersam of ro make permanent homes
in the Punjab. Although they sﬁ-wcd no reluctance in con-
fﬂfﬂ'_lmg to the ourward pracrices of the Khalsa and en-
thusiastically ‘domesticated’ themselves by taking on harems
of native women, it did not make them put out roots in the
soil or develop loyalty to the master whose salt they ate.
When they had Mneike: tels pile, they left their wives,
mistresses and children, frequently unprovided for—and re-
turned ro their homelands to lead respecrable ‘Christian’ lives.

Ranjit Singh looked upon his European officers as highly

drill-sergeants. Most of his conquests had been made
efore 1822 by men like Mohkam Chand, Hari Singh Nalwa
and Misr Diwan Chand. Even after 1822 the real commanders
of the Durbar army were Punjabi officers or the Maharajah's
mmm-ﬁnghmdﬂﬂﬁm@.ﬂin}&ﬁughnhﬂ
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took precautions against the foreign officers ganging up agai
him hl;r never allowing more dmng:nr. to be :ﬁ:ga 1 with
his troops. The distance ar which Ranjir Singh kepr his
Europeans was evidenced by the protocol observed at Court.
Although some of them attained the rank of gencral and were
made governors of important districts, not one was ever
allowed the privilege of a seat at formal functions. And there
were times when Ranjie let loose his remper on them. The
Lahore Akhbar of January 13, 1825, mentions an incident
when the Maharajah had requested his French officers ro
contribute two months of their salary to meet the heavy
deficit incurred i the campaign against the Yusufzais. The
Frenchmen told the Maharajaly’s messenger curtdy that they
would not give a pice. Ranjit Singh sent for them. When
they appeared

‘the Maharajah boiling with anger drew his sword and rising
from his seat ran to the officers with the intention of destroyin

them. But Sardar Himmar Singh and other officers present too

the weapon from his hand and caused him to be again seated.
Then he gave the French officers gross abuse and again rising
and drawing his da he flew at them several rimes uneil his
officers with fuldtfﬁ:;ds begged him to forgive their faults.

Such ourbursts of were rare. But Ranjit Singh's attitude
to his European officers was consistently distrustful. Once
when sacking the German Mevius (self-styled Baron de
Mevius) he exploded: ‘German, French or English, all these
European bastards are alike.'

The carcer of these European adventureres are colourful
mouiih to permit a little diversion.
Allard became Ranjit Singh'’s favourite European officer.
He was perhaps the only one of the forcigners who had
uine affection for his master. The French rraveller-botanist
aequement noticed the hold he had on the Maharjah. ‘M.
Allard is quite the Suleiman Bey of Ranjit Singh,” he wrote.
Massan, who mer Allard in 1829, noted thae

‘the establishments of the E:::m] are on the most splended
scale, for the liberality of Ranjit Singh, who appreciated his
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merits, enabled him to enjoy all the luxuries of a refined
state, and to amass wealth besides.

Allard was a much-decorated man. He was a Chevalier of
the Legion of Honour and the recipient of the Order of the
Durrani Empire. To these Ranjir Singh added the Order
of the Star of the Prosperity of the Punjab.

The Maharajah was reluctant o let Eu'.t: European officers
go on leave to their countries as there was no guarantee of
their ever caming back. He was parricularly averse ro letting
Allard go. Nevertheless when in one year Allard lost all his
money due to the crashing of the English bank in which he
had invested ir, and his daughter died, the Maharajah sanc-
tioned leave. Allard took his Kashmiri wife and her remaining
children to France,

While on leave, Allard had called on King Louis Phillipe
and conveyed the compliment of his adoptive sovereign to
his nur.ur.:f' one. The latrer returned the gesture and gave
Allard a letter appointing him as France's representative to
the Durbar. As a matter of course, a copy was forwarded to
the Governor-General. The British Government objected to
any foreign country opening diplomatic relations with Ranjit
Singh withou first consulting it. Ranjit Singh dealt with the
erisis by explaining that the letter was mostly an expression
af friendship, Lows Philippe had written: “Although long
distances and oceans part the Kingdom of the Punjab from that
of France, there is no bar to the love that binds our hearts
together.'

Allard brought a large consignment of French cuirasses,
carbines, pistols and other arms for the Maharajah. Ranjir
Singh was very pleased with Allard and in addition to paying
for the arms, gave him Rs 30,000 a5 leave pay. The French-
man burst forth in poeric maprure and recited a Persian poem
he had composed in praise of his master.

"0 God, may my King live long,

May the firmament be asa slave in his service,

May 1 reach his royal court and be honoured,

And should I ever disobey his command, may
dearh come over me,

When I die let my grave be in Lahore

And my remains be nterred in Anarkalee.’
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Allard served Ranjiv Singh another five years before he
succumbed to a heart attack at Peshawar in January 1830, His
body was embalmed and broughr 10 Lahore. As the bier passed
through the cities, people came our to pay homage and
salutes were fired. From Ehndadnm the entire three mile roure
from dcross the river to Allard’s residence in Anarkali was
lined with soldiers. His body lay in state in a room decorated
with flags and flowers and thousands of citizens filed past.
Barr, WE:I happened to be present in Lahore ar the nme,
records his impressions:

‘He (Allard) was beloved by both European and Indian alike.
He was much loved by the Maharajah and they were afraid
to tell him of Allard’s death, his own health being precarious,
The portrait of Allard bespeaks him a man of firmness and
decision of character and a handsome and benevolent man.
He wore a uniform somewhat resembling thar of our horse
artillery, with two orders, one being the Legion of Honour,
and the other Ranjit's new order. In another picrure were the
pretty faces of his Kashmin wife and his children who were
dressed in the costume of the country, and drew the admira-
rion of all."

Jean Bapriste Venrura was the most eminent of the Durbar’s
European officers. Murray, who met him in 1827, described
him as a fine looking young man, abour 33 years of age, ‘ve
neat in his person and dress, and wearing his beard long’.
Ventura rrained the best of the Durbar’s infantry divisions,

icularly the Gurkha units. The uniform thar he designed
iur his Gurkhas was taken over by the Brirish and is ro this
day worn by troops of that race.

Although Ranjit Smgh had a very high opinion of Venrura's
ability, and, in his later years, entrusted him with any difficult
missions, he never warmed towards him. This, however, did
not prevent Ranjir from being extremely generous towards
him. Only three years after joining his service, Venrura
was given permission to go to Ludhiana to marry an Armenian
woman. On the return of the couple to Lahore, the Maharajah
¥ Allard’s howse still stands in Lahore—a micisrure Versilles in the mids of

an Oriental barsar. One mound is the dilapidsted grave of his daughter,
ﬂurherHuhrh&h:mymdnhtg;nﬂ
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and the noblemen loaded them with presents estimated to be
worth Rs 40,000/ -.

The Christian marriage did not change Ventura's style of
living in Lahore. He continued to maintain a harem of Kash-
miri and Punjabi women in the city. When he retumed to
Franee, he left his wife in Ludhiana and only took his daughter
with him. Ventura returned to the Punjab a few months before
the Maharajah's death. Being a close friend of Prince Sher
Singh he played 2 very important role in the affairs of stare in
the years thar followed. He lefe the Punjab soon after Sher
Singh's assassination bur returned once agamn to clam mmlpm-
sation for his confiscated jagirs. He was given the utle of the
‘Count of Mandi' before he died in Paris.

Two other Europeans who came to the Punjab rogether
and rose to positions of importance were the Frenchman, M.
Henri Court, and the Iralian, Paolo de Avitabile. Apart from
having been travelling companions, they were utcerly unlike
each other. Court was a man of noble birth and had been
educated at the Military Polytechnic; he was correct,
courteous and cold. The Ttalian had risen from the ranks and
was a rough and rude soldicr. Courr was content to travel m
nm&es:h comfort; Avitabile liked to travel mtenr:lrim.ul};] and
met the expenses of his journcy by sellin arrificial jewellery,
watches, musical boxes and ;Escgnt Picg.l.rcs. l &

They joined the Durbar’s service 1 1827. Within a few
years Aitabile was drawing Rs 5.000 per month with jagirs
thrown in. Court was giw:::gRs 1,500 per month, but was able
to make up with the expensive presents the Maharajah gave
him, 'l'llzchnth lived in style. Avitabile in a gaudily done-up
house : walls of his bedroom covered with picrures of
underclad nautch girls, his ‘angeli custodi’ (guardian angels),
‘as he called them.

Three years later, Avirbile was made Governor of Wazira-
bad. Since he was a ruthless administrator he was transferred
to Peshawar to control the Pathan rribesmen who had in one
year alone murdered more than one hundred Sikh soldiers in
cold blood, The way he subdued the tribesmen is described by
him in his own words: “When [ marched into Peshawar, [ sent
un in advance a number of wooder. posts which my men
erected around the walls of the city. The men scoffed at them,
and laughed at the madness of the feringhee and harder stll

3
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(¥1)

whmnéymm came in and laid coils of rope at the foor of the
posts. Guns and swords, said they, were the arms ro rule the
city and not sticks and ropes. However, when my preparations
were completed and they found one fine morning dangling
from these posts, fifty of the worst characters in Pesﬁzwar they
thoughr ditferently. And 1 repeated the exhibition every day
till I had made a scarcity of brigands and murderers.

‘Then 1 had to with the lars and rale bearers. My
method with them was to cut out their tongues . . . and when
a surgeon appeared and professed to be able ro restore their

[ sent for him and cut out his tongue also. After that
:g:rtwusp:am.mdmsixmmﬂumﬂcw:smnﬁm:in
Peshawar.'

This flamboyant, stout man, upwards of six feet high was,
despite his morbid pastimes, clever and full of fun, He
organized assistance to the English in the Kabul campaign and
stayed on in Lahore for a few years after Ranjic Sinigl:!; death.
When he lefe the Punjab he fixed 4 pension for all the women
in his harem and marned off his favourite daughter (born of a
Parhan wonian) to his cook.

Avitabile had a royal reception on his return to Europe.
He was received by Ki ouis Philippe of France who
awarded him the Cross of the Legion of Honour and honorary
rank of General of the French Army, In London, the East
India Company gave him 4 banquer and presented him with
a sword of honour. The hero retired to Italy and :c?uin:d a
young wife. The man who had bullied the gadmns of Pesha-
war was cuckolded by 1 village wench. He died soon afrer
his marriage in circumstnces which caused considersble
speculation in the Iralian countryside.

Court was made in an alt er different mould. Although
4 soldier of distinction (he held the honorary rank of General
in the French Army), he was essentizlly a man of scholastic
tastes. He was a Fellow of the Royal G phical Society
and a member of several scientific societies, He is described as

a ‘very well dressed, short, thick man pitred with small-pox’,
looking like a rough and ready sailor. Whar he lacked in looks,
hea tly made up in abilicy, In a Persian inscription on
one of the many guns cast by him, he is described as 2 ‘Sahib
possessing wisdom like Aristotle and Plato of the age'. As
nrdn:nq:nlﬁculumﬂ‘mmymnuoninthe[mdryn
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Lahare and trained an exeellent ser of gunners. European
writers are wont to give him credit for the superiority of Sikh
artillery over the British. The brains behind Ranjit's ordnance
works were not Court’s but Lehna Singh Majithia’s. It was to
Majithia that Ranjic Singh turned whenever he saw a new
and powerful weapon and it was Majithia who invariably
suceceded in producing something better. Court was cssen-
tially an administracor—and not a very successful one at that.
He was about the most unpopular European officer in the
Durbar’s army and had many times to be rescued from the
wrath of his men.

Court’s scholastic bent of mind did not prevent him from
maintaining 2 harem. His house (which was a mausoleum
converted to a residence) still stands in Lahore, It has a small
mosque which he buile for his Kashmiri wife who now sleeps
under irs floor. When he left the Punjab in 1845, he wok a
considerable amonnt of wealth (he was drawing Rs 40,000 2
year) and a Kashmiri woman whom he larer marnied in France.

An officer who might have risen high in the Durbar army
if he had lived longer was a Spaniard, Seror Oms. Ranjir Singh
was very taken up by ‘Musa Sahib’s’ energy and enrhusiasm
and srared him on a salary much higher chan the initial salaries
g:m to Courr or Avitabile, He also allowed him to convert

vast gardens surrounding Jehangir's tomb ar Shahadara for
his residence. Oms fell a vietim to the cholera epidemic which
broke our in the autumn of 1828, Superstitious Mushims
aseribed his death to the shade of Emperor Jehangh whose rest
he had disturbed by squatting on his premises, Under the
Mzharajah’s orders Oms was buried in the same mausoleam (50
that the shade of the Seor could contend with that of the
Mughal),

An American who flitted across the pages of Ranjir Singh's
life for a few memorable years was an incredible wind-bag,
Josiah Hlarlan, who posed successively as doctor, scholar,
statesman and soldier. He was, surprisingly, able to worm
his way into the favour of so shrewd a judge of men as Ranjic
Singh, Harlan served as a ‘doctor” with the British Army in
the Burmese wars. Afrer an inglorious discharge he crossed
the frontier into the Punjab and was hired by Ranijit Singh
in 18:¢9. Within a few months of his arrival he was made
Governor of Nurpur and Jasrota and three years later,
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Govemnor of Gujerat. Dr Wolff gives a delightful picture of
his meering with the American, Whilst waiting in the encrance
hall, he heard someone sin ing “Yankee Doodle’ with the troe
American snuffle. Prmmf;r m came the Governor himself,
who was a fine rall man, dressed in European clothing and
smoking a hookah. Wolff asked him how he came to know
“Yankee Doodle'. The American answered in his nasal tone:
‘1 am a free citizen of the United States, from the city of
Philadt,l'phin. I am the son of a Quaker. My name is Josiah
Harlan,

Harlan tells of how he came to be employed by Ranjit
Sin‘gh. He was (according to himself) engaged in making him-
self King of Afghanistan when he was defeated by the Durbar
Army and raken prisoner. Ranjit Singh, seeing how ralented
he was, said ro him: ‘I will make you Governor of Gujerat.
If you behave well, 1 will increase your salary. If not, I'll
cut off your nose.’

When Harlan was sworn in as Governor of Gujerat he rook
a solemn oath on the Bible thar he would serve Raniit Sinﬁl]:
faithfully for the rest of his life even ro fighting against hi
own country if ordered o do so. This did not prevent him
from intrigning with Ranjit Singh’s birterest enemy, Dost
Mohsmmed. Later when Ranjir Singh was stricken with
paralysis and rendered speechless, Harlan had it conveyed
that he had medicine which could cure him. The Maharajah
sent a courtier to ferch the concoction. Harlan blandly
demanded Rs 1 lakh in advance. Ranjir Singh had him scripped
of all his possessions and pur across the river Surlej without
any ceremony. The outraged Harlan proclaimed his inrention
of joining Dost Mohammed and bringing down an army on
the Pnniui

Harlan's post as Governor of Gujerar was filled by Holmes,
IF? .?'tnhglo-indinn who had ns;_:n from l'nndma.;:r o mlme'ld.

0 was larer d of treason agai Durbar an
was shor and b:hm his own mt:gmm



CHAPTER XV

THE BATTLE OF NAUSHERA

€ —3

A ¥Ew months after Ventura and Allard had joined scrvice,
their newly-trained platoons were called upon to show their
mettle on the field of battle. Trouble had been simmering on
the North-Wese Frontier all through the summer. Fai:cr
Azizuddin's visit to Peshawar to collect revenue owing to the
Durbar; the ceremonial reccption sccorded ro him by Yar
Mohammed who ordered the city to be illuminated in the
Fakeer's honour, further irritated the tribesmen. Yar and his
brother, Dost Mohammed, expressed their loyalty to Ranjit

ingh and Yar Mohammed pad what was due from him in
cash and horses. He politely expressed inability to obtain the
flecr-foored Persian horse, ‘Gauharbar’, whicL Ranjit Singh
had specially asked for. Azizuddin returned to Lahore reason-
ably satisfied with his mission.

The Fakeer had hardly rurned his fotsteps homewards to
Lahore when the Pathan tribes flared up in open revolt against
Yar Mohammed. The chief instigator was Yar's elder brother,
Azim Khan, who exploited the religious sentiments of the
tribesmen to his own advantage by proclaiming his intention
of liberating the Parhans from the g'aEe of the infidel. The ery
of Jihad once more echoed in the barren defiles of the Khyber
and within @ few days over 25,000 Ghazis, mostly of the
Yusufzai and Khatrak rribes; volunteered to fight under the
ﬁn banner of the Prophet and gain either victory or martyr-

. Yar Mohammed abandoned Peshawar and went into
hiding in the ncighhuurinﬁ hills. (It was conjectured that he
was not altogether unwilling ro hand over Peshawar since
otherwise he might have sought refuge with Ranjit Singh.)

The Durbar ordered the army northwards. gdm' iwan
MEﬁShghNﬂwam!AhﬁPhuhSinghwe
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amongst the Punjabi generals. With them were Allard, Ven-
tura and the Gurkha Balbhadra, leading their newly-trained
bartalions.

Prince Sher Singh and Hari Singh Nalwa led the advance
columns. They spanned the Attock by means of a pontoon
biridge and came up to the fort of Jahangiria. The Marahajah
followed in casy stages hunting wild boar and waterfow! on
the way and nrriv:clgnun the eastern bank of the river by the
end nfy January, To his dismay he found that the Afghans
had destroyed the pontoon bridge. His son, who had taken
Jahangiria, was now besieged with the entire country round
about thirsting for his blood. Conducting the siege operations
were Azim's brothers, Dost Mohammed (who bad mare than
once paid tribute to the Durbar) and Jabbar Khan, who had
been ousted from Kashmir four years earlier,

The carly thaw in the mountains made the Arrock impas-
sable and Afghan snipers would not allow the engineers to
lash boats together. Sher Singh was in 2 precarious position.

One evening an informer broughe mrelligence that the
Afghans planned to annihilate Sher Singh’s force ar Jnhanfim
next day, There was no time to lose, In the carly hours of the
morning Ranjit S‘m‘fh ordered his soldiers to cross the Arrock
as best they could He was the first to plunge his horse
in the streamy the rest of the army followed: clephants, camels,
horses and mules with men clinging to them. Many were
carried away by the current and much valuable equipment
was lost. Nevertheless before the Afghan snipers could arrive
an the scene the Punjabis had control of the western bank.
The Ghazis were taken by surprise and retreated, The gates
of Jahangiria fort were thrown open and Prince Sher SE::gSh
welcomed his father with filial gratirade !

The Ghazis who had retired from Jehangiria entrenched
themselves in the plain outside Naushera. Between Naushera
| d 3 z - e g i m‘ “I'
w?m Eﬂmw ni:mkynﬂh :I::HT::: m:&g hwj:?nﬁm? arrived
in the fort, and being conducted to the Miharajah's presence, fell st his
feet craviny forgiveness. Ranjit Singh tonk the errant Sardar in his embrace
and forgave him. Jui Singh narrated the incident which had camed him o
l!::rt:i:hfghm - He was in Pashawar with Azim Khan when the
heads of thirry Sikh soldices wers brought into the Afghan courr. A eoursier

comempeuoialy kicked one of the heads with his foos: This was o much
lnr]ni&mghmdh:mok:ﬁni:uuﬁmmm!rymmmﬂ rejoin his
Countrynen.
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and Peshawar ran the stream Landai; on the western bank of
the Landai were the Af regulars. Ranijit Singh consulred
his gencrals. Ventura advised an immediate artack: “Today
the strength of the Maharajah would prove ren times greater
than the Afghans. Tomorrow the simarion may be reversed,’
he said. He explained that if the Afghan regulars on the
western bank of the Landai were allowed ro cross the stream
and join the Ghazis ar Naushera, the enemy would become
far too numerous for the Punjahis.

The Durbar artillery flanked Naushera, reached the bank
of the Landai and trained its guns on the opposite bank where
the Afghan rs were lined up, The infantry and the
cavalry faced the Ghazis entrenched on a hillock called Pir
Sabak, which the Punjabis called Tibba Tir.

When Azim Khan was apprised of the Punjabi manocuvre,
he hurried from Peshawar and joined his brother on the bank
of the Landai. The across the stream made it impossible
for them to go to ngu: help of the Ghazis. Meanwhile Ranjit
S::Fh prepared to take the offensive. He rode up to a mound
and took the salute from the troops going into action. The
cavaley galloped past him dipping its colours and shouring
‘Sat Sri Akal’. The Maharajah acknowledged the salutation by
raising his unsheathed kirpan to his forchead. And so the
battle commenced. It was an unequal fight, Moorcroft, who
was present, sent an account to the Governor-General! He
Wrote :

"The matchlock, the bow, the spear, the sword, the knife and
even the staff of an undisciplined multitude were about to be
opposed by the cannon, the musket, the matchlock and rhe
sabre dirccted by disciplined arallerists . . . under the com-
mand of Ranjit Singh himself and consisting of the flower of
the Sikh army.’

The artack was opened by the infantry but their fire proved
ineffective against the Ghazi stockades. The Sikh cavalry was
ordered to zﬁlrge Moorcroft describes how ane line of horse-
men galloped up 1o the enemy, fired, wheeled and turned
back and were K:rl]ﬁmd by another line doing precisely the
same thing. The Ghazis realized that this sort of distant com-
‘1SCg of October 19, 18524
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bat would go against them, They came down from Pir Sabak
hill and made a wild chargc on the Punjabis. They captured
two of the Punjabi’s guns; but before they could discover how
the guns were fired or spiked, Sikh cavalry recaprured them.
Then the Durbar’s Mussulman Najibs and Gurkhas counter-
charged and drove the remaining concentration of Ghazis on
the eminence of Pir Sabak westward rill they were within
range of the Durbar's artillery on the Landai, The guns
wheeled round and opened fire. The Ghazis made a d re
bid to get away but the Sikh Nihangs led by Akali Phula
Singh burst on them and for one hour the rival bands of
fanarics were locked in a deadly hand-to-hand combat. Phula
Singh's horse was shot under him. He rook an elephant and
pressed on. The Ghazis were able o see the man 1-:510 had so
often humbled them and rrained their muskers on his howdah.
Phula Singh's body was riddled with bullets and he collapsed
on his elephant. The news of his death further infuriated the
Nihangs who gave no quarter to the enemy. The annihilation
of the Ghazis began in the afternoon when the Sikh cavalry
rode into disorganized masses of Ghazis and transfixed them
with lances. Mohammed Azim Khan watched the massacre
from the other side of the stream. As the shades of rwilight fell
he saw some of the Ghazis who had broken through the
Punjabi cordon floundering in the Attock; over oo were
drowned in the attempt ro swim across. Azim Khan was roo
ashamed to face the people of Peshawar and turned his foor-
steps to Afghanistan.
ooreroft’s estimate of casualties was 4,000 Afghans dead.
The Durbar losses; though much less, included besides Akali
ﬁﬁ_wm the Gurkha Commander Balbhadra. [t-wne s
g defear for the Afghans and convinced the frontier
g'ihlh:;nm of the superiority of Punjabi arms over thar of the
ns.
ree days later the Maharajah entered Peshawar at the
head of his victorious rroops. The citizens welcomed him and
paid him tribute with gifts. At nighr the bazaars were illumin-
ared in his honour. But the Maharajah’s sojourn was not peace-
ful. What the tribesmen could nor achicve in open combat,

iirﬁhfhﬁm:ﬁﬁmuﬂ!nﬁmnfﬂuhﬂk.&:?h?jbﬂ,p
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they tried to do by cald-blooded murder of sentinels under
caver of darkness.

Moorcraft describes the tactics employed by the tribesmen
to harass the Punjabis. They wuu!dp tic hundreds of stakes
to a long rope and set fire to the tops. Then two men would
hold the rope from either end and advance towards the Pun-
jabi encampment. The Durbar artillery would blaze out, the
mfantry fire volleys, and since there was no return fire, the
cavalry would charge the row of lic_up stakes. While the
Durbar troops were thus employed fighting two men, the
tribesmen would come in from the rear and plunder their

ba !

Elg;iir Singh wearied of these tactics. A few days laver
when both Yar Mohammed and Dost Mohammed presented
themselves and craved his pardon, he forgave them readily and
accepred their rribute of ts and horses (including the
famous ‘Gauharbar’), Yar Mohammed was reinstated
Governor of Peshawar on promising an annual revenue of 2
Jakh and 10,000 rupees to the Lahore Durbar. Ranjit Singh
turned homewards with evident relief.

The Maharajah arrived back in Lahore on the Muslim
festival of Shabi-i-barit. Hindus and Stkhs joined their Muslim
brethren in the celebration and greeted their vicrorious
monarch with of welcome. Once more it was roses,
roses all the way with Ranjit Singh showering gold and silver
on the crowds. The dark nights were made bright with
myriads of oil lamps and rent with the explosion of rockets
and salvos.

The Durbar's conquests had reached the furthest geographical
limits of the Panjab in the north and north-west. Beyond were
impassable mountains and inhospitable, unprofitable regions.
If the Punjabi empire was to expand any further, it conld only
be over the Sindh desert to the sea or across the Sutlej to
India. The latrer alternative was not possible for the simple
reason thar the English with the whole of Hindustan behind
them were far too strong for the Punjabis. Ranjit Singh's mind
had been turning rowards Sindh for some time. But before he
could take any steps in thar direction, the English sent their
to the Amirs of Sindh. When news of the ﬁfln-
'dhhnnegnthﬁmmchtdhhmc,ﬂuremlmd in
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the Durbar of settling the issue with the English once and for
all. The Punjabis were flushed with victories over the Afghans
and Pathans and sabre-rattling was natural to their tempers-
ment. Newswriters posted by the English ar Lahore to
send reports of an impending Punjabi invasion of Hindustan
to the English Agent at Ludhiana. The t added comments
of his own to the desparches he forwarded to the Governor-
General. Within a few months, the whole of British India
began to buzz with rumours of Punjabi troop concentrations
on the Sutlej and Ranjic Singh’s plans to extend his arms over
the sub-continent. When war starred on the Burmese fronr,
there was considerable uneasiness in English circles over what
the Punjabis might do when the Sutle] frontier was left un-
guarded. Begum Samru was said ro be in communication with
the Lahore Durbar; the exiled Raja of Nagpur was said to
have offered Ranjit Singh large sums of money if he wear to
war agamst the English; envoys sent by the Gurkhas and the
Marathas were reported to have been seen in Lahore. The
English Agent ar Ludhiana addressed a note m the Maharajah
asking him to explain the troop movements and the massing
of arms. Since there was no massing of arms or men nor any
other kind of preparation for war in the Punjab, Ranjit Singh
answered with a gentle rebuke thar the Agent should not lend
a ready ear to gossip-mongers; if he had any suspicions he
should first have a word with the Durbar’s representative in
Ludhiana. The note ended with the advice, ‘Let the mirror of
friendship be kepr clear and polished.™ The British Govern-
ment despite the protests of their agent in Ludhiana thar rhe
F;tfﬂli]ﬁif never listened to gossip took the rebuke with 3 sigh
0 ;

Ranijit Singh mighe well have urilized the British pation
on the Burmese front to forward his ambitions in Sindh if he
had been physically capable of undertaking it himself. That
year he suffered the first of the series of attacks of paralysis
which ultimately shartered his iron constitution. Besides rhis
ncapacity, the campaign on the North-West Frontier
d been ruinously expensive and the pay of the army was
hmvilg in_arrears. (The request for contributions from the
French officers was made at this time.) Partial relief (Rs 20
'PCz5 of October 11, 1821
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likhs) came from the estate of Ramanand Saraf,’ 2 millionaire
banker of Amritsar who died intestate in September 1823. But
this was not enough to meet all the State’s obliganons or
finance another major campaign. Consequently the first
priority was ro raise money.

After the usual muster a{inrem at Dussehra, the Maharajah
toured South-Western Punjab and realized dues from the
Muslim chiefs. He spent Diwali at Khushab. Early in Novem-
ber he crossed and recrossed the Indus at Attock and with
short halts d through Bannu, Dera Ismail Khan, Bhakkar,
Leiah and Ghazi Khan. By December he was back in his
capital with the coffers of the treasury fuller than they had
been for a long time. That month there was another small
windfall, Raja Sansar Chand of Kangra died and his son
Anirudha Chand paid a lakh of rupees to the Lahore Durbar
as succession duty.

In July 1825 Misr Diwan Chand died. His death was a
gl;n:vvus-lm to the Durbar which was left with very few

jabi generals of any ability. As a resule the Maharajah

to turn more and more to his EW'FF“ officers, partict-

y to Ventura, 1o plan his strateey. The nominal command

wias. as before, entrusted to one of his sons, Kharak Singh, or

more often to Sher Singh who had begun to attract his father's

atrention as an up and coming army commander who was also

pe with ::hc rank and file. o

s growin rity began ro worry

Singh and his mgtrh?cr. ﬁiipo aur, Eu?Jnnnzr}r 1826 when Ranjit

Singly went on tour he appointed Sher Singh to deputize for

him ar Lahore. Kharak took the appointment as a

nal snub, Later that year when Ranjit was taken seriously

ill, Kharak Singh opened communication with the British to

elicit their support for his succession. It was through these

communications that Kharak gave currency to the gossip

that neither Sher Singh nor Tara Singh were the real sons of

Ranjir Singh but foundlings planted on the Maharajah by
Sada Kaur.

The filial sitvation was still brewing when Ranjit Singh’s
old friend and brother-in-arms, f-r;::‘l?gﬁlﬁh Ahluwalia, sud-
denly panicked and fled across the Sutlej. His nervousness was

1 Rananand’ habirs made him into a legend. would not mention
%mhmlmﬁdm.hmmmdﬁm.
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not alt unreasonable, Ranjir Singh had liquidared all
tilenﬁs?sg:nt?ia;rinci ities in the Punjargui;der hi:lhqc?}lntml one
after another till only two of them were left. Then Sada Kaur
had also been eliminated and only the Ahluwalia household
remained. People began to say it was only 4 marter of time and
Fateh Singh would go the way of the other Sardars, The chief
mischief-makers were Fatch Singh's own agents ar Lahore.
These men tried to prove their loyalty to Fateh Singh by
suggesting that he would be safer across the Sutlej. They
played on his fears till he packed up bag and baggage, crossed
the Sutlej and asked the Enelish Agent for prorection.’

The English were as embarrassed with their guest as Ranjic
Singh was pained to find that one of his closest associates
should have distrusted him. Forrunately neither party tned to
exploit the situation. The English could have kept Fatch Singh
and used him agamst the Darbar at 4 later date. And Ranjit
Singh could cerrainly have profited by raking over the entire

uwalia estate. The English Agent tried to persuade Fateh

Singh to go back and make his peace with the Maharajah.
Ranjir Singh sent his envoys to convince him thar his fears
had been absolurely imaginary. The crestfallen Fateh Si
returned to his home in the Punjab. Raniir Singh sent his
grandson, Nau Nihal Singh, and Dhian Singh (who had only
a few days earlier been given the title of Rajah and had become
the Chief of the Council of Ministers) to receive him and escort
him to Lahore. The meeting between the rwo friends was full
of melodrama, Fateh Singh placed his unsheathed sword at the
Maharajah’s feet, knelt down and asked Ranjir Singh 1o behead
him as punishment for the act of treachery. Ranijit Singh took
Fareh in his arms and the two men burst into tears. Faceh
Sirﬁh's estates were guaranteed for ever, and he was loaded
with expensive presents including an elephant with a highly
ormamental howdah.

In the summer of 1826, Ranjir Singh was again taken ill.
‘According to the revolution of the nmnﬂvm the
disposition of the Maharajah got adrift from the pivor of

"The actmal ‘incident’ which precipitated Fnr:h-ﬁpﬁlh‘sd: ws an
order from Ranjit Singh to the Sardar thar he shou sop building 1 forc
:Mhm&g]uﬁch{uﬁhﬁdﬁmlﬁ::ﬁhﬁmhﬂmm
.
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normality,’ recorded Sohan Lal. Rumours got round that the
Lion was mortally stricken. People began ro prepare for the
cventuality. ‘People who were fond of sensational news began
to talk much nonsense,” wrore Sohan Lal, ‘bur the sincere well-
wishers, faithful servants and old arrendants were lost in rest-
lessness and d for help from the Lord Most High.” Ranjir
Singh ths:ﬁ‘mfn):’Itr thar his days were numbered and asked to
be taken to Amritsar where E: spent the whole afrernoon at

rayer in the Harimandir. Fakeer Imamuddin was sent to

udhiana to fetch an English physician. The Governor-
General lent the services of gr Murray. The doctor persuaded
the Mahamjah to move out of the city to the Shalamar
Gardens. There, according to Sohan Lal,

“The sweet-smelling breeze of health and normality blew upon
the garden of his blissful temperament . . . trees of pleasure
and mirth put forth fruits of happiness and merriment and
the bud of the heart of the people, which had become wilted,
blossomed.'

By Dusschra the Maharajah was on his feet. Dr Murray
was handsamely rewarded with money and presenrs and
allowed to leave. Ranjir Singh went to Amritsar to celebrare
Diwali and give thanks to the Guru for having spared his life.
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WATERING THE SAPLING
OF FRIENDSHIP

t—eP

THE [mgﬂil!nm did not dim any of the fire in the Maharajsh.
He was barely able ro ger back into the saddle when his mind
turned once again towards Sindh. The English had until then
done little more than sound the different Amirs with proposals
for rreaties of commerce. Whar Ranjir wondered was whether
trade was only a veil to cover political design, the thin end of
the wedge to open the way to outright annexation. He pinned
his faith on the rreaty of 1809 whercby the English had
solemnly undertaken not ro interfere in the affairs of countries
west of the Sutlej. Nevertheless he wanted to be reassured that
they would abide by the terms of their agreement before he
rked on the venture. There were other minor marrers

E::mn_mcmd with his possessions in Malwa which needed clari-

arion.

g‘hc Gﬂvcrnn;fmem#r Lord Ambherst, had left Cn!cﬂﬂd:
and was making his way through the hot, d lnins rowar.
the cool heights of Sin{h. Rnn?it Singh ﬁtn':sgnf a message of
;E::tings couched in florid orientalese on his approach to the

jab frontier. ‘God knows how great a desire for a meetin

has circumambulared the mansions of my heart,’ he wrote. He
regretted that Dr Murray had forbidden him to underrake the
journey and his sons, Kharak Singh and Sher Singh, were en-
gaged i military campaigns a long way away. He was conse-
quently compelled to have his good wishes conveyed through
his trusted servants, Diwan Moti Ram and Fakeer Imamuddin.
Lord Amherst reciprocated the Maharajah’s sentiments and
mvited the two envoys to meer him at Simla.

Mot Ram and Imamuoddin were received by the Goyernor-
General at 2 ceremonial Durbar attended by senior British
officers and the Rajas of the neighbouring states. Caprain
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Wade, the Agent at Ludhiana, acted as lisison officer. The
envoys presented the Governor-General wirth expensive
Kashmir shawls, a string of thoroughbred horses and an ele-
phant. There was also a superbly embroidered rent made of
the best Kashmir wool for the !éng of England.

In the speeches of goodwill the envoys referred to the
Durbar’s claim to eertain towns across the Sutlej and indicated
that the Maharajah had his eye on Sindh. Lord Ambherst’s reply
was restricted to expressions of friendship. He also announced
that a delegation of senior officials of the Company would
pay a rerurn visit to Lahore.

The English delegation, consisting of Captain Wade,
Captain' Pearson, A.D.C. ro the Guvcmnr-genml, and
surgeon Gerrard, was received by the Maharajah ar Amritsar
in the last week of May 1827, They presented a string of
English thoroughbreds, an elephant, a bejewelled sword, guns,
E' rols and broeades from Benares on behalf of the Governor-

ral. Ranjir Singh again menrioned the fact that he had
claims over certain towns in Malwa and was contemplating
taking Sindh under his protection. The English envoys made
no comment on either point,

There were other things besides the uncertainty of English
reactions that made Ranjit Singh hold his hand on Sindh: an
earthquake in Kashmir which caused heavy loss of life and
property was followed by a failure of the monsoon and wide-

d famine in the valley; Lahore was stricken with cholera;
Ranjit’s own health was too delicate to risk his staying in the
city and he sought refuge across the Ravi at Dilkusha. Besides
the earthquake, famine and disease, there was trouble brewing
in Kangra and a new menace had a on the North-West
Frontier in the person of the Musli fanatic, Syed Ahmed,
who had again roused the cribesmen to a holy war against the
infidel Silchs.

The trouble in Kangra arose out of a simple misunder-
standing. For some time past, the Dogra brothers, Gulab Singh,
Dhian Singh and Suchet Singh, had become the dommant
element in the Lahore Durbar. Of the three, Dhian Singh was
pre-eminent. He had first replaced Jemadar Khushal Smgh as
the Lord Chamberlan {dfﬂbﬂiﬁ] and then been elevated to-
the position of Chief Minister. In March 1828, the Maharajah
had formally invested him with the title Raji-i-Rajgan—Chicf



160 RANJIT SINGH

amaong the Rajahs. Dhian Singh's son, Hira Singh, & precocious
and handsome Iad for whom the Maharajah had conceived
more affection than he had for his own sons, was allowed to
take 2 sear on formal ocoasions when other courtiers, including
his father, Dhian Singh, were expected to remain standing.
He was allowed to speak without waiting for permission from
the Maharajah; and he often spoke his mind without fear of
rebuke: He travelled with Ranjic Singh in the same quin
or howdah and rode beside him on horseback when they went
out hunting. On the Dusschra of 1828 the Maharajah pur the
saffron mark on the boy’s forchead investing him with the
title of Rajah. He was eager to find a suitable wife for his
protégé, OFf the aristrocranic families of Rajpurs of the hills
there was none more blue-blooded than that of Sansar Chand
of Kangra.

Sansar Chand had died in the winter of 1823 leaving behind
a large number of children through his wives and concubines.
His son, Anirudha Chand who succeeded him, had rwo real
sisters both unmarried. In 1825, when Ranjit was visiting
Jwalamukhi and Anirudha Chand came to call on him, he
mentioned the desirability of linking the Dogra houschold
with Sansar Chand's. Anirudha kepe silent bur had it later con-
veyed to the Maharajah that be could not consider an alliance
between his family, which had 4 long and proud lineage, and
the Dogras who were upstarts. Anirudha’s mother, a fiery old
Rajput woman, swore that she would rather see her daughter

than let her wed Hira Singh. When Ranjit

expressed his displeasure, Anirudha Chand slipped across the
Sutlej and sought the protection of the English. He gave away
his two sisters in marriage to the ruler of Tehri-Garhwal.

The Maharajah was very piqued at Anirudha Chand’s
haughty behaviour. He zqhum:rcd and rook two of
Sansar Chand's daughters who were famed for their good looks
into the royal harem. A year later, he found Hira Singh a bride
and arrnged the wedding on a lavish scale as the boy
had been his own son.

The period ﬂfmi]iuryinnctivi-wnsutiﬁmdhmg?hgﬂﬂl
ublic works and re-nrgm:iﬁngt}tht administration 'l'}':fm
oads were constructed to link the bigger rowns. one
from Lahore to Amritsar was repaired; trees were planted on
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exther side and rest houses built along the roure. Gardens were
laid oot in Amritsar and Lahore.

The Punjab had no codified law—except to the extent that
the Shariat could be described as a code for the Muslims, But
all Punjabis (including Muslims) were governed by well-
recognized custom. This customary law was administered by a
suceession of courts, of which the village Panchiyat (council
of five elders) was the primary and the most important tribunal.
If one of the parties was dissatisfied with the arbitration of the
Panchayat, it went in appeal to the Kardar, or in larger towns
to the Nazim. In many towns the Durbar appointed officers’
adilatis whose sole function was to hear appeals from Pan-
chayats, Lahore had an appellate tribunal, the adalat-i-ala, of
its own, The Maharajah and his Durbar acted as the Supreme
Court were the decisions of the Kardars, Nazims and Adalatis
could be impugned.

The afarementioned tribunals heard all kinds of cases: civil,
revenue, matrimonial and crimmal. Crime was punished by
well-understood and generally accepted penalties. There was
no capical punishment and except where the Nazim enforced
martial law (as Avitabile did on the North-West Frontier)
even murder could only be punished with fine or mutilarion
of limbs, Gaols were mainrained only for political
prisoners. Violence and theft were punished with a fine or
corporal punishmenr, frequently by the curting of the nose,
ears or hands. Justice was erude—bur it was cheap, expeditious
and in conformity with tradition.

The Maharajah to l:]ke rl'r:m imcmltn:': thnfudminis-
tration of justice and personally heard complaints of corrup-
tion against Judicial ﬂgccm The mode of 5 | was the one

ractised by the rulers of Northern India. Any person who

failed to get justice could come to the palace gates or sto

the monarch on tour with the ery ‘dobai, Mabirijih, dobi
(mercy, Maharajah, mercy); and present his petition. Ranjir
Smg!i'lcy isposed u]f such mr};timm summarily or : them on
to one of his ministers. He was not sarisfied with the state of
the law and in 1828 appointed Bahadur Singh Hindustani ro
prepare a Civil and a Criminal Code." Prince Sher Singh was
given judicial training.
: ' aski e Si No record of the
‘Schon L S o sppoiersd s s e Sgh

L
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With the affairs of Kangra seuled, the Maharajah turned his
attention to the unrest an the North-West Frontier fomented
by Syed Ahmed a native of Rai Bareilly in Urear Pradesh. The
S{:ﬂ’ was a follower of a well-known Muslim divine of Delhi,
S Waliullsh, who had started the Targhib-i-Mobam-
madiyya, a branch of the Wahabi movement m India, Syed
Ahmed mer Walinllah and soon became the leader of the
movement to expel the infidel from Hindustan. His two chicf
lieutenants were Shah Ismail and Manlvi Abdal Haye. Syed
Ahmed went on extensive tour from Delhi to Calourta address-
ing mammoth meetings. Nearly 100,000 men volunteered to
jomn his erusade and money red in from all quarters.
Amongst the patrons were the Mughal King of Delhi and the
%‘In&l;m rulers of many states, particularly the Nawab of
onk.

In 1822 Syed Ahmed went to Mecca to pray for success.
He got in touch with the Wahabis and *Wharever was dream-
ing in his nature now gave place o a fiery ocstas{. in which
he beheld himself planting the crescent throughour every
district in India.® On his return to India Syed Ahmed Rm—
chimed his crusade and asked the Muslims to join him.
Although the English were as infidel in his eyes as the Sikhs,
he made it clear that the war was against the Sikhs and not the
English. The Government of India consequently made no
artempt to check the movement? On the contrary, it was
allowed to gather strength, and thousands of armed volunteers
were trained in India and then permitted to cross over to Sindh
on the way to the North-West Frontier of the Punjab. Crusad-
ing centres which collected arms and money functioned with-
out let or hindrance in all the big cities of India, A pamphlet
widely circulared in Northern India throws light on the
progress of the movement. It reads:

W, W. Humter, Indian Mussalimams, pp. 1g-15. :
AMirea Hairat Delhvl eells us in the lravat-i-Tairabs that, i consultation
with Maulanz Shah Mohammed  Lemail, Ahmed Shuh informed the
Lieateran-Governor of the North-West Fronder Provinee throuzh Sheikh
Glulam Ali Reis of Allshabad that he wis proparing for a Jibdd againse
the Sikhs wid boped that the British Governmens Elnunhjmﬁmm ir. The
Liemenant-Govetnor wrote back o him in reply that # long as the peace of
their territories was noc disturbed, they had nothing to sy, nor had they
m&-ﬂm‘ to sach it Ganda Singh, Private correspondenice
™ tiz the Angl Warr, p. 30.
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“The Sikh nation has long held sway in Lahore and other
places. Their oppressions have exceeded all bounds. Thousands
of Mohammedans have they unjustly killed, and on thousands
they have heaped disgrace. No longer do they allow the call
to prayer from the mnst,.]uzs, and the killing of cows they have
entirely prohibited. When at last their insulting tyranny
could no more be endured, Huzrar Sayyid Ahmed (may his
fortunes and blessings ever abide!) having for his single nﬁicct
the protection of the Faith, took with him a few Mussulmans,
and going in the direction of Kabul and Peshawar, succeeded
in rousing Mohammedans from their slumber of indifference
and nerving their courage for action. Praise be to God, some
thousands of believers became ready at his call o tread the
path of God's serviee; and on December 21, 1826, the Jihad
against the infidel Sikhs begins.’

The Indian crusaders were joined by the Pathan tribesmen,
mainly the Yusufzais and the Khartaks, who were always on
the look out for an excuse to loot the Punjab. Yar Mohammed,
true to his fickle and dishonest nature, decided to throw in his
lor with what he believed would be the winning side, and
evacuated Peshawar.

Ranijir sent Budh Singh Sandhawalia (‘one of the ablest and
most intelligent commanders in the Punjab service—Wade)
along with Ventura and Allard ro recapture Peshawar, Syed
Ahmed marched forward and mer Sandhawalia’s forces at
Akora near Arrock on December 21, 1826, Religious fervour
proved a poor march for discipline; the crusaders were pushed
aside and Peshawar reoccupied. Yar Mohammed was on his
knees again craving for pardon. He sent his brother as hmftge
paid tribute in horses' and goods and promised to be Faithful.

The crusaders survived ti?sambnck. [t was explained away
15 a reverse only for Yar Mohammed, who was denounced as
a collaboratar. Syed Ahmed retired to the hills from where
he started harassing stray columns of Punjabi troops. These
skirmishes were magnified into victories and rhe whole of
Muslim India was kepr in a state of jubilarion. Metcalfe re-

t According to Sohan Lal. Yar Mohsmmed surrendered Leili, the most
famous horse in Ranjit's stables. Leill arrived in Lahore in October 1827,
Accarding to other historizns, it was handed over by Yar's brother Sulran
Mohammed to General Ventora. (Griffin, pp. t04-3. 1557 edition.)
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ported the repercussion in India to the Governor-General in
the following words:

‘Syed Ahmed, Maulvi lsmail and their collea have estab-
lished a very extensive, if not univessal, influence over the
minds of our Mohammedan subjects. During the period of
their recent attacks on Ranjit Singh's territories, the most
fervent anxiety for their success pervaded the Mohammedan
population ar Delhi. A number quirted their houses and
marched to join them, including some who resi their
employment in the Company's service, both the nulitary and
civil branches, for thac purpose. It is said thar the King of
Delhi encouraged this spirit.

Syed Ahmed’s bold tactics soon put the Durbar's forces on
the defensive. The Durbar's envoys tried to buy off some of
the tribes but the crusaders’ influence overcame the remptation
of the infidels’ cash. They swarmed all over the country
around Peshawar. In the summer of 1830 Prince Sher Singh
took the initiative and inflicted a severe defeat on the crusaders.
Even this did not hold them back. A few months later Yar
Mohammed was slain in a skirmish and his brother had to
evacuare Peshawar. Syed Ahmed entered the city as a con-
queror and proclaimed himself Caliph. Coins were struck in
his name bearing the inscriprion ‘Ahmed the Just; the glitrer
of whose scimitar scatters destrucrion among the infidels’.
Success went to the Syed’s head. As Muslims from all over
India, Sindh #nd Kashmir flocked to his banner, he began 1o
assume the airs of 4 conquering hero. Pathan tribesmen became
restive at the influx of foreigners on their soil and the demands
they made for food and women—particularly women. Then
the Durbar’s rupee diplomacy began to pay dividends. Many
tribes deserred Syed .Ehmtd; some turned against the Hindu-
stanis and murdered them in cold blood. Syed Ahmed was
compelled to retire from Peshawar and the city was re-
oecupied by Prince Sher Singh.

Syed Ahmed found himself sandwiched between the Pun-
'Eahis and hostile tribesmen, Farly in May 1831 Prince Sher
Singh surprised a small band led by the Syed at Balakor near
Mansehra and annihilated it. Alexander er, who later
became a colonel in the Punjab army and was with the
YPC38 of June 6, 1827
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crusaders ar the time, gave an account of this skirmish in the
following words:

‘Syed Ahmed and the Maulvi (Abdul Haye), surrounded by
his surviving Indian followers, were fighting desperately hand
to hand with the equally fanatical Ainlls of the Sikh army.
They had been taken by surprise and isolated from the main
body of the Syed's forces, which fought very badly without
their leader. Even as I caughrt sight of the Syed and Maulvi
they fell pierced by a hundred weapons. Those around them
were slain to a man, and the main body dispersed in every
direction. . . . | was literally within a few hundred yards of
the Syed when he fell, but I'did not see the angel descend and
carry him off to paradise, although many of his followers
remembered afterwards thar they had seen it distinetly
enough,”

Sher Singh did not betray any fanaticism in his behaviour
towards & man who had roused a million people against the
Sikhs and vilified their faith with contemptuous abuse. The
Prince himself draped the body of the Syed with an expensive
shaw] before it was buried with the honours due to a brave
adversary.’ When the news of the Prince’s behaviour towards
the dead crusader reached the Maharajah, he fully approved
of it. Syed Ahmed was a good, if misguided, man,

The Jihad was fitfully carried on by one of Syed Ahmed's
disciples, Nasiruddin, but met with little success, Bur soon
after the death of the Syed, the new Barakzai chief, Dost
Mohammed, who had come to power at Kabul, took up the
ery. He, like other members of his family, was an adept in
double dealing. Sometimes he acknowledged Ranjic Singh as
his master ‘almost like a father’; at other times he condemned
him as an infidel who deserved to be killed.

L Mewsorrs of Alexander Gardmer, pp. 171-1.
Sir Olaf Caroe gives a slightly %um: version of this encounter in The
Pathans, pp. yo1-3

- Uﬁdeﬂ-‘l‘m.iﬂ, Daftar I, Pare L, p. 15



CHAPTER XV1I

SINDH AND THE FIELD OF
THE CLOTH OF GOLD

tr—0ed

BRITISH interest in Sindh was both commercial and political,
The Indus ran through Sindh and the mouth of the Indus was
very much nearer than that of the Hooghly for English cargo
boaes bringing goods for the markets of Northern India.
Politically Sindh was important as a ringboard for the inva-
sion of Baluchistan and Afghanistan. And mn any case, since the
disunity berween the Amirs created a power vacuum in Sindh,
the English felr it was berter that they filled it rather than the
Punjabus.

In 1829 a reconnaissance of the Indus zone was anmﬁmd by
a young subaltern (who later became a famous rraveller and
diplomar), Alexander Burnes. His interest in the vital frontier
was, as he said, ‘stimulated’ by the Commander-in-Chief, Sir
Thomas Bradford, Burnes and another English officer went
as far as Jaisalmer. They had planned to sail down the river buc
were dissuaded from doing so to avoid arousing the suspicions
of the Amirs and prejudicmg the chances of subsequent inter-
course with them. It was decided to send Burnes out again
under a pretexe which would facilitate his passage. The King
of England had sent a ream of five massive dray horses as
presents for Ranjit Singh. The Governor-General agreed to
a suggestion that he should add a gift of his own—a large-sized
coach which, in the absence of proper roads, could only be
transported by boat. Burnes was made the bearer of gifts and
armed with complimentary letvers to the Amirs through whose
territories the Indus ran,

After a few mishaps, the convoy of boats began its journey
up the river in March 1831. Bumnes's companions were an
ensign Leckie, a surveyor, and a Parsi docror. The boats were
equipped with instruments to record data for the navigation
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of bigger vessels. Burnes was also instructed to investigate the
affairs of Sindh: its politics, the military strength of the Amirs,
their views on opening up the river o regular traffic, erc. All
this was ro be done under the innocuous guise that he was
conveying gifts from one king to another. {Ebstrucl:inn would
lsi_c r;gxrcﬁ:gl as an act in bad taste likely to provoke Ranjit
n

urnes was able to make the necessary contacts with the
Amirs while his staff carried out depth soundings and pre-
pared wind and temperature charts. Reports of the English-
man's activities left no doubt in Ranjit Singh's mind of the
real reason for the envoy coming by rver. Lehna Singh
Majithia was sent to receive Burnes because he was the only
man in the Durbar with a scientific benr of mind and could,
if necessary, question Burnes on his survey records. Burnes,
who had a very poor opinion of Orientals on such matrers, was
impressed m:-g hna Singh's knowledge of mathematics, the
movement of the stars, and his insatiable curiosity about the
working of scientific instruments.

On June 7, 1831, Burnes entered the Durbar’s territories and
was welcomed as a royal emissary; with salutes and a
guard of honour. Lehna Singh held a durbar in the English-
man’s honour and handed him letrers of welcome from his
master. Then he and the other Sardars presented magars worth
1400 rupees, The dray horses were exhibired ro the assembled
populace, and ar Lehna Singh's request 2 shoe of one was sent
to the Maharajah to give lim an idea of the size of the beasts
he was to reccive. A newswriter was artached to the party
to send a daily report of the progress it made up river.

An accident en route gave Burnes an idea of the mettle of
the people whose kingdom he was visiting. The men whilst
hauling the boats from the banks disturbed a tiger in a thicker
of tamarisk. The animal atracked one of the coalies:

“The monster was speedily wounded by someone and several
riders were unhorsed from the fright of their steeds. The
Seikhs then advanced on foot, sword in hand, ro attack the
riger. He sp an one most fiercely; and as he fixed on his
lefe shnulde:‘:ﬁc poar fellow bravely struck his head by a
well-directed blow. The contest was unequal and the man
fell horribly lacerared. His comrades instantly ran up and with
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cuts and wounds the tiger soon fell. He was a large animal and
measured 1o feet: his thigh was as large as that of a full-grown
man. The coolness of the courage of the Seikhs surpassed
belief.” Burmes had many more examples of this sort of courage
and came to the conclusion that the gilc!m were ‘the bravest of
all Indians'*

On July 18 Burnes came within sight of Lahore. Four miles
away from the city, Fakeer Azizuddin and Rajah Gulab Singh
welcomed him on behalf of the Maharajah and invited him to
stap at Allard’s home for the nighr till all was ready for a
ceremonial reception. Here, after many moons, Burnes and
Leckie had dejeumer a la fourchette with champagne instead
of the usual Indian meal washed down with tea or coffee.

Next momning the party ser out to call on the Maharajah.
Caprain Wade arrived from Ludhiana with a platoon of sepoys
to furnish the escort. The procession was formed with the
coach in front, the drays following and Burnes's party bring-
ing up the rear on elephants. The streets were lined with the
Durbar infantry to keep back the crowds which had collected
to watch the procession. As the parry entered the city walls,
the guns began to boom in salute. At the palace gates they
were received by Rajah Dhian Singh who took them to the
hall of audience.

‘While stopping to remove my shoes ar the threshold,’
wrote Burnes, I suddenly found myself in the arms and right
embrace of a dimunitive and old-looking man—the great
Mabarajah Runjeer Singh” Leckie was greered with similar
effusion and the Englishmen were escorred to their sears. Then
followed the conventional inquiries regarding each other’s
health. The carriage and the horses were brought in. Burnes

' Travels into Bokkars, vol. 1, p. 119, i
? Another abservation of Bumes on the Sikhs is worthy of notice: “The
Seikhs are doubtless the most rising people in modem India. Although they
were wnknown 400 vears ago, the features of the whole nstion are now @
distince from that of their neighbours as the Indian and the Chinese, With sn
m?&yﬁ;ﬁﬂm.mﬂm:hpﬁmnfﬂwmﬂ[ﬂq
they may be neadily uurrg‘mlmf from the other tribes. That any nation
Emumgpcwliutmﬂwﬂdluw:mmmmmdnhnm-
easily undersood, bor that, in such s short perivd of time, some hundred
:hummdpmph-hm]dedﬁh&:mqmﬁmuﬂﬂnmmuhmhm
Whﬁdﬂhﬁuftﬁulhmnyﬂulm,mM-m
hara, 1839, vol. 1,
'MMHakhqp;ﬂLpzm
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presented a letter from the Governor-General on behalf of
the King of and. ‘On this the Maharajah and his Court,
rose up . . . His Highness received the lerer, and rouched his
forehead vo the seal, writes Burnes. The letrer was handed
over to Fakeer Azizuddin who began ro read the Persian text
mentioning thEEElif: of ‘some horses of the gigantic breed which
is iar to England’, and referring to the great friendship

isting between the two nations, Ranjit Singh interrupted
the Fakeer and said that the occasion called for a salure to
the King of England. Once more the cannon roared: sixty
guns firing twenty-one rounds each shook the walls of the
palace amF the people’s homes in the city. Then the Maharajah

stepped down to inspect the gifts.

“The sight of the horses excired his urmost surprise and
wonder, their size and colour pleased him: he said they were
little elephants. And as they passed singly before him, he
called out to his different Sardars and officers, who joined him
in admiration.”

Ranjit Singh then had a string of his own thoroughbreds
Eamded for the benefir of his guests. After thar followed an

our and a half of close questioning by Ranjir Singh. Was
the Indus navigable thronghout? What was the artitude of the
people living along its banks?, and so on. There was no doubt
that Ranjit Singh knew the real object of Burnes's river
INEINEY, -
S:pl)}: u:lxdt:itmnt of tli'_m v::mnnnil.r m?shmn mﬂdl for Rnnr‘;
i he retired after a couple of hours. Burnes penn
his first impressions of the M.nnﬂﬂjah:

‘Nature has indeed been Q'Lurm in her gifts to this personage
and there must be a mighty g:mm bﬁwcm Iu'smind and
body . . . he has bur one eye, is pitted with small pox, and his
stature does not certainly t.wccr 5 fr. 3 in. He is enrirely free
from p and show, yet the studicd respect of his court is
remarkable; not an individual spoke withour a sign, though
the throng was more like a bazaar than the courr of the first
native prince of India.”

' Travels inta Bo vol. I, p. 131

A s
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The following day there was a review of n-n-uis and Burnes
joined the Maharajah at an al fresco breakfast in the sadile.
In the evening of July 25, Ranjit Singh asked Burnes to a
private audience. It started a5 an ordinary parry with courtiers
and a band of Amazon naurch girls (‘one :;?my platoons 1
cannot discipline’, said Ranjit). Then the courtiers and the
dancers were dismissed and Ranjit Singh spoke to Burnes as
one man to another. He traced the history of the Punjabi-
British relations; of Metcalfe’s mission and the meering with
Ochrerlony. He had done his dury as a friend. What did the
British intend to do in Sindh? He roo was interested in the
country. He gave as broad a hint as he could, as a courteous
hﬂ‘.lit, of how he meant to take Sindh. His strength did nntrgc
in hus allies, bue in the strong right arm of the . Accord-
ing to Burnes, Ranjir Singh Qigdh thar—

‘he owed all his success to the bravery of his nation, who
were very free from prejudice, would carry cight days' pro-
visions on their backs, dig a well if water were scarce, build a
fort if circumstances required it'.!

After this disquisition, the courtiers were allowed to return;
dancing and drinking was resumed.

Before he took his leave Burnes was shown the royal jewels
including the Koh-i-noor. Ranjic Singh sﬁpﬂcd two rings on
the envoy’s fingers, one with a diamond, the other with an
emerald, and gave him four other omaments sradded with
emeralds and pearls. Burnes was also presented with a horse
and robe of honour. Ranjit Singh put lEs lerter to the King of
England in a silk purse with two pearls on its string. Am
other things, the letter referred to the size of the horse’s shoes,
which a Singh had sent him: ‘On beholding these shoes,
the new moon rurned pale with envy, and nuaﬂy d'mp_pﬂmd
from the sky." Burnes saw a lot of the Maharajah during his
stay at Lahore. Ranjit Singh is in every respect an exrra-

inary character,” he wrote. 'l have heard his French officers
observe that he has no equal from Constantinople ro India; and
all of them have seen immediate powers. . . . The most
creditable trait in Ranjit's characrer is his humanity; he has
never been known to punish a criminal with death’since his
! Travels ineo Bokbara, vol. I, p. 140.
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aceession to power . . . cunning and conciliation have been the
two great weapons of his diplomacy.”

Burnes visited Amritsar and paid his respects at the Golden
Temple. From there he went to Kapurthala where he was a
guest of Fatch Singh Ahluwalia; and on o Phillaur from
where he crossed over to British territory. One thing that
struck Burnes in his journey across the Punjab was that there
were so few Sikhs in the country. ‘The paucity of Seikhs, in
a country ruled and governed by them, is remarkable. The
mother carth of the tribe is the Doab between the Ravi and
the Sutlej; but there are few of them ro be found thirty miles
below Lahore, where they are said to predominate. There are
no Seikhs westward of the Hydaspes (Jhelum); and ro the
eastwards of Lahore, where they are said to predominate
they certainly do not compose a third of the population. “‘What
did nor occur to him was that Ranjit Si:Eh's kingdom was not
a kingdom of Sikhs alone, but all Punjabis, Hindus, Muslims,
as well as Sikhs.

Burnes reported to the new Governor-General, Lord Wil-
lism Bentinck, that the Indus route was full of Pnﬁibﬂiﬂcs:
that the Amirs of Sindh were terrified of Ranjit Singh and
would be willing to allow the English rights of passage if
guaranteed security against their Panjabi neighbours.

Early in 1831, Ranjir Singh had sent a delegation consisting
of Fakeer Azizuddin, Mou Ram and Hari Singh Nalwa to
Simla to welcome Bentinck on his first tour of Northern
India. The delegates, especially Fakeer Azizuddin, made an
extremely good impression on their English hasts.! While
Fakeer Azizuddin t:ll:anm:d his audience with his euphuisms:
‘the nightingales of esteem warble in the meadows of attach-
ment . . . rivers of devotion rush into oceans of affection’, etc.,
Bentinck’s mind was occupied with more practical marrers.
Burnes's report whetted his appetite. The problem was how
to persuade Ranjic Singh to give up his design on Sindh,
allow British vessels to navigare through all the six nvers in
his domain and yet convince him that it was in his own in-
terests, Bentinck desired to handle the matter personally. He

V Triviely tnto Bolbara, vol. I, p. 141

Elt was d thhvisitthrﬂlpﬂigliﬂ'l officer asked Axiruddin of whi::h«g:
the Maharajah wus blind, The dour of his face is such,’ replicd
Fakeer, ‘that | have never been able to look close enough o discover.
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nstructed Caprain Wade to go to Lahore and suggest to the
Maharajah that instead of having a delegation of English
officials return the call made by the Durbar’s Ministers, he
could have the Governor-General himself call on him: only
the invitation should come from Ranijit Smgh (so that it should
appear to the people that it was the M]:lhm;nh who was keen to
meet the Englishman than the Englishman the Maharajah).
The Durbar did not like this proposal, nor the suggestion
that the Maharajah should be the first to call on a mere
Governor-General! However, Ranjit Singh waived prorocol
and agreed to meet Bentinck on Bentinek’s terms. He wrote
to the Governor-General thar he had always been ‘anxiously
watering this sapling of friendship ro see it rise into a thi;kiﬂ
foliaged tree yielding luscious fruit and cool shade to
the parties’. Bentinck was not 1o be outdone in eloquence.
“The fowers of the garden of friendship and affection will be
adomed with the verdure of perperuity and cordiality, and
mutual good understanding will ‘always be cultivated with
care. . . ." It was agreed that the two should meet ar Rupar
on October 26, 1831.
The meeting at Rupar has been described by man wit-
nesses” as :hf P:miatf’l':rﬁcld of cloth of gold. o i

A l.a.r%: park on the bank of the nver was specially laid
our for the occasion. On top of a mound commanding a view
of the countryside was erccred a silver pavilion made in the

of a Hindu remple. Next to the pavilion were the Maha-

rajah’s rents of deep red broadcloth with marquees of yellow
silk and satin, Abour the enclosure was a garden where wheat
had been ploughed in plots shaped to resemble birds, horses
and other animals.

The Maharajsh arrived at Rupar on the moming of
October 25 with 16,000 of his cavalry. Next morning, accom-
panied by 1,000 horsemen in coats of mail covered with silk,

"ﬂu:‘ht!hhihwuthummu[thgnm and the was

:uhg;rdhnﬂudtn m‘, R‘ Mﬁnghml.th :u':dbsmt behave f:l?ﬁlﬂ mhﬂi[
e tiler o meet the Governor-General on 0

utq%zlry'm. they said. Amar Nath, Zafar N:uma, P 305 e

. sccomnt of the meeting is based on the version of James Skinner or

‘Ol Sikandur’, a5 he was popularly known. Skinner was an Anglo-Indian

who paraded = contingent of his famous Skinner's Horse or Y,
(becunse of the colour of their uniform) before the monarch of the
Military Mewmirs of Liews~Col, James Skiner, by Baillie Fraser, 2 vols, 1831
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he rode on his clephant along s road lined on cither side by
British troops. The Governor-General's party came out to
receive him. Bentinck embraced Ranjic and escorted him inside
his rent. ‘After going through the ceremony of asking about
each other’s health," writes Skinner, ‘two hundred trays con-
rining gifts which included silk, double-barrelled guns and
pistols, were presented to the Maharajah.” A string of horses
and two elephants also meant for Ranjit Singh were filed past.
The meeting lasted an hour withour anything serious being
diseussed. Since Bentinck spoke no Punjabi and none of the
courtiers could k English, the conversation had to be
carried on through Fakeer Azizuddin and Capeain Wade ‘whe
like 4 candle lit the Chamber of friendship and like a rose
perfumed the garden of uniry”’ The meering concluded with
some dancing%a{ nautch girls who had been brought by the
English party. {'aniish ladies accompanying the Governor-
General's party also gave a demonstration of an English folk
dance which pleased the Sardars immensely, “The desert of
ill-will was changed to an orchard of goodwill and the rust
of anxiety was erased from the hearts of the people,’ wrote
Sohan Lal.

‘Next morning Bentinck, escorted by Prince Kharak Singh,
paid his return visit. The Maharajah received him on the bank
of the river’ and the two rode on the same elephant the length
of 3 mile-long lane flanked by the Durbar infantry and
cavalry. Bentinck was taken up the mound to the silver
pavilion: the scarler tents alongside the pavilion had been
draped with velvet embroidered with gold. On the floor were
spread the finest carpets that Persia, Kashmir and the Punjab
could produce. As the Durbar assernbled, Punjabi artillery
fired 2 twenty-one gun salute in welcome to Bentinck, Ranijit
Singh introduced 300 of his ‘good-looking men and richly
srmoured” Sardars. Bentinck then presented the Company’s
officers to Ranijit Singh. When they were seated, the Maha-
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rajah sent for his Kashmiri dancing girls, ‘a band of abeut
one hundred young women, well dressed and bejewelled, who
salured and sar down; some had arrows in their hands, and
some had bows—the commandant bore a staff of arder.
They all wore yellow turbans inclining to one side, which

ve them a very imposing a reamm:. Afrer singing a shorr
g"w.'*ahliiv.-., they nlsrg mE?ﬂ;gnjf then came mc"ﬂiminh's
presents'—on a hundred trays containing all the best products
of the Punjab (in addition to two fine horses and an ,phauf]a
Ranjit Singh put a string of large pearls round Bentinck’s neck.

The formal meetings were followed by an inspection of
tmﬂES. parades and rattoos, which were the things Ranjit
Singh loved best. He carcfully examined the British equiﬁ-
ment and asked a hundred searching questions. He made the
Company’s troops repeat manocuvres with which he was not
familar, particularly the square formation which was their
speciality. “They are like walls of iron," he remarked. He was
so pleased wirh their drill thar he gave Rs 11,000/- 1o be
distribured ro the British soldiers. Skinner was most impressed
with Ranjit's knowledge on military matters. ‘In every way
Runijeet proved himself to be a far superior soldier to any
other native. He scemed as if gifted with the intelligence of an
English Field Marshal and, in fact, he moved about as if he
wits himself in command of the troops.™

Skinner was equally impressed with the review of Punjabi
troaps, which he and other British officers watched from the
silver pavilion. ‘It was as grand a sight as I have ever seen
since [lefr the native service,” he wrore. Although the accurate
firing of the Punjabi gunners surprised him, he did not think
as much of their equipment. He formed a very low ppimon
of Allard’s cavalry. “The French lancers were only a mockery
as o iim'iplim:. their horses were inferior and they were badly
armed.’

Ranjit Singh’s special interest was always the arrillery. At
his special request the Company's horse artillery was put
through its paces. He warched the firing of howitzers and had
Fargets put up ro examine their marksmanship. “There was no
satisfying his curiosity,’ wrote Skinner. ‘Wishing to put their
skill to a severer test, he required Lord William to have an

! Skinner, vol. I, entries October 16 to 1
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umbrella pur up as a mark near the » a distance of about
1,000 yards, and direct the artillery officers to fire at it with
round shot, The first two or three discharges being ineffecrive,
Ranjeer Singh himself dismounted and laid the gun; but
neither His Highness nor some of his best officers whom he
desired to try their hand were any the more successful. Captain
Campbell of the horse artillery, then took their place, and the
first shor he made rent the umbrella to pieces, on which a
roar of applause arose from the Sikhs.’

Ranjit gmgh ot his cavalry ro compete with the Company’s
at firing at a bortle while in full gallop and curting a brass pot
with the sabre. According to Skinner the Company’s entrants
were as the Punjabis, including Ranjit, who rried his
hand at the brass pot bur failed to cur it. (According to Sohan
Lal, Ranjit succeeded where all others failed and the Punjabis
completely outshone the Company’s marksmen.)

In the evening, Ranjit Singh gave a for Lord and Lady
Bentinck. The royal tent was specially done up; a carpet of
gold brocade was laid our on fitf:::‘:lﬂnunr and a gilded throne
and two bedsteads studded with precious stones were put out
for the guests, “The wholc inside of the tent was gorgeously
decorated and formed a most perfect specimen of Indian
luxury and extravagance,’ wrote Skinner. While the fireworks
lic the skies ourside, the glittering jewels of the Kashmiri
dancers lit the inside of the tent. There was music, dancing
and much drinking of wine, ‘Runjeet was very merry on this
accasion and was most attentive to his noble guests, Lord and
Lady William Bentinck. . . . Wine was brought in and very
freely distributed in golden cups to all guests, Runjeer taking
a pretty large allowance. After he had gor somewhar in-
ebriated, a quantity of gold dust was brought and placed
befare the Pﬂnhnm]nh who ordered the nautch girls o throw
it over the guests, in imitation of the festival of Hooly and
seemed to enjoy the joke; for he also threw it at the ladies
and gentlemen who sar near him, as well as at the dancing
women.'

While Ranjit Singh was in this carefree mood, Bentinck
and Wade introduced the business of navigation on the Pun-
jab’s rivers, The way they put it sounded a ¥ profitable

wition. Ranjit, however, doubred their bonafides regard-
ing 'He asked them as tactfully as he could whether the
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English planned to extend their dominion over Sindh;iN;.
assured Wade, the urpose was ly commercial and the
Amirs of Sindh h:tciJ been mnﬂucﬁcs; see it in that ligh.
And what, asked Ranjir ¢ ingh, was to happen about his
relationship with Bahawalpur who accepred the Durbar’s
suzerainty and the Sindhians over whom he was proposing to
cast his mantle? Bentinek did nor 81y 50 in so many word
but he made it clear thar the Durbar was now to consider its
southern boundary as finally drawn, All that Ranjir Singh got
out of the week’s extravagance at Rupar was a written assur-
ance of perpetual frimﬂsgiap.

The Maharajah's carousal with the English was by no means
looked upon with favour by his people. Many courtiers were
critical of his behaviour and the z(ka!xs were outspokenly
hostile. Sohan Lal narrates an incident that took place soon
after:

‘Out of the adversity of his days and his evil charscter, one
Alali drew his sword out of its sheath and rushed towards
the Maharjah. The orderlies and State servants gathered on
the spat, held that Akali in the clurches of interference and
restraint and brought him before the Maharajah.®

A sense of disappointment soon ser in. Ranjir Singh had
tried to befriend the English in the open-hearted way Punjabis
do; but each time the Fnglish returned his embrace, they put
a hand in his pocket and took what was dearest to him—and
left protesting their ill. .

What Ranjit Singh really felt sbour the Rupar meeting was
{:}Prmed by him in a conversation he had with Dr Joseph

olff, a er-mmcd-cvangelist, who visited him a few months
later. The docror had heard of the name of ‘Rundjud Singh,
Whose name was a terror in Bokhary irself'* He recorded the
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conversation which took place ar their first meering. Ranjic
Singh had been informed of the doctor’s nervousness while
crossing the InJdus and his subsequent sermons to the ‘infidel"
on how people with religious convictions had no fear of death.

‘Do you teach that we should not be afraid of anything?’
asked the Maharajah,

“Yes.

‘Do you preach thar we should trust in the Giver-of-All-
Things?’

I.Ym-l

“Then why were you so afraid when you crossed the Indus
over the suspension bridge on an elephant?’ (Wolff had
screamed with terror all the time.)

‘Here your Majesty has certainly caught me; and all I can
answer is, that | am weak, and I have daily need to pray that
God will show His power in my weakness'

‘Now, 1 call this candour and uprightness,’ conceded Ranijir;
‘but answer me another thing; you say, you travel about for
the sake of religion; why then, do you not preach to the

in Hindoostan, who have no religion ar all?"
docror tried ro diverr the conversation and asked rhe
courtiers: ‘How may one come nigh unto God?’

‘One can come nigh unto God," replied Ranjir Singh with
biting sarcasm, ‘by making an alliance with the British (zovern-

lish Faleer” bor did try some of Ranjit’s brandy. "Horried soff; hotter
ml whhki'. and c L?unﬂy burns like fire! Trovelr and Adventeres of
1,

Dr Wolff, vol. 11, p. 65, d

1 Wolff's blographer goes on 1o relate that when Wolff conveyed this lam
information to Lord lgmtinck in Simla, rhe Governor-General replied: This
is, alas! the apinion of all the patives all over Indis.'

Wallf was E’l with Raniit's libecal views on religion and the hﬁr
of making forcible conversions. "Randjud Singh has proved to the Mussul-
tnans prery well, chat the edge of the sword is not always cvidenice of the
truth of religion; for the nume of Rundjud Singh is a rerror from Lshore to
the tity of Bokhars—his sword having defested the Mohammedane in every
barile

Walff had another and somewhar un meeting with the Sikh ruler.
. to sox Ranjit again, he had shaved off his beard as soon as he
lefr Amritsar on his way towards Brhkh:m.h reached him
mhﬁ'w:{'uu!infnmdhimthmkﬂﬁh [ to see him. The missionary
: s steps with & cortsin amoont of trepidution. Ranjit ssw him snd
roared with laughter. 'Ho, ho, ho! where !nrc{zgh& your beard?"

It in well taken care of In the house of your Majesty's General.!

| shall cur off his nose, the first dayv [ see the fellow.” Travels and
of Dr W olff, vol. 11, p- 72 .

£

]
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ment, 35 | lately did with the Loard Nawab Sahib at Roopar.”

A few months after the Rupar meeting, Alexander Burnes
was sent ro complete his investigation utg the lands about the
Indus. This time, his mission was to cover the tribal areas and
Afghanistan. In order to allay suspicion, Burnes divested him-
sclf of his official status and gave our that he was taking the
overland route to England. He, therefore, took the liberty of
asking Ranjir Singh as an old friend for ission o pass
through the Punjab. ‘It would afford me the opportunity of
renewmg my friendship with a prince whose exalted virtues
fill me with recollections of perpetual delight,’ he wrote, The
permission was immediatcly granted. Burnes was accom-

anied on this second exploratory mission by Dr James
%cmrd, a surveyor, and a staff of [ndians including a young
Kashmiri, Mohan Lal, as interpreter. The arty entered the
Punjab in 1832. They were welcomed by Sham Singh Arrari-
wala and provided with an escorr of ‘four hundred Sikh horse’!

Burnes mer Ranjit Singh in a garden two miles our of
Lahore, and presented him with a pistol. ‘We found him in

t spirits and continued with him for about rwo hours,
E;i.?cunvcmﬁﬂn ranged from points of the utmost importance
to mere trifies,” he wrote. Burnes spent a month in Lahore
during which he saw the Maharajah on several occasions. He
accompanied Ranjit on a hunt and was present at the Basant
celebrations ro mark the advent of spring. Of both these he
has lefr vivid recollections..

The Shikar was across thhz Ravi. “The order of the rrmric[;l
was very pi e, and the retinue in every thar o
a mldig Enwmrm were led in fmn&?umhur the
journey was performed on'elephants, Two of these splendid
animals bore E;wdzhs of gold, in one of which His Pﬁghntss

' Trovelt and Adventures of Dy Wolff, vol. 11, peTI-z,
E Travels into Bokhara, vol. 11, p- 13

Same of Burnes's observations on the Punjab are illuminsting. “We passed
innumerable villages, the houses of which sre terrace-mofed, and formed of
m-drﬂﬁ!thunnwmdm lmmﬁ_éh?yh:iuch%uﬁdmfaﬂ:&
look. = peasantry appeared and happy. Parti, Burnes
visited Ranjir's sables where he saw Ranjit's Dhanni thoroughbreds. He also
=W of the Sikh amitde to their Muslim compatriots. The horses
hdhmuﬁindu-ithdiumwhid[udhmwm&hy:h!ml&n ictam,
’Th:&&hhauhgﬂ}itmitnpaiudmdbﬂutiﬁndhh le [sic] which s
now 8 conspicuous white bui , thar pli iutlumn.thtscikh
BIE IMOST ¢ - in thelr religion; and have remarked in India generally
mmch more of this virmue than people give credit for’ Vol. 11, PP 9-10.



SINDH AND THE FIELD OF THE CLOTH OF GOLD 179

sat, (The other undoubtedly bore the Granth Sahib which
mvariably led all Ranji's processions.) Six or seven others
followed with his courtiers and favourites. A small body of
cavalry and a field piece formed his escort; the carriage which
he had received from the Governor-General drawn by horses
completed the procession.™
oughout the journey, Ranjit Singh plied Burnes with
fquestions. What was happening to the Rohilla leader, Amir
han? How were rhe Engli.ﬂh treating him? How did the
English maintain discipline in the army? and so on. “The
conversation could not, of course, conclude withour his
favourite topic of wine,” writes Burnes. *And as he sat down,
he rcmarkccr thae the site of his tent was an agreeable one for
a drinking parry, since it commanded a fine view of the
surrounding country. He inquired of the doctors whether
wine was best before or after food; and laughed heartily ar
an answer from myself, when I recommended both.™

Early next morning the actual hunt began. ‘Runjeer rode
his favourite bay horse, covered with an elegant saddle-cloth
of the richest embroidery in its border, by almost every beast
and bird which the sportsman calls his own. Runjeer was
dressed in a runic of green shawls, fined with fur; his dagger
was studded with the richest brilliants; and a light metal shield,
the gift of the ex-King of Kabul, completed his equipment.
RighB: in front of the party was the pack of hunting dogs of
various breeds: Sindhian, Bokhara, Iranian and Punjabi. They
were followed by elephants bearing the royal party. Along-
side were the falconers on horseback with their hawks flutrer-
ing on their wrists, Several wild boars were beaten our of the
pampas grass, The swords of the Seikhs glittered in the sun;
and in the course of half-an-hour, eight monsters had bitren
the dust, and many more were entrapped by snares. Most
of the animals had been slain by the ﬁ::rscmm with their
swords.'

Live hogs were brought to the camp and baited by hunting
dogs. For some time the party watched the contest berween
boar and hound; and when they had had enough, the remain-
ing hogs were set at liberty and scampered away into the
jungle.
¥ Is inzo 18,

*EJ?WI.ILPF::M il
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In the evening, the tired huntsmen gathered in the royal
tent over their cups of wine, The En complimented the
Maharajah on the courage of his Sikhs. Ranjit Singh warmed
to the wh;m and told them of the exploits of Akali Phula
Singh ar Naushera: how when he had been wounded in the
leg and could nor stand, he had bandaged his wound and
ridden back into the thick of the battle on horseback; and
when additional injuries had further incapacitated him, he
had got into a howdah and driven the elephant into the midst
of the enemy; and how he had met his end roaring like a lion.
‘He was a brave man bur a grear villain,” concluded Ranjit.
“And had he not fallen thar day, [ must have imprisoned him
for life as he wished to cross the fronier and set fire to some
British cantonments.'

There was no stopping the Maharajah when it came to
talking of bartles. ‘It was quite delightful to hear Runjeet
speak of his charges, his squares, his battles, and his successes;
and his only one eye brightened with the description.’

The party returned ro Lahore in time o celebrate Basant. Ir
was onc of the festivals which Muslims, Hindus and Sikhs cele-
brated in comman, when all men and women wore yellow in
honour of the mustard flower. Farly in the moming Ranjit
Singh rode down a street through a line of infantry all dressed
in yellow uniforms. He entered a tent lined with yellow in
which the Granth had been placed; the holy book was also
draped in silks of the same colour: the canopy above it was
cavered with pearls and its border sagged with the weighe of
precious stones, ‘Nothing can be imagimed more grand,” com-
mented Bumes. Ranjir Singh listened to the recitation from
the Granth, made his offering ‘and the holy book was borne
away wrapped in ten different covers, the ourside of which, in
honour nmc day, was of golden velvet. Flowers and fruits
were placed before His Highness; and every kind of shrub or
tree thar produced a yellow flower must have been shorn of its
branches that day.™

The courtiers and visitors were nred; amongst them
were the sons of Shah Zaman and Shah Shuja and the sons of
the late Nawab of Multan. When the agents of Bahawalpur
and the Amirs of Sindh made their bow, the Maharajah ques-
tioned them closely on the British proposals about the Indus.
 Travels into Bokbars, vol. IL, p. 13.



SINDH AND THE FIELD OF THE CLOTH OF GOLD 181

Afrer the business was over, arrived the nautch girls—ﬂil clad
in yellow silks. Ranjit Sinih had a heap of gold and silver coins
placed before him which he gave to them in palmfuls.

In the evening there was a party ar Musummum Burj. The
place was ‘superbly illuminated with waxen ta reles
with different coloured water were placed near the lights and
increased the splendour’. The reception hall was one mass of
mirrars and chandeliers. The guests, who included Captain
Wade and Dr Murray, were shown Ranjit's bedroom. Its
walls were gilded; the bedstead and the chair ninn%s{clc it were
of solid gold. The drinking and dancing went on late into the
night. Burnes noticed that despite the praise Ranjit bestowed
on wine, he did nor drink much. ‘Ranjeet drinks by the weighr,
and his usual dose docs not exceed thar of eight pice.” Never-
theless, he pressed it generously on his guests. Burnes and his
companions did themselyes well. “The glorious Sahibs indulged
in drinking wine with the dancing girls and were lost in the
ocean of mtoxication,' wrote Sohan Lal.'

The question of navigation on the Indus was brought ug.
Ranjit Singh conceded thar although some benefits might
accrue to him, *he did not relish the 1dea of vessels navigztm::
all parts of his territories. He feared collision with the Brirish
Government.™

Burnes did not discuss any more business with the
Maharajah. The last he saw of Ranjir Singh on his visit was
when they pased by each other on the road. They shook
hands without dismounting. Burnes wrote:

'l never quitred the presence of a native of Asia with such im-
ions as [ lefr this man: withour education, and withour a

guide, he conducts all the affairs of his kin‘ﬁﬂm with sur-

ing energy and vigour, and yet he wields his power with a
mnum quite ungpmﬁm:ed in an Eastern E::"itwﬂ-"

While Burnes went north-west to prepare the ground in
Afghanistan, Wade came back to Lahore ro persuade Ranjit

sl gkl on 0o purs wth the warwng B tieas Lahore, dite
a on t i i
Adieu @ Bacchus pour ne le revoir que dans Is belle Evrope.’

T ravelr into Bokkara, vol. 11, p. 38,

Vibid, vl 1, po 2B,
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SinE? t his signature 1o 4 commercial treaty. The Amirs
of ycli]:mhad.ﬂgﬁirpur and Mi had been made to sign
in April; there was not much Ranjit could do now. On
December 26, 1832, he oo affixed his seal ta the treary and so

renounced his ambitions to extend the Punjabi empire to the
-

During the months when there was much coming and going
of delegations berween the British and Ranjit Singh, a young
French botanist, Victor Jacquemont, arrived ar Lahare on his
wiay to Kashmir, His diary® of travels across British India into
the Punjab and Kashmir gives a picture of the people and their
Maharajah. He was an Anglophile and as he rravelled up from
Calcutta with letters of introduction from one senior lEngiish
official to another, he came to share their prejudices against
Orientals and believe in the rightness of extending the white
man’s rule over the Asiaties.” Like the British officials he mer,
he believed that Ranjir Singh was a sly ald fox” who kept his
independence by cru.l!ry diplomacy rather than by the strenath
of his army. Compared to Ranjit, ‘the most skilful of our
diq%r:urs is.a complete simpleton’, he wrote.!

Maharajah took to the Frenchman from the very start.
Jacquemont was a rall, sinewy man with a flowing red beard
—and Ranjit Singh liked to see handsome men with beards
about him. Jacquemont was surprised to find that che Maha-
rajah had straightaway guessed thar he was not an English-
man. When ul:didhuwh!;: had h;luun& out, Ranjir replied: *An
Englishman would noc have ¢ his posture rwenty tmes;
he would have made no gmmcsg:rdhi!e aalking; he would not
have laughed at the proper rimes Jacquemonr was also
widely travelled and well-informed—and Ranijit’s hunger for
information was insatiable. Within a fow days of his arrival
‘Jackman Sahib Bahadur’ became a familiar figure in the
Durbar and began 1o be consulted on all subjects. He wrore :

I The extracts mdhuufurmukmfmdfmyhlnﬂz,byvm
il||:1||'|:|-:r.r||r.1m|‘| 35 edition), vol. 11,

T cannor witness the frightful evils of the present system of governing
these people withour srdently desiring to see the British extend their frontiers
fmmﬂmSu:vl;Iwrhzludu,mdthﬂmucmpythnmhrhnkuflh
rver. Also vol. [, p. 135,

'jnl?umwm-,mu p- 1.

“Tbid, vob. 1L, p. 24,
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‘Ranjir calls me Aristotle in addition to my old ritles Aflatoon
(Plato) and Socrat (Socrares).™

Jacquemont thawed in the Mahamjah's warm embrace of
friendship and lavish hospitality. Knowing the Frenchmen's
tastes, the Maharajah issued nr?t;rs ‘to all dancing girls in the
town of Lahore to pur on male garments, hold swords and
bows in their hands and be decorated with other arms as well
and then present themselves’. [r is not surprising that Jnc-:l:l:c-
mont liked the life at Lahore, where he ‘lived in a little ce
of the Arabian Nights Entertainment’. He was treated with
great deference. He wrote: ‘A bartalion of infantry was on
duty near me; the drums salured whenever | put my head our
of doors; and when [ walked in the cool of the evening, in the
alleys of my garden fountains played round me by the
thousand: A most splendid fére was given to me; with an
accompaniment of Epashmerim dancing girls, as a marter of
course; and although their eyes were daubed round with black
and white, my raste is depraved enough to have thought them
only the more beautiful.”

e wide range of Ranjit Singh's questions impressed the
French boranist. *His conversation is like a nightmare. e is
almost the first inquisitive Indian I have seen; and his curiosity
balances the apathy of the whole of his nation. He has asked
me o hundred thousand questions abour India, the Brirish,
Europe, Bonaparte, this world in general and the next, hell,
paradise, the soul, God, the devil and a myriad orhers of the
same kind.”

Jacquemont’s other observations of Ranjit were nor so com-
plimentary. ‘He is like all people of rank in che East, an
imaginary invalid; and as he has a collection of the grearest
beauties of Kashmir, and the means of paying for a betrer
dinner than anyone else in this country, he is generally
annoyed that he cannot drink like a fish withour being drunk,
ar eat like an elephant and escape surfeir.”

Jacquemont’s observations on other subjects are illuminat-
ing. t impressed the Frenchman most was Ranjit's

;‘Dcubunmsrt&rmﬁmwﬂt&ﬁrhdﬁnummm Aristotle of
age.

: wval 1L, pogr.

bt T

Y15, vol. 11, p. =2,
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humanity, evidenced by the fact thar although he was a
despot he was unique in that he had created an empire with so
ﬁfnr.illzobluodshed And in a country with a tradition of religious
intolerance, Ranjit commanded the loyalties of subjects, a
majority of whom were fiercely opposed to his religious
beliefs, The secret, according to Jacquemont, was Ranjit’s
basic cynicism towards all religious systems. ‘He is a Sikh by
% w e . *

profession, a sceptic in reality. Every year he pays his devo-
tions to Amritsar and, what is very singular, at the shrines of
several Mohammedan saints, yet these pilgrimages offend none
of the puritans of his own sect.”

Jacquemont spent seven months as the guest of the Maha-
rajah. It is not known whether it was due to riotous living in
the Panjab or to an infection he caughr on his way back, but

he developed an abscess of the liver and died soon after in
Bombay.

The political fiasco ar Rupar had irs emotional compensi-
tions. After the ‘glorious Sahibs' had departed, Raniic found
his thoughts straying ro a courtesan from Amritsar who was
one of the troupe who had danced before his distinguished
ests. Ranjit went to Amritsar and sent for the girl. Gul
E:gm came as she was commanded and sang and danced. She
was an uninhibited coquette, unlike the coldly aristocraric
women of the royal harem. The middle-aged monarch fell
violently in love ‘with the teenaged Muslim courtesan and
resolved to defy convention by marrying her (as he had when
he had married Mohran). He first went to the Golden Temple
to for forgiveness for what he was abour ro do: then he
puII:I‘i,cy announced thar Gul Begam was to be rreated as a
ueen. Her faith would be respected and she would remain 3
vslim. Sohan Lal reports the ceremony of marriage,

‘The Maharajah put on saffron garments and jewellery. . . .
Gul Begam came to the pavilion dressed in yellow garmenrs;
her hands and feet were dyed red in henna and from head to
foot she was bedecked in’'gold ornaments srudded with dia-
monds. . . . The Maharajah seated Gul Begam in a chair beside
him. Garlands of roses interwoven with pearls were tied abour

* Jacquemont, vol. 11, p. 25.
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the forehead of the Maharajah and a gold nose-ring with a
pearl was fixed in the nose of Gul Begam. Gul Begam was
renamed Gul Bahar Begum.™

Social censure bothered Ranjir, and his sleep was disrurbed
by nightmares in which a figure in black (obviously a Nihang)
menaced him. Ranijit consulted his astrologers, who interpreted
the dream as a portent of danger from the fanaric Akalis and
persuaded him to appease their wrath hﬁi:rge charities to
the ﬂgurdmns-—whmh the superstitious it immediately
profered.

Maharani Gulbahar Begum dominared the Maharajah's life
for the next few years. She did not veil herself and on cere-
monial occasions rode on the same elephant as her husband.
It was the last love affair of Ranjit Singﬁ’s life.!

Even the ministrations of the yourhfol Gulbahar could not
ent the Maharajah from having a sort of political hang-
over, The feeling that the English loved him was followed by

1 Sohan Lal, Dafrer HL

*There were many women In the royal harem some of whom had been
sdmitted after some sorx of ceremany; others (mually widows) simply took
residence in the because the Mahamajsh had ease his mantle over them
(Chaddar ; and there were yer ochers who came as maidservangs' bat
having uﬁ:{ Ranijit's fancy became his mistresses. The following names
.Ewhn ;iﬂh records as having enjoyed some sore of relationship wich the
¥ rala

Mehrab Kaur 'lt:;rﬁﬂ[ in ngi}, diedqufl::}. She ho;c_rlhn g!hh;nhnh;‘ ;:hm
soms: Isher Singh who died in infancy, Sher Singh and Tar Singhi Raj Kaur
{Mai Makleain) married in 1798, mmr of Kharak h Mlmuir.b}n died
it 1818; Mohran {m, rBoz}; Rartan Eaor and Daya Kanr, widows of Sshib
Singh Blung'.u! Gujerat (m. 1812), Ravan Kaur was the mother of Mulyang
Singh and Keur of Kashmira Singh aml Peshaurs Singh; Chand Kaur
(m. 1Bis); Lachmi, davghter of Dess Singh Sidhu of Gujranwals (m. 180k
Mehatab Kaur (m. 1822)% Guddan and her sister Banso, of Sanmr

¢ Saman Ksur (m. 183:); Guolbahar Bcﬁn and Jindan,

of Dalip Singh. Other mames mentioned are Gulib Kaur, Ram Devi,

ti Dewi, Bannar, Har Devi and Danno.

¢ the British Government were pn’% to Jind Kalin as o

of Ranjit Singh. She und her mother ert summoned by Ranjit

abour 1832 to answer the complaint of one named Abdul Samad Khan

o i Rusih Siuh aeelil i Botssib o yage T
| : cance thal and kepe Jin

and her mother in h]u own seraglio. Besides Mohran, Gul Begam and

other Mohammedan Raness are numed—Telboo, Junnot

interview fgiven to Le Voltaire in January 1889, Prince Dalip Singh
'lt'mthum-n{mfnfmyflth&"!fnnj‘-ﬂhﬁm'
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an unpleasant sensation that their professions of affection were
mere sham; that they meant to thware his ambitions towards
Sindh and were befriending his worst enemies, the Afghans,
in order to strangle him in the embrace of friendship.

Once Ranjit Singh'’s confidence in English sincerity was
shaken he did his to thwarr their moves in Sindh and
Afghanistan. He en the Amirs to resist foreign intru-
sion, commercial or political. He was nor successful as his
own intentions were commonly known, and the aggressive
way in which he had begun to talk of taking Shikarpur did
not square with his professions as a well-wisher of the
Sindhians, Nevertheless, Ranjit’s overtures gave the Amlirs an
opportunity of playing the Punjabis against the English. Ranjit
:LEu btgzt?r £o nE: dlr:E more actively in Afghan goiiu'cs. He
encouraged Shah Shuja to make another attempr to recover the
Afghan throne and eject the Barakzais with whom the British
were negotiating commercial treaties. He received emissaries
from the Courr of Herat. He made it known to the British that
the: Russians were anxious ro trear with him. He showed
marked favour to agents from Nepal. There were rumours of
fresh conracts with the Maratha chiefs and the Nizam of
Hyderabad

Ranjir Singh also pressed for the settlement of his claims to
some towns across the Sutlej. The English Government ae-
cepted his contentions regarding some of the unimportant ones
—Anandpur, Chamkaur, Kiratpur and Macchiwara, but re-
jected his case with to the most important, Ferozepur.

erozepur was only ftorty miles from Lahore and close to
several fords from which troops could wade across the Sutlej,
This was done on the advice oFH military commanders, who felt
thar Ludhiana was too far off from Lahore to be an effective
base for operations. The excuse was provided by the death of
the widow, Lachman Kaur, who had been in possession of the
town, in September (835, The Ludhiana Agenr decided thar
her estates lapsed to the English and not to Ranjit Singh, who
had up till then been acknowledged by them as her overlord,
British troops moved in and began to fortify Ferozepur.
The Maharajah sensed the approaching’danger. 'Pis & gaya

FThe Nizam sent Ranjir Si ewelled whic i
o the Golden Tempie. 1c sdoras ths Formplesn s i)
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—they have come closer,’ he remarked. He countered the
move Wg Kasur which faced Ferozepur on his side
of the cjs

Within a few months of the protestations of perpetual
friendship made at Rupar, the two States were preparing for
war,



CHAPTER IVIIT

BREAKING OUT OF THE BRITISH CORDON

€—n 9

THE British had entered into diplomatic relations with the
Sindhians and the Afghans, leaving the Punjabis only rwo
directions in which they could expand; across the Hi
up to the borders of China, and into the Pathan country, which
was a strip of no-man’s land berween the Punjab and
Afghanistan, The Punjabis first struck across the almost im-
le mountain ranges of Kashmir into Ladakh. The Dogra
eral, Zorawar Singh, who was posted ar Kishtawar, ex-
ploited 2 domestic quarrel in the Ladakhi ruling family. He
put one of the conrenders in ion on payment of Rs
30,000/~ per annum to the Durggr d occupied some of the
mrtgitaﬁy-plnced forts. In the winrer of 1836, Zorawar
Singh presented the Maharajah with the mazrand he had
brought from Ladakh and asked for permission to push further
westwards to Iskardu and make a common frontier with China.
Ranjit Sin%tirnr{lurcd him to hold his hand for the time being.

Caprain Wade registered a strong protest over the action of
the Durbar troops and offered asylum to members of the dis-
possessed Ladakhi family. The Maharajah reminded him of the
treaty of 1809 and of the fact thar the rerritory in question
was an his side of the Sutlej. Wade ignored the nore and
warned his goyernment of the danger of allowing the Punjabis
to have a common frontier with the Chinese.

While Zorawar Singh was carrying the Punjab’s srandards
into Tibet, Ranjic Singh was taking steps to push his western
frontier further westwards. His earlier offer to put Shuja back
on the throne had come to nothing because he had not anly
wanted the Shah to renounce his title to Multan, Dera Ghazi
Khan, Dera Ismail Khan, Mankera and Peshawar, bur ako to
send tribute in the shape of gifts of horses, fruit, ete. In addi-
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tion, there were clauses requiring an absolure ban on the
slaughter of kine in Afghanistan and the surrender of the
sandalwood portals of the Hindu remple of Somnath which
the iconoclast Mahmud had taken to Ghazni 800 years ago.
Shuja thuuiht it best to say nothing to the Durbar and try to

in his throne by himself.

huja received same support from the Amirs of Sindh. He
was assured that there would be a general rising of the tribes
in his favour as soon as he crossed over into Afghanistan. But
when he entered his country, tribal leaders did no more than
reiterate their promise of help without moving out of their
fortresses, Dost Mohammed sent his brothers ro check Shuja’s
march rowards Kabul, In g brief encounter at Kandahar,
Shuja’s troops were routed and the Shah came back to Lud-
hiana and rejoined his 600 wives,

Ranjit Singh came to the conclusion that if he wanted his
North-West Frontier really secure and capable of being used
as aspri for an invasion of Afghanistan, he would have
to bring it under his direct control instead of leaving it in the
hands of Afghan chiefs who paid tribute. Consequently. when
Shuja was contending with Dost Mohammed's brothers, Han
Singh Nalwa was instructed to take over the Governorship of
Peshawar from the Durbar’s Afghan vassal, Sulran Mohammed,
and the city was garrisoned with Punjabi troops.

Nalwa lefr the Maharajah's grandson, Prince Nau Nihal
Singh, to administer Peshawar, and occupied himself in taming

e semi-savage tribes inhabiting the surrounding country.
Pathan tribesmen held the Punjabis, whom they had bullied
over the centurics, in utter contempt. Nalwa decided o be
absolutely ruthless, Whenever the Pathans resorted ro ambush-
ing and sniping (their favourite mode of fighting), he raided
their villages and destroyed every home, Within a few months
the name of Nalwa became a terror in the tribal rerritory.!
He completed the chain of forts, each within sight of the
other. Two which stood on the entrance of the Khyber Pass
were fortified and placed under the command of the Durbar’s
ablest of ufﬁcr:n—g]uh Kadar with a garrison of 1,900 under
Lehna Singh Sandhawalia; Jamrud with a garrison of foo
under Maha Singh. Dost Mohammed hurried towards Pesha-

*To this day Pathan women, when wart to frighten their children into
behaving well, say: ‘Hush child, Hmh mﬁ:‘
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war. He addressed several rude notes to Ranjit asking
him to evacuare the city or taste the steel of the Afghan sabre,
Ranjic replied in the same tone, saying he would welcome 2
trial of strength berween the Punjabis and the Afghans.'

Dost Mohammed tried to persuade the English to help him.
When that failed he resorted to the old trick, the holy war. On
January 2, 1835, he had himself invested with the title of
Anrir-ul-Munmin—Commander of the faithful—and exhorred
Mussulmans ro destroy the infidel. He began to suffer from
the same folie-de-grandeur as Syed Ahmed and fined anyone
who called him Sardar instead ‘of Amir; Hindus he muleted
without conscience. His sons led an army of regulars and
Ghazis determined ro clear the Punjabis our of the North-
West Froatier.

The Maharajah sent Fakeer Azizuddin and the American,
Josish Harlan, who had served under the Afghans, to Dost
Mohammed. The Amir agreed to receive the envoys and when
they arrived, swore: ‘Ah! yon Kafirs, I have taken you in’

the Fakeer protested that it was improper to detain
foreign envoys, Dost replied that infidels and their agenrs were
beyond the pale of diplomatic convention. But even in deten-
tion, Josith Harlan succeeded in sowing discord among the
Afghans. He wrote: ‘I divided his (i.e. Dost Mohammed's)
brothers against him, exciring their jealousy of his growing
Eo\w:r. « -« | induced his brother, Sultan Mohamed Khan,
tely deported chief of Peshawar with 10,000 men, ro with-
draw suddenly from his camp abour nightfall. The chief
accompanied me towards the Sikh camp, while his followers
fled to their mountain fortresses.® Dost Mohammed, eontinues
Harlan, went back to Kabul and in ‘bitterness of spirir declaim-
ing against the eruptions of military renown, plunged himself
in the study of the Koran'.

f our of heughtiness the Mahursjah does not heed o request |
{Dent Mohammed} will gird up my loins for bﬁ:mrwl &fﬂl’:lntyl thorn in
the conrtyard of vour rose ganlen. | will muster an army of crussders who

know nothin CXCEPT unto death. T will tommly Il i
1 scene Ef chaon m.‘ o o a1 sigks

To which Ranjit's snswer was: "We have broken the heads of refractory
dﬂe&mdpmunrfne:hhu:.lfﬂummtuh‘nﬁwmdgmd,duﬁrum
gtuhmi:wi:bthtmﬂfnmh:mluhimm...‘h&awﬂwhmp
'

¥ ﬁmdmhﬁmhmfnﬁ-,p.zn.
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Dost Mohammed's disillusionment with worldly success re-
duced tension on the North-West Frontier. It gave Ranjit
Singh time to turn ro Sindh and try to thwart English attempts
to coerce the reluctant Amirs tu:-[ggn themselves an the British
side. The only chance the Sindhians had of preserving their
independence was to incite their voracious neighbours agai
each other. They tried to do this bly rovoking 4 tribe known
as the Mazaris, who inhabited the tork berween the Indus and
the Sutlej, suddenly to attack isolared Punjabi outposts south
of Multan and plunder villages in the Durbar’s domains.

Prince Kharak Singh was ordered to rake punitive measures.
He made short wnré of the ill-disciplined Mazari tribesmen
and, in the summer of 1836, uccupimlp Mithankot and Rojhan.
He wrote to his father asking for permission to proceed to
Shilarpur. Ranjit Singh had ample excuse to take Shikarpur
as the Wahabi fanaric, Nasiruddmn, had made it the centre of
his campaign against the Sikhs, bur he hesitated to take a step
which might invelve him in hostilities with the English. The
hesitation proved faral to his ambitions in the south.

The Enﬁluh made capital of the Maharajah’s nervousness.

MacNaughren, Secretary to the Government of India, advo-
cated immediarte steps be taken to forestall the Punjabis. “The
Government of India is bound by the strongest consideration
of political interest to prevent the extension of the Sikh power
along the whole course of the Indus," he wrote. In August,
Wade was sent to see Ranjit Singh and ‘use every means in
his power shart of actual menace ro keep His Highness at
Lahore and to prevent the further advance of his army ! If the
Durbar maintaned that his expedition was punirive, it was to
be told rhat the Amirs had formally placed themselves under
British protection (which was not true),
_ Ranjit Singh tried to outmanoenvre the English. He entered
into an agreement with Shuja underraking ro help him in yet
another bid to recover his kingdom in rerurn for Shuja’s re-
nouncing his claim on Peshawar (which was already in Ranjit's
hands) and Shikarpur (which was not), He faced the English
with a threefold argument. He had ro punish the people who
had instigated the Mazaris; Shuja, who had a valid ride 10
Shikarpur, had passed it on to him; and in the treary of 1509
the British had solemnly sworn not to meddle with the affairs
* Labore Durbar, p. 140-1.
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of rerritories west of the Sutlej. The English agreed that the
Durbar had been wronged by the Mazaris, bur refused to
recognize its right to take Shﬁﬂr ur either as a prize or by
virtue of an agreement with Shah ghuja. And as for the treaty
of 1809, they replied ingenuously, the territories in question
were nor west of the Sutlej, but west of the Sutlej plus the
Indus, which was nor the same thing.

The Durbar's Ministers were indignant. They exhorted the
Maharajah to make a firm stand if necessary, go to war.
They argued that a nation which had so often violated its
solemn promises and which had made systematic expansion a

licy, would sooner or later find an excuse to annex the
F‘:n'ib. They vaunted the martial qualities and invineibili
of the Khalsa armies. Ranjit Singh was extremely angry wit
the English but he had never let anger be his counsellor. Afrer
his temper had subsided, he asked his advisers: “Whar ha

ed to the 200,000-strong army of the Marathas who fnugﬁ';
the English?” He tried through Fakeer Azizuddin to persuade
the English to agree to consider Sindh Mulk-i-mabfuza—
neutral territory—and obtain an assurance rhat 4 similar policy
would not be followed in Afghanistan. Wade evaded the sug-
gestions by delivering sermons on Brirish policy of preserving
peace and ?mding civilization. Ranjir Singh rried to have the
question of Sindh postponed till he had discussed the matter
E&mmn]l with the new Governor-General, Lord Auckland.

e told Wade rhar his Sardars were saying to him: ‘Look at
whar the Sibib log are doing! They are seizing one place
and defining hmﬁari::s in another,” But Wade was immov-
able. At one of the meetings the Maharajah asked the English-
man the meaning of the words ‘welfare and p ity’ and
ﬁc« and consideration’ which the Governor-General had

in his letter to him. Wade ignored the sarcasm and pro-
ceeded ro explain the meaning of the words ar some length.
Ranjit Singh cur him short: *l understand too well? i:ﬁ:de
described the end of the interview: ‘His Highness betrayed
some impatience; he Erusp:d the hand of the Fakeer and struck
the palm repearedly.™ At last, Ranijit Singh gave in and agreed
not to go farther—bil fel O bil hal—for the time being, The
debate on Sindh was closed. Bur he refused to sign any more

YSCiy of March &, 1837,
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trearies on the subject and refused w give up his advance po
at Rojhan. -

Ranjic Singh had reluctantly written off Sindh; he was in no
mood to have his authority challenged elsewhere when trouble
restarted on the North-West Fronter. Nalwa's energetic
measures, particularly the chain of forts that he had made, ]gave
the Afghans reason to believe that the Punjabis contemplared
an invasion of their country. Dost Mohammed gave up the
study of the Koran and began to whip up religious sentiments
of the tribesmen for yet another Jihad. ?—Ic decided to strike
when he heard that the Durbar was preoccupied with the nup-
tials of Prince Nau Nihal Singh and R’n]wn was ill and confined
to his bed in Peshawar.

Dost Mohammed's strategy was to isolare the Punjabi garri-
sons at Shabkadar, Jamrud and Peshawar and reduce each in
turn. The first on the list was Jamrud. It was the most advanced
outpost and the weakest Iink in Nalwa's chain of fortresses.
One detachment was sent to keep Lehna Singh Sandhawalia st
Shabkadar whilse the main Afghan army, numbering over
25,000 men with cighteen heavy guns, besciged Jamrud, Maha
Singh had only 6oo men and a few light guns. Within a few
hours the Afghan guns reduced the walls of Jamrud to rubble,
Maha Singh’s men dug trenches and for four days kept the
Afghans at bay with musket fire; then Maha Singh sent word
to Nalwa that he could not hold our any longer. (A Sikh
woman disguised as an Afghan stole thro fi the enemy’s ranks
at night to ¢ the message ro Pn:sluwn.:e Nalwa got up from
his sick bed and made his way to Jamrud.

The news that Nalwa had risen was enough to frighten the
Afghans. They raised the siege of Jamrud and, in order to
ensure escape in the event of defeat, took up position in the
valley of the Khyber. Nalwa drew up his troops in barle
formation and waited for the Afghans, who ournumbered him
three to one, to attack him. For seven days the armies faced
each other. Nalwa realized that the Afghans had no stomach
for bartle and ordered the troops to advance. The engagement
tnok]Ena: on April 30, 1837. The Punjabis drove the Afghans
and Pathan tribesmen before them withour any difficulty and
captured eleven enemy guns; their chief problem was to keep
their ranks intact while in pursuit. Dost Mohammed’s son,

N
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Mohammed Akbar Khan, who was watching the battle from
an escarpment, saw Nalwa leading the atrack well ahead of his
men. Mohammed Akbar Khan swooped down on the isolated
advance column, poured lead into Nalwa's howdah and, in the
confusion which followed this surprise arrack, retook all his
ﬂ.u:u and in addition captured three belonging to the Punjabis.

is own personal achievement was the killing of one Sikh
soldier,

Nalwa was grievously wounded and was brought back to
Jamrud. He knew his end was near. He ordered his officers to
keep his death a secret until the troops had driven the Afghans
beyond the Khyber Pass. This the Punjabis did with great
vigour. Alth the Af had to give u‘r their plan to re-
capture Peshawar and Shabkadar and had been forced o
retrear ignominiously from Jamrud, they returned to Kabul in
absolute jubilation. What if the battle was lost? They had
killed Nalwa, whose name alone was worth ‘a hundred and
twenty-five thousand men’.!

An account of the bartle and the dearh of Nalwa was sent
by an Englishman, Dr Wood, to Wade,' who forwarded it to

¢ Governor-General. He wrote that there had been a grear
slaughter of the Afghans; am those killed was Mohammed
Afzal, the eldesr son of Dost Mohammed, Dr Wood estimated
that the Punjabis lost abour 6,000 of their roral force of 12,000
men; the ans, who oumumbered them, lefr 11,000 men
dead on the field, Of the death of Nalwa, Dr Wood wrote:
‘Hari Singh received four wounds: rwao sabre cuts across his
chest, one arrow was fixed in his breast which he deliberately
pulled out himself, and continued to issue orders as before
until he received a gunshot wound in the side, from which he

dually sank and was carried off the field ro the fort, where
El::rpircd. requesting that his death should not be made known
until the arrival of the Maharajah's reliefs.

Ranjir Singh was on his way to the Khyber when informa-
tion of Nalwa's death was brought-ro him: The Maharajah
broke down, bear his breast in anguish and wept bitter rears.

*The Alghmhdmﬂymmhmhmdmﬁmmhmﬁh
Adibar Khan plumed hinself oo 4 trenscendent vicrory, The Sikhs scarcely
acknowledged defeat, but their loss in the person of their chicf was irrepar-
abile." Massom, vol 111, ch. 16.

2 PCio of May 29, 1817,
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By the time he reached Jamrud, the last Afghan soldier had
vanished from the scene.

Let us rurn back a few pages of the Maharajah’s diary 1o see
the wedding that had prevented Ranjit Singh from coming to
Nalwa's aid in time,



CHAPTER X1X

PRINCE NAU NIHAL'S WEDDING
AND THE FESTIVAL OF HOLI

fo—3

‘sy the Grace of Sree Akalurakhjee—Friendly and kind
Sir, in consideration of the friendship which promotes unity
and sinceriry. In these auspicions days marlmdp by a thousand
happy omens we wish to complete the picture of our desires
by arranging the marrisge of our son, Prince Nau Nihal Singh,
who is forrune’s favourite child, the Justre on the forehead of
felicity, the apple of the eye of our dominions, the lord of the
glonious garden of sovereignty and the solace of our soul, with
the pen of friendship we write to request your Excellency,
who is replete with amiable and friendly qualities, ro grace this
oecasion with your presence and so make our joy and happi-
ness limitless.”

Thus ran the Maharajah's invitation ro Sir Henry Fane,
Commander-in-Chief of the British Army, to atrend the wed-
ding of his grandson. Sir Henry was instructed by the
Governor-General to accept it as the representative of the
Government of India. In Sir Henry’s suite was his young
nephew, Lt Heary Edward Fane, who accompanied him as
his A.D.C. The yvoung subaltern’s diary gives a fairly detailed

iture of the ceremonial and a lively portrait of the ageing

harajah. Ir reminds one of Milron's lines:

‘Where the East, with richest hand, showers
on her kings barbaric pearls and gold.’

The Commander-in-Chief's . which included Captai
* Wade, was reeeived by Prince ﬂy&i on the western bank
of the Sutlej, Young Fane was struck by his looks: ‘as hand-
some a b!a:k-bm:&ed gentleman as one often sees, richly
dressed in silks and brocade . . . he had the most beauriful tiara
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of diamonds, emeralds and rubies | have ever seen; some of the
emeralds in particular being enormous”.' The Fanes were guests
of Sher Singh's and on one occasion were shown the young
rinee’s dressing room. ‘It was filled with !mking lasses,
French scent bottles and lictle knick-knacks of all kinds, and
evidently shewed the master to be a dandy of the first water.
His fondness for European luxuries is nor confined to his
toilette.’ Sher Singh loved French wines and liked ro ride in
his English carriage which followed him wherever he went.

On h 5, 1837, the Brinsh party arrived at Amritsar and
was received by Prince Kharak Singh and Rajah Dhian Singh.
‘Both he and all his suite literally blazed m jewels, and cloth of
gold and silver,’ wrote Fane. Dhian Singh, who atrracted more
atrention, was ‘superbly mounted on a large Persian horse,
who curverted and pranced abour, as if proud of his rider, His
bridle and saddle were covered with gold embroidery and
underneath the latter was a saddlecloth of silver tissue, with a
broad fringe of the same, which covered his horse 1o the tail;
the horse’s legs and tail were dyed with red, the former up to
the knees, and the latter half-way up, as an emblem of the
number of enemies he had killed in battle, and thar the blood
from them had covercd the animal thus far.”

The next morning the party went to call on Ranijic Singh.
who was staying in a house outside the city. The Maharajah
came on his elephant ro receive his guests. Fane's picture of
Ranijit is noe flartering. “The lion of the Punfab is a very small,
infirm-looking old man of fifty-five (looking ten years older),
but still more hale and stout than I expected to have seen him
from what we had previously heard. He was dressed very
plainly in green cashmere turban, coat and Elnvcs, with single
rows of large pearls down the breast, round his neck and on his
arms and legs, and a single string of very large diamonds round
his arms. The Seikh turban, which so much d: res the whole
of this handsome race, does so particularly with him, and gives
his counrenance a low expression of cunning, which it would
m:;:omhly otherwise have. His ﬁin‘_gln eye is bleared and
bl , but still shews that wonderful acureness and deter-
h}ilﬁ:sum by which he has been able to subdue the unruly spirit
o L]

The British party was taken to the Maharajah's enclosure

P Fane, p. 130,
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where the courtiers had assembled: “The dresses and jewels of
the Rajah's Court were the most superb that can be conceived;
the whole scene can only be compared to a gala night at the
opera. The Minister’s son (Hira Smgh in particular, the rei
ing favourite of the day) was literally one mass of jewels;
neck, arms and legs were covered with necklaces, armlets and
bangles, formed of pearls, diamonds and rubies, one above the
other, so thick that it was difficalt to discover anythin
between them." The Maharajah was in high spirits. ol
prince talked away ar ::lFrent rate, discussed many subjects
and asked questions of all kinds, many of them showing his
shrewd and ealculating character. The size of the Company's
army—the number of bartles Sir Henry had been in—rhe
number of English officers artached to each regiment—our
mode of casting artillery.”

In the aftemoon the party were present at the memundra—
the ceremonial of giving ts to the bridegroom. This rook

lace in the house of a Sardar with much nautch and noise.
g'hc presents, says Fane, were valued arnearly £ 17,000,

The bridegroom’s party left Amritsar and in the afternoon
formed into a ession. There were seventy elephants and
[ lt:um:mm. ¢ Maharajah showered gold ugiid silver cﬂinds
on the throng of . "The erowd assem surpasse
?tdunmdf;-cd wmtchsn:,bt‘ﬁah:ul;II s:{ it mcluded from five to six

thousand persons, all shoving and fighting to get in
the direction—near the Rajah’s clephgm.' On mrgm ar the
bride’s residence, the jruests dismounred and assembled in s
large tent. “The bridegroom was now introduced for the first
time, having his face covered with a veil made of strings of
large pearls hung on gold thread. He is a thin, unhealthy-
looking boy, dreadfully marked with smallpox, bur seemed
intelligenr and well-mannered.

The acrual marriage ok place at o pm. as fixed by the
astrologers. The guests reassembled in Ranijit's pavilion, where
they “found him seared, as usual, surmumled by his ministers
and favourites, perched on a chair, with a highly embroidered
gold stoal for his knees to rest on. His dress was almost always
the same (green cashmere) and, with the exception of the rows
of grear pearls I before mentioned, and an Stare occasions the
Koh-i-noor, his great diamond, he very seldom wore jewels.
He never was the cleanest person in the world, and his dress,
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I should imagine, was but seldom changed in an .He hasa
curious habit of wearing but one stocking, &J;npffnvmg had
the rheumarism in one of his feet, which he thinks necessary
to keep warm.,

“The Rajah sent round the intoxicating liquor which he
drinks, at such a rate (particularly ro th:lgmml. whase cup
he always looked into to see that he really drank) that we were
all right glad to ger away, and retire to our beds, after one of
the most fatiguing days [ have ever experienced. The liquor he
drinks would kill most people in a week, being, I should
imagine, considerably srronger than spirits or wine; so much
50 as to bring tears into our eyes, even with the smallest quan-
tity; and yet, during our different visits, he seldom drank less
than several small full and withour any apparent effect.”

An exhibition u%thc bride’s dowry was the next item on the
list. Except for elephants, of whig there were only eleven,
there were one hundred and one animals each of all the other
varieties given: cows, buffaloes, camels, horses, bullocks, etc.
There were five hundred ‘of the most beautiful’ Cashmere
shawls; ‘the jewels were many of them very handsome and of
grear intrinsic value. Among other things was a complere set
of native dinner and washing things, all of silver, and beauti-
fully carved'.

At the vﬁmnd soirée, when the ladies were invited, the
whole pavilion was Iit with oil lamps and fountains pliyed.
‘From the open building where the Court and oursclves sar,
the whole scene looked more like animitation of fairyland ar a
theatre than anything else, and at times 1 felr m}'sclfrgcginuing
to wonder when the spirits were going to appear. No drinks
were served in the presence of ladies, bur as soon as they
retired the old lion was as usual plving the General with liquor
and asking questions.”

Twa days larer Ranjit Singh paid a visit to the English camp
and inspected their troops. ‘He never ceased asking question
from the moment he entered—"Whar was the sm:ﬂg't?l of the
Indian Army:™ “Did we rhink that Russian interest was doing
us much harm in Persia?” “Was it thought thar Persia had
sufficient power to give effectual aid ro Russia in the evenr of
their coming in this direction?”, etc, etc. These and many
other questions, put with the greatest acuteness, and many of
them most difficult to-answer, made thar generally most dull
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of all amusements quite the reverse; and t he remained
for longer than is generally the case, none, I think, felr bored.’
After seeing the presents (one elephant, eight horses, 1 double-
barrelled gun, Efl}r-nnc pieces of 1.m'ﬁr:qr} Ranjit Singh
examined every gun and questioned each gunner minurely.

The nexr day Sir H Fane inspected the Sikh rroops.
‘Some few were beautifully dressed in chain armour; and
looked so like the pictures one sees of warriors in the time of
Richard Coeur de Eiaﬂ, that one might almost fancy one’s self
cransported back to the times of the Crusaders; for which all
these fcmlmcn in yellow and all the colours of the minhow,
would make a good appearance as the saldiers of Saladin.’

The party were shown the royal jewels, including the
Koh-i-noor. And the evenings were as usual devoted to
‘naurching, drinking and fireworks’,

Hali, the colourful festival of spring, which was ever Ranjit's
favourite, was upon them. The British Commander-in-Chief
was persuaded to stay on as the astrologers had pronounced

his earlier departure inauspicions. Sir Henry Fane went to the
Maharajah's gvﬂmn Nd

‘And a most extraordinary scene it was,' Fane writes, ‘We
found him (Ranjit) seated, surrounded as usual by his court
and, for the first rime, the guard of Amazons, some thirry or
forty in number, many of very pretty, armed with bows
and arrows, which they drew the moment we made our
appearance, in the most warlike style . . . whether in the
resence of an enemy they would be found equally bald, 1
ow not, but in that of the old chieftain they dared to do
and say in a way that none of his most favourite courtiers
ventured to attempt.’

Holi was a most hilarious affair. ‘In front of every chair
were small baskets, heaped one above another. full of small,
brittle balls, filled with red der, and alongside them large
bowls of thick yellow saffron, and long gold squires, with
which each of us armed ourselves. As soon as we were all
seated, the Rajah rook a large butter-boat kind of article, filled
with the said saffron, and poured it on Sir Henry’s bald head:
while, at the same time, the Prime Minister rubbed him all over
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with gold and silver leaf, mixed with red powder.

‘We were all holding our sides with laughter at the Chicf
bowing to all this, wondering at the meaning of it, when our
mirth {or rather mine) wnsn:ghmgcd into gnef, ac having one
eye nearly pur our by a long-bearded gentleman opposite, who
deliberately threw a ball, filled with red T, INLO ONe eye,
while another factious youth closed up the other with saffron
soup, . . . Ranjeer himself seemed to enjoy the fun as much
as anyone; and though few of the courtiers aimed ar him per-
sanally, this did not prevenr him from taking an oceasional
shot I{imscif. his being more particularly directed against an
Afghan Ambassador, just arrived at his Court from Kandahar.
This poor man was dressed in his best, his beard combed and
dyed to a nicery, his feet tucked well under him, and his face
drilled o a grave, diplomatic caste. Never having before seen
the festival of Holi, he had not the smallest idea what he had to
expect, and his look of astonishment ar a ball of red shot being
shied in his eye, and his horror when his beard was rurned o a
bright saffron colour, I shall long remember. We turned all our
ammunition upon him, and first one eye and then another was
closed up, rill at lengeh he was fairly beat out of his etiquette,
and took to his heels amidst a roar of laughrer from all our

"E;m battle raged for more than an hour, during which
neither the Commander-in-Chief nor the Amazons came off
scot-free; and by the rime we all gor up to retarn home, the
honourable company of London chimney-sweeps would have
rurned us out as o dirty for their society.”

Holi was the one festval Ranjit always looked forward to;
and he made sure that it was seaddd reemdshi (big fun),

The Maharajah gave farewell gifts ro all his English guests.
The Commander-in-Chief and the miliary secreary were
invested with the order of the Star of the prosperity of the
Punjab (Kau-Kab-i-Ighil-i-Punjib) which the ."'jnhnrni:lh had
inaugurated thar year. Young Fane was almost sentimental
about the old Sikh Rajah when it came to raking leave. ‘T am
sure both he (General Fane) and almost everyone present felt
sincere sorrow at parting from the good-na . land old
man, whom we had all begun to consider as an old friend.”

Fane's acconnt of the visit ends with a handsome tribute,
‘Runjeet, among his subjects, has the character generally of a
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kind and generous master, and one of the best princes thar has
ever reigned in India. As evidence of his being a really good
and amiable man, may be cited his kindness to children (two or
three of whom he has crawling abour the durbar), and the fact
of his never having, since he conquered the country, pur 2
man to death for even rhe most heinous crimes.”



CHAPTER XX

THE ARMY OF THE INDUS

W

smuc as Dost Mohammed tried to claim the bartle of Jammd
as an Afghan victory (he heaped public honours upon his son
as the vicror), nothing could stop tﬂf: stench of eleven thousand
Afghan co strewn abour the pass of Khyber reaching the
nostrils of the tribesmen in the neighbouring hills and valleys.
The Durbar’s flag still fluttered on the heights of Bala Hissar in
Peshawar, at Shab Kadar and on the runs of Jamrud. And
now the ghost of the valiant Nalwa haunted the rocky defiles,
spreading terror mmn[ﬁ‘th: people.

It was nec for Dost Mohammed to recover his prestige.
Ar first he tried fartery and wrote to the Maharajah:
always regarded myself as established by your aurhority .. .
I was your servant.’ I the Durbar conld give him Peshawar, he
would pay tribute and there would be no trouble on the
fronticr. He promised not to turn to the English if the Punjabis

to this proposal. But if the request was rurned down he
would be compelled by circumstances to fight and seek the
help of other powers. Tang dmad bajmg Fmad—when one is
forced, one goes to bartle.!

Ranjit St expressed surprise at Dost Mohammed’s
demand for Peshawar. He rold the Afghans that the English
had signed a treaty with him not 1o interfere in the affairs of
countries west of the Sutlej and added thac “The English, for
the firmness of their engagements, the truth of their pledges,
adherence to their word, the purity of their intentions and
fidelity to claims of long-enduring friendship, are celebrated

hout the world.! Maintenance of peace, warned Ranjit
Singh, was not the sole monopaly of the Afghans. If they
force war on him, he too could force it on them. If Dost

PPC:8 of Sepeember 11, 1857.
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Mohammed wanted to stay peacefully on his thrane av Kabul,
he had better send a tnbute of horses, dried frmt, ete, to
Lahare,

While Dost Mohammed and Ranjir Singh were thus en-
El?:nd in verbal warfare, the Governor-General sent Alexander

es to Afghanistan to try and draw Dost Mohammed to
their side; rumours of Ruossian infiltration into Persia and
Afghanistan were the chief reason for raking this step, ‘By the
blessing of prudence, the English and the Sikh narion will
be united to the end of rime.,” wrote Auckland to Ranjit
Singh, and explained Burnes's mission as being purely com-
miercial,

Burmes did nor fare too well ar Kabul. He had not much to
offer Dost Mohammed and words of fattery (when sl:u:akmﬁ‘
to Dost, Burnes always joined the palms of his hands an
addressed him as ghanib-pawaz—cherisher of the poor) were
of lirde avail against the Russian Agent, Vekeavich, who
promised large sums of money, Dost made Peshawar the price
of his eo-operation, which rhe British could not give him wirh-
out going to war with the Punjabis. Auckland had 1o choose
between Dost Mohammed und Ranjit Singh. He chose Ranjit
Singh and decided ro seek his help in ousting Dost and purting
Shah Shuja on the throne of Afghanistan. In ﬁprir 1518,
Burnes’s mission was withdrawn from Kabul' and Auckland
%&ma a wish to meet Ranjir Singh for an ‘exchange of
: .

BI': then the Gavernor-General was describing the Maha-
rajah g ‘the most powerful and valuable of our friends’.!

Ranjit Singh sent a delegation headed by Fakeer Azizuddin
to convey his compliments to Lord Aucklind, reiterare the

ill of the Durbar towards the British Governmenr and
say that the Maharajah would be delighted to meet the
Governor-General. A return delegarion, headed by W. H,
MacNaughten, followed on the heels of Fakeer Azizuddin’s
and ‘waited on the Maharajah at Adinanagar, Capraim Wade

1 Mamsnn, who wm with Bu wrote: "Thos closed & miston, one of the
ot extraordinary. ever aent z o government; whether i to the
lar manner in which it wm rmsﬁarutuii:_mdu.ﬁmm
beedly grest blame on all sdes. The government had fumished no
mwlycmﬁn;hm_maamwhnhﬂm'
-
¥ Minute dared May vz, 1838,
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and Dr McGregor were with this delegarion; so also was
W. G. Oshorne, Military Secretary to the Governor-General,
whose diary of daily events in The Court and Cantp of Ranjit
Singh is most vivid."

Osborne describes the first meeting with the Maharajah:
'Cross-legged in a golden chair, dressed in ssmple white, wear-
ing no ornaments but 2 single string of enormous pearls round
the waist, and the celebrated Koh-i-noor, or mountain of
light, on his arm (the jewel rivalled, if not surpassed, in bril-
liancy by the glance of fire which every now and then shor
from his single eye as it wandered restlessly round the circle)
—sat the Lion of Lahore. On Ranjit's scating himself, his chicfs
all squatted on the floor round his chair, with the exception of
Dhian Singh, who remained standin behind his master.
Though far removed from being handsome himself, Ranjit
appears to rake a pride in being surrounded by good-looking

le, and I believe few, if any other, courts either in Euruﬁe
or the East could shew such a fine looking set of men as the
prineipal Sikh Sardars.™

Osborne also remarked on the Maharajah's curiosity and
range of interests: ‘It s hnrdlly possible ta give an idea of the
ceaseless rapidity with which his questions flow, or the infinite
variety of subjects they embrace. “Do you drink wine?”
“Hlow muchs® “Did you taste the wine which 1 sent you
vesterday?” “How much of it did you drink?” “What artil-
lery have you brought with you:" “Have they gor any
shells?” many:” “Do you like riding on horseback?™
"What country’s horses do you prefers” “Are you in the

27 *\Which do you like best, cavalry or infantry?” “Does
Lord Auckland drink wine?” “How many glasses? " “Docs he
drink it in the morning?"” “What is the strength of the Com-
pﬁ_.glli::nm}y?" “Are they well disciplined?" ere.”

delegares saw 2 lot of Ranjit in the next few days. They
were present at the durbar in the mornings, inspected tronps
at parade, sar beside the Maharajah warching his Kashmiri
beauties in soldiers' uniform dancing, and drank out of his
gold goblets, “The more I sce of Raniit, the more he strikes

* Quotations from Osbome are taken from s reprine of The Cenert snd Clsmap
by Susil Gupts Led in r957-
et
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me as an extraordinary man,” wrote Osborne, ‘Cunning and
distrustful himself, he has succeeded in inspiring his followers
with a strong and devored artachment to his person with a
quick talent ac reading wwan's minds, he is an equal adepr at
cunculing his own; and it is curious to see the sort of quiet
mdifference with which he listens to the absurd reports of
his own motives and actions which are daily poured into his
ears ar the durbar, withour giving any opinion of his own, and
without rendering it possible to guess what his final decision
on any subject will be, till the moment of action has arrived.
++ » Though he is by profession a soldier, in religion he is in

ity a sceptic, and it is difficalt ro say whether his supersti-
E’J_gu 18 rll:al. or only a mark assumed to granfy and conciliate

:'-."

m two days of complimentary speeches and enterrain-
ment, MacNaughten introduced the business by reading out
Auckland’s letter outlining the plan to restore Shah Shuja.
Auckland was keen that the Durbar should underrake che
expedition entirely on its own; bur if it did wane the English
to co-operate, they were willing. Osborne recards the reac-
gons of the courtiers. ‘Dhian Singh here shéwed manifest
tokens of disapprobarion; and though nor daring to make any
remark, © not refrain from ex g, both by lus
countenance and sundry ominous shakes of the head, his dis-
snrihsl:;c:iué: ar ]:he idea vn{nasnv alliance with ns.®

jit Singh ignored his Prime Minister's views and agreed
m principle to blgr?kn:hc venture. He was strong enough o do
so, having at the time 31 n:?im'mts of infantry, ¢ regiments of
cavalry, 288 picces of amillery of various calibres, 11,800 ir-
sowars.! When the formal audience was over, his
munisters asked him to consider his decision. Only two,
Fakeer Azizuddin and Bhaia Ram Singh, were for co-operation
with the English; all the others led by Dhian Singh were against
it. The debate continued behind the scenes.

Ten days later, the Maharajah and the delegares left

Adinanagar and proceeded to Lahore. The Englishmen were

* Shahamar AL, 5. According to Shahamat Ali the cor of mintainisg
this |, wﬁhm ﬂ:.i'l,“ttl'::".#?ﬁ:ﬂ;r be, mare d1m1ﬁﬂn:w:- third of the
Seates meome, = jagicdary furnished g iments of infanery, -
§ regimens of cavs .hﬁm-uiuﬂhymmq&qﬂnm
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received in the Shalamar Gardens where they were joined by
Alexander Burnes and Dr Ford, who had just rerurned from
Kabul. Burnes incited Ranijit ﬁﬁh by repeating words he
alleged Dost Mohammed had in relation to the Maha-
rajah: can’t do that brute any real harm, but I will rorment
him a deal yet before 1 have done with him." The trick
worked and Ranjit !m'ﬁh expressed willingness to join the
English against Dost Mohammed. The English delegation
promptly got the draft of the treaty ready. Dhian Singh
pleaded with the Maharajah not ro be hasty and reconsider Eu
decision. Ranjit began to waver. “The old lion has rurned sulky,
and refuses ro sign the treaty, wishing to su;[)u]nm for all sorts
of concessions which cannot be granted, and thus reference to
headquarters is rendered necessary,’ wrote Osborne.

Behind the scenes Fakeer Azizuddin and Bhaia Ram Singh
took up the issue with Dhian Singh. Their argument was that
if the ar held back the English would most certainly
undertake the expedition on their own and put a man entirely
beholden to them on the throne of Afghanistan. It was in the
Durbar’s own interest to see that a minion of the English was
not in power on its western frontier. The reasoning a]:Enlr.d
to Ranjit Singh. On the moming of June 29, writes Osborne,
‘we received a visit from old Fakeer Azizuddin, who gladdened
our hearts by mforming us that we might commence our
mmiwts ar a return to Simla as the Maharajh had ar last

up his mind to put his name to the treaty without any
further delay’. The expedition was to be a joint Anglo-Punjabi
venture.

ten’s enjoyed Ranjit’s hospitality for
another fortnight. The mansoons had converted the dry. dusty
. ide 1o a verdant green. It was a time for drinking,
dancing and merry-making. But the doctors forbade Ranjit
Sllgh to takxﬂlcgnl- and F once he listened to their advice.
It did not depress him; nor, says Osborne, did the news of o
military reverse on the frontier, which reached him abouns thar
time. ‘A trifling defeat now and then is useful as it teaches
both men and officers o be canrious.” When Osborne asked
‘him the reasan for such self-assurance, Ranjic Singh told him
that his confidence rested on the conviction that the Sikhs were
the bravest nation in the east. _
MacNsughten proceeded to Ludhiana to get Shah Shuja’s
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signature to the treary, Shuja signed withour any hesitation.

¢ wanted ro regain the throne of Kabul on any terms. And
all said and done, a treaty was a mere scroll of parchment and
a signature only 4 means to an end.

Ranjit Singh was determined to make his interview with
Auckland an even bigger tamdshd' than the one ar Rupar.
There was a happy pr:Tude to the meeting. The Maharajah's
yo wife, the comely Jindan (who later I!l)hytd a tragic
role in the downfall of the kingdom) bore him a son i
‘ %1]1 The boy (born according to Sohan Lal under the
evil combinarion of pisces and pisces) was named Dalip Singh.

The meeting was scheduled to take place ar Ferozepur in
the last week of November 1838, Ranjit Singh was to inspect
the force the British would send; and the Governor-General
would see the Durbar’s l:nntingcnt which was to join the
British. It was to be g review of whar came to be known as
the Grand Army of the Indus,

A month before the meening, the ostensible reason for the
campaign ceased to exist. On October 22, 1838, the Persians
ruised the siege of Herar and Perso-Russian danger of infil-
tration into Afghanistan was removed. The English neverthe-
less adhered to their plans ro take Afghanistan. If the country
had to be saved from the Russians, w%: could it not be saved
from the rest of the world as well? Why the Durbar did not
change its policy is still an enigma. Presurmably the argument
that prevailed was the old one, viz. it was better to have 2

on who was under some obligation ro the Durbar as ruler
of Afghanistan than one who was a mere pupper of the British,

The Army of the Indus was to irw-as: Aplséhnnimn from

two directions, The Punjabi force onder the command of
Colonel Sheikh Basawan was ro force the Khyber Pass. Shah
Shuja's son, Prince Taimur, with Afghans and Pathans, was
The Fatinny Lahore Drarbar H.'IEHW-'[:
Wt mnr mu.a:: :ﬁ;iﬂﬂ. 20000 umum?n -wii’u:. 00 mﬁ“m
the retion for the Governns-General's-party way estimeted s 4000 chickens
and 13000 egge per day. All the celebnuted countesans of the Punjdb weres
Invited 0 attend.

There are many eye-witness accounts of this mesting: from the Durlar
etid, Soban Lal's; from the , onc by young Lisur Faoe, snother by
Chborno and & third by Lord Avckland's sister, the Hon, Mis Emily Eden,
Emily wss a2 gifted 4 gosip-wiiter as the was 3 puinter. This narrecve bor-
rows. Trom i these accounty :
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] malzlgn{v the Punjabis with Wade as liasson officer.
The British force was to go through Sindh and advance on
Kabul through Kandahar and Ghazni; Shah Shuja was to
accompany the British. The two armics were o Meet 4t
Kabul.

_The Aucklands saw something of the esteem in which Ranjit
Singh was held by people in the British protected part of the
Punjab, At Ludhiana the Governor-Geaeral inspected howit-
zers which were to be presented to Ranjit. The guns had che
star of the Punjab wiII;l Ranjit’s rofile engraved on them.
The Govemnor-General's sister, Ignﬂy Eden, wrote in her
diary: ‘Captain E. says that thousands of Sikhs have been to
look at these and all of them salaam to Runjeer’s picrure
as if it were himself.”

Fakeer Azizuddin received the Aucklands ac Ferozepur.
When Lord Auckland said he was looki forward to meenng
the Maharajah, the Fakecr answered: “1he lustre of one sun
(Ranjit) has long shone with splendour over our horizan; bt
swhen fwo. suns come together, the refulgence will be over-
Foweu'ng.“ The English smiled at the compliment. “What

arce is the Maharajah bringing with him:' asked Laord
Auckland—and when the Fakeer looked non-plussed, added
that he only wanted ro se¢ the Punjabis on parade. ‘Inschallal’
—if God wills'—replied the Fakeer much re jeved.!

The first meeting was finally fixed ro take place on Novem-
ber :g. Ranjit Singh spent the morning in prayer and gave a

rge sum in affering to the Granth hib betore he ser out
fram his camp. Fane gives a vivid deseription of the procession
and meering: ‘The crowd was what onc might expect from
the meeting of upwards of one hundred elephants within the
si:we of as many yards, and the crush, of cﬂ:jmn ;wfui;
elephants trumpeting, gentlemen swearing, and each one
trying how he chﬂmfbgrmpnkc out his neighbour’s eye with
the carner of his howdah; ewhile the confusion was not 2 lirtle
mnd by the cannon firing within three yards of one,

wd frightening our clephants.

“Bur all this was a mere trifle to whar was o COIme. Ac the
eitrance of the Governor-General's rent, where all dis-
mouated, the scene of confusion and riot was what [ never

im?m Up the Country, vol. 1. o
* Josernal of Uﬂ:l"ﬂm Fmdl.’:;llf:.. p i
o
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before saw in India or clsewhere. In consequence of no good
or proper arrangement having been made, everyone, whether
belonging ro the suite of the Governor-General or the Coni-
mander-in-Chief, or not, and also those of the Maharajah, and
upwards of two hundred army officers, all anxious ro see the
durbar, crowded in rogether, each pushing, hustling, and
elbowmng his neighbour, tll at last it was found necessary o
bring in two companies of Euro and clear a street for
the passage of those entitled ro sit in the durbar. This was ar
last effected, though not withour difficulty, and che select few
found their appointed places.

T being ane of these, stationed myself behind the General's
chair, where 1 remained the whole of the durbar. It was, as
usual with Runjeet, somewhar long, from his having so many
questions to ask; bur after some three-quarrers of an hour he
got up and proceeded ro examine the presents. These, as usual,
consisted of guns, pistols, swords and kingcobs. Afrer looking
at these for some ume, and purting his solitary eve as close as
possible to each article, he walked into the next tenr 1o examine
two beautiful nine-pound howirzers, both in reality, and in
his estimation, the most valuable part of the gifts: rhey were
brass nine-pounders, beautifully inlsid and carved, with a
medallion of his swn head in the centre of the barrel. These
were given him with hamess and everything, even o the most
minute articles, complete and ready for service, with one
hundred shrapoel shells. They also gave the old gentleman a
very good oil-painting of Her Majesty Queen Victoria; upon
m&ving of which a royal salute ofv one hundred guns was

in bonour of it. T do not think he quite understood it,
but he seemed ro think Fler Majesty made a very decent
nautch girl."

Emif;' Eden, who had painted the portrait of Queen Vic-
toria, describes Ranjit Singh as being ‘exactly like an old
muouse, with grey whiskers and one eye'* He wore no jewels
whatsoever and his dress was of the commuonest red silk. ‘He
had two stockings on ar first; which was considered sn un-
wsual circumstance; bur he very soon contrived to slip one
off, that he mighe sic with one foot in his hand, comforrably.”
Wich Ranjir Singh were Hira Singh, ‘a very handsome boy
! Fape, vol. I, p. 150,

ELp the Country, val. 1, p, 284
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. . . loaded with emeralds and pearls’, and his father, Dhian
m&.ﬂm was ‘uncommonly good looking’, The children of
' who had fallen in battle were always allowed in court.
“They were crawling sbour the fioor, running in and out
between Runjeet and the Governor-General.” When the in-
troductions and the inquiries abour health were over the
presefits (including the portrait of the Queen) were exhibited.
His mm?m ton is still for horses: one of these hit his
fancy, and he quite forgot all his state, and ran out in the sun
to feel its legs and examine it.”

The next day Auckland returned the Maharajah's call.
There was the same scene of confusion of elephants, horses,
cheering crowds, the erash of bands and firing of cannon.
Ranjit gave presents to every member of the Governor-
General's party.

In the evening Ranjit gave a reception where business was
to be disc “The secret conference was not to be so
secret. Fane, wha was preseaf, writes: “The usual scene was
going on; half-a-dozen sets of nautch girls were dancing and

inw in the front, with no one attending to them; fire-
works blazing and shooting in all directions; and the Maha-
rajah seated in his chair, with the grear men on cither side, as

ly unconcerned as if he had been there all his life.
[here was little to argue since the whole affair had already
been sertled. Ranjic was willing to collabarate with the British
to restare Shuja. He gave 2 categorical ‘No' to the proposal
that a British Resident should be stationed at his Court at
Lahore.

They got down ro pleasantet business. Nautch girls were
mg to the ish guests. The three most malented
were Khairan, Paro and Kaulan—the last being famed for her
Elt-hamy; While they sang and danced, the gadwais (cup

rers) poured out their special preparation of ‘emeralds,
g:pﬂ_ and oranges'—which the cFm:sts were told was ‘good
jon’. Ranijit Singh pressed the drink on the absrermious

Aue who rook it so as nor to hart his host's feelings. But
Exmily conldn’t rake ‘that horrible spirit . . - one drop of which

+ Up s Comntry, vol. I, p 2 :
Mﬂndhmdquhhﬁhnﬂmm Ranjic Singh had asked whether
the Lord Nawib Sshib was a good drnler. MacNaugheen replied in the
sfiirmative just to warch the fun.
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actually burnt the outside of my lips’ and behghnn Ranjit’s
blind side lwm'cd it on the carpet when he was busy talking
to her brother. Ranjic was impressed with the Englishwoman’s
capacity for country liquor as he refilled her gobler many
tunes himself,

The Maharajah loved ralking of wine a5 he did of horses.
‘He said he undjer!mu-d that there were books which contained
objections to drunkenness, and he thoughe it better thar there
should be no books at all than that they should contain such
foolish notions,’ wrote Emily. She was raken by Ranjir. ‘He
has made himself 4 grear King; he has conquered a grear many

erful enemies; he is remarkably just in his government; he

disciplined 2 large army; he hardly ever rakes away life,
which is wonderful in a deSpot, and he is excessively beloved
by his people.!

€ were more visis and return visies, exchange of

presents and nspection of troops. The Aucklands were taken
to Amritsar ro see the Golden }ifmnplu. Emily, who was with
Ranjic Singh, wrote: ‘There is something rather rouching in
the affection his people have for him. The ocher day, m goi
through the city, it struck us all, the eagerness with whi::ﬁ
they called our “Maharajah!" and tried to rouch him, which
15 easy enough in these narrow sereets, and the elephant’s
reaching to the roofs of the houses.”

From Amritsar the party proceeded to Lahore which wus
‘very dirty and not odoriferous”. The ceremonial and Festivity
were resumed with. greater vigour till Ranjir himself could
stand it no more. Emily’s diary of December 4, 1838, re-
cords: “The Maharajah is ill—he has cold and fever—so all
parties, and etc. are pur off." On Christmas Dy, his condirion
ook a turn for the worse. 'Dr D, has seen him twice. . . . He
thw]%'ht his voice very indistiner, and [ fancy the danger is
another stroke of palsy—he had one some years ago.”

The Aucklands went to bid farewell to their hosc on

el T SR
WL MO Menet L x 41
dﬁfjdﬂmﬂmﬂ.tl}ﬂ.l‘nqﬂmﬂ:
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¥ the Coumtry, vol 11, pp. 25, $1-2.
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December 28, 1538, Ranjir Singh was ‘wonderfully better” but
still confined to bed. He embraced the Governor-General and
gave his more presents: his own picrure set in diamonds
and . o sword, marchlock and belr all bejewelled for the
Governor-General. There were shawls for Emily and her
sister. The Governor-General in return gave the Maharajah
a bunch of grapes made of emeralds and a ring with a very
large diamond. Ranjir embriced his visitor once more and bade
him God-speed. "He asked if the Governor-General had any
request to make to him; and the Governor-General said only
one more, that he should occasionally wear the ring he was
going to-put on his finger, and he produced the ring, made of
one diamond . . . it nearly covered Runjeet’s lirtle finger,
and it was quite odd to sce the cffect it had on the old man.
He raised himself quite up, and called for a candle to put
behind it, and seemed quire taken by surprise.’



CHAPTER XXI

THE LAST CHAPTER

Gty

‘uE was & pearl withour any flaw or stin of any kind," said
Fakeer Azizuddin, speaking of Ranjit Singh's physical consti-
mtion. ‘He enjoyed unusually good healrh, took regular
exercise every day, slep well, had an excellent appetite; his
functions were narural.
This is not surprising because Ranjit Singh was extremely
ctilious in his habits—he rode in the morning and evening,
ate at fixed hours, wok 4 mid-moming siesta, and when he did
not have ta entertain, he retired early to bed, The only indis-
crerion he allowed himself, and which undoubtedly impaired
hisd hi:u!rh. '.:;'.m a[c?II_E:IL II;‘mt! ‘;p later ].I.fli laudanum i}! et
and larger doses. The brandies specially prepared for
{m:riun?]:' enough by the same man ﬁhif mixed his gun-
wier') were of an unusual poten I'tnvin¥ been brewed
rateing and fortified with g'ruun? rls.! The savouries
which went with this liquid fire were ‘I':)i:-‘qum'h stuffed with
pice’. He often drank to excess, parricularly on festivals like
oli and Diwali. And he could never resist aleohol during the
rains, As a young man he was able to hold his iquor wigmut
any visible ill-effect. Later on, the same amount of drink made
him very sick: he remained out of sorts and his inflamed eye
told the tale of bacchanalian indiscretions for several days
after. His liver was affected and lowered his resistance o
FThe Hungarkin homespath Dr Manin Honigberger.
Iw'é“mﬂﬂimhmﬁmm - frmnﬂ::fﬂd_ml
Kinds, il mad od tog e '"ﬂ"‘mu vy hpnhn'&:&nm
:ﬂﬂm il'I::I'Itl: h:lmrd;;tlll: muugh,m : but ;ﬁfﬂ;qd mtmmge' Bt
were excendingly depresied” Baros Higel, Tu:!:qm Kuhnwﬂ
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Raniir Singh's first serious illness was in the summer of 1826
when he had a viralent atrack of malaria. On Hakim Azizud-
din’s advice he sent for Dr Murray from Ludhiana. The doctor
stayed in Lahore for seven months. By the winter Ranjit Singh
shook off the ill-effects of the fever and was once more able
to lead an active, vigorous life spending four 10 five hours in
the saddle. He continued ro enjoy excxlint health for the next
nine years

On the night of August 17, 1535. Ranjit Singh had a mild
stroke which paralysed his face and right side; he conld not
speak for many hours. He wld Dr W, L. McGregor who had
boen summoncd to atcend on him how the attack came on.
The doctor conveyed the information to the Resident of Lud-
hiana in the following words:

“The Maharajah retired to rest in chamber where his body
was freely exposed to free circulation of cool air, the body
being at the time in rather 2 profuse state of tEn.-rspi|.'~.v.t-iu|n, In
the middle of the night, he woke suddenly an found himself
unable to move his o 50 as to articulate and his mouth
distorted to a considerable degree. Hisartendants were alarmed
at these symproms and various remedies, chiefly aromarics,
were prescribed by Fakeer Azizaddin, By the end of these, the
Maharajah was soon able to articulate a lirtle. His health like-
swise suffered 4 visible change. There was 2 loss of appetite,
some heaviness abour the head, hear on the palms of the hands
and soles of the feer; thirst, frequently urgent, 3 general
despondency and depression of spints.”

! Thesversion i by Fakeee Azizuddin ro Baron H is somewhat dif-

feveny. “He (Azizuddin) informed mo, that on 1 very day, jus hefore
the rainy scason set § im]wpunvu:wpmmldlryhuuwhiﬂl
were unually greacfffic Mabarajah had ridden the whole day on horseback,

snd had gremly and overheared hirmself, With his wsual careless-
mwﬁhuqudmfond,lmmuknﬂhbgtm day but wates melons, of
which he parwoak very freely. A heavy storm fell in the afrernoon, the rin
m&damh:mmdtbcm' wind from the mountins of

mddenly fowered the tempesature 1 3 d inconveniently eold.
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Ranjir Singh was not a patient. He consalted dozens
of physicians and lene 2 willing ear to quacks who promised
miraculous cures. He pﬂnimlaﬁ disliked the bitrer medicines
the English doctor prescribed. ‘The Maharajah has much
aversion to the use of internal medicines; so that I experienced
extreme difficalty in treating him,' complained Dr MeGregor.
He also refused to change his daily rourine. Even after a ni he
disturbed by high fever he would go our in the morning in 1
palanquin cither to the river or some orchard; and on his
resurn he artended durbar to hear petitions and newswriters'
reparts and give orders. He only stopped work when he was
utterly exhausted or seized with another bout of fever, Dr
MeGregor was however able ro impose some discipline on his
wayward patient and within a month, the Maharajah was well
on the way to recovery and was able 1o allow the doctor
to return to Ludhiana,

Baron Hilgel, who met Ranjit Singh in 1836, wrote that the
Maharajah was considerably bowed by disease and his speech
was so much affected by lysis It Was not an easy
matter 1o understand him. He was easily fari b wnlkiné
and lent on an artendant’s arm. He said to n r'lllgcl'
begin 1o feel old; I am quite exhausted now,™

ly in 1837 Raniirq;;ungh had a second stroke of ysis.
This tme the whole of his right side was aff and its
effects persisted for nearly six monrhs. The Maharajah was
never the same person again, Fle was no longer able to mount
his horse himself and to be lifted into rhe saddle: An
accident which took place on July 24, 1838, showed how
and lenr on an artendane’s arm. He said to Baron Higel: I
weak he had become. He was out raking the morning air when
an elephant which had run amok attacked his quin, The
litter bearers and the guards ran away, Ranjit Singh was unable
1o get out himself and the elephant smashed the glass windaws
of the palanquin. He was saved from being trampled to death
asimance, his e felr heavy in his mowth, s0d he found his left hand
ite powerless. 'hien 3 servant came and ssw him in this state, be called
mmdyfm Aziz-ad-Din, who found him with his face mueh lrawn
and next o spoechless. | could not understand what means were em-
E{:: to restore him, bus sccording to the Hindn custon, musk was
robobly sdministzred in was hrought tack o Lahare and
me sumewhat betrer, and Dr regor being called in from Ludhians,

he wis placed uniler his care! '

4 Baron Himmm#hmmuuh-jd,p,mr
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by Attar Singh Sandhawalia who diverted the elephant's atren-
tion by mckini it with his sword.

_ The third stroke was bmug'n about by the strain of festivi-
ties in honour of Lord Auc land's visit. On the eve of the
Christmas of 1838 he was taken violently ill and for the next
five he hovered berween life and death. He rallied by the
New Year and was taken back to Lahore.

The stroke at Ferozepur compleely deprived the Maharajah
of his power of speech and he had ro communicate by signs.
The only courtiers who could interpret the sign language were
Bhaia Ram Singh and Fakeer Azizuddin—parricularly the
latrer whose devotion to his sick master is said to have been
greater than thar shown by a son to his father, Even the most
unintelligible stammer meant something to him. To catch the
words the Fakeer would put his ear close 1o Ranjit's mouth.
If he understood, he expressed joy exclaiming: ‘eysh’, ‘eysh’.
If he did not, he ahmﬁ:xgis head and admitred humbly: Nawti
Fabmam—T did not follow.” The Maharsjah eried all over
again: with his speechless tongue, his one hand and his single
ﬂ}'@.

The winrer rain and the biting cold of January did not do
the Maharajah much good. He kept indoors in an averheared
room taking medicines tha the native doctors gave him and
having himeelf massaged with almond oil. His cold became
heavier and he developed a rasping cough. His spirits were
further dampened by the news of the death of his friend, M.
Allard. on the North-West Frontier! The weather became
milder in February and the Maharajah was ahle ro be in the
sun. His health improved and he began ro summon courtiers to

The Maharsjsh wene to Amritsar to pray for his health.
He gave away large sums to charity: cows with gilded horns,
clephants with gold or silver howdahs, images of gold and
silver, The chicf recipients were Brahmins, bur shrines of all

igious denominations, Hindu, Muslim and Sikh received
their share. Although by the month of March 1830, the
Msharajsh was reported by the local newswriters to be en-
joying better heur.lrlﬁ there was no real improvement and once
Tt Al o il S LU Nt
- i the bagtgage of existence on sccouot of incarable constipstion.
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more the Agent at Ludhiana was asked ro send an English
doctor. Drs mm_v and Steele came o Lahore.

Dr Steele wrote of his surprise at the wretched surroundings
m which the Maharajah was living : “His house is situated close
on the edge of a filthy canal from which roads are constantly
werted and the surrounding grounds kept i a swampy state.
It is in an armosphere sufficient to ereare discase among the
most healthy. He sleeps in a small tent adjoining which (within
ten yards) there is a small patch of rice cultivarion. This is
constantly under water. I needn'’t say thar the smell arising
from the damp earth and confined air is anything but
pleasant. The room i which the Maharajah rested during
the day had no windows and consequently no fresh air. ‘In
addirion o the constant unpleasant exhalation from the damp
fleor and walls, the room is constantly crowded with his fol-
lowers, wrore Dr Stecle. On the doctor’s insistence, the
Maharajah was removed to a healthier locality.

Dr Steele made a thorough examination of the Maharajah
for 2 week and disparched a confidential report to be trans-
mitted to the Governor-General, ‘Is the Maharajah likely ro
live lorﬁ?' he queried at the end of the report. ‘I think “not
long™. He is in that state that the least unfavourable accidental
oceurrence in the form of disease may be decisive and likely
to be so. He may live for a short nme, perhaps for a few
months or even a year, but thar latrer period I think, improb-
able, although I consider that he has still some remaining

and the natural powers of his constitution to be great
and his rallying powers, from what I have heard, to be extra-
ordinary.”

The summer's hear made Ranjit Singh more restless than
ever; by the end of May. he had no doubr in his mind that his
days were numbered. Fifty Brahmins were emploved to pray
for his recovery; Fakeer Nuruddin was ordered to distribute
ten maunds of bread ro the poor every day and numbers
of cows, horses and elephants and quantities of gold and silver
w%‘cz given away to holy men ml:gd shrines. 4

June 1839 the Maharajah six Euro octors—
:hmz sent by the Governor-General and thr;’?n of his own
beside a large number of bakeems and vaids artending on him.
He preferred to rake the medicine given by the homeopath
Dr in Honigberger—drops ulgwnighﬁl?udc mixed with
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sugar and his favourite brandy—to the bitter mixtures pre-
scribed by the English physicians. Dr Honigberger pleaded
with him to shift to the fort where the air was more salubrious.
The astrologers who were consulted pronounced against a
move before June 13; 50 the Maharajah stayed where he was
and after a few days began to ignore even the homneopath by
trir'mg all kinds of medicine; drinking ice-cold water and
taking opium in the afternoon.

The evening of June to was particularly hot and still, At
night a violent storm burst on Lahore, tearing two of the city

tes and ane of the fort’s from their hinges and uprootng 2
arge number of trees. Ranjit Singh could get no slecp because
of the noise and a persistent cough. After midnight his tem-
perature rose and his feer began to swell. The fever abated b
the morning but was followed by a discharge of blood wirﬁ
the motions.

On June 13 Ranjit Singh was wmken into the fort, The
Lahore Akhbar reported:

“‘Afrer sunser, ar the hour pointed out by the astranomers, the
Maharajih entered the Summam Burj. He moved very slowly
in his palanquin and on his entering the wall of the ciry there
was a salute of guns and volleys from the regiments at
Anarkalee.

The Maharajah ordered the following irems to be given
away in charity: ‘11 cows with horns covered with gold, 25
satin dresses, 10 gold silver images, 5 golden deer and as many
of silver, 2 horses, 1 elephant, 1 diamond rings, 11 coral strings

and :.u{-iu-u rupees in cash to Brahmins. He also had him rhf
weighed five times against grain and it was given ro the
BmlE::sins’ Fgie

The fresh air of the elevated Musummum Burj cheered
Ranijit Singh's drooping spirits. He told his elder son, Kharak
Singh, thar ‘he was nmcl[:l better and thar if he remained so

¥ Boban Lal records in his of April =z, 1830, of 3 French doctor pre-
scribing & medicine which sct fike !unpﬂwllkrmtt:hrlﬂlyﬁ. Ir was
tried on a elephant driver with success. Tt not cure the
Maharajzh. Me ok oxide hﬂpmm {Kuibts) made of mics, pearls,
cardamam am! sabarbeer w E:i:hnhhnﬁlhmh!mlﬂmnd
claimed was over 100 years old. This two had no effect.
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for a formighe, he would no longer feel ill’.

That evening there was a heavy shower of min and rhe
temperature dropped. The Maharajah however passed a sleep-
less night and complained thar ‘he fele pain now and rthen in
his eyes’. Next morning a general proclamation was issued to
officers in various cities ardering them to see thar all slanghrer
of animals—goats, sheep, kids, erc.—in the Punjab be stopped
I‘or{‘hml':li; hel he Maharsjah

Neit #yers nor charities helped t mlmgi ing Maharajah,
Five days Ifrrcf he developed pnlpimpt?:ims of the hearr and on
Fakeer Nuruddin's advice putr agate on his gcrmm It was
prepared from ‘two wraskas of green stone called subza ground
down in million of rears’,

The end did not seem far off. In the early hours of rhe
morning of the zoth the Maharajah was once aguin seized with
fever and had a discharge of blpod from his nose. He also
fele grear pain in his knees. He sent for his astrologers and asked
them ro predicr whar fate held in store for him. Pandic Mud-
sudan observed thar the continuance of fiberal grants would
have the best effect. The Maharajah added the extra feeding
of his horses to his already varied chanity. Bur he was not
one to humbug himself an({ told his son that it was not
en to be *berter one day and ill another'. On the advice
of Fakeer Azizuddin he decided ro entrust the government 1o
Kharak Singh with Rajah Dhian Singh as his Chief Minister.

Next morning Prince Kharak Singh and Rajah Dhian Singh
reviewed the rroops and received mazars from the officers.
Later in the day Kharak Singh held a durbar ar Musammum
Burj where the proclamation of succession drafed by Fakeer
Azizoddin was read out. Rajah Dhian Singh was insnalled as
Chief Minister with the somorous vitle of Naib-i-Sultanat-i-
Qoznra, Kbair Kbwab-i-Sunmicemee-i-Aulat-i-Koobra, Vazir
i-Azaro-Mukbtar Kool, Rajah Dhian Singh Babadur—The

second i the grear kingdom, the sincere well-wisher of great
prosperity, the principal minister, the Chiefl Wazir, the omni-
present manager, Rajih Dhian Singh,

The investiture was carried out just in fime. The next day
the Maharajah had a relapse while in Courr. ‘He lay down on
his bed and no one was allowed ro speak, The Ministers were
E!'qt!y distressed. Koonwer Khurruck Sinf,h' 1d Rajah Dhian

ingh sent their guards to the doors and forr gates.. . '
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The angel of death hovered about the Musummam Burj. In
the tradinional Hinda manner the Maharajah was laid down
ot the floor to die in the lap of Mother Earth which had given
him birth. There was sdll some fire in his debilitated frame,
and despite the prognostications of his physicians that he
would not last more than 4 few hours, he rallied and had to be
put back on his bed again. But life continued to ebb, On the
afternoon of the :4rh%?:: had another setback and “ac the idea
of departing from all his worldly wealth ordered his treasures
and J::'?l:ls to be brought forth, Cows with gilded horus, 2
hundred caparisoned horses and five of the best breeds such
as the Kubaotrab, the Nandhuree, the Nageena and others, all
equipped in gold and jewelled saddles, four elephants with
gold and silver howdahs, a golden chair and bedsteads, plares,
strings of pearls, swords, shields, gems and innumerable other
valuables were given in alms to be distributed in all pares of
India and at all scred Hindu shrines and remples.” The news-
writer computed the value of gifts %iw:.n away on that one
day to be about two crore of rupees. The same day the Maha-
rajah sear for the Koh-i-noor and desired that it be presented
to the temple of Jagganath ar Puri. He was dissuaded from
doing so by his courtiers who represented that it was far oo
valuable—worth the revenues of all India—and that there
would be no one to buy it from the Brahmins.

The Maharajah’s Tast act was that of a dying soldier. He
summoned his courtiers to his bedside and gave away his
weapons: swords, shields, lances, pistols and matchlocks with
his own hands, The courtiers wept loudly as they rook the
gifts; the Maharajah tried to console them bur broke down
many times himself. At the end of the ceremany he washed
himself with Ganges water.

On Junc 26 the Maharajah lost consciousness. Kharak Singh
sammoned a special durbar ac which he confirmed his father’s
grants to the estare-holders and the ministers and senior officials
mude overrures of mutual concord. . , . The ministers said that
they should obscrve strict unanimity similar to that of Brirish
couneils for the safery of the Srare and the preservation of
Koonwar Khurnick Singh and Koonwar Naonitial Singh's
rights from foreign encroachments. Rajah Dhian Singh de-
manded in a tone of defiance which betrayed his nervousness:
‘Whe will dare to look at us with an unfriendly eye?’
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All hope of recovery was abandoned. Dhian Singh ordered
the carpenters to prepare 3 bier worth Rs 5.000. Despite this,
during the few minutes the Maharajah regained consciousness
the sweet-tongued Azizuddin assared his master thar he would
not die for another four or five years.

The end eame on the evening of June 27, 1830 The
Lahore Akhbar described rhe poignant scene. “The death of
the Maharajah being known, the Fa[nm:s, Koonwer Khurruck
Singh, Rajah Dhian Singh, Jumadar Khooshal Singh and
others raised their voices in lamentation, rearing their hair,
casting earth on their heads, throwing themselves on the
ground and steiking their heads against bricks and stone. This
continued during the nighe by the side of the corpse. Every
now and then looking towards the carpse their shricks were
shriller.”

Precautions were taken against eivil disturbance and in-
cursion from abroad. A large quantity of ammunition was dis-
rribured o the troops and specific orders issued to the officers
ﬁmmd along the Sutlej ferries to keep the boats on the western

ank, leaving only one for the use of passengers crossing the
niver.

During the nighe the body of the Maharajah lay in state
on the floar with oil lamps burning on all sides; and all night
the wailing and rhe lamentation went on. Rajah Dhian Singh,
who was more emotional than the rest, announced his inten-
tion to burn himself on the Maharajah’s funeral pyre. Kharak
Singh and the principal Sardars placed their turbans at his feet
o make him change his mind. But nothing would dissuade
four ranis and their seven maidservants from their resolve 1o
immolare themselves as Satis. Rani Guddan, danghrer of Rajah
Sansar Chand of Karotch, thought it the most appropriate
oceasion to obtain an oath of lovalty to the Stare. She ook
Rajah Dhian Singh's hand, placed it on the breast of the corpse
andd made him swear never to betray Kharak Singh or his son
Nan Nihal Singh, and always to be ateentive to the welfare of
the State. In the same way she made Kharak Singh swear that
he would not be led away by mis tions of interested
parties aganst Rajah Dhian Singh, torments of hell due
Y By a gurious coincilence exactly f t afrer g

lu:tr‘:tn'mm t:uthy eer he had enrered

uk 5 victor: (The dates ceonding w the Biloomi
calendar)
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for the slaughter of a thousand cows were to be visited on
him who should violare this oath.’

The next morning, the Maharajah’s body was bathed with
the water of the Ganges and placed on a sandalwood bier
designed like a ship; its sails were made of silk and brocade.
Ministers and courtiers ‘p:u;l their last homage by placin
shawls on the bier. The funeral procession loft the fort wirE
the four ranis and their maidservants, who were to bum them-
selves walking immediately behind the mnéﬁc. They were
dressed in their bridal costumes and jewels, Every now and
then they took off a bangle, a necklace or an earring and flung
it into the midst of the throng of beggars or gave it to someone
in the parties of hymn-singers or the Brahmins chantin
mantras, The cortége pamﬁl;rwgh the narrow siTeets o
the city crammed with mourners and came to the garden at
the foor of the massive wall of the fort—not far from the
remple marking the site of the martyrdom of Arjun, the ffth
Guru of the Sikhs. A newswriter describes the scene thar
followed in these words:

‘Having arrived at the funeral pile made of sandalwood, the
éq?se was placed upon it. Rani Guddan sat down by us side
and placed the head of the deceased on her lap; while the
other ranis with seven slave girls seated themselves around—
with every mark of satisfaction on their countenances.” The
lase prayers were said by members of all communities, Hindus,
Muslims and Sikhs. Brahmins performed their prayers from
the Shastras; Sikh priests recited passiges from the Granth
Sahib; and Mussalmans accompanied them with their “Ya
Allsh, Ya Allah'* The prayers lasted nearly an hour. "At the
time fixed by the Brahmins, Koonwar Khurruck Singh set fire
to the pile and the ruler of the Punjab with four riness and
seven slave girls was reduced to ashes. A small eloud appeared
in the sky over the burning pile and I:m-inrg shed a few drops
cleared away. No ane saw a hope of relief but in resignation.
Rajah Dhian Singh atzempted four times to jump mto the
burning pile, bur was withheld by the multitude, . . . The
heare is rent in arempring a description of the distress and
lamentations in the palace amongst the manees and amongst the
'zal .

*Hon Hk%’fmm Yeare in the Eari, p. oz Also Umslas-ur-
Tassanikh, Daftar 11, p. 106
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citizens of every age, sex and religion.™

“T'he consuming of his pile occupied rwo days, writes
Flonigberger; ‘on the third, some of the bones and H&K;ﬂf each
of the IJOE: were collected in the presence of the Coure only,
and separately placed in wns” citizens of Lahore pad
their farewell to the ashes of their monarch and his
consorts. ‘Upon  the sﬂmmimi leaving the fortress, it
traversed the stréets and bazaars, the ministers and some of
the principal Sardars on foor, with numerous others mounted
on their elephants and horses, Thousands of persons were
assembled in the streets, bazaars, and on the tops of hotses,
whom flowers were thrown upon the quin, . . .
the arrival of the procession outside Delhi Gate, a final
and profuse royal salute was given by the chundering of
cannan from the fort and camparts of the ciy.™
The ashes were conveyed by slow stages to be immersed in
the Ganges ar Hardwar. Allalong the j00-mile route people
came to pay their homage: princes with expensive shawls and
salutes of guns; peasants whﬁ flowess and their tears.

1 fLabore Akbbar, e
tilumigherger, T'I;Jh-r Vears in the Esst, pp 10374
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Table 2

ROYAL FAMILY OF THE SADDOEALS

Ahmed Shah Abdali
174773
Taimur Shah
197393
[z6 3ani)
i
D il [sccond wife)
Shah Zaman Shah Shuja Shah Mahmud
1793-1800 18039 1800-3
1839-42 18og-18
Taimur Mirza Kamran Mirza
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K. M. PANIEKAR

INDIA AND THE INDIAN OCEAN

AN ESSAY ON THE INFLUENCE OF SEA POWER ON INDIAN
HISTORY

“The author traces the influence of the Indian Ocean on the
shaping of Indian histo and discusses the vital importance of
oceanic control to the future of India. There has been an un-
forrunate tendency to overlook sea communications in the
discussion of India's defence problems. The history of India
shows that ever since the sixteenth century, when the Indian
Ocean became a scene of conflict, the future of India has been
determined not on land but on the sea. This was implicit in the
complete control of the Indian Ocean by Britain for over 150
years prior to the fall of Singapore in 1941, and was so much an
integral element in the defence question that this sea aspect has
been very largely overlooked. _

The author examines also the part that India has played in the
ast in the navigation and concrol of the Indian Seas by
Turopean nations, and the effects of that control. A serious

problem would arise if in the future British Naval sugmmcy
were challenged by any pawer in this area; and the suthor con-
rends that since the future of India will undoubtedly be decided
on the sex, Indis cannot afford to take the seifish view that the
control of the sea is Britain's job and that India’s freedom should
be allowed to develop within a protective magic circle.

Crown Fro. (15 6d net

AFRO-ASIAN STATES AND
THEIR PROBLEMS

Between 1945 and 1957 many states in Asia and Africa achicved
independence. India, Pakistin, Burma, Indonesia, Ceylon, Viet-
nam, Cambodia and Laos from their colomal pesition
and becanie sovereign states. In the Middle East there were
similar developments with Syria and the Lebanon, while the
Sudan became independent and the French withdrew from
Tunisia and Morocco. Lastly in 1957 Ghana achieved Dominion
SEATUIS,

In this book, which is based upon a series of lectures delivered
at the Institur d'Eeude de Development Economique et Social in
Paris, Mr Panikkar examines the many problems involved and
indicates ways to their solution.

Crown fvo, 123 §d net



BUDDHISM AND THE
MYTHOLOGY OF EVIL

DBE T. 0, LING

A STUDY IN TUHERAVADA BUDDHISM

The aim of this book is to give s connected account of the
demonology of the Buddhise Pali Canon, and to show its signifi-
cance. After a survey of popular demonologies of Indis and
South-cast Asia, and of the amitude rowards the world which
these represent, the very different articude found arx che heart of
Buddhism in the Abhidhamma is considered.

Between these two srtitudes, however, a bridge exists—the
Buddhist symbol of Mara, the Evil One. This is considered in
detail; acconnt is taken of the work of Profesor Windisch and
Father Masson, and maodification of their conclusions, in favour
of more traditionally Buddhist views, is suggested.

Finally, Mara is compared wich the Biblical Saran and some
inferences are drawn concerning the abiding significance of
these mythological symbols

Demy Fue, 2q1 ver

BUDDHIST THOUGHT IN INDIA
EDWARD CONZE

Here is 2 history of Indian Buddhist philosophy as it developed
over 1,100 years between 00 e and ap 6o0. It falls into three
The first describes ‘archaic’ Buddhism, Le. the doctrines
common o all chinking Buddhist monks abour Asoka's rime.
The second and chird deal with the two trends into which
Buddhist teaching split at the begimning of the Christian era,
i.e. the sectartan Hinayana with its Abhidarma, and the sec-
rrian Mahayana with its cranscendental metaphysics, Great
care has been taken throughout to make the tenets of Buddhist
philosophers imelligible by showing how they derive from the
experiences of yogic meditation and by contrasting them with
the ‘scientist’ is of thought corrent in industrialized
countrics. A sympathetic and well-informed treatise on Budd-
hist philosophy has been long overdue, and the book should
interest all those who care for either Buddhism, ar India, or the

integrity of philosophical thoughe.
Demy Svo. 16 0er

GEORGE ALLEN & UNWIN
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